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EARL WARREN ORAL HISTCORY PROJECT

The Earl Warren Oral History Project, a special projeét of the Regionel
Oral History Office, was inaugurated in 1969 to produce tape-recorded interviews
with persons prominent in the arenas of politics, gorermnmental administration,
and criminal justice during the Warren Era in California. Focusing on the years
1925-1953, the interviews were designed not only to document the life of Chief
Justice Warren but to gain new information on the social and political changes
of a state in the throes of a depression, then a war, then a postwar boom.

An effort was made to document the most significant events and trends by
interviews with key participants who spoke from diverse vantage points. Most
were queried on the one or two topics in which they were primarily involved; a
few interviewees with special continuity and breadth of experience were asked to
discuss a multiplicity of subjects. While the cut-off date of the period studied
was October 1953, Earl Warren's departure for the United States Supreme Court,
there was no attempt to end an interview perfunctorily when the narrator's account
had to go beyond that date in order to complete the topic.

The interviews have stimulated the deposit of Warreniana in the form of
papers from friends, aides, and the opposition; government documents; old movie
newsreels; video tapes; and photographs. This Earl Warren collection is being
added to The Bancroft Library's extensive holdings on twentieth century California
politics and history.

The project has been financed by four outright grants from the National
Endowvment for the Humenities, a one year grant from the California State Legis-
lature through the California Heritage Preservation Commission,and by gifts from
local donors which were matched by the Endowment. Contributors include the former
law clerks of Chief Justice Earl Warren, the Cortez Society, many long-time sup-
porters of "the Chief," and friends and colleagues of some of the major memoirists
in the project. The Roscoe and Margaret Oakes Foundation and the San Francisco
Foundation have Jointly sponsored the Northern California Negro Political History
Series, a unit of the Earl Warren Project.

Particular thanks are due the Friends of The Bancroft Library who were
instrumental in raising local funds for matching, who served as custodian for all
such funds, and who then supplemented from their own treasury all local contribu-
tions on a one-dollar-for-every-three dollars basis.

The Regional Oral History Office was established to tape record autcbiogra-
phical interviews with persons prominent in the history of California and the
West. The Office is under the administrative supervision of James D. Hart,
Director of The Bancroft Library.

Amelia R. Fry, Director
Earl Warren Oral History Project

Willa K. Baum, Department Head
Regional Oral History Office

30 June 1976

Regional Oral History Office

L86 The Bancroft Library

University of California at Berkeley
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

Fred Links was interviewed by the Earl Warren Project of
the Reglional Oral History Office in order to record some
recollections of his 35-year career as a key person in the
State Department of Finance, during which he observed and
undoubtedly influenced the fiscal policies of governors from
Hiram Johnson through Goodwin Knight.

Conduct A single interview was held, on December 6,

of the 1971, in Mr. Links's comfortable, spacious

Interview: mobile home on the eastern edge of Sacramento.
Being Links's eightieth birthday, it was a good
time for reminiscing; his wife's preparations
for a supper party made a pleasant bustle 1n the
background.

Still tall, rangy and fit, Links stated the
classic positions of a fiscal conservative
succinetly and with good humor. For example, on
page 20

That was the thing we had to fight agalnst
all the time--adding new expenditures to

the state government. We could see from
past experience that if they once got

their foot in the door, 1t was almost
impossible to abolish a program once 1t was
established ... because people who were 1in
the program didn't want to stop, and the
people who were recelving the benefits didn't
want to stop.

And on the governor's budget, prepared by the
Department of Finance:

And [the legislature] would of course reduce
many of the iltems that we had in the budget
too. We had that problem on our hands, to
support the existing requirements for govern-
mental aid and governmental supervision ...
the legislature started new programs ... that's
what makes it almost impossible for a governor
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to keep the expendlture that he recommends.
It's always higher ... So 1t's a struggle

between the leglslatlive minds and the minds
of those who are serving under the governor.

[p. 21]

Much of the interview concerned efforts to make

the budget document more complete, detailed and
accurate, startling with a constlitutlonal asmendment
passed in 1922. "Before that, it was everybody
for himself. And those that had the greatest
influence politically, got the biggest appropria-
tions." Then, in 1948, an annual budget was
introduced. "The state was changing so rapidly
that you Just couldn't walt two years to get some
of these things under control, or to predict
accurately the requirements for the second year."
With the beginning of two-year legislatlive sesslons
in 1973, it seems posslible that state budgeting may
return to a biennial basis.

Links reviewed the rough-edited transcript,
clarified several passages, added valuable detalls,
and noted that he was asslistant director of the
State Department of Finance from 1950-56. He also
donated to the project a speech he made on his
retirement, reviewlng the entlire hlstory of state
financial agencies, which 1s included as an appendlx
to the present manuscript.

Gabrielle Morris
Interviewer~Editor
Reglonal Oral History Office

16 Januvary 1973
486 The Bancroft Library
University of Californla at Berkeley

[Mr. Links died on April 15, 1973. A detailed obituary is
in the Sacramento Bee, April 16, 1973. Editor.]
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INTRODUCTION

This volume of interviews prepared by the Regional Oral History
Office on state finances during the 1940s and 50s affords a sweeping
overview of a crucial time of change in California, stretching from
the Depression to the Reagan administration. The four individual memoirs
herein give useful evidence to help reconstruct the evanescent, affec-
tive, emotional, valuational "fields" in which past events occurred.

During the years discussed, California was transformed from a
modest-sized, rurally, agriculturally and conservatively oriented
region into the nation's most populous urban giant, with at least the
reputation of being one of the most progressive states. The economic
changes were enormous, with war-induced industrial and aerospace growth
producing a so-called Post-Industrial society that seems ill-defined
but indubitably "different." Culturally also, California continued,
perhaps increasingly, to be on the "cutting edge," whether the forces
be progressive, retrograde, or just eccentric.

While Earl Warren was governor, real progress in govermment and
public policy was the watchword. Governor Warren helped transform the
state government from one of small budgets administered by bookkeepers
and ex-taxpayer association executives into one of huge expenditures
(presumably in good causes), a highly sophisticated fiscal and data
bureacracy, and increasing awareness that a modern state cannot be run
effectively without a vast range of expertise.

These changes are reflected in the backgrounds of the men inter-
viewed, and in the skills they found valuable. Fred Links, for example,
could enter the govermment in the 1920s and, on the strength of his
bookkeeping, his head for figures, and a nose for the policy of the
time, rise to the top of the fiscal bureaucracy. Later, in the 1940s,
comes Alan Post with a good liberal arts and economics education--partially
self-administered, but including a Princeton degree. With a generalist
background and a remarkable intelligence and perception, he could preside
over transforming the legislative analyst's role as critic of executive
spending into a more balanced and highly sophisticated policy-review
enterprise. 7Post himself emphasizes the current need for wide-ranging
expertise to deal with engineering and electronics problems, economics,
transportation questions including BART, education, welfare, penology,
and "human" problems in general.
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In these manuscripts, one can follow the development of the state's
economy and its public finance over the years. One begins with the
pre-Warren period, recognizing the dominance of an able but quite conserv-
ative old guard, marked by a recurrent economy bloc. They largely defeated
the efforts of the century's first Democratic governor, Culbert Olson.

But the Warren years that followed saw many improvements that might have
been accomplished by Olson's ill-fated New Deal for California. That
New Deal was stymied on many scores: an adverse political climate and
the aforesaid economy bloc, political inexperience and perhaps a basic
prematurity. Some interesting sidelights of this period are touched on
by George Killion, Olson's third director of finance, in his interview.

Whatever the reasons, Olson's administration split the state, whereas
Warren's, with its powerful bipartisan support, pulled California together
and accomplished many transformations.

Warren's great achievements lay in upgrading some of the state's
basic programs. The mental hospitals were rebuilt, and the stage was
set for greatly improved therapeutic practices. Penal institutions were
revitalized and transformed by new poliecies and personnel who were then
thought to be among the world's most progressive. Public and higher
education were pushed vigorously; school equalization and a school
building program were instituted. Highways were major projects in the
Warren administration, road and freeway financing being placed on a firm
foundation--too firm, some commentators would contend in the 1960s and
1970s. Butbt freeways looked good to almost everybody in those days of
narrow and congested two-lane arteries.

Other Warren programs included improved court administration and
health insurance. On the latter he lost, but Warren achieved much that
he wanted, primarily a new "tone" in state govermment. Good groundwork
had been laid by highly motivated public-service proponents in the uni-
versities, and by some of the more far-sighted state and local bureaucrats.
These leaders were instrumental in the growth of a contagious missionary
spirit in the '30s and '40s, which emphasized the public service as
a high and respected "calling" and justified the best energies of intelli-
gent, educated, and dedicated people. This spirit, well-expressed by
Fllis Groff in his interview, was an influential force, pulling many
first-rate people into state and local service in California.

In other ways, too, the current of the times ran strongly in favor
of many of the Warren administration's basic goals. One of the most
important was the availability of money. World War IT had brought great
economic resources into California. Moreover, wartime limitations on
state spending produced big budgetary surpluses. For a time, the state
had more money than it knew what to do with.



Earl Warren capitalized on this and helped give California a
running start on many of the things he considered important. The bur-
geoning economy continued to produce funds for rapidly expanding budgets,
which hit the $l billion mark in 1950 and continued upward. Eventually
things tightened severely, and there was a return to budget-balancing
by monetary juggling and fiscal sleight of hand. But this shift came
later, in the Knight administration. To Governor Brown fell the by-then
inescapable task of negotiating the first real %Hax increase in order to
balance the budget.

But the Warren administration used its substantial resources well
to help reconstruct California's physical plant and upgrade its programs.
It stimulated concern with "people" problems, and helped improve the
quality of government and public service to a level that many considered
almost unique in the United States.

On a couple of issues involving elected constitutional officials
not part of the governor's function, the Warren administration looked the
other way. One was trafficking in liquor licenses, a well-hidden scandal;
and the other was monkey business concerning the banking of vast public
money reserves. These were eventually cleaned up, largely by efforts
from the legislative side.

The Warren administration deserves the credit often given for its
concern for citizens and for ethical considerations in govermment, Still
we should not forgetthe great black mark associated with the Warren era.
Hindsight has told us since--and unprejudiced good judgement should have
told us then--that the wartime incarceration and economic rip-off of
citizens of Japanese ancestry was both a grievous wrong and a monumental
blunder. It was .essentially a federal action supposedly taken in the
interest of national security, but officials of the State of California
had much to do with it.

A real treat for the reader is Alan Post's 25-year synopsis of the
role of his own office of legislative analyst, with which California
first endowed itself when the economy bloc was fighting Governor Olson.
Under Post's tutelage, it has grown from being largely a 'nay-sayer" on
spending, into a strong legislative staff agency for thorough and con-
structive policy review.

Although he is an admitted admirer of Governor Warren, Post's
policy stance during the Warren years represented the conservative
position on the budget. The governor was on the side of increased
spending and Post spoke for the "no" side. But times and the philosophy
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of his office have changed. Now, under an anti-spending administration,
Post often speaks up for the pro-spending side. Post sums up the shift:

...we had this position of trying to keep
pressure on dollars...leaning over backward to
cut dollars...[but] we finally began to be human
beings in the office. We began to think in terms
of the sort of thing that Earl Warren was con-
sctous of, of human relationships...our attitude
softened over the years. I think we became more
sophisticated and more...knowledgeable about the
etrcumstances in which people live. But we op-
posed darned near everything in those days.

Interviews like these are obviously an important research resource.
They become basic documents in their own right. Although one assumes
that the serious historian will consult other scurces to find or confirm
sheer factual detail, these oral histories should not be discounted as
information sources. Frequently the subject will provide inside infor-
mation or intimate and personal detail, especially anecdotal, that may
be difficult or impossible to obtain elsewhere.

Oral history seems especially useful in several ways, depending
on the subjects' memory, acuity, and observational vantage points, which
may vary substantially from interview to interview. At their best,
memoirs provide significant, perceptive comment and interpretation.
Evaluation of developments, delineation of trends, and identification of
crucial events can be very revealing and informative.

These interviews also shed a light on the subject himself, affording
at lease glimpses and sometimes clear views of his personality, thinking
processes, and value system. This is true whether the interview comes
out a thoughtful essay on "what-I-believe-the-world-is-alkl-about," or
a nostalgic tour through a treasury of remembrances of the famous.

By asking informed questions based on reasonable study of the
era, and cautious, unobtrusive prompting, the interviewers have also
captured what the subject thought about friends and colleagues,
especlally those who played important roles;and what friends and col-
leagues thought about each other, how they sized up each others' per-
sonalities, capabilities, and motivations. These are perhaps some of
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the most important kinds of material to be found in the manuscripts,
and it is irreplaceable in a culture that discourages alternative
sources such as diary-keeping, memoirs, or autobiographies--except by
the most eminent.

I close with the hope that this enterprise will help stimulate
Alan Post to consider some writing on his own. The very least we could
ask is a volume of candid memoirs, and perhaps a stream of interpretive
essays might be forthcoming as well. He has a lot more to say about
policy in the Golden State and hopefully he will, when he feels free to
do so as an individual.

Stanley Scott
Assistant Director
Institute of Governmental Studies

T February 1974
109 Moses Hall
University of California at Berkeley
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I BUDGETS OF THE 1920s

1927 Government Heorganization

The first budget for the biennial period 1923-1925,
required under a new state constitutional provision,
passed in 1922, was prepared by the State Board of
Control for Governor Richardson. It was not a
complete budget. It left out many items. It left
out a good part of the special fund expenditures
and state highway expenditures to keep the total

of the budget down.

I recall very definitely that Nellie Brewer
Pierce, who was chairmen of the State Board of
Control in 1922 was very close to Governor Richardson.
She told Governor Richardson she would submit to him
a budget no higher than $79 million.

Because that's all the money we had?

Oh, no! Richardson was just an economy-minded
governor, and he wanted to keep the budget down.
Well the budget, instead of being $79 million, as
I recall, turned out actually to be just under $89
million when we got a complete budget prepared under
instructions of Gilbert B. Daniels, the minority
member of the Board of Control. Danlels refused
to sign the transmittal letter of the State Board
of Control to the governor. Daniels wouldn'’t go
for the "phony budget™ as it was called. It was a
phony budget of $79 million.

That was what Richardson had said?
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The budget staff had handed a budget to Mrs. Plerce,
which was about $89 million the first time, as I
recall, and she threw it in the wastebasket. She
said, "I said I wanted a budget not over $79 million.
Go back and prepare one for under $79 million." So
we did, by leaving out so many of the items, such

as special fund expenditures and highway expenditures.

So when Governor Richardson presented his
budget for 1923-25 to the legislature, Mr. G. B.
Daniels submitted a minority member budget to the
legislature with the correct figures, which the
state constitution required. The constitution
required that the budget contain a 1list of all the
expenditures of the state. The final budget adopted
by the leglislature was according to the Daniel's
budget as it should have been.

Our first actual complete budget was under
Governor Young in 1927, when Alexander R. Heron,
who was the flrst director of finance when the State
Department of Flnance was created--

Alexander Heron 1is one of the people who turns up
again and agaln in state finance.

Yes. He was one of the finest directors of finance
that we ever had. He was a very knowledgeable man.

I remember one of his expressions was that "You can't
see the forest because of the trees." I believe
that's the way it went. Anyway he could see through
things very rapidly and come to the answer in a
quicker time than any man I ever worked under.

What was his particular background? Was he an
economist?

Yes. He was with Governor Young at the--what's the
name of that real estate flrm in Berkeley?

Mason-McDuffie?

Mason-McDuffie. Right. He was with Governor Young
at Mason-McDufflie. He came from there.

S0 he would know land values and large flscal
matters?
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Yes. He's a very knowledgeable man. He had a wide
expanse of knowledge. And so under Governor Young
we presented the first complete, detailed budget.
As I recall it was about $176 million a year.

This was still one budget document for two years?

Yes, we were in blennial sessions of the state
legislature then, so we had two~-year budgets.

That's right.

But the budget was only $176 million a year, about.
And compared to now--

You could add several zeroes, to that, I think!

That's right. It's goling to be about seven billion
this year. I mean next year, 1972-1973, it's going
to be almost seven billion dollars.

Do you recall what the major items of expense
were back in those late twentles?

Well, the largest item, of course, were the flxed
charges. The highway expenditures and bond Iinterest
and redemption. The state's financial aid to
counties and school districts and such items were
very small compared to what they are today. We
didn't have any welfare or Medi-Cal in those days.
If you had one of the old budgets you could look

at it and see what it was. I don't know where my
coples are now.

We have them all in Bancroft.
That's right, you have them all.

Irving Martin was one of the Board of Control
members then. He was a newspaper publisher.

Yes. I think he was an assistant director of
finance for a while. Of course Lyman King, of the
Redlands Savings and Loan Association was one the
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oldtimers.* A very fine man too. Governor Young
did more for the state of California in his
reorganization, than anyone since Hiram Johnson's
time. I went to work for the state under Hiram
Johnson in 1915. I was in the Division of Highways
at that time, as a clerk. As an accountant in the
highway department. Of course it was Governor
Hiram Johnson who reorganized the state, and put

it on a sound basis.

And then Governor Young completely reorganized
the state government of California in 1927.

What particularly did he bring in in terms of the
Department of Finance and budget procedures?

The Department of Finance was given charge of all

the state properties, all the finances, all the
budgeting, purchasing, all fiscal matters, plus
annual auditing, and the uniform systems of
accounting came under the jurisdiction of the
Department of Finance. Now, of course, the Department
of Finance 1is 2all shot to pieces. About all it does
now is prepare the budget. The Department of

General Services has taken over all the other
housekeeping functions.

I see. Including the financial controls?
No. That is still the Department of Finance.
Now?

Yes. The Department of Finance still has budgetary
control.

You came in in 19157

I came into the state service in 1915, but I came
into the Department of Finance in 1922.

¥Lyman M. King was the second director of the State
Department of Finance, January 31, 1930 to January
5, 1931, under Governor Richardson.
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1922. How did you happen to switch from the
highway department to--

I went from highways to become an assistant
manager of the California State Falr. I was

there from 1919 to 1922, and took a cut in

salary of $25 a month to get into the Department
of Finance, and started there as a Jjunior
accountant. We had about seven people on the
staff at that time. Now they have several hundred,
or did have, when they had annual auditing and

all of its other functions. But we had just seven
people, and did all of the auditing and all of

the budgetary work in those days.

So you came in before civil service?

Yes. I came in long before civil service.
Although you still had civil service in those days,
but not as strongly as it is now.

Did you have to sit for an exam?
Yes. I sat for an examination.
And had you a background in bookkeeping and--?

I had had the accounting education so that I had
bookkeeping knowledge, which enabled me to pass
the examination. That's how I started in the
career of financial work in the Department of
Finance in 1922. I became chief of the Division
of Budgets and Accounts, in the Department of
Finance in February, 1931, and assistant director
in August, 1949. As assistant director I had
general oversight of the several divislions of the
Department of Finance.

Were you Califormia-born?

I was born right here in Sacramento. I've been
here for eighty years.

Were you? Oh, that's wonderfull

In fact, now over eighty years. A few hours over.
[laughing]



Morris: Sacramento would have been pretty much a small
town.

Links: Yes. We only had about thirty thousand people in
Sacramento then. About thirty thousandl or forty
thousand people. When I was born they only had
about, I guess, twenty-five thousand. There were
no paved streets beyond 10th Street when I was a
boy. If you know Sacramento.

Morris: And the state capitol was the center of all the
activity in town?

Links: I recall very well when, in 1927, they completed
the State Library Bullding, and the Office Building
No. 1, which is just west of the capitol. Those
buildings still stand; they are monumental buildings.
Alexander Heron and I stood on the third floor of
the capitol, and we looked out the window at those
two new buildings just completed, and we said,
"Well, we're all set now for twenty or twenty-five
years." [laughing] Within five years we had four
more big state buildings here in Sacramento, as I
recall. That's how it goes.

Morris: Yes. Well, one of the things I1I'd like to talk
about is state construction. It seems to have been
one of the problems that has caused the budget to
increase--~

Links: The state's ever increasing population and all of
these new~-the welfare thing requires expenditures
that have almost ruined the state financlally.
There's practically no control over that welfare.
Anyone can get in and get almost anything they want.

Morris: You said that back in those early budgets under
Governor Young we had very small aids. When did
the welfare-~-~

Links: Welfare was only four or five years old when I
retired.

Morris: The state welfare program?

Links: Yes. Medi-Cal and all those things Jjust increased
the budget tremendously.



Morris: Well, in some of the things I've read, the amount
of welfare people were recelving began to increase
in the late twentles, early thirties. It was
federal leglislation at that point, and Governor
Olson was pushing for--. This was durling the
Depression.

Links: Yes.

Morris: In some of those budgets-~I think it was about the
127 to '29 budget--they said that all the federal
funds that came to California were not included in
the state budget--

Links: No, they're not state expenditure. They're not a
state expenditure as such. We're merely the agent
of the federal government, spending that money.
That's not included as part of the budget even now.
You see, this is state money that we're talking
about in the budget, not the federal money.

Fiscal Controls

Morris: But the state has to keep an accounting of it,
don't they, and administer it? Was that much of

an expense?

Links: Oh, you mean keeping account of it? Oh no, no.
The accounting of it is very simple. Yes, that
wasn't very expensive. It's the distribution of
the welfare and the keeping of those records which
are very costly.

Morris: The distribution of it.

Links: Personnel has Jjust grown by leaps and bounds in
its increase.

Morris: When you say distribution, does that mean what we
call casework services to talk to people to see if
they are eligible?

Links: And of course the lssuing of the checks every month,
and keeping the record of the amounts pald and all
that. That's where the costs come. And of course
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the actual expenditures, the aid granted, lis what
causes the costs and the tremendous staff of
people that are necessary to administer that
program. And it doesn't get any less. Of course,
it won't, as long as there are no controls on it.
There 1is apparently very little control now. I've
read in the paper on several occasions when people
with plenty of money have gone in and applied for
welfare grants and gotten 1it.

That really seems very strange, doesn't it?

Oh, we just had one case here the other day. This
man I think had $12,000 in cash in his house, and
he was on welfare. He had gotten over $7,000 out
of the state.

Oh my. Well, could we g0 back a bit? The period
that we're particularly interested in is when Earl
Warren was governor, and it seems like a number

of things were happening.

Yes. He was governor for about ten years. He
was an outstanding governor.

Yes. He was elected in '42, and then took office
in '43. Up until that time, there had been
nonprofessional people as director of finance.
Mr. Olson had had Phil Gibson, and then George
Killion.

Yes, Killlon was a good finance adviser. Judge
Phil Gibson was a lawyer, but he was a very able
man and took advantage of the knowledge of other
people.

That's interesting.

Yes. Very definitely so. I recall, whenever a
new governor came in, one of the first advices he
was given was to get rid of Fred Links. [laughter]

Now, why--?

Well, because I had the knowledge and knew how to
exercise control. We were very careful in our
controls, of course. They always got an answer,



Links: yes or no, and they didn't have to walt six months
as they do now to get an answer. And because of
my knowledge, and background, I knew everything
that was going on. They wanted to get rid of the
man that knew everything in state financing and
could put roadblocks in the way.

Morris: This would be Olson's advisers?

Links: Yes, Olson. But it wasn't more than, oh, maybe
three months or four months before they decided
they didn't want to get rid of me.

Morris: In other words, Mr. Gibson felt that your knowledge
was essential.

Links: Yes. He took advantage of it, you see. I worked
with the governors. Olson's program was entirely
opposite to my philosophy of the way the government
should be run. I'd been a Republican all my life
and he was a Democrat. But I had a job to do, and
I did the job that was supposed to be done. It had
to be done correctly.

I recall very definitely when Jimmy Dean came
in under Governor Warren. I'd known Jimmy Dean for
many, many years when he was clilty msnager here in
Sacramento. So he saild to me when he came in,
"Now, Fred, you make the decisions in your department,
and I'11 back you up. If they're wrong, we'll
straighten them out. But I'1ll seldom go contrary
to what decision you make." And he did, too. When
I'd say "no" to something, he'd usually back me up.
I recall quite definitely that when the State
Employees Association (I'm a charter member of that
organization, and still am a member of it) appealed
to the State Personnel Board for coffee breaks. I
went in to Jimmy Dean one day, and said "Jim, this
thing is going to cost the state $1,700,000 a year
now, and it'l1l go to about $5,000,000 in lost time.
State employees do not need a coffee break. They
don't work hard enough."

So he said, "Go and oppose it." Well, I went
over and opposed it and told the Personnel Board
all these facts. They said, "Well, Mr. Links, you
were born thirty years too soon." And they passed
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it. [laughter] Now, look at what it's costing
the state!

That's on the basis of employees taking twenty
minutes--

All our employees are entitled to take a coffee
break of fifteen minutes in the morning and
fifteen minutes in the afternoon. Well it turns
out to be a half an hour to three quarters of an
hour. They all sit around and talk. I never took
a coffee break all the time I was with the state
even though it was avallable. I just don't believe
in it, and didn't need it. Although we worked
long, long hours. In fact one time I worked from
Wednesday noon until Saturday morning on the budget
proposals. That's sixty-five straight hours.

When was that?

About 1945. I've been
retired sixteen years. But that was required to
get the budget out in time. It had to be presented
to the legislature within thirty days after they
convened.

Oh, I don't know, now.

Was this a particularly tough budget for some
reason?

Yes, it was a tough budget. Getting the decisions
on the cuts and so forth were very slow in coming.

From the various departments?

Yes, well, the governor, and the conferences with
the departments and the governor, and trying to
come to some decision as to what the governor would
recommend. So we had a staff of twelve or fourteen
people working those long hours. I never had my
clothes off in all that time. I ate six times a
day, but--!

You'd need to, to keep going.

Three times during the night and three times during
the day.
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This sounds like 1t might have been one of the
Warren budgets.

Oh, yes, it was one of the Warren budgets. We
worked many, many times two days at a time without
stopping. All the proof-reading of the budget--

It went to the printer so late, everything had to
be proof-read and put on a comptometer to make sure
all the figures were right. It wasn't an easy
task.

No. It's an incredibly detalled task.

We had a couple of our boys die of heart fallures
or heart attacks, under that pressure.

Well, maybe we could start on how the state budget
process has changed. You sald that Governor Young
was the first one to do a complete and proper
budget.

A complete budget. That®s right. Under the
provisions of the state constitution.

And that had required a constitutional amendment?

Well, when the amendment passed. There was a
constitutional amendment requirement. I think the
initiative measure was sponsored, if I remember
correctly now, by the Commonwealth Club of San
Francisco, the requlrement that there be a complete,
detailed budget, showing expenditures for the
current year and the proposed expenditures for the
coming year. For the coming biennium, in those
days. Of course now we have the yearly budget.
That's when the leglslature met bilannually.
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ITI DURING GOVERNOR WARREN'S ADMINISTRATION

1948: Annual Budgets Begin

And then, in the thirties, at what point did it
begin to be a problem to have a two-year budget?

Well, you see--I have forgotten the date of the
constitutional amendment that provided for annual
sessions.

That was 1948.

That's right. And then of course we just had a
budget every year. Before,we only had a bilannual
budget, which was much easier, of course.

Verne Scoggins sald that one of the problems with
the two-year budget was that the second year's
legislature didn't know, understand, the thinking
that had gone into the making of the budget.

That's right. And the changes were so rapid in
the state, that the budget became almost--oh,
let's see, what 1s the word I want to use?

Obsolete?

Well, more or less obsolete. Yes, you're right.

It became obsolete because of the changes in the
conditions, and financial requirements of 1it.

They found out that they couldn't operate the
state on a two-year budget. They just had to have
an annual sesslilon. The state became so large,

and the expenditures so much on an increasing
basis, that they just had to look at it every year.
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And that's why we have the annual sessions. Now
we have almost a continuous session. [laughter]

It sure looks like it this year!
How long has it taken them? January to December.

And they're starting again this afternoon. And
it's still the budget that's causing--~

It's still the budget. They're trying to balance
the budget. They need about $310,000,000 right
now.

Yes. One of the things that has interested me 1is
the economic forecasts that go into that budget
document.

Yes. We had a very fine staff for that, and we
were usually very accurate. Ralph Currie, who was
our chilef financial estimator, was a very bright
man, and still is a very bright man. He's retired
now.

Yes. Is he still in California?
He's here. In Sacramento, yes.
Where did he get his information?

Oh, he gathered information from business, the
volume of business and population increases. We
were very accurate on our population increase
forecasts, too. They had a very excellent staff
of researchers, who took the information that was
avallable from business and from the United States
government, the Department of Labor, Department of
Commerce, and other government departments, and
compiled a2ll that. That department still is
operating. That section, I mean, of the budget
staff.

So that would give you your estimate of what the
state's economy was going to be.

What was required.
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And this would give you indications of what revenues
would be, and also what costs would be?

Yes. All of that. Yes. What all the revenues
would be, and what the expenditure requirements
were, from the population standpoint, the increase
in our institutions, mental institutions, prisons,
and schools. All of that was part of thelr task,
to predict that. Trying to predict it for two
years was not an easy task. Now, it's much easier,
to have only one year with which to be concerned.

Then what happens? After you've got the economic
forecast and the predlictions on revenues and state
expenses.

Then after we found out what the expendltures were,
whether we had to increase revenues, or reduce
expenditures to keep within the budget. It had

to be a balanced budget. The governor had to
subnit a balanced budget. In other words, if the
expenditures were greater than the revenue, he had
to propose new sources of revenue. That's how our
sales tax came into the picture.

That was in the thirtlies, wasn't it?

Yes, somewhere in there. And that's goling up 2ll
the time. Everything's going up.

Well, a2 couple of minutes ago you sald that
Olson's ideas were contrary to your philosophy of
government. Can you give us kind of an idea of
what your philosophy--

Well, my philosophy always was that we should have
a balanced budget, and that we should hold our
expenditures down to the lowest possible amount
consistent with serving the people, and giving
them the service that is expected from government.
Of course, Olson had sort of a "giveaway"
philosophy. He had a lot of new ideas about how
to spend money. He was on the liberal side, and
of course I was always taught, from the very
beginning, to be frugal with state expenditures,
and prevent thelr increase.
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Expendltures Mushroom

Morris: How would the State Department of Finance react
when the legislature would want to expand certain
services to people?

Links: Well, we would step in, and in most cases we
would oppose them. Because 2 small amount of
expenditure now would mushroom as the years went
by. And that always has been true. You start
something with a small expenditure, and before you
know 1it, you've got an elephant on your back.
[laughter] You carry a little kitten, you know,
or a little elephant, and then he grows in a hurry.

Morris: This has been true in the construction and the
highway program, too. '

Links: Well, yes, of course it's been the requirement for
additional freeways and highways to get the public
moved from one section to another. For instance,
right here on Folsom Boulevard--

Morris: That's qulte a masterpeice, I think.

Links: If you had come in thirty days ago, you would have
a very difficult time getting into this park,
waiting for traffic. Now you can just come in and
go out any time. We've got a new throughway. We've
got eight lanes over there, and here we had four
lanes.

Morris: There are very few people using that new piece yet.
Links: It's just amazing. Now you can run downtown in
seven or eight minutes. It used to take fifteen
or twenty.
Morris: Yes, you'll get your neighborhood back.
Links: Oh yes, that's right. Yes. It makes a blg difference.

Morris: Once we got into annual budgets, what kind of
technical developments were introduced?
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No difference there. It was practically the same.
Only we had to make it only for one year, and we
could give a much more accurate picture than we
could for two years. The state was growing so
rapidly that it was almost impossible to predict
two years ahead. That was the reason for the
annual budget, and the annual session of the
legislature. The state was changing so rapidly
that you Jjust couldn't wait two years to get some
of these things under control, or to predict
accurately the requirements for the second year.

In the forties, when we got into World War II, one
of the things that's interesting in reading those
budgets is how much the revenues were ahead of the
forecasts.

Well, that's because the governmental expenditures,
the war expenditures--that's something we didn't
know about, to make the prediction.

Well, even on into '44 and '45, state revenues
continued to increase.

Yes. Well, the sales tax. I don't know just when
that started, but the sales tax just went up by
leaps and bounds as more industry came in and more
people came in.

It sounds as if the people in the Department of
Finance didn't really think that this was going

to continue. Each year you figured it was going to
level off.

That's right. It never did level off. [laughter]
Did Warren agree with you on this cautious approach?

Yes. Warren was a cautious governor. Off the

record, he made a much better governor than he

made a chief justice of the Supreme Court! [laughter]
I think he's responsible for a lot of upsets on
giving all the benefits to the criminal and no
benefits to the victims. That's another story.

And then we have something called program budgeting
and bookkeeping systens.
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Yes, in the old days we used to consider item by
item. And then when the governor--Governor Knight?

Was this Knight or Brown?

Yes. I think in the latter part of the Brown
adninistration we came into what we called program
budgeting. We figured things out on a program
basis rather than on an individual employee by
employee basis. The number of employees in each
category or classification. They'd decide whether
they wanted that program to continue or this
program to expand, or this program to be diminished.

Is this any improvement?

I think it has a vallidity, and is better budgeting.
Yes. Do it by programming, and then you could
understand the whole program. The legislature

could decide whether that program should be expanded
or contracted, or continued.

I had thought it might have come in earlier on.

No. That didn't come until, I think--Governor
Brown was in at the time it came in.

Relations with Administrative Departments
and. the Legislature

Another thing on Department of Flinance procedure
that I've come across--was it about 1947 that the
department began to do administrative analyses of
the operating departments?

Yes, that was under a man by the name of Plerce
Fazel. He's still here in Sacramento.

What was the reason for those?

Well, that was to analyze to see whether there
was an overstaffing or whether the particular
project on which a state agency was workling was a
valid project for the state, whether or not it
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should be expanded or contracted or consolidated.
Those were the things that our analyst staff
went into.

How did the departments take thisg idea?

Well, we were the ones that proposed it, and I
hired Fazel from Los Angeles. He was in Los
Angeles in the department there--

In the Department of Finance?

No, the Los Angeles Taxpayers Association, as I
recall. He was with the taxpayers association.

I was thinking about, say, the Department of
Corrections, for instance, or the Department of
Mental Hygiene. How would they react when Finance
said, "We're going to come to do a study--"?

Well, of course they had no alternative but to
accept our services. It's just like auditing.

You just walk in and say, "We're going to make an
audit." And the analyst staff said, "We're coming
in to study your operation." When we supported
them, they were happy. If we made recommendations
that they be curtailed or eliminated, sometimes
they were not happy. That's a natural thing, you
See.

It is a natural thing. It's nice that you can look
at it in that friendly fashion.

[laughing] Well, we did it for the good of
government. We made many changes and recommendations.
They were usually adopted. We had very little
trouble getting our program over with the legislature,
because we never fooled the legislature. That was
one thing. We gave them the facts as they are,
and they made the decisions.

You would have worked pretty closely then with the
Senate Finance Committee?

Oh, yes.
And the Assembly Ways and Means?
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Yes, Assembly Ways and Means all the time. Senator
Rich, of Chico, was one of our very staunch
supporters and a very fine chalrman of the finance
committee.

He was part of what they called the "Economy Bloc"
that started back in '38--

Yes, that's right. He talked our language.
[laughter] Yes, Senator Rich was a very stout
supporter of ours.

How much of 1t was flscal solvency and how much of
it was a political--

His philosophy, of course, was flscal solvency.
He's gone now, unfortunately. But he was a staunch
supporter for economical government. We could
always rely on him when we had a proposal before
the legislature to reduce expendltures or to
eliminate expenditures. He was a good supporter.

And then he was followed by Ben Hulse, wasn't he?

Yes. Ben Hulse was another very fine chalrman of
finance. A very fine chairmen of finance. A very
able man, and a good man. Ben Hulse was a dandy
man. He was from Ventura--

Yes. He was in blg agriculture, down in the South.
Yes.

And who in the assembly? Was Wollenberg on the
ways and means committee?

Yes. Wollenberg was a very fine chalirman for ways
and means. He worked with us very closely.

Well, he was known to move for things like state
health insurance and some of the other social
programs that Warren wanted.

Yes. As I recall he did advocate some of those
newer things. There've been so many of them that
it's hard to remember.
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Paying for them is the nut that the finance
department would have to cope with. The Democrats'
point of view seems to have been that as production
increased, you would produce more state revenues,
which could then go for social services.

That's right. The Democrats proposed most of
these new innovations in state support, state
welfare.

And the productivity and state revenues didn't
provide enough money?

No, we had to increase the income tax, we had to
increase the sales tax. Those are the two sources
which they'll probably tap again for additional
revenue to meet our present crises.

How much of this comes from pressure groups out in
the community, and how much of it--

New philosophies in the minds of the legislators,
yes. That was the thing that we had to fight
against all the time--adding new expenditures to
the state government. We could see from past
experience that if they once got their foot in the
door, it was almost impossible to abolish a program
once it was established. It's easy enough to get
them started, but to ever stop them--. Because
people who were in the program didn®t want to stop,
and the people who were recelving the benefits
didn't want to stop. So we had to fight against
that all the time. It was very seldom that we ever
got rid of a program once it became a part of
governmental activity. That's the difficulty of
those things, like federal welfare, and all those
programs. There are so many employees involved.
They've got a lot of power in influencing
legislation through themselves and their friends.
That's why it's so difficult in federal government
to~-so difficult for any president to reduce
federal expendlitures.

This was one thing that interested me about the
tudgets in the Warren years. You would work out
the budget document, and then Warren would present
it to the legislature; then almost every year, the
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Morris: 1legislature would approve other items that weren't
in that budget. So that even when you were cutting
the governor's budget, the final total of state
expenditure would Iincrease.

Links: Yes. And they would of course reduce many of the
items that we had in the budget too. We had that
problem on our hands, to support the existing
requirements for governmental aid and governmental
supervision. We had to fight to keep what we even
recommended many, many times. Many, many times.

Morris: But then--the budget always ended up higher than
your requirements--

Links: Oh, always higher, yes. In the case of appropria-
tions, always higher. There never was an exception
to that in any year.

Morris: That's very curious. How does that come about?

Links: Well, the leglislature started new programs. The
new programs--for instance in construction. They
would get a new college started, or a new mental
institution started in the author of the bill's
own district. That's what makes it almost impossible
for a governor to keep the expenditure that he
recommends. It's always higher. Always higher.
So it's a struggle between the leglislative minds
and the mind of those who are serving under the
governor.

Morris: And pressures from wilthin government, from various
departments?

Links: That's right.
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Developing a Budget

In producing the budget, would you work out the
budget item, say, for the Department of Mental
Hygiene, with Dr. Tallman and his staff?

Yes, we always worked with the departments. They
would present thelr requests to us, and we'd sit
down and have a budget hearing with the department,
and begin to pare and cut and see what they could
do without, and how they could cut down. That was
always our philosophy, cutting down. No governor
wants to present an increased budget, as a general
rule, except when they sponsored some new program
of their own. Governor Warren inaugurated or
recommended several new types of expenditures during
his ten years. What they were in detall I don't
remember, because there were so many of them.

Well, he had a big highway program, and that
produced a money fight on the gas tax.

The gas tax. Yes.
What would have been your recommendation on that?

We would recommend additional taxes for greater
highway expenditures, and show it in the budget

as a proposed new expenditure. The governor was
right in that, because had we not had the increased
highway faclillities and additional freeways, we would
just simply be stuck on the roads and streets. We
could see ahead that we would have to have that.

So many new automobiles would be on the road in two
years, or five years, or ten years ahead.

And the other thlng that went on, almost throughout
his administration, was a postwar construction
program of state buildings--

Yes. State buildings. We had a program for that
laid out for years ahead--a master plan for the
expansion of the bulldings at the capitol. They
still are paying millions of dollars in rent for
rented quarters right now.



23

Morris: Still? And that was one of the big problems there
in the early forties.

Links: Two things that were difficult to support. One
was the rented facilities. The Mull Building,
which used to be at Tenth and L Streets.

Morris: The Mull Building? Is that Archie Mull?

Links: Yes. It's in the Archie Mull family. We have paid
millions of dollars in rent for those quarters.
We could have bought the whole thing for about
$350,000 or $400,000, before we started to rent it.
And we've spent over a million dollars in rent on
that place alone.

Morris: Why was the decision made to rent instead of buy?

Links: You just couldn't get approval for the expenditure
of the $400,000 to buy the building. It was too
much in that year. And look at what we've paid--

Take the governor's mansion. I know that we
spent over $3,000,000 in maintenance and repairs
on that bullding. And Jjust look at what we would
have saved if we'd bought and built a new mansion.

Morris: But the legislature would never approve it.

Links: Yes. The other thing which we always fought was
attempts of state agencles to make the revenues
they collected a special fund over which the
legislature and the governor had no control.

Morris: You mentioned that you helped Governor Young write
his budget message?

Links: Yes, we helped write it. Governor Young was an
outstanding governor and it was a real privilege
working with him on budgetary matters, and his
message. We gave him the figures and the comparisons
and so forth. We always helped the governors with
thelr messages, because the detall was so much that
no single man, who hadn't worked with it very closely,
could remember all the detalls.
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On Warren's budgets, would Verne Scoggins sit in
on those discussions? To help write them?

No, Verne was the governor's right-hand man. But
the governor's staff never sat in on the budgetary
processes. :

I meant on writing the budget message.

Oh, they may have. They may have done that. But

not as I recall.

Postwar Construction Reserves

On the postwar construction that Warren planned--
how did he manage to get a2ll that money earmarked
from the wartime surplus revenues? How did you
put them into special reserve funds that couldn't
be touched for other purposes?

Well. Perhaps they were appropriated for construc-
tion, and stayed there in the treasury until it

was required. A lot of that was done under bond
issues. There were some bonds on state bulldings,
too.

Yes. There were about two hundred million dollars
of surplus revenues in '43, '44, and those were--

Set aslide in the reserve. Not by legislation, but
by administrative directives.

Administrative directives? How would that work?
Well, the governor simply said, "This money will
be kept for construction work, and we won't
appropriate any of it for any other purpose.™
And what would happen to those funds?

Well, they stayed in the treasury, earmarked for
that.

Were they invested?
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Yes, they were invested in bonds.
In other states' bonds?

In other governmental bonds. Mostly always in
federal bonds. Yes.

Wouldn't the legislature objlect to those surplus
monies going into--

No, they went right along with us on that, knowing
full well that we would have to have additional
state-owned public facllities. 1In general they
didn't--

And who buys the bonds? Who handled that?
The treasurer.
The state treasurer?

Yes. In other words he would linvest it in banks
and. the banks would put up the bonds, in either
stocks or securities or something, to protect the
deposits in the banks. The banks would agree to
gilve us a small rate of interest. I think it was
two and three percent.

Interest on those deposits?

On those deposits. Yes. But state funds were
always protected by bonds.

And then before all that postwar construction that
was planned for was bullt, the costs started to go
up. Do you recall any debates between Jimmy Dean
and Alan Post, with Dean saying that "the costs
are going up, we need to build it right now," and
Alan Post saying, "Let's delay thlis construction
until next year so the prices will come down on
construction."

Yes. There were those occasions. When Alan Post
was appointed, he would make recommendations quite
contrary to the governor's recommendations for
budgetary support. Elimination of agencies,
reducing of agencles. That was his job. We worke
very closely with Alan Post and hils staff. He use

25
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Links: to sit in on our budgetary hearlings too, to see
what was goling on. We kept him informed of what
was 1in the budget so he could make his own
analysis of what he wanted to recommend.

Morris: It seems as if you were both doing the same thing.

Links: No. He represented the legislative side of the
plcture. The legislators, many of them new,
elected every two years, were not informed. They
had no knowledge of financial procedures. Alan
Post was the man who informed and advised them.

He was thelr adviser. There were lots of times
his philosophies were entlirely contrary to ours or
the governor's.

Morris: He says he's a conservative, too.

Links: Yes. He's very definltely a conservative. Very
definitely a conservative. Yes, he would like to
cut a lot of expenditures, and if the legislature
had listened to him, we would have had a lot less
expenditures for state government, too. His
recomnendations were on falrly good, solid grounds.

Morris: Om this postwar construction, would he have been
kind of running head-~on into Mr. Dean, because lr.
Dean was an architect?

Links: Well, no. I don't think so. Mr. Dean looked at it
from the state's requirements, not from an
architectural standpoint. Jimmy Dean never felt
that we should build builldings just to be building.
He only made his recommendations on the baslis of
state requirements for the present and the future.
A very able and a very good man.

Morris: I'm interested that he was clity manager in
Sacramento, before he joined Warren's administration.

Links: Yes. About ten years. He was also ten years,
almost, with the governor.

Morris: Yes, he was director of finance all the way through
Warren's terms. Where is he now?

Links: He has passed away.
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Oh, that's too bad.

Yes. He dled. These men are getting old, you
know! [laughter]

Well, Mr. Warren 1s still hale and hearty!

27
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III ACTIVITIES AS A PRIVATE CITIZEN

Yes, he's just six months older than I am. He's
in his eighties now, too. It all depends on your
philosophies and your activities in retirement.
When you once get o0ld, you'd better keep active
and going.

It seems to be that the busier you've been in
your working career, the busier and the longer
you keep going when you retire.

I'm still vice president of a building and loan
assoclation. I've been on the board of directors
for thirty-five years. Fort Sutter Savings and
Ioan, here in Sacramento. I still do a lot of
activities in my Presbyterian church. And of
course I'm very active in music. I was a choir
director in Sacramento for forty-eight years.

Were you!

That was my outlet.

This kept you relaxed and sent you back into--
Yes. It entirely changed my whole activity, and
that's the thing that kept me going. Outside
music.

That's wonderful. Is this a church choir?

Yes, 2 church choir.

And you were the director?
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Yesy, I was the director for thirty-nine years with
the Methodist church, and another twelve years

with the Presbyterian church. The total career was
forty~eight years.

Had you studied music somewhere along the line?

Yes, I did during the early days. Singing. I
did a lot of soloing.

In other words, you were a sololist yourself.
And all that without salary.
That kind of labor of love is very satisfying.

It's my avocation in life. What I call my tithing
of time.

Yes. Where did you study singing yourself?

Here in Sacramento. Pease Music Studios, and some
others. I had four or five different teachers

over my early career.

Did you do any concert type of singing or theater--?
No. ©Nothing of that kind. Not professional. This
was all amateur. I had no deslire to be in the
professional business at all.

Well, there are many little theater volunteer
groups.

Yes. No, I never did that. We did a lot of acting

in those days, too. In theatricals. But that was
all amateur theatrical. We put on a lot of programs.

We had a 45-voice choir with a waiting list,
all the time. I was a very strict director, you
see. I didn't get any more pay than they did, and
I could demand the same thing from the members of
the choir that I was gliving. I let many a member
of the choir go who was absent three times. His
seat wasn't filled, and I said, "There are people
who want to sit in that seat, so if you can't do
it, somebody else will take it." Directing was lots
of fun.
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Morris: Did any of those members join state service?

Links: Yes. There were a lot of state service members
there. Fred Taylor was one of my choir members.
He was at one time director of the Department of
Professional and Vocational Standards. Earl
Chapman, who was the administrator for the state
retirement system was a member of my cholir. Oh,
lots of women and men throughout the state service.
John Handsaker, who was deputy directory for
Veterans Affairs, was a member of my choir. The
choir. It wasn't my choir, it was the choir.
[laughter]

Morris: Well, you develop kind of a fatherly feeling towards
them, I would think.

Links: Yes. I've had a lot of them in there in the old
days. Yes. We used to have lots -of fun.

Morris: I would think so. I would think so. " Singing groups
are very satisfying.

Links: We had about 93% attendance, year in and year out.
And the choir members apprecliated it, too. They
got the discipline, and yet they had a lot of fun
with it. We used to have annual dinners, prizes
for attendance, and all those little gimmicks. It
21l helped.

Morris: Yes. They really do. One of the big state expenses,
coming back to that, was in 1947 when the state
took a2 big jump into school financing. The school
equalization bill. This was for construction,
wasn't it, and also for operating support?
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IV OTHER STATE MONEY MATTERS

Piscal Officers

Yes. That's what we call a.d.a. The average
dalily attendance. They got so much per unit, of
average dally attendance at the schools.

That was the origin, then, of the a.d.a.?

Yes. Of course, now the state supreme court has
sald that property tax is not the way to finance
schools. It should be a general tax, rather than
a tax only on real property.

Don't a.d.a. funds come out of state income tax
revenues?

No, it comes from revenues that are palild into the
General Fund.

Was this something that the Department of Finance
went along with?

Oh, I think it was a result of many conferences
and suggestions as to how schools should be
supported. Many of these things arise from those
types of considerations--

Several years' worth of discussions with local
people~--

Yes. They don't just pop right out of the sky.
It's the final consensus of opinion of those who
are interested in how these things should be
financed.
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Probably because it says "school equalization aid,"
I've wondered was that administered by the Board
of Equalization?

No, the Board of Equalization was only interested
in the ralsing of the money. That's all. And
liquor, of course, in the early days. They had
control of the liquor. Before they created the
Alcoholic Beverage Control board. The Board of
Equalization had liquor--. That's where Bonelli
got into trouble, you know.

How did he get into trouble?

Well, he was accused in Los Angeles of accepting
bribes for liquor licenses. They were very scarce
in those days. We had so many per population, so
many per clty. He was accused of taking bribes,
and getting licenses for people. He died as a
fugitive from justice in California. He died in
Mexico. Now his widow is suing to get all his back
retirement pay due him during those years. It's
quite a mess.

How does the Board of Equalization affect the
raising of revenues? They wouldn't say, "The sales
tax is going to go up one percent would they?

No. They had nothing to do with that. All they
would do would be to equallize the value of property
upon which the tax was levied. They make recommen-
dations for counties, and also they would fix the
rates of taxation for utilities, corporations,
banks. Things of that kind.

That would seem to be a very sensitive area.

Oh, it is. A lot of politics in that, you see.
On evaluations. Assessment valuations. It was
their responsibility to see that there was an
equal assessment throughout the state for the
various types of properties and businesses. That
was theilr function. Still is.

They're an elected board, and to equalize the
value of properties all over the state--this would
require a staff.
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Oh, they have a staff of analysts and appralisers.

This was an issue too, wasn't it? Wasn't this
one of the things that Mr. Post objected to?
That they were not earning their keep?

Yes. There were a lot of questions on that. A
lot of questions on whether or not they were
doing their job. Post is still there, too, by
the way.

Alan Post? Yes, I've been interviewing him--

Vandegrift was the first one they had.

Yes. Did you work for Vandegrift?

Yes. Roland Vandegrift. He was director of

finance too, you know.

Yes. It's a remarkable list of men who've been
director of finance.

Yes. He was the first legislative analyst. After
he was director of finance he became the legislative
analyst. Then he died, and they got Post in as--

Post had worked under Vandegrift for a couple of
years.

He did, yes. He was his assistant.

And Vandegrift as director of finance was under
Frank Merriam, wasn't he?

Yes. Under Prank Merriam.

And what were his ideas on how the Department of
Finance should function?

He came from the taxpayers' association, too, you
know.

That's right.

Roland A Vandegrift, without

Roland Vandegrift did.
[laughter] He

a period. A was the name for him.
never put a perliod after his A.
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Morris: Did it stand for anything?
Links: No. I don't think it stood for anything.
Morrist No middle name?

Links: No. It wasn't an initial. "A" was just it.
Roland A Vandegrift.

Morris: You mentioned that Alexander Heron was director
of finance. Somewhere someone told me that he
had also been in the Department of Education.

Links: I know he had something to do with education, but
I don't recall, frankly--

Morris: He started some of the ideas on how the Department
of Education should be funded and how schools
should be funded.

Links: When C.C. Young was elected we went down to Mason-
MeDuffie in Berkeley and did all of our budget
consultations down there with Alexander Heron and
the governor, before the governor actually took
office. It was necessary for him, as the governor,
to present a budget right after he took office.

Morrist: That must be a hard job, that first budget, for
any governors.

Links: Oh, it is. Yes. For any governor in those days.

Morris: Particularly when coming in from outside of state
service.

Links: We would always have to confer with the governors
and work with them.

Morris: On that first budget, are governors in general
more likely to rely upon the Department of Finance
figures?

Links: Yes. Definitely so. Because they have no knowledge,
as a general rule, not having been in government--
Take Ronald Reagan, for instance. He had no knowledge
of the government as such, and all of the fiscal
intricacies of budgeting at all. So he had to rely
on the budget staff for a good part of his first
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budget.

So the director of finance must be one of the
first appointments a governor makes.

That's right.

Again, on Warren, before Jimmy Dean, Jack Hassler--
Jack Hassler. Yes. I remember Jack very well, yes.
He was a c¢ity manager, too.

Yes, he was a city manager of Oakland.

Had you known him by any chance?

No, not ahead of time. I worked very closely with
him afterwards. Lyman King was his deputy at
that tine.

Didn't he stay in the Department of Finance?

Yes, he became director of finance in January, 1930,
until Januvary, 1931. After he finished state work,
Lyman King went back to Redlands Savings and Loan
Association in Redlands, California.

So he had a professional banking background.

Yes. He had a professional financial background.
But not in state government as such, till he came
into state service.

He'd been in a bank, and then came to the government
and then went back to the bank.
Savings and loan. Yes.

I have to remind myself that savings and
[laughing]

Yes.
loans aren't really like a bank.

Yes. They're not like a bank, exactly. They have

o little different function.

One other financial officer I've wondered about is
the state controller.
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Yes. An elected official.

He's elected, and again, how much influence do
the controller and the Department of Finance have
on each other?

The controller has no control over expenditures.
He merely disburses the money which the
legislature has appropriated. He also collects
inheritance assessments. Of course, he sits on
several other boards. On the Board of Control,
and the Board of Equalization. I don't know now.
There have been so many changes that I haven't
even kept up with them. But you can get that from
his office, as to what boards he sits on.

Yes. Well, that was Tom Kuchel, who was Warren's--

No. Tom Kuchel, who was controller for so long,
was an elected official. Under Governor Warren
and Jimmy Dean, our staff had advocated a merit
award. board.

What's a merit award?

Where state employees make suggestions for state
savings, and then the employee gets a cash award.
There's one of them now for $68,000 where one
suggestion is going to save the state nearly
$680,000 a year. The rule adopted by the board
was to give the employee ten percent of the first
year's savings. I served as the first chairman of
the State Merit Award from December 1950 to July
5, 1956,when I retired.

Had Tom Kuchel suggested some of these?

No. He became a member of the state Board of
Control. He was a member of that board. If the
award was over $150, the Board of Control had to
pass on it and make recommendations to the state
leglislature.

Oh, I see.

In the old days the principals had to sit on the
boards of which they were members. Later the law
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was amended so that a deputy can sit for the
principal.

Oh. That kind of changes things somewhat,
doesn't it?

Yes, it did quite a little. Now the deputy state
controller sits for the controller, as a general
rule, on some of those boards.

One of those that was formed during the war was
the state Allocations Board. I think the
controller was on there, and Mr. Dean.

Yes. The director of finance and the state
controller.

That must have been pretty powerful.

Well, it made the allocations for the--. It's
still in operation. I think they call it the
Public Works Board now.

I was wondering. I was loocking for the Public
Works Board back through the years, and I ran
into the Allocations Board. So it's the same.
It's the Allocation Board. Yes. It makes
allocations for construction.

In other words, it would have to approve the plans--

The expenditures. Yes. Plans. They have to
approve the general idea of what was to be built.
Of course the Division of Architecture prepared

the plans in those days. That is a division that's
going down and down and down. Much of our state
work goes to private enterprises, which costs us
more money now than when we had the state staff

of architects.

Didn®t that come about because there were so many
things to be built that the state architects
couldn't handle it all?

Of course, the colleges got out from under the
Division of Architecture.
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You mean the bulilding of state colleges?

But it's costing us more money, there's no doubt
about that.

Looking back over the years, what were the issues
and the happenings in the Department of Finance
that you recall as having yourself had the
greatest satisfaction out of, or felt were the
greatest steps forward?

The first step forward was the requirement for a
detailed budget. That was passed by the people
and advocated by the Commonwealth Club of San
Francisco. I think that was one of the biggest
steps we had. Then the legislature was informed
in detall of what the expenditures were. Before
that, it was everybody for himself. And those
that had the greatest influence politically, got
the biggest appropriations. Often more than they
required, legitimately, or could justify legitimately.
That was our biggest step forward.

Then the annual budget was the next step, I
think, as a definite improvement in fiscal affairs.
The state has become so large that you just simply
cannot predict two years in advance what's going to
happen.

And the many improvements in the form of the
budget document were significant steps forward in
presenting the information to the legislature.

What would some of those be?

Well, the number of employees per classification.
There were many new improvements. Charts, and
graphs, and detail that was added to the budget

as the years went by were definite improvements,
in permitting a better understanding of the budget
requirements. The fiscal regquirements.

Would one of these be the breaking the budget down
into capital and fixed charges and the local
assistance--?
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No, we had that from the very beginning. 1927 we
had fixed charges all separated from other
expenditures. The legislature has control only
of about 25% of the budget--when I left. I don't
know--it's probably lower now. But they have
nothing to do with welfare, they have nothing to
do to control certain school requirements, and of
course bond issue redemption is not under their
control.

Highway Expenditures

Highway expenditures are no longer controlled by
the legislature. It's 2ll fixed. Fish and Ganme
revenues are fixed by constitutional amendment,
and you can't use that money for anything but Fish
and Game expenditures. Of course the legislature
does control expenditures, but not on highways.
That's controlled and allocated by the state
Highway Commlission.

The highway budget is not part of your budget
document?

Oh, it's part of the budget, but it's not a part
of the requirement to be appropriated. It's all
appropriated by a constitutional provision. That
is, allocation is made by the Highway Commission.

How did that come about?

Well, the people who were interested in highway
construction got that fixed exclusively for
highway development--so that the legislature can't
do anything with it.

So that it's Just the Highway Commission that has
control?

They can decide what's going to be built, how much
is going to be spent, and all of that.

But then the legislature has to appropriate the
money?
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No, it's all appropriated.

It 211 comes in from the gas tax and the motor
vehicle revenues?

Yes. Motor vehicle revenues are part of it, too.
Is that sound, from a financlial point of view?

Well. Unless you had it that way, you'd have pork
barrel appropriations. Every legislator who had
a lot of political power and control, control of
committees, could get much more for his district
than the ordinary legislator who's not on an
important committee.

There are fewer highway commissioners than there
are legislators.

I think there are only five on the commission.
Maybe seven now. I'm not sure. That of course
is a2 matter of record as to just how many members
there are nows.

Yes. I would think that that would be one of the
areas that people would question.

No. They have some pretty good data upon which

to make their declisions: the need for increased
transportation over the years. Population changes
and movements, and--. The mess out here in front
of our mobile home park was terrible. At 4:30 PM
cars were lined up for miles along the old Highway
50. Now, with the new 50 freeway you Jjust go
salling along. Get downtown in seven minutes,
where 1t used to take fifteen to twenty minutes.
It makes a big difference.

These are the things the Highway Commission
has approved from thelr studies. They have the
information necessary to make the allocation, for
timing and the wldth and length, that highways
should be built. They're planning for ten years
from now. Not now. They've had to rebulld so
many highways in San Francisco now.
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The Highway Commission, then, you feel has more
information than, say, the Senate Transportation
Committee?

Yes. They don't have the staff. This requires
tremendous research. You see these things on the
highways, these 1little traffic counter things.
Thinking way ahead. They've got those all over

the state, to determine what is the traffic require-
ment. Even on this brand new highway, they've got
the traffic counters there already. The Highway 50
was a lifesaver. When they get that all the way

up to Lake Tahoe-- I remember when we used to go

to Lake Tahoe; it would take us four hours.

It was an all-day trip.
Yes. Now it's an hour and forty-five minutes.

Oh my. Well, there are a couple of places up there
I don't think they're going to be able to broaden
it out by much. Going up that slope to Myers'
Summit at the south shore.

Oh, Myers' Grade. No, they're goling to tunnel
that. They're going right through the mountain.
That's in the offing. They'll be starting that
before too long. Go right in at the Echo Summit
and come out way down at Myers. All underground.

I hope the top of the mountaln doesn't fall in.
[laughter]

An all-new highway.

Controlling Public Costs

Well, let's see. We were on the highlights of
progress in the budget process over the years.

The thing that you have commented on several tlimes
s that expenditures continue to rise, and the
operations become more complex. As a lifetime
economlist and finance planner, do you see any way
to simplify or resolve public finance complexities?
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Links: No, not unless you change some of these fixed
expenditures, like the welfare--. Of course the
bond redemption can't be changed. That's fixed
by the constitution by amendments over which the
legislature has no control at all. But I recall
very vividly when our federal budget reached a
billion dollars. I was astounded. A billion
dollars! Now, what is it? $232 billion, I think.
Just unbelievable. The same with the state
budget. $176 million a year in 1927 has gone to
almost seven billion a year. It will be next
year, about seven billion dollars.

Morris: Was it a red-letter day when the state budget hit
a billion? That was about 48, '49.

Links: Well, it was Jjust horrifying. [laughter] Just
horrifying.

Morris: Yes, I can imagine. How far ahead could you see it
coming? :

Links: Well, you couldn't see it coming. Welfare wasn't
even in the picture then. And Medi-Cal wasn't in
the picture in those days. Our prison population
'is way down, of course. It dropped a third, I
think, as I recall. Our institutional population
is down. Welfare has had a lot to do with that.

Morris: Oh, I see.

Links: A lot of people go on--mentally deficient, because
of the needs that they had in living. The require-
ments to get food, and the cost of living. As
those pressures were taken away, the mental processes
now don't deteriorate so fast.

Morris: People can then function on their own. Well, I
remember fifteen years ago, the idea was that it
would be cheaper for the state, and therefore
for the taxpayers, if you could take care of a
mental patient or a juvenlile offender--

Links: Yes. Outside the prisons.

Morris: Outside of a state institution.



Links:

Morris:

Links:

Morris:

Links:

Morris:

Links:

Morris:

Links:

k3

And that's true. The same thing is true with
prisoners. So many more are going on parole.
They're not sending nearly so many people to prison
as they used to.

Then how can we explain the fact that the total
cost of state government goes up?

The point is, so many more come in under the
rules, than would normally come under control of
institutions. That's what is happening.

I see.

Everybody gets on welfare now. Not everybody, I
mean, but a great many people are on welfare now
who wouldn't even get to flrst base if it wasn't
so liberal. The work requlirement is the thing
that sticks In my craw. These people are getting
2ll this without giving any service whatever for
it. I'm absolutely with the governor on a work
requirement for able-bodied persons, men who can
work, and women without chlildren, who can work.
At least glve some service for what they're getting.
I think it's better for then.

How can you do this at a time like now, 1971, when
there are fewer jobs than there have been?

Well, the point then is let them give service to
the state, or the city or the county, for work
that can be done which l1s not being done because
the money isn't avallable to do it.

On a sort of a volunteer basis?

Well, on a requirement basis for them to earn,
probably, on a regular minimum salary requirement,
the amount that they get. We then would get
something out of it. It's not, I wouldn®t say, a
WPA program, or something that's unnecessary a lot
of times. But there are many things that can be
done, that would help the environment, help in
clerical work, and things of that kind that are not
being done, because the money isn't there to employ
the people to do it.
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I see. One question that occurred to me on some
of these technical areas like highway planning:
does the University, thelr institutes and staff,
offer advice or consultation to the Department of
Finance?

Yes. They present thelr budget and we have hearings
with them, too.

Yes. As the whole university. I was thinking of
the Bureau of Public Administration, or Institute
of Governmental Studies.

No. They do that themselves. We don't have anything
to do with that. They have it in their budget
requests for that.

Yes, but when the Department of PFinance has a new
problem or a tricky area that they're trylng to
work out, do you ever go to the University for
technical advice and ideas? Consultation?

Oh, you mean on prediction of revenues and things
like that? They have a staff there too. We work
together. If they have a population studies group,
we work with them. We get all the information we
can. We work with the Chambers of Commerce. We
work with the Taxpayers' Association. All those
different bodies, to obtain and acquire all of the
information we can get.

Do you contact them and say, "We're now starting
a budget. What kind of information have you got?"

Well, for instance our budget analyst's staff

and the financial research staff would consult

those people to see if they have made any predictions,
and to see how near their predictions are to ours.

We work closely with them. We obtain any information
we can, anywhere. Then we'll make our own analysis
from the information that they have that we've
gathered. Out of that will come the final decisions
as to whether our revenues are going to be up, or
down, or stay steady.

If your projections are, for instance, that sales
are going up, how fast is that reflected in the
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actual revenues of the state?

Well, that depends. on how the economics changes.
It can change from month to month. From the
employment, from business, from manufacturing,
from all that, we can make our prediction.

So that within a few months, the business picture
can change? And then you have to cut that into
your--

Yes, but not now as drastically as when we had to
meke a bilannual prediction. It's pretty logical,
although sometimes economics changes, or war
conditions, or something, and upsets the whole
program. As a general rule we're fairly accurate.
We've been noted to come very close to our estimates.

And then, if you predict or see a drop happening,
in state economic conditions, how fast will that
be reflected in the actual income that the state
is receiving?

It depends upon the type of revenue that we're

going to get. Income tax you'd have to predict
coming in the following year. Sales tax is affected
immediately.

Is that paid monthly?

Yes. We keep a monthly record of that. And then,
if the revenues are dropping, we have to start
curtailing budgetary expenditures. You say, "Here,
you can't start that now, because there's a change
in conditions." Or, "You'd better curtail
expenditures so that we can balance our budget.™
Because we've got to keep a balanced budget.

In other words, during a year, during a given year,
you've got a budget document that was passed the
previous year--you'll make changes in things that
you approve or disapprove, department by department?

That'!s right. The mere fact that the leglislature
has made the appropriation--the Department of
Finance still has control of those expenditures,
and can say, "No, you can't do it."
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"The money hasn't come in."

"The money hasn't come in." Or, just like the
president has done~--in many instances, billions
and billions of dollars have been appropriated
for various things, but he hasn't permitted it
to be expended because of the economy. If the
econony's going down, or revenues are going down,
or he wants to hold down inflation, he'll Jjust
stop expenditures.

Can the Department of Finance do that in California?
Oh yes.

Without consulting with the governor?

The governor--of course we work with the

The governor's the boss.
We have his power

No.
governor all the time.
We would consult with him.
behind us.

The reason I say this is, in talking with people
in various departments, I've heard, "Those guys in
FPinance wouldn't let us spend a nickel" and "we
had a terrible time being allowed to do this, that,
or the other thing."

That's exactly right.

And it was very definitely the Department of Finance.
Not the governor. [laughing] It was "those guys
in Finance™!

The law says the Department of PFPinance can do it.
It doesn't say the governor can do it. But the
governor is the boss. It's his budget, and if he
wants expenditures cut, the Department of Finance
has to put that policy into effect.

This would depend probably on the amount of the
item, too.

That's right.

The smaller items you could--
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Links: The construction of certain buildings--. We could
ask the Allocation Board not to approve, or not ,
to allocate. New employees, we'd say, "Now, you've
appropriations for so many new employees. You
simply are not going to put those on. We're not
going to approve the positions, even though they've -
been budgeted, because of the drop in revenues."

We had complete control of that. The Department
of Flinance was very powerful. Very powerful.

Morris: Yes, I can see this--

Links: We had to have it in order to keep the fiscal
balance between revenues and expenditures. In
our days, we had an answer for them on some
contract or request for approval within three or
four weeks. Nowadays they tell me it takes about
six months. They go through so many different
authorities in order to get an expenditure approved.
And the controls, I've been told, everybody's
afraild to say yes or no under the present administra-
tion. Everything seems to have to go back to the
governor or one of hls staff members to get final
approval.

Morris: Well, this has been absolutely delightful, and a
great unexpected bonus. I didn't realize that I
was going to get to hear about Young and Alexander
Heron, and some of those fine men--

Links: Oh, they were fine men. There were fine men as
directors of finance. Judge Gibson made a very
fine director of finance, because he relied upon
his people under him. I recall very definitely
one time I brought a letter to him for his signature.
It was a page long. "I haven't got time to read a
letter 1like that. 1It's too long. Put in about
three paragraphs." After that he got all his
correspondence in just a couple of paragraphs.

Morris: One last question: how did Governor Knight differ
from Warren in his ideas and policies on state
finance?

Links: Governor Knight was a sort of middle-of-the-road
advocate on state expenditures. During a ten year
term Governor Warren proposed many new programs
for increased expenditures.
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Morris: How did John Pierce differ from Jim Dean as
director of filnance? Was Dean ready to retire,
or were there differences of opinion with Knight?

Links: John Pierce came from the California Taxpayers
Association in Los Angeles and was quite familiar
with governmental and state expenditures. He was
a qualified tax man. Jim Dean's background was
city financing.

One day a few months before I retired,
Governor Knight called director of finance, John
Pierce, and told him he would lilke to have a
governor's official seal. Mr. Plerce asked me if
I could get one designed. I told him I would work
on it, so I designed one myself and took it into
Director Pierce. He took it to the governor and
the governor was delighted. The design was adopted
by the state legislature and it is now the official
seal for all governors. Full description and infor-
mation regarding the seal l1s found on page 22 of
the 1967 California Blue Book. I prepared the
legislation for the seal and it was passed by the
legislature on June 8, 1957, after I retired.¥

#*There 1s also a Great Seal of Californla which
appears on "all commlissions, pardons and other

public instruments to which the signature of the
Governor of California is required." Its history

may be found in the California Blue Book, 1958,

p. 636-650. The Governor's Seal appears in Appendix C.

Transcriber: Jane West
Final Typist: Kelko Sugimoto
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A Contury of Financlel Acministzetion

_ . Spomch by Frod We Links
IRh L bofore State Menfg Club
- Konday, June 18, 1906

The develupnant of the S‘Catu Deportment of Flnance datoe back :
sluost one centusy to the cxeation of & Hooxd of Bxundnors by & mtatute
of 1303 -

™he m@rﬁ of umfmwm, at t}m tima of Lts sbolishnent in 1911,

‘consiobed of the Governosy, tma Secretazy of Statey the isi;twnw Genozel,

st the Soovetazy of the les widy who was an e% officlys mosber 1o act only
in the sbeence Izea the atam éwaaital of why ong of t.‘w otha merabers

af the Soands

The Soozd held sami mmmy meetings oo the lst and Ond- manwys -
6f esch aonthe It was its uly 0 pass upon clalms af,zainst, tho 5
for wadch an ag;;::ropmhtim bad boon mades

with the excoption of claime upsn the contingent "uww of @ithez-
house of the Lm;ieiatuw, the Contzoller could not drew his varcent for
sny clalm unless it had beon epproved by the Boexd of Examinurss

, I¢ & clalm wns presentud, for vhich mz gppropyiation had beon made,
the Sooard considersd the sows am&, L8 the clalm was epprovedy it vz

Csubnitted to the Loglalohuze i’w an spproprlation Lo pay the ¢ledm.

This, thony wes actually t’m beglrming eleo of t&m prosent State .

- Bosrd af Control which ha.. emong 1ts duties tadw this same function.

It ves the duty of the Bosrd to count the monoy in the Troasuzy at
Seast once & months IY slso ox exdned the books of tho State Contwuer
and at&t@ Troesuzer &% oftun oo it deoned ROCEBEEITY e

azm invested m@ney in the School Land Fund whenever there wes
an a«.mmlaﬁiun of ﬁ%uﬁﬁ oF FRT0 in the fund, , ~

in 1311, upmz wwman%um af Govamnor Hiram Ja%mwr., the
legislatore ghbolishod the Dacrd of Exsnlners ond created s State Doaxd
m’i.,ant“a},.. R . :

The new Sooxd consistod of thyeo womboxs sppointed by the Govesnox

' _-",'Md holding office et his ploacuros

- Each muchor of the Doexd ses rauired to devote his entire tine Lo |

13.5 ’C‘a‘-alw@ and N mpeaber of the Dosrd wos privileysd W ongage in eny’
xi

h
privety businees recuiring his ctiention betwaa tiw hnum of ning ¢nd

five otclock on business dayse

The tomms of the act mnum tha aww %arﬂ of c:cmt:ox cmtaincsd
ﬁm ianmeing provisiong - L .
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AThe Bourd shall have gongral powers oF supervision ovayr
&}l matiers concwrning the flnanclal ond ssineas
poiizies of the Slate, end ghall, vaenover they deom
it nocesonrys ox ot the imhmm &f the Governor,
instituie or couse the instltution of such investigations
and procesdings gs thoy may dem pmz‘mx 3 congorve the
shghits and iptorests oF the State.® ,

Tor 45 yesrs, horsfore; this hes beon the duty and responsibility
placed upon the Stote mpwtmm of Finunca and 848 pradocossos, the
sma Boazd of Centrods

‘ The firet blerntal repoxt of the losxd of Control zevesls that,
&% the tmo 4t took offlng, dichonestys extraveganca, wasto, and
inceapetonce cudsted 4n mny of the smta departments and Anstitutlions,

: One of the most glaving inefficiencles was the metter of purchasing
materisls and supplics by these awmaiw;

Tor yeaw.—., zings of contractors had throttled legitinute compotition
for tha Statels ushiesse Enforior goods ab &xhasbltant prices woze
sapplicd the Stotes Contwels bhed boon awarded in payment of political

Delay in the paymont of Just clains,; which discoursged zeputshle
tloms fyoi dodng husiness with the Siate, wus anpthor practice which the -
new Zhard of Contaol abolishads

Tae flrst task ¢f the origingd Doard of Contyol waus to place the
Businoss of e Stobe on & sound basis, froe fron dlahonasty and incompetoncos

Under tho new stoduis, 61l contesets entesed inte by zpy Stels sgoncy
for the pizchase of suppliw #id paterials rogiized the appmval of the
Epard of Contrel Lofore the contwacts wove vallde

This still is the provision of law, w&t}: fow axcapﬂam, usier duties
traraioxred to the Sepsriuent of‘ &iﬁmae. >

In 1918, sgedn upon the *ammnrzdmtim of Govesnox Hizam Ja.mwn,
the Legislature m%wii the State Purchinsing Departaunt in charge of &n
wificee known as the State Purchasing Agonhts This occurzed one month
after I ontored State service with the Division of Righwaysy

1 hnew well the flrs¥ Btale Purchasing m:,emt, Ve G McMillen, vho

_m & personal friend of méne« Ho sozved &n that capocity for 19 yoars,
Cwhon Frod Misplay, his Assistond, becane the State Purchasing Agent and
sepwved for twonly yeaxs, until »«.&x«h 1sty 1980« Lowrence Hobart becane
Purchasing agont until Januazy sty I0UG, vhen e pwsmt Stuta Purchasing
Aganty Be Re Choyneyy was oppeinted to tha pasuium ,

In the 41 yesrs of S.ta axlstency, there vaa been foux State
Pupchasing Agentse
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The Purchasing dgent wos given full suthority snd 4% wes mede
biz duty, upon approvel ¢f the State Hoaxd of Contrel, o contysci fox
aod garchese ol supplies of whatover natuze nacessery for the use of
ovezy State sgoncy excopt the Unfversity of Califommles This L3 still
the prosent provision of laws

In 1621, undor the leadexship of Goveynoy Willium Stephens, tho
negteloture bogen the proprss of placing yelated functions Sn odngle

depertmonts ahd srested five new State deparinents, waong which was the
Stato Depaxtaent of Finances

The Dopeytaant was dividod fnte six divisions, known s the
Division of Clalns and Plabursamante, the Division of fudjots end Accounts,
the Divizion of Purchason ond Custody, tho Division of Printing, the
Division 2f Hotox Vohdcles, and the Division of Libraziese

Ona nestor of e Zoandy 24 deslonsted by the Govemox, was the
ndef of the Divislen of Dudgets snd Accounts, one menber, Ghief of the
Divisien of Purchasey and (uotodyy end one meubox, Chlef of the Division
of Cladss end Dishurscncniss |

To his new Depertoant of Flnoase mas trenslozred 221 the dutlesy
powersy rmmeses, d reopeneibdliitlon of e State ZHaxd of Control,
Departmont oF Pulile Ascouniing, Calldrents Ajoads, State Purchasing
Departmont, Supexind £ of Caplted Dulldinge and Grounds, folrs,
historicnl lundssrke, Quzesiotondont ed State 2xlnting, Hstor Vehicle
Dopertams, Deasd ¢f Dzuslces of the Slate Libudyy, and tho Jtate Librariens

Thy Dopartornd of Floonedy s grasted in 1215, contirusd in existence
until 1907, whamy under the leadership of CGovernor O O Young, theve
was & complete zoorponiyailon of Slate goveruttnle Tusdve 2ajor dopazte
ments were crealed in heanessing togsdier undor gat depaxtaentsd hesd
the geleted funcilons of 3tate govemnnenls :

In 1927, the State Doporbuent was thue redxgonized and the thon
axloting Eoszd of Contzol shellshed as the governlrg body thoreod,

The new act puovided foz & Director of the Department to bo appointed
by snd to bold office 5t the pleasuss of the Goverrox.

By the provisiens of the 1927 atatutag the Department was d¢ivided
inty three divicions, to be Rnown os the Divislsn of Budgets and Ascounts,
- the Diviglon of Suxvice eri Supply, #nd the Divisioh of Hotor Vehiclesy

The Chief of tho Division of Service end Supply wes to bo appointod
by and hold office at the plesture of the Gavarnore A provislon was
included poxmitting the Directer of Pinance alsé to bo tho Chief of the
Divisien of Dudgets and Accounts withaud additionel componsations

In 1927, the Laglslature troncforred to the Dopartmont of Social
Welfore the Chlldrents Agonts activities vhich provicusly hed besn

G
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administored by the Departaont of Finencss The State Libzaxy snd other
Library functions wore trensfopred to the Depaxtmont of Educations

In 1927, the Le{;*wlaiuzm cxvated b new State Doard of Contzoly to
conslst of the Diroctor of Finwca, the Chiof of the Division of us“vi.co
erd Supply of the Depertment of Finmnce and the Stete Controllier, sll
acting om elficic,

In 1935 the Legislabure sbaliched the officw of Chied of tho Division
of Sexvice and Supply a8 en appointed of the Jovearned, and suthozized tho
Governor o appeind the hlrd seder f the Siate Sourd of Contzoke The
first nomber p0 dpaointed wes Arthux F. Honnling of the Betzd) Credit
Agsocistion; incey of Sacs mmx%, whiy was succuedsd by Je P. Rehoo,
mtirved, of Seczaanio, &b Soplesbur 7y 1904,

7o this hew Lamx: wxa agsigned two gpeciflc duties which 5tiid
gre the dutias of tdv Torxds TFivst, to adopt wules and Z‘PQ}UIMtiQﬂS
governing the presentation snd &udm of cladws spainst the ..atai.u, and
the Stxte Controller wes raduived $o audit his ¢lalms in accoxdencs with
such pules and rogulotions.

The second duly of ihe State Booxd of tontzeld was 4n6 13 that of
scting e o Booxd of Clolis to conslder ¢lodew In eq@ity ageinst the State
for vhich no sppropaiction has boon wade,

One additional provision wes added €0 the lowe If tho clilm wos
rejosted by the Doasd of Cuntzol, the clufmant wld, vdthin & months,
file & wult sgainst i:ue State ond progocute such sult to final juduments

In 1347, the Lopdslatuxe wiop sbelighed the preciica of prowsuditing
af xsl.aim by the previoun State Douxd of fonteod and ite prodecossor, the
Baand of Txaninerss

With the ¢otablichaont of the detolled udget systom in 1923, mede
nonessery by o Conatititionsl dmondment, $4 was found unnacessazy 0 have
clodns pro-sucitod by the Dopartuent of Finence boloze they were prosented
e the Shabe Contzoelier fow payacnde Motonipl deving was offectad by
the ollmdnetion of this deleyetion wd the responsibility for the coTrocim
aess of ala*ima wise placed upsn the Stale Contaellore

In 1925, upon Governoy YounyVe rocousendstion, the Lojlslature
vansfarred the Divislen of Hotor Vehisles $from the Departuent of Finance
o the Dopartuent of Public borks on the theory that the matter of segule
sting trafliis on hishweye fundogonteily shuuld be undey the contrel of the'
State egoncy which hasg Ju:&aﬁiaw&n over the wﬁdiag and maintensnce of
highvayss /

In 1929y the Logislatuze added aéﬁiﬁnﬁ&l ,f'uawtiahs o the Lepartuont
of Financge These functions included duties pravicusly performed by the
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uyon-&km..f:al doaling wdth tha aamir«imzamm of State school lends
a.md Soate Pldolandsy e functions of the Colidosniy .»tuw Fody end
the vazioty dietricd ﬂ,.’t.m; the functiong of the State © via. Sexvice
~ Opualssion whichy o & copiadn dajrow, werd cupended into those of
Cthe Dlvision of Popstnsed snd Qrgopization ln the Departeent of Finsnce;
and tho State Neclemetion Doords in o far as necessaxy fox the Diparte
©opant of Floapde %o pepaxt e w .,xs. of the Jourd to the Covernorls
wouncily was meda an egeney within tho Doparicent of Floonce, with the
Drecior of Finence the Bxocubive OFf flosr 6f the Doszds

. in 1929, also, thore wes created & Duresu of Commerce in the
Doparhsant nf Finance which was sholished in 1936,

In 1529, the Dlvision of Bdhibits wis created which in 1941 was

re-paned the Division of Falrs end Dupos iz.icmaa In this your, wlso,
- the Division of .:kute Londs wes oroated ss e zosult of thoe zocousonde

- stion An 1928 of 1 Se Wingsbury who hod boen the elected Surveyer-Goneral
of the Stato since 1308, Zn 3007, txmwmry made 3 rocommendation to

- the Loglslature that his eloctive positlon of Surveypr-Goneral be
. abolisheds He folt thore no longoer wes & peod for such a constitutional
. officers The legislature therelfore abolished the ofifce inm 1920,
- On fugust 34, 1929, Kingghury bocanma the first Chief of the Division of
 Biate “Lands wd ma retived Rugust @ 1334y affer 29 yours of sozvico.

In 1931, a2 Durems of Dotmwasnts was czested by law in the Department
f Fipancde xn 1533, the function wos fxenaferred W tho Etete Printing
Plant, end the buroos as such abolishads .

One of the imws:‘t&nh andd dutovesting legislative enzctaents
somizeed 46 1933 vhen the Legislature rocuired agencles supported from
suecial funds o pay thelx piowrata share of the ::we:hmd cost 0F GUVeITiw
wont, such oy &1 smrrﬁ.‘mg by the Stule ccmtwnar, the recxuliting of
porsennel by the Stets Porsonnel Doarxd;y the sudifing of State epenciss,
the purchasing by the Purchasing Division, legsl sorvices by the Attommey
Genoraly and othor miscellanemis overhosd ¢oplos

The ﬁepuwwam of Flaenes had intyoduced & bill in the Sonate ¢
pmvim for this charges Ib wis opposed vigprously by the Division of
ohways and some of the other special fund agencles, such a8 Fish and
Gmm. Tho fight sgainst the bﬂ.n was Jod by Mozgen Keaton who xeprosented
the Doparbnont of Fublic Wosks on legislative matterse He succceded in
gattin«:a tho b1l tabled in the Senate comadittoe which heaxd crpumoents
for and sgainet the bille

When the womoitteo had ac:jwzmﬁ, Momgen told me ho wes BOTTY WO
had logt our bii) hui he had to opptss 4te I gald to hilm, WIV1) have
thot bLLL before the session is wex. ¥ en wagning ycau shead of time
oo thet yvou nmoy waitch Be closoly® /

Hoxgan Laughed and zopliocd, "Wou haven¥t 'a Chinamants chance to
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got that bill through this Leuislaturs ® I made no Sfurther commonte
%o had angthor LALL which provided that whansver B genarsl fund agency
- rendsred gpocial sorvice t0 an agency mippoyted fyom & specisl fundg
the spesial fund agonoy wes o pay for sush wwi::ra. Theze ves no
onnosition ta Wi Beasulos

This bill paased the Sonals and in the med sueh of thet 1933
sossion the BILL did not gab ou of the Assesbly committoo and on to
the Asaoably flcor untlil Moy 10s I wag on the thizd reading oaiondaz
for {ilve days, the dalendse bolng Jemsed whih bBiiles nany of which were
hf;ﬁhly gzsr;mwrsiah delaying sction on mossures which wero at the ond

af e files

* Deth houzos of the Legislaturze hed passed & soselution to zocess
oh Bay 12 and o rotuzn July 17, following o spocial election to be

- hold June 7 1933, $o subhoiize wotusn of public utiliity ;ampe*ty 1o
loeal gwammn* for taxatione

Un tho balloty olusoy wis a twnty millisn dollar unowploywent
melied hund Soasug, the awaumu of Lwzes recing in Cudbfornia, &
Fifty-five milllen dollpyr bond Sesug %o refingnsa lrrivation and voclame
ation dlstylicls by puwehasing and conceliny tholx oulsionding bonds,
aad bho trensfer faom ges tak zevorriss W the gensrel fund the assunt
nocessary to relmtursy the gunderal fund dor paynents therefeoa fop
paypent of the 1909, 1910, end 1919 highway gomﬂ issues totaling seventye
wWres miiumz doliazss

This lual moasuse wes dafac;t».m, Wit the guneral fund is mow
recolving relubursenont from the Hotor Transportation Licoense Tax in 1533
snd the inelios tax collestion ensctod in 1539 zowizing payment o tho
State of the pomtensd pugparly tax on wwmhilam

dpthorizatlion te trunsfexr W locel govawaim" utiidty pm,z.,rty
oz m&atwa, if adopted by toe poopley wuld repdre legisialion and it
wes fer this sussen the &wwlamra voceased for the first end only time
w,.m, the latier half of & 1waazmw ne..sim fox. Mng@r tmm throe

doy s

The poamasre was edoptod snd the mezamz’e amturneé July 17, 1983,
ich;&. sing finodly on Juldy 40, 1933

Albthoush both houses 9f the Lwhl&axw had concurred to rocess
&t ma.mfg:;t. Moy 12, there was bo logal obatacle to siopping the clock
within the chaubers of the seaslone In 30 far as the mmi:am of the
Legiolatuze wore consconedy 4 romalincd Moy 12 untdil the clogk was ojsin
put In metion )

On May 33, 14y end 15, the BIll I pxwﬁ.&amy sentioned, xowulsing
gpacial Rund spencies to relaiurse the gonexel. fund fox ﬁp&viai sexvices
rondased 10 then, wes within one or twe pleses on the calendar foy
cansideration whon the Legislature, ot 3500, 4400, or 5300 ayme, zecoused

.
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for Pfive minutes,® Thds puried of Pfive mimitos® lusted as long s
celght to ten hours while the Jepislators wonk home to sloupe

T had propaved an spondomnd to dncorpozste In thé bill, which
was on thizd reading, the pzovislong for the prowrata chavges vhich
wepd in the LIl tabled by the Jenalo Coonadtloss  Assonblynan Zion
had this amendment 0% his doske I omplulned 0 him the rosson why
the provision should be onsoled by the Loglsisluye, that spociald funds
wexe enjoving & free ride 2t the euponse of the gensral fund. Ho
concurrod in the principlo sed forth in tho wsmuadmsat,

A% 282D s« me on the morning of Moy 10, when only & half dozen
Cmattors sudll xaalined on fhirxd yesding to be considered by the
Legielature, Morgun Roaton comw o wo and gold, ¥I dontt gee snyibing

. elze on the culendar of indtoyest to wey so I thdnk I will {0 hamd and

get some sleep,® .

Both of us had bmm up long hours on provicus nights vhen the
Logisloture wosked untdl four o five 2. s X peplled, ®Y on going to
shay asound uniil the Legislatuze finiches.?

iihdn hirty sdoutes sfter Horgon had left the chanbersg the
Senate BRI An which I mas dntorasiod wes taken up for consideration.
Aspasblyman 2ion prosenicd his wmendvent which was read aloud vorbatim
Iy the cloxk of the Assenblys The onurcnent w8 sdoplods Hxe Jlon
Lhon sowd thet tho bl be talen up vitheut zeference to paint ox #ile
Cand-thore balng no dicsent, the roll wes ullede The amended Bdll
oagsed uneniumaslys

The Legisletuzo then recessed ob 4540 aeie, un Moy 16, 84) hours
pi%er the sdjonzaent dete of July 12 shown in the officisl journals
&f tho Assendly and Senatoe

The Printing Plant, belng Joumed with printing of logislation
enacted durdng the last 845 houre of tho sescion, actuslly <id not have
ayadlable for diotzibution coplon of umended a::.ﬁs until & wosk foliowe
4og the racess of the Legislotizos - T

It vy tob untll ihe emmnded bl hed wreschod the Governonds Uifice
that the Deparacnt of Public toxks woke up to the fact the provivions
of tho bill which thoy hod succesded in heving tabled &n tho Senate
VEg e beEore the Governey Sop his opprovoly

That Dopeximent vsed every possdble sugunent o porsnade
Covornar Eolph te veto the bills Polland Vandepeifl, tho bLireciox of
Pinancey and § exoued Just sa vigowsusly fox sppwoval of the bille
The Govesnor decldad for us «nd signed it '

As & masult, this veosr over 52,339,000 w1l be seimdarsed to tho
guneral fund for overhead costs of genexal governzent furndshed special

-
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i“un%:i sgencios bocouon the peprenontative of the Doperbamnt of Public
trks decided €0 oo houwe gorly to geb some slaops

Hed ho romoined, he could have hod & mombez of tho Assenbly
ev..-'b e fimai mm;idem%m of em | !.3. untﬂ M‘. had ba«m my*intad

- To mzs.cm 0 you the high tonslon undor which the Lagislature
wis opersting In attempiing to findsh Sts kucliness and recoss by Moy 12,
tha Sanate adeptad a house sesoluvion barsing evexyono fxue the flowr
of the -J&"i&‘t@i, pxcopd the oebors oad | ti‘.mm:; ef that body, denying
Csdne the privilege af the floor Lo the uinbers of thoe Assoebly.

Thg Aszsmbxy vatsllated $omadiately by fotracusing a sesclutlion
Cobarring tho Soraters fron e Avsonbly flesrs  Asseubilymen Clifford

Co Cattrolls An commoniing upon the veselution of tho Senute, sald,
FThoy think thoy arae the House of Lexise Don¥t dlotuxd then, they
“have baen slaeplng ever slnce the gesslion olantod.

In 1938, duzing the sposial sesslion of the Leplslatuze, the bivision
af Stote Linds was a"cuwd, wmg that functlon faon the respunsiillity
£ tha HMrsctor of Finoncae A Ulalo Lands Cuealsslony conslsiing of
%:ha Licutenant Govesnor, the Gtate Centzoller, end the Dixector of
Finsnea, bocvamy a@dnﬁ#&mt&m of the Divisions

In 1247, Satiex¥s Foxd was transfupred fren the State Eapa“mum
of Finonoe .iu the Departusont of Maturel Resouzcos a8 a paxt of Le
Stute Pask syoltass

In 1949, tho Legbslaturs orocted 2 unit of Sxefiic manooopent in
the Dopartnent of Flawmnce o glve spendsl considoretion to oll of the
trafilc problans rolating %o the movenent of goods and personnol of
the Statos :

in 1249, the Leglzletuze suthorlzed the gdaption of tha State
Panlayaes Marld Averd Rxasmm and placed upon the Stabte Doard of Controel
t?;fw ebligation o odopt misy m&;&l&uam o place e progrun into
&&f&‘yw

T Y904, the sale of the Nopa tute Foro wes asthorizeds It fuck

& peans to g2t thla ALY Thaough tho Loglslotures Tho Fora wes purchesed
in 2613 «m auusiatm 88 713 acees on wilish Lo estoblish o remmutow.
Thare wes 80 mieh opposition in the County of hupa to ocﬁupa.uy of the
nrazarty for f‘le.-% lrpese thal thoe proposcl we abindongde In 1917 the
proporly Wt rng 24 over to fhe Stale Downd of Control for the paspose
ar* gotahliching » Mwestoek fams for tho slaugher and sale of nmeat o

San Cuontin Polson, the Yotorsns Home, and nentel hoepltelse Thoe a.mrat".cn
¢f the Farx becane unoconomicel and o bidl w&s iatméuced &n 1927
smthorizo the sale of thoe propoxty.
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_ I zoosdl clearly & telophono ¢all from Hiranm Jotm son, Sonlor

: ‘Smutam f*am Califoxnin, to Alexonder Wewmdn, In which Senator Johnson
tld tga Dhrector of Plnance he want@d ttmt bAll dyoppeds It wos
Gropnole

s were told by other renbers of the Logislaturs no wuthorization
Cowould et through the Legislature mﬂ:hwiaiﬂg the scle of the propurty
until Cuon Duffy, the manajer mf the Formy hed zcaﬁ.md. Todis peediction
Ao Laude

It wes not until Gum mf:"y hem passed avpy that we succeoded in
ttin) a blll through the Lepislsture to authorizo Lte sale, although
mmy sttonpts had beon naede during the youus o oblaln such suthorizations.

| In 1995, thore was created in the Dupustwent of Finence o Pivielon
of Organds :atmn and Cost Control, to be in chazge of a chief to zopert
- directly to the Dlrector of Floantes

JLIBOILA

In 1922, under the sponsorship of the Commonwealith Club of
Califomiag a Congtitutdonal amendment wes presontod to the poople to
racuire the Covernory 86 present to thoe Luglelatuze a bisnndal budget
getting forth 3 complete plan end Lfwndzed statenent of &11 proposed
ezpenaituy 58 af the Steta provided by exlsting low 4x recomusnded by
him for all State u:x::*z\,im, and of all esiimeted roveruss for each fiscsl
your of the muam;z Wenndal poeiad; tepether with a compevison s to
ench Shom of rowveos and axpendd turo wiEh the actual rovenies and Srpendiem
tures for tho fz’izerst fiseel year of the edsting poried snd the actusl
ard esbloated revengoes end expendiiures for WMo gecond yesr thoreole

Governoy Frankt Rchazdson wae In office vhen the provisions of this
Constitutiongl emonduznd hecant aporotives Ho had pppeinted &0 the Stste
Board of Csalucl; vhish thin stiadndstared the Departaont of Finance,
Hollle Browsr Plozcey an adttowmay 3t law, znd Guawe Je Rodeliifie, end
continued In office Gilbant Gw um&&is, vﬁm provisusly had haon appeinm
by Goveanay Stophente

Heoe Pluzce had dnfomaod C%wmmor Richagdson, when she; was ag,pointad'
to the Boaxd, sho would prosent to hiam ¢ budgol which would not exceed
3079;30&#63«}43

The Division of Budgetls and Accountey which had & staff of only
18 cmployews, laboyed for long heuxrs ovor & povlod of meny wooks to
paopsye the fhizst udget required by the anitution to be submitied
to the Leglslaturs, /

The hudget as prepsrad included ell m‘.’ th‘e eiponditures and totaled
$68,927,3%0» Vhon this document wes prasented 1o Mrse Plerce, she sild,

T



59

Pinat 1s the totaldd®  He gave hox the total end she vosy dndignantly
spdd, SE told you I wanted 2 budget not to oxcend 979,000,000, Che
~ thoroupon took the document whieh hod !wen presentod 1o hoz end throw

it ixxta the wasto mwn

She sald, Miow, prepaze mo a budgot not to www 579,000,000 %

- Following her Snstructions, a now Ludget was ;erparwd, decucting foom

the proposed exponditures thy ostimeted sovemes 4o bo collectod Ly
. aulfnsmpwting boardsy Cowalssions, ar.-.i lmti&ztiam, s leaving
- & nek mgga‘&.

To ac t:tbm;ﬁ ah e $7H00,000 hadwt Gavernar Richardson mude
o0 pravision for the Tmudgraticn ond Housing Copmlcsion mor the Kining
Buxacd, ::m.a::a,.ﬁuaim these agunclos be mmlxs&mﬁa He also wrecksd the
Divicion of Forestsy ond the Industzial Velfure Comclselon by zedusing
tholsr budgets 20 v..mmﬁc&xi',* thot hed the reductlons prevailed thoso
agenclos vauld have boon wnably @ casyy oul the functicns mich the
La-_;-szawra g delogated tfa ma.

In exder to bslance the Rudg c&t the pimplus %ne:is of ﬁaii‘-“u\;{.sc.’bv
ing boamds and cormlssions wope iﬁ siuded in the revinug cotinmpies as
Cavellsnlo fox gonaral fund Gypondiiures.

in comaenting yeon the udget after 4t was presenied te the
Leglslotusyy Hrse Plowce sold, "ihp wvr‘,%» 53 4 :f.*,ui,.;s by Implicstion
ot all eurplus duwds of soellesupporting speicles bg twrned dnds the
gepezel fKodd for the vpeyation a" tha Sicte govexizaant.® 2ut 0 be
{m the saly slde, she sald she was propering to intaoduce bills direvt-
g thet all swoh susndus fum%s ravext W0 he goenoral funds

At that thae, neaspapes seciunts fndlieted cnlnent logsl suthorities
Slaaguresd with Mese Ploxce, holdlng thet the funds of those selfe
wap«ars:inj eoncios, auch aa Fish wnd Game, Real Estate, and Banking,

oxe suiowd for nfupceasnt purposes and awld ot ksa traus fnvred to
:.ha goherud funds

Subsatusntlyy couzd cunss hm.d those momys cmud wi ba u,.ed fox
gonerol Qfowm»aam gxpondiiuzse

Btate Bossd of Contwl menbex Dendols sefused to elpn the lebtox
of wm\mtm fox the $79,000,000 hudget, but hed ue propore an
additional documanty o &Mmlad sdnocity udgot of the Doard, which
totolod S33,000, 000

This wes prosentad to Sonctow Jock Lmsans who obtalned pexsission
from the Samate o have wuplew of it 9muaﬁad it mig,m b available to
el smeabors 0f the Loglelstuze fop cwmwt,.w/pumm&

PROGIEOS OF LNPTOVTREN §§
SIS RO AT

,%,i’r 351 bk

e L%

The 7iret complete Ludget as wes intended by the provisions of

i



the Constitition wes ubmitted € tho Legislature by Governoy

Co G Young &u 19227, Iosdiatoly afier the gonersl electiop of
Hovanbor when Govornor Young was olostod, he snnounced that
Alonander Hoven would berone his Divector oF Finunces Coviimone
elest Young and Homon oy m\;eai with Covernoy Richardoon to have
e entlize udget steff of the Departoent of Tinonce, and zil of
the decumanis .wlntim to the buhqet, trinsfoerved to on offiize

in Dexleley, where budget hesrings wage hedd by the inceaing
Covamoez, and maet of t&m dged had boen prepared by t.’w tim

the Cavasnor toek c:f e dn Jorusye

In 1931; the ddget figet included scpazete Jisting of all
Rew mm&tima provided for in the lfudgatf

In 1935, the budget e propar rad by the 0ffsot vetliod of

Cprdoting, eoch paoe belng printed soperaiely and than Wand In @

- single veluney Prioy to this the hudget had oot oot dn mmmwpe,
& process shersin oach Mtwa and fiouze £z compiled with fadivicuasl
' z.&.m,a of typee The provisg wai casztly and recuired frenendosus

avarting sl cn the pard of ’f.%m farﬁ.ntim ofilote Thls proiess

puzmitied the i wlus&m &F phode x.,;:‘*:e ol State Instltutions and

verious astivillos of Stale ap -f:-nc&eﬁe itheut the ma-zﬁzity of having
spensdid ule nade, "‘"'.“il‘a’.ust.mtaﬁ Pradgats? wise uewd unly 4 :icb -

Pag 200503 sl IDIT-3% hudgote ,.;u.wu wond Ludgelbe, watdl 1940

wors printed by the offzek rmﬁma wit in mtwwmln wam Yloxg

nose 015 5ot presses had bedn n*mufwwzw“ m..mtt.mm the ,au..,,nt. w

b privisd maoy prges o8 & time &6 ¢ nadar elsilay de thet whon

printed with Llypde .

2 zoosll A54% u GO bour sk dayy R*r«"zr.rmd o & Hecnesday
grsning of %ﬁ a.\ S o2 L% wwe mot untll Salupday .x,,.miz'u gt
wzm Do M mai‘, I had sy sl m;:« aoe had chanjee w wiothoss  Be sle
slx times @ Goy urdng the porled and thls Jong Pdey™ wo xm%ﬁa::y |
to '**u**;‘ia’z tha ,:u.iﬁtt:, with the imw.;%, G a:r:{ the Cexdline of
Subundey noong o frdtor that £% sEohi o weady ﬁt:r:c elataibution to
the Lm*i ----- Lairg an Mondey R ERATG '

In 1947, the first snnueld budgol vas prep &:@d and 4% wos the
first yam whon the &m«,,zw wed oot by lim*c o sathody thorelhy
ceducdng the troendous lebor problom In having each pago tyw o by
a typiot before 4t wag photographed for printing.

The Yoot udged fox whileh I disected preparction wes for the
fscad yoor IME-aDs T thls budged, we added an sdditionsl Snprovie
mnt to p.»aviéw line desionations on tho loft-hend column of gach
pagte This n.ade ra"e-mw to any povticular dtem dn the bunget ruch
meze sinple by wefoyring to paye ¢m‘. 1ine rusbox

/

!
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The format of Califoendats budget docucent L5 one of the finest
in the United S5tates, aivin; aach membae of the Leglzlobuse, and the
public, a aleay and conslon Foview of {the expondliuze end rovemid
 tronssetions for the previous £iscsl yoeaw, the current yeary and the
@nsuing yery poriod; with sherxts ond g*%p&u-unﬂ taxta explaining
@mwmmmiWMawamwaumwwf g
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GOVERNOR’S SEAL

The general design and the details of the Seal of the Governor of the State of
California, excluding colors, shall correspond substantially with the followmg repre-

sentation thereof:

The roman numerals shall designate the sequence in office of the Governor. Gov-
ernment Code, Section 426.

In the center of the Governor's Seal is a replica of the State Flag of California.
Above the flag is the rising sun as portrayed on the Great Seal of the Governor’s
Flag. Below the flag are California Poppies, the State’s official flower. The 31 stars
above the flag relate to the fact that California was the thirty-first state to enter the
Union.

The Governor’s Seal was designed, at the instance of the’ Governor's Office, by
Fred W. Links, Assistant Director of Finance, and adopted by Governor Goodwin
J. Knight. It. became an official emblem for California Governors by leglslanve acuon
approved June 8, 1957. Cal. Stats (1957), 2203 e

. 1 LT .
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

Elllis J., Groff was interviewed by the Regional Oral History Office
in order to preserve his observations as a career civil servant

of the workings of the State Department of Finance in relation
both to the preparation of the governor's budget and supervision
of the expenditures of administrative departments in the 1930s
and 19408 .

Conduct
of the Interviews were recorded on February 17, March 2, 9,

Interview: 23, and April 6, 1972, shortly after Mr. Groff retired
as Contracts Officer for the University of Califomrnia,
for which he left the Department of Finance in 1949,
Iong familiar with the Berkeley campus, Groff seemed
to enjoy meeting in the odd, vacant rooms in the Doe
Library in which these sessions were held.

Describing his boyhood in California's Sacramento
Valley, he conveys the sense of the state's agri-
cultural heritage and its reliance on transportation
and water that he acqulred in accompanying hils
father on engineering trips. Alexander Heron,
family friend and longtime Repubiican theoretician,
turned the young man's eyes to the promise of then-
new ildeas of expansion and ilmprovement in state
services and brought Groff into the Department of
Finance fresh from his studies at Stanford. Heron
is an interesting supporting player in the drama of
state government, having served with dlstinctlon and
some controversy in the administrations of Governors
Young, Merriam, and Warren.

Groff recounts the difficulties of coping with state
finances during the years of the Great Depression,
He then goes on to detall, budget by budget, the
growth during Earl Warren's governorship of state
expenditures and some of the technological and
administrative changes entailed, including des-
criptions of the major special funds and their
rationales.,

Particulariy interesting are his comments on inter-
action between the finance department and the



ii

legislature, as the senate and assembly increased
thelr owmn administrative staffs. In the position of

 chief of division ofbudgets and accounts, he seems to
have had ample opportunity for development of fiscal
administrative techniques, and to have been aware of,
but not involved in, the more political aspects of
the department's work.

He refers only briefly to what one suspects were his
considerable actlivities in the early stages of
professional public administration societies. The
scope of the present study also 4did not permit
continuing the memoir with dlscussion of Groff's work
with federal grants for the Unliversity in the years
of their greatest flow. Hopefully, a future
interviewer will remedy this lack.

A trim spare man, remarkably youthful in retirement,
Groff was affable and responsive in working through
the many topics covered, and patient in explaining
their more intricate aspects. His patience was put to
the test by recurring malfunction of tape recorders.
This seriously affected the first interview, which

is reconstructed from notes. He went over the rough-
edited transcript with care, verifying statistics and
making minor revisions. His official governmental
style of capitalization has been followed in typing the

interview.

In the Warren Archives are press releases on state
budgets and finances from the governor's offices for
1951, 1952, and 1953, giving further data on the
years following Groff's departure for Berkeley and
an indication of Governor Earl Warren's own views.

Unfortunately, budget limitations prevented interviews
with other knowledgeable officials of the Department
of Finance who were still gvailable in the early 1970s.

Gabrielle Morris
Interviewer-Editor
Regilonal Oral Hlistory Office

11 December 1973
The Bancroft Library
University of California/Berkeley
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I PERSONAL BACKGROUND
(Date of Interview: February 17, 1972)

We like to start with a bit about your family background,
education, and other influences which affected your
ideas, and then your decislion to go into state service.

I was born in San Francisco, in 1906, in April, at St.
Francis Hospital.

You were an earthquake baby!

That's right. And then for about a year, at the age of
five, we lived in Nevada and Utah, where my father was
a construction engineer for Southern Pacific. They
were double-tracking the railroad then, and our living
quarters were in a reconstructed boxcar. In 1912 we
moved to Sacramento, where my father worked as a civil
engineer for the Natomas Company.

Was Natomas then dredging for gold along the American
River?

No, this was reclamation and development of land north
of Sacramento that had been flooded regularly by the
overflow of the Sacramento and American River. Most

of 1t was sold off for farming. In 1917, my father
transferred to the Natomas Water Company and we moved
out to Folsom. It was qulte a small town in those days.

What about school?
I went to San Juan Union High School for three years.

We rode school busses from Folsom to Failr Oaks, about
twelve miles.
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Did you mind moving out into the country, leaving your
school friends?/

Not particularly. I used to go along with my father when
he made inspection trips around the water system, which
supplied water to the town of Folsom, the Natomas gold
dredgers and for the farmers from Salmon Falls to Mills.

What were your father's interests?

Oh, largely practical engineering and farming., T
remember helping him when he was working on the Salmon
Falls diversion system. Natomas was stlll dolng a good
deal of gold dredging then and even a little placer
mining of gravel was to be seen in the back country.

That must have been fasclnating. Did you ever find a
nugget?

There wasn't any of that left, to speak of. The dredgers
worked mostly on flake and fine grain gold.

And then where did you complete your education?

I transferred to Sacramento High School for my senior
year, then went to Sacramento Junior College for two
years. That would be from 1923 to 1926.

I didn't realize Jjunior colleges went back that far.
This was an early one. It was ably administered.
What kind of curriculum did it offer?

It was purely academic, and it was under the local board
of education.

How about brothers and sisters?
Three. I was the eldest. Then there was my brother who
is six years younger and two sisters. In 1926, I

transferred to Stanford University from which I
graduated in 1928.

Had your father gone there?

No, my father went to the University of Nebraska and my
mother went to the University of Kansas.
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And what did you study at Stanford?

I majored in economlics, took a lot of accounting.
How'about extra-curricular activities?

Well, T was in the glee club, with several people I
already knew.

Friends had come to Stanford with you?

Yes, there were eleven or twelve of us who transferred
from Sacramento J,.,C. to Stanford together and most of
us lived in Sequoia Hall.,

Was thls a fraternity?

No, the majority of us were non-fraternity.

Who do you recall particularly from the faculty during
your years?

Well, let's see. There was Harley L. Lutz, professor of
economic history, and in accounting, J. Hugh Jackson,

who later became the dean of the School of Business.

And, of course, Dr. Bay Lyman Wilbur, who was then
president of Stanford, and David Starr Jordan, president
emeritus. All of these were standouts in my recollections

of Stanford.

How did you become interested in state service?

I'd say primarily through Alexander Heron, who was a
friend of the family's in Sacramento. He was really a
missionary spirit in state government at that time and
impressed me very much as a young man with the
opportunities in state service for college-trained people.

I should imagine so! He is one of the people who interest
me on into the Warren years. What, in general, were his
ideas?

Primarily, he was anti the policles of the close-fisted
Friend Richardson era. And he believed in upgrading
state service throughout. He saw that government was
expanding rapidly and that new methods needed to be
introduced in many areas. Much of his thinking went
back to the reforms that Hiram Johnson had begun.,
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How had Heron started in the government?

I believe he started as an accountant or audlitor for the
State Board of Control, which superintended financial
and business affalilrs before the Department of Flnance

was created. Then he interrupted that service to become
deputy superintendent of public instruction under

Will C. Wood, who was the superintendent during Governor
Richardson®’s term. It was there that he became convinced
that penury practiced did nothing but harm to state
government, particularly in education.

He had become well~known in state flscal and
administrative clrcles, and this gave him a base of
knowledge from which he was able to prepare financial
material for C. C. Young when he ran for governor in
1926. Then Mr. Heron was appointed director of finance
when Young was elected.

I've seen Mr. Heron's name on budgets drawn up by the
Board of Control and wondered how it related to the
Department of Finance.

It predated the department. From 1911 to 1927, the
Board of Control was the central financial administration
of the state. It supervised all the accounting, and was
the agency for preparation of the budget on a biennial
basis.

So the Department of Flnance was relatively new when
you Jjoined it?

Yes, I had graduated from Stanford in 1928, and Mr. Heron
took me right onto his staff.

How long was Mr. Heron your chief?

He left the department in 1929, and was succeeded by
Lyman Xing.

Is that when he jolned Crown Zellerbach?

Yes. He had made many banking and financial contacts in
the course of hls State duties and, of course, the
Zellerbach firm had a California origin. I believe he was
controller and vice president.

We've been interested in Mr. Heron's role later on
during World War II, when Governor Warren succeeded in
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getting the military to let him come back to Californis
to head the Reconstruction and Reemployment Commission.

That was in about 1943. He was rather a senior statesman
as a chailrman of that commlission. A very striking man

in appearance; in his 60s then, and he was prematurely
white-~halred.



Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

IT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE ORGANIZATION
(Date of Interview: March 2, 1972)

Kenyon Scudder, while talkling about developing the
program at Chino, referred to another young Stanford
graduate, Robert Harlkness, whom he saild had been a blg
help to him in the finance unit of the Department of
Institutions. Did you know him?

Yes, he and I had been friends and classmates at
Sacramento J.Ce. and Stanford, and he started work at the
Department of Institutions immedlately upon graduastion
from Stanford, almost the same day I went to work for the
Department of Finance. Three or four years later, I
menaged to recruit him for the Division of Budgets and
Accounts staff as my principal assistant. He took my
place when I left the Department of Finance and
subsequently became chief of the division and then
Assistant Director of Finance. Governor Brown later
appointed him as Director of the Department of General

Services.

So he was the flrst Director of the Department of
General Services?

I think he was.

At one point there was a Division of General Services
in the Department of Finance.

There had been a Division of Service and Supply in the
Department of Finance.,

And how does a Department of General Services differ from
the function it had within the Department of Flnance?

Well, the new department was broader. In the Department
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of Finance Division of Serviece and Supply, purchasing and
printing were the two principal functions.

Printing?

Yes. The state printing plant had been under the Depart-
ment of Finance ever since the department's organization
and remained there until the Department of General
Services was established.

And this 1s the state printing plant that prints all of
the bills of the legislature?

That'®s right; and alse forms and other institutional
printing for state agencles. Its other principal function
is, you know, the printing of state text books.

Text books -- yes, that was my next question., I
thought at some polnt, and maybe it was before your
years, there had been some kind of a problem in the
state printing operation.

There were a succession of problems with the state
printing plant at various times, some technical and some
having to do with management.

Then, of course, there was constant opposition to the
state printing plant as a competitor of private
industry; continual effort on the part of the printing
industry and others to abolish the state printing plant
end have the State's printing done by contract,
especlilally the publication of text books.
Yes, I can imagine this would be a lobby., Would this be
national publishers?

Yes, and local. The national publishers were principally
concerned with the text book situation, and the local :
publishers were concerned with the routine job printing
business.

If I remember correctly, for a while the State bought the
textbook plates from ther publishers.

Yes, yes, thatts right. I belleve they leased the
plates from the publishers and the state printing plant
then did the actual printing and the binding.
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Were there any comparative studies made, as to
whether there were any differences in costs?

Yes, there were a number of studles made at various times
by legislative committees and by various adminlistrative
agencies.

What kind of conclusions did they come to?

Well, as I recall it, the studies usually showed that the
State did save money on the printing of text books.

It was alleged -- wWith some truth to it -~ that the
saving was accompanied by a certain amount of inadequacy
and delay in distribution of the books to the schools.
There were complaints from school people on that score,
but as to how serious they were, I wasn't in a position
to evaluate. There was much debate about the merits of
it.

You were talking earlier about when you joined the
department, that there was a missionary spirit in the
state service, and that Alexander Heron, particularly,
personified that missionary spirit.

It was DPresent in other areas of state government too,
but of course as a very young person starting out I
wasn't as well-informed in those areas. It was present
in the Civll Service Commission, the recruiting for
state service was quite lmpressive.

Who was in charge of the eivil service? This is the
Personnel Board?

What has since become the Personnel Board. It's called
the Civil Service Commisslion these days, and in those
times it was an independent agency. Nova J. Beal was
the chlief examiner for the Civil Service Commission

in those days.

He interviewed everyone applying for a state job?

It was a lady. No, her staff prepared the civil service
examlinations, and the Civil Service Commlission, along
with the state agency concerned, interviewed the appointee
before he was actually appointed. 8o, as a result of the
civil service examinations, the commission set up eligible
lists with the applicants' ranking in the examinations

and oral interviews.
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I'm just trying to think. There was a J. C.
Whitman -- I don't remember exactly -- I think his
title was executive secretary of the Clvil Service
Commisgion. He was the administrator statewide.

You said you felt that the Department of Finance was
at the forefront of the new ideas in state government,
and that the role of the Department of Finance was

as the business manager for state affairs, and I
wondered if you could sketch in what some of these new
directions were, and what the new status meant.

I think the principal area where the Department of
Finance was in leadership was in the development of the
state budget. Their role was one of implementing and
of developing the actual operation of the budget.

The idea of a comprehenslve, unified state budget came
about gradually. It was embodied in the constitution
by the constitutional amendment of 1921 which was
sponsored by the Commonwealth Club. It was an
initiative measure. But the development of the budget
and its improvement came about largely through the
efforts of Mr. Heron and the staff in the Division of
Budgets and Accounts.

I'm interested in the title being Budgets and Accounts -~
you think of a budget as being a document which says
"we're going to have so much money and we're going to
spend it ln these ways: A, B, and C." There's more

to it than that, isn't there?

Oh yes, yes. I think I mentioned last time

the fact that the staff of the Division of Budgets and
Accounts is responsible for post-auditing of state
agencies, in addition to dolng staff work in preparation
of the governor's budget. They are also responsible
for prescribing and developing the accounting system
that is used by all state departments.,

Now, in order to have a single budget -- a
unified budget -~ for an operation as large and as
complex as the state of California, you have to have
the same accounting system, the same definition of terms,
and the same way of handling financial transactions
in effect in all departments and agencies across the
board., There has to be a common nomenclature and usage
in department finances. Part of its mission for
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developing accounting systems incorporated in that
accounting system these common definitions which then could
be used in relation to the budget. The budget, of course,
is dependent upon the financial information, statements

of expenditure and revenues, produced by the various

state agencies.

Before this unified budget began, had departments had
different categories and different terminologies for their
expenditures?

Yes and no. They were unified to an extent, to the
extent that they had to report to the State Controller,
who 1s chief disbursing officer of the State, and who
maintained the State'’s central accounts, and made annual
state financial reports. But those are just in large,
overall categories. The minutiae of accounts maintained
by the several operating agencles were quite disparate,
although they had been evolving into a more unified
system through the efforts of the State Board of
Control, exerted a more persistent effort, and more
successful effort in devising and establishing what they
called the "uniform system of accounts" for state
agencles.,

Does the "accounts" part of it mean that after the
budget has been developed by all the various agencies
within the Department of Finance and approved by the
legislature, then the Department of Finance keeps an
accounting of those varlous budget areas and says, "you
can spend some more, or you can't spend some more?"

No, the Department of Finance did not maintain accounts
itself, but it supervised the accounts that were
maintained at the separate agencles which recorded and
incorporated for each particular agency, and kept track
of expenditures, and served as the basls for determining
that the expendlitures kept within the amounts appropriated
in the budget. The accounting systems maintained by

the separate agencies were the means by which the

budget was kept under control after appropriations were
made.

And also, those same accounts provided the information
as to what exactly had been spent and what was likely
to be spent in the current year, and served as the basis,
then, for making the estimates as to what would be
necessary for the ensuing year. There was a budgetary
cycle there that depended very heavily on the information
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gleaned from the agencies' accounts.

Was the Department of Finance able to say to an operating
department, “"you've overdrawn your account, you can't
spend any more for this year," or was there any kind of
a relationship administratively?

Yes, 1f the agency constantly kept track of how much

it was spending and what it had to spend, when 1t reached
a point of overdrawlng its appropriated funds it had to
come to the Department of PFinance for permission to
transfer funds from some other category within the
appropriation so that it wouldn't be overdrawlng as a
whole. And the Department of Filnance, exercising that
control, was able to influence and control the operation
of the budget.
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ITII UPS AND DOWNS OF STATE REVENUE

Depression Budgets

The year you jolned the department was the beginning
of the Great Depression.

The stock market depression, but it hadn't reached the
level of actual extensive unemployment. The consequences
hadn't manifested themselves to any great extent then.

It was 1928, actually, and that was just before -- as

a matter of fact, everything was considered quite rosy
at that tinme.

State revenues were considered to be adequate at that
time?

That's right. At that time, in the '29-'31 budget, there
was projected a thirty million dollar surplus and that
had been bullding up over several years. It was
considered a generous and substantial surplus, It was
something that people were very proud of. It was so
large it actually began to be a problem to conserve

it so it wouldn't be wasted.

Why was 1t maintained as a surplus? Were there not
agencies hollering for program expansion?

Yes, but it was thought advisable to maintain a surplus
agalnst contingencies that might occur. The state was

growing quite rapidly at that time and it was felt that
the surplus would be necessary to help meet the conse-~

quences of that growth.

But it was kept as a surplus rather than in the kind of
earmarked reserve thatiWarren used later?
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Yes, 1t was an unearmarked surplus, that's right. It
wasn't dediecated to any particular kind of purpose.

And the governor and the leglslature hadn'®t worked out
how 1t should be spent?

No, no.
That was wise in view of what happened, wasn't it?

Yes, I should say so. It proved to be a very wise

move and very useful when the Depression actually

struck. The succeeding budget, *31-'33, was the one where
the revenues actually did fall off very markedly.

I'd like to sketeh these budgets in just briefly before
we tackle the detalls of the Warren years. The *31-*'33
budget really absorbed the whole surplus within a two

year period?

Yes, *'33 actually ended with an eleven million dollar
deficit.

Was this all due to direct relief payments?

I don't think the state relief payments in any volume

started until 1933-*35. The first thing that happened
was that the State's revenues fell off very markedly,

substantially below the estimates.

So the previous biennium surplus would have gone into
plain state operating, absorbing the --

Absorbed the diminution in current state revenues.
Without any shift in state activitlies that you recall.

Nothing of consequence until 1933, under the Riley-
Stewart plan.

That was the sales tax, wasn't it?

Yes, that was the advent of the sales tax and the return
of public utility property to local governments for
taxation. Until that time utilities had been taxed
excluslively by the state for state purposes on a gross
receipts basis. That system was abandoned by the

state in 1933 and the public utility properties became
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part of the tax base for local governments, citles and
countles,

At the same time, the county portion of the publiec
schools' support -~ the counties and state had each put
up one half of the statutory state schoel support -~ was
taken over by the State. Thus, the counties no lenger
were responsible for school support and the State took
over the whole responsibility for supporting the
statutory program which was designed to provide the
minimum acceptable standard of public education.

You don't happen to recall what the minimum standard

for public education was concelved to be in those days?

I think it was thirty dollars for ADA¥ for elementary
and sixty dollars for high schools,

And then this burden assumed by the State was to be pald
out of funds collected from the sales tax.

Yes, in effect the sales tax took the place of the gross
recelipts tax on the public utilitles and also took up
the added burden of financing the schools.,

That's an interesting kind of musical chairs. When you
say the local governments retrieved the public utility
property for a tax base, that would be largely the
countles? :

Counties and cities because public utilities property
then became a part of their local tax base.

What costs dld the countlies assume? Did the counties
take over any costs that the state had borne?

No, this was a form of property tax relief. The same
cries for relief of the property taxpayer were heard
in those days that have been volced several different
times since then.

The sales tax was a new kind of a revenue device at
that time, Did the Department of Flnance have any

#Average Daily Attendance,
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position on what a sales tax could do?

Yes, they were involved in it although it was largely
a legislative matter. The Governor and the Director of

Finance were very substantlally concerned in the determina-

tion of the leglslation at that time.

In other words, did they support it in the process of
getting it passed?

As I recall, they did.
And Mr. Riley and Mr. Stewart were the legislators?

No, Mr. Rlley was State Controller, and Mr. Stewart
was chalirman of the State Board of Equalization, both
constitutional officers. The State Controller was an
ex officio member of the State Board of Equalization
at that time. But they were the prime movers on this
thing.

And were responsible for getting the bill introduced
and --

Yes, yes.

That's an interesting kind of a procedure and one that
we're not familiar with at the moment. The names almost
always mean the men who were in the Legislature.

This was a movement that was originated by the state's
tax people.

As a separate entlity concerned with state money matters
from the Department of Finance,

The State Board of Equalization
administered the gross receipts tax on public utilities,
and they also had the function of equalizing property
assessments for tax purposes, primarily between the
utilities and other property.

The Board of Equalization became such a sticky issue
that we haven't really talked to anybody about that,
and Mr. Bonelli 1sn't around anymore to talk to about 1it,

Dixwell Plerce is gone, too. He was the secretary of
the State Board of Equalization and was thelr top
administrstor.
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Back as far as the Rlley-Stewart bill?

He was secretary at the time it was passed, I'm pretty
sure.,

- On this equalization aspect, was there a sense among

the publlc utllities that they would get a lower over-
all tax burden if their property was taxed by the counties
rather than 1f thelr gross receipts were taxed by the
state? The gross receipts, presumably, would continue

to rise as they lald more rallroad tracks and bullt more

power plants.

By the same token, as they expanded their physical
p%ant, thelr base for local property taxes would increase,
also,

That would mean they would be dealing with fifty-eight
boards of supervisors and county assessment boards.

Yes. I can't remember now what the position of the public
utilities was on this question.

Mary Ellen Leary recalled that the Riley-Stewart Act
only provided enough money for that base support of
public education for one two-year period. Again, I
wondered if it might have been a matter of revenues not
being as big as was expected, or was 1t a matter of
the programs of the Department of Educatlion suddenly

mushrooming -~

I can't remember the chronology, but there was an
amendment to the constitutional provision for state
support of public schools that increased very markedly
the amount of that support. I can't remember the exact
timing of 1it, whether it came, say, in '35,% and by
reason of that, the state's publlc school support
increased substantially and outran the revenues from

the sales tax, or whether there was only the rapid growth
in school enrollments. That growth may have outpaced

to some extent the growth of the sales tax collections.

Was this growth in population the migration west of

¥See California Constitution, Art. XI, Sec. 20, adopted
June 27, 1933.
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people looking for jobs, or was this older people
looking for retirement homes, or was it the
people who were already here raising another generation?

Well, the state growth has come largely from migration.

In those years it was what -- one or two percent per year,
something along that line? A little later, by 1943,
population rose to three to five percent. And it had
been going on that way for some time.

Yes, the growth continued even during the Depression, my
recollection is that the growth continued contrary to
expectations. It was thought the Depression would stop
the growth from migration, but it continued.

Would this be the migrants from the middle west who'd
been wiped out by the drought there?

Let's see, the in~-migration of the so-called Okiés,and
Arkies came still later, I think, in '37 or '38.

Now, the next budget would be 1933-35.

1933-'35 was the last Rolph  budget. Merriam
succeeded Governor Rolph, who died 1ln office around a
year before the end of his term and Lieutenant Governor

Merriam gycceeded him.

Was there a continuity of ideas from Governor Rolph as
far as budget? Did Merriam have any new ideas either
for state services or for --

I'm trying to think. Yes, Governor Rolph tended to be
more soclally minded. His own inclination tended to be
liberal in the expenditure of funds and in recognizing
the need for state services. However, his Director of
Finance was Rolland A Vandegrift, a former director --

-- of the taxpayers assoclation.

Yes, executive director of the California Taxpayers'
Assoclation, who was quite tight-fisted and conservative
as far as expendltures were concerned. A very sound,
intelligent man who didn‘*t institute his economies in an
arbitrary way. Rather, he analyzed, and weighed, the
problems quite carefully. He was given wide responsiblility
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Groff: and a rather free hand by Governor Rolph in managing
the financial aspects of state government. So he acted
as sort of a check on Governor Rolph's spending
tendencles.

Governor Merrlam, on the other hand, was himself
conservative, especially in state flscal matters.
So, there was a slgnificant change in the philosophy
of the chief executive.

Morris: ©Plus the fact that Merriam would have inherited a
deflcit which continued to be troublesome.

Groff: Yes, it continued to get worse in Merriam's administration.

Registered Warrants

Morris: Was it in his administration that the State at one time
issued warrants? They flnally ran out of money.

Groff: Yes, they ran out of cash in the General Fund. I'll have
to look up just when the lssuance of registered warrants
actually came., I'm inclined to think it was during the
Rolph administration, in fact, I know it was. I
remember coming along as a detall, resource person with
Governor Rolph and Vandegrift on an occasion when they
pald a call on A. P. Glannini of the Bank of America to
seek his help in arranging for acceptance of these
registered warrants.

Morris: In other words, for the warrants to work the banks had
to -- ‘

Groff: They had to accept them.
Morris: As legal tender.

Groff: They had to be willing to cash them, so to speak. They
were used in the manner of checks -- given in payment
of state bllls, and state salaries. They were drawn on
the state treasury, and the registered aspect of them
denoted the fact that there was no money in the treasury
to pay them. They were checks drawn by the State
ntroller on the state treasury, and when they were
then presented to the State Treasurer for payment, there
was no money in the fund, therefore he registered that
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warrant as an obligation of the state. And the warrant
then drew interest from the date of registration. The
interest was six percent.

And the registration in the State Treasurer's office
also included the name of the bank or the person --

The person who receilved a reglistered warrant would take it
to his bank for deposit. And the initial effort of the
state financial people had to be toward getting the banks
to accept these warrants notwlthstanding that there wasn't
any money -- that is on falth, that the State would
eventually pay them. The reglstered warrants were

called for payment as monies became available in the
General Fund. A mechanlism was worked out so that the
banks actually held the warrants until the money came

in.

Like short-term --
They became short-term obligations, so to speak.

On a time basis? As the monies came in the warrants
out longest would be pald first?

That®s right. They were called and retired in the order
of their registration.

Would the state contact all the holders of warrants and
say, how we have money to pay them?

Yes. They'd issue a notice.
By mall or in the press?

By mail and also in the press.

I've heard that Mr. Giannini was a pretty tough bird on
money matters. How did he receive this delegation?

As I remember it, he was quite cooperative at that
time. He was tough, but he did cooperate. As I say,
I was in a very subordinate capacity, and while I
recall some of the conversation afterword, I didn't
actually participate in the negotiations.

Were similar negotiations carried on with other
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bankers, or was Giannini important enough then so that
if he agreed to something, the other banks would, too?

Negotliations were carried out with representatives of the
other banks, also.

Was six percent a pretty good interest rate then?

It was the statutory interest rate. Iater, however,
more sophlsticated arrangements were worked out for the
handling of these registered warrants in volumg without
putting them actually in circulation. Instead of
issuing individual warrants payable to the person to
whom the state owed money, they set up a revolving fund
mechanism whereby the State's creditors were paid by
checks drawn on the revolving fund, which was then
reimbursed by reglstered warrants of large amounts drawn
on the General Fund. These lump sum registered warrants
were then sold to the banks on the baslis of the lowest
interest rate bid.

I'm interested in the development of more sophlsticated
arrangements for handling the warrants in large amounts.
I wondered if this use of warrants was in any way a
forerunner of the kind of e¢redit arrangements that have
become the custom. In other words, nowadays very few
people actually use cash and buslinesses, by and large,
seem to work on the basls of massive transfers, as you
say, or paper obligations rather than actual transfer

of assets.

This actually represented the use of checks, rather than
warrants, for the payment of bills before the more
complicated transfers of credit. The reglstered
warrant mechanism was one that was provided for in the
statutes at a much earlier time.

It was an already exlisting mechanism -~

That's right, coming out of the early history of the
State, as I recall. The State had no authority to
issue bonds and it was impossible to print money, of
course, so there was no mechanism for the State to
borrow money to meet current bills. The State's power
to incur indebtedness without vote of the people was
limited by constitutional provision to three hundred

thousand dollars.

I remember that, yes.
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Groff: So that the only thing that was open to the State was
to issue these warrants and then register them for lack
of funds.

Morris: Before this time, had the clerk or secretary working for
oene of the state departments received her pay in actusl

money?

Groff: No, she recelved her pay by a warrant -- actually a check
drawm on the state treasury was issued by the State
Controller, after he audited the payroll, and sent to
the individual.

Morris: Did things ever reach a sufficilently bad condition that
those warrants would be discounted?

Groff: Yes, that was the great fear at the time, that these
warrants would be cashable only at a substantial discount.
A good deal of the effort in negotiations between the State
and the banking communlty was to persuade the banks to
accept these warrants at face value without discount.

Morris: Someone recalled that they did get paid in warrants up
north and that they were discounted. Did she remember

accurately?

Groff: I think at the very outset, with the uncertainty and
fears that were felt at the time, that there was a
period of time (the length of which I cannot recall,
but I don't think it was very long) when the warrants
were discounted in some localities by some banks, I
think very soon the banks agreed to accept them at
face value., In not too long a period they were able to
work out arrangements for handling the warrants in bulk,
without issuing them to individuals and/or employees.

Morris: Did anybody ever become reluctant to deliver goods to
the State?

Groff: At the outset there was some indication of that, too,
before they got the situation stabilized.
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Governor Olson's Fiscal Difficulties

Morris: At what point did things begin to turn the corner,
wasn't that the phrase? Had things begun to improve by
the time Olson took office?

Groff: No, not really. Governor Olson inherited a very serious
fingncial situation. )

Morris: All Merriam'’s efforts hadn't ~-

Groff: No ~~ let's see == at the end of '33, when Rolph succeeded
Young, the actual General Fund deficit was about eleven
million dollars. 1In '35 it had risen to nineteen
million doellars, and in *37, it dropped to about twelve
million, six hundred thousand. In Merriam's first
budget, 1935-37, he had proposed a hundred seven million
dollars worth of new taxes to balance the budget.

Morris: It passed?

Groff: I haven't been able to check that out. By 1939, the end
of Merriam's administration, the deficit had risen to
thirty-six million, five hundred thousand. By that time
in the Merriam administration, the State expenditures
for relief, through the State Relief Administration,
had become rather substantial. Actual expenditures in the
135-1'37 biennium were forty-seven million, six hundred
thousand.

Morris: Plus some federal money?
Groff: Yes, a very substantial amount of federal money.

Morris: That's a remarkable sum. This 1is, again, in addition to
previous level of state services.

Groff: The first impact of unemployment through State expendltures
for unemployment relief was met by bond issues amounting
to $20 million in 1933 and $24 million in 1934. The
problem soon became so substantial, however, they realized
they'd have to fund it out of current revenues.

Morris: Were these bond issues within the Leglslature's
ability to authorize?

Groff: No, it must have gone to a vote of the people.
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And voters passed it. That's interesting. I suppose
everybody who was unemployed would have voted for it with

enthusiasm.
[Laughter] Sure.

You said that at the end of Merriam's administration,
he had a deficit of thirty-six million, five hundred

thousand.

That'*s right.

Now, in the budget analysis that I read for the 1939-41
biennium, I have a note that Olson lnherited the previous
administration®s deflcit totaling forty-five million
dollars. When you're talking 1n millions, that's not

all that much, but it's still an interesting dlscrepancy.

I think that flgure was partially estimated =- an

estimate of the situation that wonld obtaln at the end

of the 1937-39 period. It was worked out in December,
1938, six months in advance, you see. The actual deficit
turned out to be thirty-six million, five hundred thousand.

A variation of ten million in a gross figure of forty-
five million -- does that alarm a professional finance
person?

No, because the forty-five million is really a ten
million variation on the total volume of General Fund
receipts and expenditures, whieh produce the surplus
or deficit. The variation 1is really very small in
terms of the total amount of income and expenditure

involved.

This question occurred to me a number of times in

reading about the mid-1940s when there were vast surpluses.
I was curlous if from a flnancial wizard's view thls

kind of variation of ten million plus or minus really

upset the planning.

Well, it did. It was very dlisconcerting, and it was the
subject of many attacks on the administration, on the
Governor, on the Director of Finance, on the Department
of Flnance, for having overestimated or underestimated
that much. But actually, when you put the amount of the
variation against the total amounts that actually were



Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:
Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

2k

involved, it was a rather small variation in accuracy.
The estimates were rather accurate against the entire
background.

Were you attacked on this in years of surplus as well
as years of deficit?

Yes, it worked both ways. In years of surplus you are
attacked because, on the one hand, people who are
interested in expenditures and services say, "You held

us down. You wouldn't let us spend this money and

you vetoed our bills because you sald you didn't have
the money, and here you had the money all the time,

We could have done this, that and the other thing we were
interested in."

On the other hand, we faced the argument from the
more conservative point of view, that here the State had
extracted unnecessary funds from the taxpaying public.
The taxpayers, they sald, could have used that money
to much greater advantage i1f they'd been allowed to
retain it in their own hands.

That's a very common reactlon on an individual level,

That's right.

So Mr. Olson came in as gdvernor wlth this tremendous
deficit and both he and Mr. Glbson were pretty much
dedicated to meetling social needs. How 4id they cope -~
how did they propose to meet new soclal needs 1n a time
of very reduced revenues?

In the first place, I should say that Governor

Olson and his Director of Finance addressed themselves
very vigorously at the outset to understanding and

coping with the budget situatlon. The Governor

attended all the budget hearings in the fall of 1938,
right after his election -- between, that is, hls election
and hils taking office. When the budget was in preparation
he was not Governor, but,as you know, the incoming
governor has the right to call upon the Department of
Finance and the agencles for any information and service
necessary for him to prepare his budget. Actually,
Governor Olson and his Director of Finance, Phil

Gibson, moved right into the Department of Finance
offices, and conducted hearings with state agencles

from morning until way into the night. Day in, and night
after night. And Governor Olson actually sat in on
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most of them himself. No governor had done that
before and few governors since.

Olson had been in the 1eéis1ature; where had Mr.
Glbson been?

He was an attorney and he had a practice in Los Angeles,
as I recall it, and also taught on the faculty of a

law school,

Was he a tax attorney, particularly?

No, not that I recall. He was active in Governor Olson's
campalgn -- as was George Killion, who headed up
Olson's public relations staff during the campaign.

Killion was in the Department of Finance, also, wasn't
he?

Not at first, no, he came in as, I think it was,
executive secretary to the Governor, and had handled
public relations for the governor's office. Mr.

Gibson initially didn't have much informatlon on State
affalrs other than that he was very close to the governor
in his campaign, and assocliated with him in earlier

days. He proved to be a very astute man, however.

We were all amazed at the faclility with which he picked
up an appreciation of the problems of state agencles

and the intricacles of state finances.

Yes, 1t's such a technical subject that it's curious
the number of people without a particularly fiscal
background who were directors of finance,

That®s right. The Job essentially calls more for general
good Judgement and the exercise of astute common sense,
rather than the detailed knowledge of the technical
aspects of state finances.

Because there is a career staff?

There 1s a career staff to do the technical work. It's
amazing, you indicated, the range of background of the
various directors of flnance,

And yet they're very key people, too, to any governor.
Are there ever times when the technical side disagrees
with, you might say, the political side?
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Yes, almost constantly. Most directors of finance
instructed the technical staff te express themselves
freely from thelr own technical, professional viewpoint,
and appreclated the clash of opiniqn that resulted -~
the clash between the professional point of view, the
career point of view, and the political point of view.
That sharpened up the decislions, actually.

Did this work in the Olson case? The leglislatlive end

of things seems t0 have been rather resistant to

Olson as governor. He had strong opposition to his
spending policies in the Legislature from the beginning.
You feel he was sound financlally, even though he wanted
to spend a lot of money?

I think he was for the most part sound. There were
several large lssues on which he had strong opinions,
where he went off the deep end, but on the whole,

in his basic approach, he was usually quite sound.

He gave much more welght to sound advice that he
recelved from professionals than had been expected

on the basis of what most of us knew of him before then.

Relief Expenditures

In the budget document, the statement was made that in
order to balance the budget and cut the defliecit, Olson
would have to move elther to reduce pensions and categorical
relief alids, because only in these large areas could
sizeable reductions be made, or to propose additional

tax programs. I wondered how Olson and Gibson reacted to
the suggestion that they cut the categorical alds and
expenditures for the public schools. That must have

been a hard nut.

I think Governor 0Olson was not actually advocating those
courses or those measures, but was polnting them out as
unacceptable alternatives to increased tax programs which
he was recommending. He was saying that the alternative
to this tax increase 1s to cut expenditure programs,

and the only place to cut the budget is in those

places where the large expenditures occur., In the areas
of welfare, public schools, and so forth,

And what success did he have? The budget he proposed
was five hundred and fifty-seven million dollars, and what
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was finally approved by the Leglislature?

First, it should be noted that seventy-three million,
six hundred thousand of that total was for unemployment

relief.

This is one of those notes that 1s startling, looking
at it thirty years later. It was sald that the cash
doles were running at twenty percent of the General
Fund expenditures but that only half of the unemployed
in California were recelving any aid. That seems a
remarkable thing. Did people not apply for the relief?

Yes, they did, but there was rather strict administration.
They were denied relief in lots of cases., And, of course,
the federal government was meeting part of the problem
with its programs.

So that possibly what this means is that although the State
was only making payments to half of the unemployed, that
didn*t mean that the other half were getting no aid,

they might have been getting federal aid?

They might have been getting federal aid. Many of them
didn't get any aid. They Just stumbled on without relief,

You sald earlier that one of the things that was
impressive when you Jjolned the state government, was
that the civll service was upgrading itself. Yet ten
years later, when Olson was governor, there was continuagl
criticism that he apparently tried to circumvent the
civil service, particularly in civil defense and in the
relief administration. Was Olson really asking to have
hls political supporters hired regardless of their
qualifications?

As I recall it, I think the criticisms came mostly in the
area of the State Rellef Administration, which was set up
as an emergency agency. It developed very rapidly, and
due to the emergency situation, there wasn®t always time
to go through all the civil service procedures. There
was probably some truth to the allegations that the
administration took advantage of the emergency situation
to put its friends and cohorts 1ln these relief jobs,

But this is quite natural, and the thing which always
happens when you have an emergency agency set up outside
of civil service.

You want to staff 1t ~--
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You want to staff it right now. Naturally, you staff it
with the people who come to you and they tend to be your
political cohorts. So, both because of the emergency
and because of some politics, the performance of SRA
wasn't always as good as it should have been. There

was a lot of criticism., It was a thankless Jjob, anyway.

Yes, 1t must have been.

Solomon~1like decisions were called for and it was
just an impossible situation to administer.

And there was a turnover also, wasn't there, in the
directors of the relief administration? Merriam had

two or three and Olson had two or three, and philosophically
they sounded like a wlde range of individuals, to put

it mildly.

Yes, they were. [Iaughter] They'd get a liberally-minded
person in there and SRA would become too liberal in

thelr interpretation of the regulations and the

policies. That would bring down criticism on them, so
that person would be flred and a conservative type would
be put in to bring order out of chaos, you know, then
they would get criticised by the other side. Thus,
politics would enter into 1t, inevitably.

Your feeling is that there was more sound and fury
around it than actual substance?

I think political considerations entered into it
unduly and political decisions were made, undoubtedly.
However, considering the problems they had to deal
with, I don't feel they did too badly.

One other point on this '39-'41 budget, the comment
was made that one thing that contributed to the deflcit
was that debt service was up twenty-five percent due to
the financing pollcies of State Treasurer Charles
Johnson. Was there a question that early about his
policies in depositing state funds in banks and selling
bonds?

There was critlicism of State Treasurer Johnson from time

to time for his handlling of the deposit of state funds

in banks, over-large deposits in accounts on which the

banks did not pay any interest, and allegations of favorltism.,
The timing of those I can't quite recall.
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Morris: This was a note from that '39 to 41 budget. It was
about 1949, I think, that he finally resigned under
some pressure on these later points.

Groff: I don't recall what the 1939-41 budget had reference to.

Morris: The later inclident was the discovery that he was depositing
long term funds as demand deposits and not getting
any interest from banks for holding the reserve funds,
you know, the wartime surpluses, but on this earlier
one it was debt service that was refered to.

Groff: I think I recall a little glimmering of that. You see,
Olson had recommended tax increases justified partly on
the unemployment relief requirements. I think I remember
that Gus Johnson advocated the use of bonds instead of
taxes to finance unemployment relief, Johnson opposed
the Governor on that policy question, and I think that
the legislature may have followed Johnson'®s lead and voted
to submit a bond issue to the people for unemployment
relief instead of voting new taxes. Of course,
legislatures are always reluctant to vote tax increases --
that®s the hardest thing they do -- and so Gus Johnson,
with ostensible authority, you see, gave them an out
in suggesting a bond issue.

Morris: Which has to be decided by the citizens so that the
burden of decision could be passed to them,

Groff: The debt service on those bonds, while 1t added some to
the deficit, was such a small outlay in those days,
that increase of even twenty-five percent would not
have been all that major.

Health Care Proposal

Morris: Did you recall in this Olson budget an item for a medical
clinic program? He proposed about a hundred thousand dollars,
which wasn't very much, but he was concerned about health
care for the working man, and he proposed clinics.

This was a new program in the middle of this dreadful

financial bind.

Groff: Yes, he proposed to the legislature some kind of a
state health care plan. I can't remember now 1f the
clinic program was actually a pilot program toward a
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Groff: state health care plan, or whether it was a program
" designed for other purposes connected with the relief
situation. In any event, I think it was ountvoted.,

Morris: It was deleted.

Groff: I think one of the arguments that foreced deletion was to
couple it with "“socialized medicine."”

Morris: It kind of signals what was to come with Warren and
health insurance, which is one of the major issues for
study in Warren's administration. Also from the Depart-
ment of Finance's point of view, 1f they had talked it
over With the Governor with great care, how could he
have proposed a new program such as this in a time of
financial stringency?

Groff: I can't remember, My guess would be that it was one of
those items that the Governor made his own decislion upon
without reference to the Department of Finance.

Morris: At Governor Warren's suggestion, I checked even further
back on health insurance legislation, and in 1935,
there was a very complex, comprehensive bill introduced
by Senator Tickle, from Carmel; he was chairman of the
Senate Finance Committee, which makes him a very
powerful senator, doesn't it?

Groff: That would be during Merriam®s administration.

Morris: The advice we have is that the 1935 bill, introduced by
Senator Tickle and a couple of other Republicans on the
Banking Committee, was put together at the request of
the medical assoclation. I wondered if you recall the
Department of PFinance testifying on it or belng aware
of it?

Groff: I doubt we did. That rings a very faint bell, but I
can't recall any specifics on it. Kind of incongruous,
the association oi Senator Tickle and the medical assocition

with a health plan.

Morris: Yes. It was sort of right where we're at now, It set
up a provision for health insurance for everybody who
was not covered by a private plan, and it set up
standards for fees, quality of care, and supervision
of medical professionals, and provided some state
diagnostic services for people needing to be put in
various categories of this plan. The legislation could
be considered a model bill. It could be presented right
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now, but it seems to have dropped without a ripple.
We wouldn't have tracked it down if Warren had not
pointed 1t out and said his bills were not the first.

The original draft, as introduced, set up a state
advisory board which expliclitly included a member of the
executive council of the California Medical Association.
That vanished in the flrst amendment.

Weren't they getting their Blue Cross established about
that time?

In *'37 it was authorized and in '38 it was founded.

I'm astounded that Senator Tickle would lend hls name
to i1t. He was a conservative of conservatives.

Well, he's there. My general assumption i1s that the
chailrman of the Finance Committee ls conservative,

Tended to be -- in those days, especially. Ed Tickle
was conservative in matters other than financial, as I
recall him,

This was before the days of the leglislative analyst. Did
this mean that Finance people worked more closely with
the Leglslature ln those days?

Yes, that's right. The department would be called on to
make analyses and provide information to the legislative
committees. On a professional and somewhat impartial
basis, the staff considered 1tself obligated to serve
the Legislature as well as the Governor when called

upon .

Were you surprised when the Leglslative Analyst poslition
was created?

Yes, yes» we were. I thlink the staff tended to be in
opposition to the concept of it. However, the Director
was in the position of having to malintain good relatlons
with the Legislature and the concerns of the Governor
for his leglislation program made it impolitic for the
Administration to oppose the concept.

And then the first Leglslative Analyst was a former
Director of Finance.,
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Yes, well, the clash between the former and the current
Directors of Finance became part of the larger battle
between Governor Olson and the Legislature.

Economy Bloc

Was the Economy Bloc a visible, recognizeable force at
that time?

Yes, it was. I have a little trouble distinguishing
between that economy bloc and an earlier one. I think
the term economy bloe was first applied to those who
were in opposition to Rolph's spending during the
Depression,

That'®s only a ten year span, and some of the same
people were probably still around,

Yes. I think this was kind of a revival of the earlier
economy bloc,

It's unclear whether their concern was over finance or
whether it was philosophical dlisagreement with the way
the particular governor was spending money.

I think both factors entered in.

Wartime Recovery

Going on with our state budget highlights, 1941-3
overlapped the Olson and Warren administrations, and
also the turmaround from a deficit to a wartime surplus,
In 1941, California income was the record high for the
pre-war years, and 1942 was the first year of budget
surplus, and then -~

That is, since '29-*31, with the famous thirty milllon
dollar surplus, which evaporated during the depression.

Yes. This 1942 surplus was the first of five years
of surpluses. 8So, as soon as Warren came in he proposed

a tax reduction.
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That was very pecullar and very significant because
it followed so closely on Governor Olson's proposal

of a rather large tax increase.

Olson had proposed an increase for *41-*43°?
That's right.

And did he get very far with that?

Not far, he got some, but not anywhere near al} of his
tax increases. Before the proposal could be renewed,

the war-inflated economy came about and started gener-
ating increased revenues from existing sources. This
eliminated the need for increased taxes,

Right away.

Almost right away, and then, as you say, in Governor
Warren's first year he was in a position to recommend
a reduction in state taxes,

Was there a change in the federal tax structure at that
point. Did the federal government increase taxes to
develop revenues for war materisl?.

Yes, they did. There was a rather sharp increase in
income tax rates. New exclses were imposed on telephones,
automobliles, entertainment, and a lot of other things.
War economies were put into operation. In fact, it
became kind of a patriotic thing to reduce state taxes

in order to enable people better to pay the wartime
increases in federal taxes.

In that immediate budget before Warren took office,
was Mr. Killion working for tighter budget controls?

In a twelve month period we shifted entirely away from a
really drastic deficit and huge demand for state funds
for unemployment.

It must have been a strange time to be working with
finance.

You had to shift gears suddenly from a chronic deficit
situation and feeling of desperate need for additional

taxes and for stringent economy, to a 51tuation where

the money began to roll in, and you weren't able to
inecrease state expenditures. There were wartime
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constraints, shortages in materials and people and
everything else. And, of course, not only were there
shortages, but it was Jjust unpatriotic to greatly expand
services, eX¥cept those that were feeling the direct
impact of the war. There were a number of these

latter areas that had to be expanded.

What would those be?

Various kinds of training activitles in the Department
of Education, and the universitles and state colleges,
although these were more than absorbed by the very
drastic decrease in enrollments due to people going
into wartime service.

Did the increase in revenues happen in 19417 In other
words, had this begun before December 7th?

Yes, because the stimulation came with the defense
preparations, which preceded by a year or so our actual
entry into the war -~ the gearing up of our own defenses,
and the growing supply of the Allles. Even before we
entered the war, the Roosevelt pollicy of lend-lease
started stimulating the national economy and Callfornia,
of course, was directly benefitted.

Did we lag behind the rest of the nation?

No, as I recall, right from the beginning we became
one of the centers for war production, for various
kinds of defense production. The aircraft industry

at that time was pretty firmly established in Southern
California, and I think was the beneficiary of wartime

expansion.
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IV SPECIAL FUNDS
(Date of Interview: March 9, 1972)

Horse Racling and Agricultural Fairs

Today, I'd like to ask you about the state budget and
special funds. One of the ones I looked up specifically
is the horse racing revenunes, and I wondered if you could
recall how much of this ls a pollitical issue and new
legislation, and what was the economic and fiscal
policy? The figures that I picked up were that in
1945-L6, the revenues were twenty-two million dollsrs,
approximately, and that the following year, in *456-'47,
the revenues were twenty million dollars, and that in the
following year, '47-'48, the projected revenues were

down to just under sixteen million dollars.

In respect to the former, I don't recall any effective
reform or constraints on horse racing that were enacted
during that period. There were surges of agitation
against horse racing from time to time, but it's my
recollection that i1t never eventuated into any really
restrictive legislation. My guess would be that some
kind of economic constraints probably produced that
result. _

Economic constraints in terms of fewer people going to
the race tracks, or --

Yes, general economic conditions, although I think that
time, let's see, that was lmmediately after the war,

wasn't it?

Those three years were the last year of the war and
then the postwar era.

During the war, horse-racing ranked as a relatively
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Groff: non-essential activity, and I think there were various
national constraints put on it, that probably resulted
in reduced volume of wagering, although I don't have
any vivid recollection on that point.

I see in the second Warren budget covering the
biennium 1945-47, they state actual state revenues from
horse racing at two million, seven hundred eighty one
thousand for the 1941-43 biennium, an estimated six
and a half million for 1943-45, and six million, nine
hundred thousand from 1945-47,

Morris: Those are the actual revenue?

Groff: The first flgure was actual, the other two figures were
both estimated.

Morris: 1Is this from all of the race tracks in the state?

Groff: That was the State's share. 1In other words, the
state license fees imposed on the tracks for the
privilege of conducting betting.

Morris: The county falrs -~ do they all have a racing activity,
too?

Groff: Only the larger ones, I think. Pomona, the Los Angeles
County Falr, and some of the larger agricultural counties
like Fresno and the State Falr. But they were relatively
unimportant as revenue producers. The great bulk of
state revenue came from the large racing tracks:

Santa Anita, Hollywood Park, Golden Gate Flelds,
Tanforan, Bay Meadows.,

Morris: One point that I came across in my readlng was that
there was some push and haul here with the state people
concerned about keeping the activity good at the county
falrs and State Fair, and that there was some pressure
from the falr boards who dldn't want the private tracks
to get too much of the action. That there was this
kind of a rivalry situation that would -~

Groff: I can't recall that belng a very effective determiner of
state policy as far as overall regulation, and control,
of =~

Morris: My figures must be the revenues of the tracks.
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Groff: That's probably it.

Morrls: So the state revenues stayed within a million dollars
of each other over those years you mentioned.

Groff: They were down rather markedly during the war years.
[Looks through papers]| Yes, two million, eight
hundred thousand in '41-'43, as agalnst six and a half
million and six million, nine hundred thousand for the
next two blenniums. Which indicate, you see, that they
fell off about half during the war.

Morrlis: Well, this would be explalned, as you mentioned by gas
rationing, and of all those people who go to the race
track being either in the service or a war plant.

Groff;: That's right.

Morris: But then the track's own revenue dropped markedly in
those years right after the war, from twenty-two
million in ‘45-'46, to fifteen million nine hundred

thousand in 1947-1948,

Groff: Now, it well may be that these expectations, budget
estimates were not actually realized, I don‘t happen
to have figures right at hand showing the actual revenues

in subsequent years --

Morris: Now, did the revenues from the taxes on horse racing go
into the General Fund, or are they earmarked into a
specigl fund?

Groff: The bulk of them went into special funds, and the
General Fund shared revenues over g certain amount. I
can't recall now exactly what the formula was, but the
General Fund shared in the revenue. I think it was a
kind of skimming the cream when revenues at the larger
tracks reached a certain point.

Morris: I think the fact that there was a formula is an interesting
aspect of the special funds. Now, what was the special

fund for?

Groff: The speclal fund was used to provide state assistance
to state and county agricultural affairs, and, at least
in the earlier days, for the support of California
Polytechnic College.
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Is that the school at San Luis Obispo?

That's right, although their original campus was in San

Luis Obispo, they later established a second campus near
Pomona, the former Kellogg horse ranch, which was given

to the State.

Is this primarily forlliveStock breeding?

No. I think there Were some courses in animal husbandry
but it provided a second campus to extend that particular
kind of vocational education to a more southern Cglif-
ornla area.

So that part of the racing revenues that went into
the special fund could only be used for agricultural
fairs, and the agricultural fairs could spend all that
money. L

Yes, there was an allocation formula set up in the act
that gave each fair a certaln percentage return based
on the amount of premiums that they offered to
exhibotors at those agricultural falrs.

I see, so that the higher prizes you awarded to the best
cattle, and so on --

The more you got back from the state.

That's interesting. This whole business of the state
and county fairs came under some attack from the
legislators, as I recall,

Yes, it seemed to many, especlially those interested in

the overall state financial picture, that the state

and county falrs were reaping a kind of bonangza,

especlally in the more parlous times for State finances.
Because as horse racing revenues came pouring in, they

were automatically channeled to these falrs, which to

many did not represent a very high priority of state
expenditure. To agricultural interests and others, however,
they were very, very important, and apparently enough
legislators agreed, so that the laws stayed on the books
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and the assistance has continued,

Of course, they flnanced a local activity that was
run by local boards composed of local citizens, and they
had quite a lot of influence.

Did the Department of Flnance take a position in this?

No, not really, because it was more a matter of public
policy than it was fiscal policy. It depended how much
the state wanted to assist this particular activity.
There were private opinions --

Yes, I was thinking of it in terms of your comment
about overall state priorities. One of the specific
challenges, as I recall, was that horse racing
revenues should be directed toward education. Did that
kind of a recommendation come out of the Department

of Finance?

I can't remember, specifically, but I think I remember
the tenor of thinking was toward channeling more of
those revenues into the General Fund of the treasury

as general revenue of the State, rather than dedicating
it to other particular purposes. The general thinking
of the department has been historically in the direction
of avoiding the dedlcation of particular revenues to
specific purposes, especially by formula, and in favor
of directing virtually all of the state revenues into
the General Fund for budgeting and evaluation and
appropriation by the Legislature.

Highway Bonds and User TaXes

Another blg area in terms of dollars is the highway
funds. They‘re a whole separate accounting and
disbursing body.

That's right.

How did that come to be and how does this fit into a
smoothly functioning State Department of Finance?

Of course, the original state highway system was financed
by a series of bond issues.
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This would be World War One-ish?

Oh, sometime before that. Let's see what the date of
those highway bond issues were. [Checks document]

Yes, the first highway bonds were authoriged in 1909,
and the second issue in 1915, and the third issue in
1919, Those were for eighteen million, fifteen million,
and forty million, respectively. And those bonds

were serviced by the general revenues of the State,

and charged upon the General Fund for interest and
redemption.

Serviced by the State. That means -~

I mean the interest and redemption on them were a charge
against general revenues of the State. They were general
obligation bonds of the state.

And they were charged to the State's General Fund?

That's right. They were, in most cases, forty year
bonds, and they were paid off finally in 1965, the
last of them.,

Oh, you do come to the end of forty year bonds!
[Laughter]

[Laughter] Yes, it finally runs out. So these bonds
financed the initial state highway system. Then,

later, the gasoline tax was established and devoted to

the financing of state highway construction and
maintainance, and to county roads. Still later, a

portion went to city streets. These gasoline tax

monlies are deposited in the State Highway Fund,

a speclial fund, dedicated to and restricted to a particular

purpose, namely highways.

And, if I remember correctly, it's the State Highway
Commisslion which authorizes the expenditure of the funds
on the specific project.

That's right.

Again, from the point of view of statewlde filnance
practice, was this questioned at all by the Department

of PFinance?

I don*t think so -- not strongly, because --



Morris:

Groff:

Morris:
Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

L1

Did you have an auditing function over those funds at
all?

Yes, the State Department of Finance post-audit included
the State Department of Public Works and the Division

of Highways, which expended those monies. Then, of
course, the actual disbursement of these monies was
pre-audited by the State Controller before they

were pald out. But the issue arose around the fiscal
wisdom of setting aside specific revenues, and these
gasoline tax monlies in particular, for highway purposes
without any ability on the part of the State'’s executive
and leglslative authorities to evaluate those expen-
ditures over and against 1ts other expenditures,
especially those advanced from General Fund sources.

The question arose, lnevitably, in times of shortage
of state funds when the State was in tough fiscal
condition, as to whether or not those gasoline taxes
should be tapped for general state purposes. There
were frequent debates on that score.

Who were the legislators who would raise this lssue?
Well, I think they tended to be the urban area leglslators.

If the gas tax from the beginning has been earmarked to
the State Highway Fund, could this ever be diverted?
Could the State Legislature ever say "We're going to
continue to collect the gas tax, but it's not goling

to go into highways, it's golng to go into the General
Fund, and then the Legislature each year will mgke the
determination as to how much will go to highways and
how much to schools or hospitals?”

The original provisions for the State Highway Fund

and the dedication of gasoline tax revenues to those
purposes were statutory, and could have been changed by
the Leglslature. However, in 1938 there was a consti-
tutional amendment passed which dedicated these highway
user revenues to the construction and maintenance of
highways and related purposes -- 1t was quite restrictive.

So, after that time, the highway user revenues could
be diverted to general purposes only by an amendment of

the constitution.,

And highway user is a very broad term.
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Yes, 1t includes gasoline taxes, the motor vehicle
registration fees, and -~

And aren't there over the road taxes on trucks and
commercial vehlicles? _

Yes, that's right. It included those imposed on
truck. usage; those imposed on trucks as property,
however, are not restricted. Iikewise the in lieu tax
on motor vehicles -- the state tax in lieu of local
property taxes -~ those are not restricted., Those
monies go back to the clities and counties.

Again for road purposes, locally?

No, for general purposes. They are state-collected,
locally-shared revenue.

You said that the challenges to the use of gas taxes for
highway and street purposes came from the urban areas.
Is the other side of it that the highway proponents

were generally the rural people? I think of George
Hatfield as being a name associated with highways. Be
led the 1947 gas tax legislation in the Senate.

Yes. And the more recent leader of state highway forces
has been Senator Randolph Collier from Siskiyou County.
However, my statement, I concede, is contradlicted by the
fact that the early leader of forces in favor of state
highways, and the pioneer missionary in that field, was

Senator Breed, Senior, from Alameda County.

When Senator Breed, Senior, was making his highway
studies in the 1920s, southern Alameda County was frult

orchards and farms.

True, I don't know what motivated Senator Breed at that
time. He was popularly denominated as the father of the
state highway system, and was active in enacting the
gasoline tax method of financing highways.

That was in 1921 -- and then in 1947 George Hatfield
wanted a gasoline tax increase?

Yes, there were several increases in the rate of
gasoline tax from time to time. There were several
successive studies made, all of which seemed to lndicate
that there were deficliencies developing in the state
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highway system, that they were not keeping up with the
needs in time with the very rapid growth in number of
vehicles and trucks using the highways. On the basis of
those studies then, the tax rate was increased from
time to time. I think Senator Hatfield led one

or maybe several of those fights for increased highway

revenues.

Governor Warren also was for this. Why d4id it develop
into such a major battle if both the governor and leading
legislators were for it? Would the Department of
Finance have become involved; your people testify to
legislative committees?

The 01l companies were usually opposed to such
increases in the price of thelr product. The Department
of Finance did not become involved, because the Adminis-
tration was represented by the Division of Highways,
which had its own fiscal expertise.

Randolph Collier was from the northern
counties. Any particular strong men in this area from
southern counties?

Senator Ben Hulse from Imperial County comes to mind.
If I remember correctly he was active.

He was the Caterpillar Tractor man in his private
business life, wasn't he?

He may have been the Caterpillar dealer in Imperial
Valley. I think he was a farmer there, too,

That's interesting. I've heard him spoken of as a very
hard-working legislator, who studied every bill.

He was. He was a very well-informed man and he was a
very able man. He was also hard-fisted and tough-minded,
let's say, but studied the issues very carefully. He
was chairman of the Senate Finance Committee, for quite
some time.

Would he have turned up in the finance department to
question and suggest?

Yes, he was chairman of the Senate Finance Committee
before whom the state budget was heard -- the committee
before whom the administration had to defend its budget
proposals -- and obviously was in frequent contact with
the Director of Finance.
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Business Taxes and Regulatory Fees

On special funds, do insurance company and other business
revenues go into the General Fund or do they go into the
special funds?

Well, the gross premiums tax on insurance companies goes
into the General Fund, as a general purpose State tax
on those companies.

How does that differ from the general business, corporate
tax?

The general corporations and the banks are taxed now

on a net income basis, the so~called bank and corporation
franchise tax. But that tax does not apply to insurance
companies, which are taxed lnstead on this separate,
special basls, on thelr gross premiums,

That is what they do buslness in.

That's right. It represents sort of a gross income tax
rather than a net income tax. The general corporatlions
and banks are taxed on a net income basis, after expenses,

you see.
And the insurance companies don't have any expenses?

Well, they have expenses, but they‘'re not taken into
account in the tax except by the lower rate of tax. I
don't know what it 1s now, but something like four and

a quarter percent,

That's a layman's question, but some of the terms are
confusing. The gas taxes and the horse racing revenues
are the speclal funds most thought of. What other
categories of special funds are there?

Our other large category, not so much in terms of
dollars involved, but in the widespread nature of the
activities, would be the so-called professional and
vocatlonal regulatory boards -~ those set up for
licensing physicians, dentists, chiropractors, so on
and so forth, The costs of those regulatory boards are
defrayed by license fees collected from the people

regulated.,

Is the intent to make them self-supporting?
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Groff: Self~-supporting, that's right. The general intent is to
finance the costs by fees levied upon the profession or
vocation belng regulated. The same is true of the
general investment flelds such as building and loan,

banks -~
Morris: Stock brokers?

Groff: Stock brokers, yes, they are regulated and financed in
the same way, by fees levied upon the industry. Now
those monies -~ each category of them -- are deposited
in a separate special fund, whose revenues are continuously
appropriated by law for the support of those boards,
commissions or governmental agencles, who are concerned
with the regulation of those industries.

Morris: 1Is the 1ldea that these are belng regulated in the public
interest?

Groff: In the public interest, yes, but that the cost should
not be borne by the public generally, but by the profession
belng regulated. Of course these license fees become
an expense of doing business, and are passed on to the
general public in that form, but not as general taxes.

Morris: And these professional and vocational regulatory boards
have lncreased over the years, in this last twenty-five
years?

Groff: Yes, rather steadily.

Questions of Policy

Morris: I was thinking of a particular instance: cannery
inspection fees. I wonder if you could comment on
this. I was talking to people in the Department of Public
Health, who said in the public interest the canneries
were routinely inspected, and then if there was any
kind of a question from year to year they would make
additional inspection of the canneries. Originally this
cost was borne by canners.

Groff: That's right, there was the Cannery Inspection Fund,
into which those fees went.
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The larger cannerles paid a larger fee, and then in the
'40s, this charge was shifted little by little over the
Department of Public Health. I wondered if you recalled
how this process came about, and how did the canners --
I shouldn't put it that way. [Laughter]| If it was a
matter of the public interest, how did it cease to be
borne by the canners who, after all, in their own
interest (they couldn't sell to the public if there was
any question about the canned goods) would not want
theilr economic position damaged. How dld they manage to
shift this falrly hefty fee over to the State Department
of Public Health? Thls apparently was gone into each
time around with the people from the Department of
Finance. I wondered 1f you recalled thls specific --

The State hasn't been entirely consistent in this matter
of assessing the costs of these regulatory functions
directly against the industry regulated. ZEven when the
costs are assessed agailnst the industry, in a minority
of cases, they've deposited these fee revenues in the
General Fund of the State and made appropriations from
the General Fund for the support of the regulatory
function. The endeavor has been, at least in the long
run, to keep the fees assessed against the industry in
line with the costs of performing the regulatory function,.
This alternative procedure 1ls mainly a matter of
mechanics, and results in the revenues and expenditures,
in this latter case, showing up in the General Fund
rather than as a special fund transaction.

It becomes a matter of policy sometimes as to
whether or not you assess regulatory costs directly
agalinst the industry or profession, or whether you let
the cost be borne by general revenues of the State,
which although paid in part by industry, are not assessed
on g quid pro quo basis.

Is this the kind of policy decision that's made within
the Department of Finance?

No, the decision 1s made by the Leglslature. The
Department of Finance might have a recommendation to make
to the Governor and to the Leglslature on the matter.

The Department of Finance policy, at least in the days
when I was with it, was these costs should be borne in
the flrst instance by the industry regulated., But,
number two, that for fiscal flexibility it would be

better that these monies be deposited in the General
Fund of the State. Nevertheless, it was often a rather
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narrow declision, because as a practical matter we
recognized the danger was that the fees would not be
increased commensurate with changes in the costs of
performing the regulation, and that the temptatioen would
be to shlft those costs to the general taxpayer.

That tendency is more difficult to combat if those
monies are put in the General Fund. Or, put the other
way around, if those fees are segregated in a special
fund and the expenditures for regulation are limited to
monies in that fund, there's an automatic regulator
effect, you see. They can only spend what they take in.
If the costs of regulation aren't being met, then there's
a built in necessity for increasing the fees.

Either that or reduclng the amount of regulatory service.
That's right. [Laughter]

That's a very interesting aspect of special funds I
hadn't thought of, particularly since you hear so much
nowadays of the regulatory function serving the pro-
fession or the industry originally intended to be
regulated. This cannery one was I thought an interesting
case in point, since agriculture has been for so long
and still is a major part of the Californlia tax base.

That's right. It's kind of a borderline area, all right.
Where there's a general public interest akin to the public
health function of the state, the Department of Public
Health 1s in general supported out of general tax

funds. But this particular aspect of the public health
is being assessed against the industry involved. The
question would be: whether it was a more general public
health problem, therefore supported like other public
health functions out of general tax revenues, or whether
it was a specific aspect of the general health which
ought to be assessed against the industry giving rise for
the problem.

Which was in business to make money. Yes, that sounds
like it might well have been the way the discussion went.

Of course, in general, no matter which way you do it, the
costs end up being paid out of the consumer's pocket book.
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Liguor Taxes and Licensing

Morris: This 1s true, in the long run. One of the other areas
that came in for considerable controversy was liquor.
Now, 1s this a special fund?

Groff: Well, yes and no. The costs of state activities in-
volved in the regulation and policing of the industry
and its licensing are borne by license fees levied on
liquor stores and dispensers, both wholesale and retail,
However, the industry has traditionally been a source of
general state revenue, also, with the excise taxes
levied on the liguors sold. Such exclse taxes go
into the General Fund of the State. As a state tax
levied on luxurlies, it 1s a source of general state
revenue, in the same category as the cigarette tax,

Morris: And because it's considered a luxury, this 1s why it's
80 easy to look to them when we need more revenue?

Groff: That's right. [Laughter]| 1It's sort of a fat cat when
it comes to -~

Morris: In the later years of the Warren adminlistration they
were referred to as "sin" taxes, and horse racing and
tobacco and liquor were all lumped together. Is the
business in these three areas sufficlent to bring in a
sizeable amount of revenue if you add a penny to the tax?

Groff: Yes, the volume 1is so great that a small rate of tax
raises a considerable amount of money. Again, I don‘t
know what the current consumption flgures are, but I
do remember, and 1it's true increasingly now with the
rise in population of the state, that the liquor taxes
could produce quite a considerable amount of money.

Morris: When the state is looking for more money, they're usually
looking for large quantities?

Groff: Liquor taxes weren't one of the largest. In the perspective
of the whole state budget, they couldn't take care of a
deficit situation on thelr own; they could make a
significant contribution to state revenues. In 1941-43,
actual receipts from the distilled spirits excise tax,
beer and wine excise tax and liquor license fees, was
about forty million dollars. [Checks budget statistical

page. |
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So the volume of those sin taxes could be used to start
a new program or to expand a program, but they really
couldn't carry a whole program?

I don't recall thelir ever being linked up to particular
programs. I always thought of them more as being
instituted in response, and most of the changes in the
rate of levy as geared, to general state financial
conditions rather than particular programs. They were
looked to for general financing.

At one point when there was one of the recurring crises
in education, the thought was that a good way to flnance
education would be to penalize the drinkers and get
another penny on the liquor tax -~ but again, it sounds
like that is more of a legislative maneuver than a sound
fiscal policy.

I think so.

While we're on the subject of liguor, did your department
get involved at all in the Artie Samish lobbying
investigations that started in the *'30s and were still
going on in the '50s?

Not in any substantial way that I recall. However,
whenever there was the necessity for a tax program that
might involve or did involve the taxes on the liquor
industry, of course Artie Samish was right there on the
job to oppose any such increased levy. In that sense
2 representative of the Governor arguing for a tax
program that he recommended would be in opposition to
Art Samish and would encounter, so to spesk, hils wiles
and his efforts to maintain his point of view for his
industry. And in a number of those encounters, Samish
was considered to be the Bete noir of the situation,
even golng back to Mr., Heron's day. I can't remember
what the issue was ~- as I recall it, it wasn't liquor
in those days.

Samish was also a representative of the trucking industry.
Truck taxes -~ that was it.

According to his own reports, he was a lobbyist for a
half a dozen groups including, I think, a couple of
employees' associations?

Yes. County employees or somethlng like that.
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Morris: He always seems to have had strong ties in lLos Angeles.
There's also a lot of concern expressed that he influenced
the legislative process 1in general, and his connectlons
permeated and had an unethical effect on many aspects
of state government.

Groff: I don't know if Fred Links mentioned anything about
Artie Samish or not, but I recall Mr. Links telling of
gseveral incidents or encounters with Samish where Samish
was in opposition to something that Mr. Links was
advocating and trying to put over on behalf of the
administration on the Department of Finance.

On a couple of occasions Fred Links took him into
camp, and bested him.

Morris: 1Is it true that Samish, himself, never appeared before a
legislative committee? Did it all through lleutenants?

Groff: That was my understanding, my impression at the time.

Morris: That's a marvelous picture of Mr, Links maneuvering at
his end and Mr. Samish maneuvering at the Senator Hotel,

Groff: [Laughter] Yes.
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V OTHER FISCAL AUTHORITIES

Board of Equalization

Another piece of this is, of course, the Board of
Equalization. Although Mr. Bonelli came to a sad end,
apparently when he first was on the Board of Equaliza-
tion, he was falrly strong and outspoken in saying
"there's a possibility of trouble in the liquor license
administration, and we need to be on the lookout for
corruption.” And I wondered if the Department of
Finance was concerned about this over the years and had
any thoughts about how Mr. Bonelli got from being a good
guy to being a bad guy?

I don't think at my level we had other than our personal
reactions. Maybe Mr. Links or the dlrectors of filnance
would have had opportunity to observe Mr. Bonelli at
close range.

The Board of Equalization 1s another pilece of state
administration having to do with money coming in, and
the Controller's Offlice controls money going out. And
where does the Department of Finance sit in relationship
to these other financlal bodies?

Well, taking the Board of Equalization first. The
Board of Equalization administers in g ministerial

way the levy and collection of certain taxes. Its
mission in that respect has varied over the years.

From the early days of the state gross receipts taxes to
the present day it has been the principal tax collector
of the state, in terms of dollars.

Its influence on policy has varied from time to
time with the stature and aggressiveness of the people
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Groff: making up its membership. It also varies, of course,
wlth the kind of tax being adminlistered., Some are much
more ministerial and routine in nature and call for
few 1f any policy decisions to be made. Others involve
more discretion and exercise of influence on poliey.

As a constitutlonal body elected directly by the
people, they were independent of the Governor®s office
and frequently tended to be at odds with the administration

in terms of tax policy.

Morris: Then thelr staff director, Dixwell Plerce, on an organ-
izational chart would be at about the same level of
influence and authority as the director of the State
Department of Finance?

Groff: On paper, yes, but I think the actual scope of the
functions of the Director of Finance are much wlder,
Not only the revenue and tax collection aspects of state
government, which would be the concern of Dixwell Plerce,
and the Board of Equalization, but the whole expendlture
side of state government, as well, was the concern and
province of the State Department of Finance as the
chlef fiscal officer of the Governor.

Morris: For linstance, in the case of Mr. Plerce and James Dean,
was 1t important for these two to work closely together?

Groff: Oh, I think it would be an advantage, but I don't think
it's of any great importance. I think, again, the
Board of Equalization functions, especlally nowadays, are
much more ministerial. I think in recent years they
haven't even bothered themselves much in the area of

state tax policy.

Morris: That's interesting, because, as you say, they are seen as
sort of ministerial and removed, and yet they can exert a
very lmportant function if they choose to.

Groff: Yes, although ~- as I say =-- it's varied from time to
time. ©Some members of the Board of Equalization are
willing to go out on a limb and recommend to the
Legislature in regard to State policy. But 1t seems to
me that increasingly in recent years they've been less
and less influential in shaping State tax pollcy.

Morris: To what extent does the Board of Equalization serve as an
appeals body? In other words, to me, the concept of
equalization means that somebody in Alameda County, or
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that Alemeda County in general, should bear a similar
tax burden to Imperiasl County. And if someone's
assessment in Alameda County or a tax rate in Alameda
County seems to be unfalr, it could be appealiled

to the State Board of Equalization. | Is this so, and
if so, how much is this appeals function used?

You see, a property tax rate 1s the resultant of the
amount to be expended, dlvided by the assessed value of
the property subject to tax. The Board of Equalization
has Jjurlsdiction only on the second, that 1s, on the
assessed value of the partlicular property to be taxed.
So 1t doesn't concern itself at a2ll with the level of
county expenditures, but only as to whether or not the
local level of assessment of property for taxation is
relatively equal with the levels at which similar
properties are assessed in other counties of the

State.

I think in earlier times, the original functions
of the Board of Equalizatlon were more heavily concerned
with this equalization matter. In recent times, they‘'ve
only been concerned with seeing to it that the general
level of assessments made by counties were on a reason-
ably similar basis.

Ex Officio Responslbilities of Constitutional Officers

Then where does tax policy evolve?

Well, it comes partly from the Board of Equalization, and
partly from the Franchise Tax Board.

Is that under the Board of Equalization?

That*s a separate state agency. It is now the Franchise
Tax Board.

Is that an ex officio board?

An ex officio board, yes. I believe 1t consists of the
chairman of the State Board of Equalization, the State
Controller, and the State Director of Finance. I'm not
positive. They administer the personal income tax, and
the bank corporation franchise tax. The State Controller
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Groff: administers the state inheritance tax.
Morris: He doesn't have an ex offleio board? -
Groff: No, he does that by himself,

Morris: It may be light-minded for me to say so, but 1it's a
marvel the number of ex-officlo boards involving the
same people that supervise the various pieces of the
state financial operation,

I assume that this 1s because 1t has grown over
the years and pleces were added here and added there, but
I wonder to what extent they do check and balance on
each other, and how much 1ls just total confusion? How
can the Director of Finance sit on all of these boards?

Groff: Actually, in terms of time, the Director of Finance
couldn't do it all, It's made possible by the fact
that the Director of Finance willl assign a deputy to
sit 1n for him on certailn occasions, so that he himself
doesn't have to. Even on the more important boards,
not all of the meetings are important. The Director of
Finance will tend to attend the important meetings and
send hils deputy to the more routine ones, and that's the
way it works out. And most of these boards are con-
cerned wlth only occasional policy or semi-judicial
functions -- the day-to-day administrative matters can

be handled by the deputy.

Morris: But when you're talking about the disposition of millions
of dollars in state revenue, this has never been questioned?

Groff; Let's see -- not many ex-officio boards are concerned
with disposition.

Morris: I think of highway funds, because again thls 1s another
of those ex-officio things --

Groff: No, the State Highway Commission 1is appointed by the
Governor. I don't think there are any ex-officio.

Morris: During Warren's years, after, I think, about *'46,
'47, there was an Allocations Board. This was the
Director of Finance, the Controller and the Director of
Public Works. They apparently operated fairly indepen-
dently of the Leglslature -- was thelr function to

approve contracts, or to say "the highway will go here,
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Morris: will go north and south, rather than east and west?"

Groff: That was the Public Works Board. It was not concerned
with highways, but rather with the allocation of the
postwar | employment reserves for construction of
buildings and structures for State agencies. The
State Allocation Board was the one that was concerned
with the allocation of a state bond issue for school
buildings. These bond funds were augmented by an
allocation from one of the postwar employment reserves.
When that money ran out, there were additional state bond
issues, which that board allocated to individual school
districts for individual projects. That judgmental
function was the one that was exercised by this ex
officio board.

Morris: It may be that, as you say, they have primarily a sort of
judicial review function. From outside, it looks like
they have potentially a great deal of power in terms of
decisions on expenditures.

Groff: Yes, those were important decision-mgking functions they
exercised, a2ll right.

Formation of Tax Policy

Morris: That was a side issue from my original question of
"where does tax policy evolve from," and we started
with the Franchise Tax Board and the Board of Equalization.

Groff: The Franchise Tax Board and the Board of Equalization,
yes. But the Governor and, advising him, the Department
of Pinance, exerclse a very important policy-making
role through the medium of the budget. And then, of
course, there is the policy-generating role played by
the Legilslature itself, in both its regular committees
and its interim committees operating between sessions,
and sometimes through speclal commissions appointed by
the Legislature. I should have mentioned, in reference
to the executive branch, the Governor has from time to
time on his own iniative appointed blue ribbon commissions
to study the State's tax or fiscal situation and bring in

recommendations.

Morris: TUsually we've got to overhaul the State tax structure.
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Morris: 1Isn't that the way the newspapers report the recommen-
dations ~--

Groff: [ aughter] Yes, that's right.

Morris: Why 1s thls so difficult to do, to "overhaul the state
tax structure?"

Groff: You've got tremendously important interests involved,
Interests concerned with who bears the burden of State
taxes and to what degree. And those interests have to be
composed and satlisfied or overcome through legislative or
political force, you might say. The stakes are quite
high, also, to the State government. From the basic
standpoint of adequate support alone, the issues are
very important.

Morris: From the point of view of the ongoing State government.

Groff: -~ the fiscal soundness of State government, that's
right. It must see that its tax resources are going to
be stable, but even more than belng stable nowadays,
with the inflatlionary situation that obtalns, it nmust
make sure that State tax yields will expand with inflation,
and will expand commensurate with the growth of the State,
too. They must not be regressive, you see, or lag
behind population growth or inflation in the economy.

Morris: Is there another part to expansion -~ 1s 1t higher
expectations of the citizens for service, or is it the
development of the various arts of government to provide

more elaborate services?

Groff: Well, both of those factors operate, but in terms of
the revenue of the State, hopefully, the tax system can
expand at least commensurate with the growth of the
economy and ideally, it would be hoped to expand at a
somewhat higher rate. In some taxes, a flve percent
growth in the general economy might well produce a ten
percent rise in revenue. Especially if you have a tax .
measure related to profits.

Morris: That would be your business taxes?
Groff: Yes, very frequently a five percent growth in the

volume of sales will produce a more than commensurate
increase in profits, therefore, at a given rate schedule,
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Groff: will yield a larger than five percent increase in State
taxes from corporations. In personal incomes, too,
the rate structure is progressive, so that with larger
income, you pay not only a larger tax, but a progressively
larger tax.

Morris: I'm painfully aware of that.

Groff: [Iaughter] Yes, that's right. So, those are some of the
considerations that go to make problems with the State
tax structure.

Morris: If tled to the level of the general economy and the amount
of revenues, both expected and needed, it must be an
ongoing process. There must be a need for constant review
of tax policies? '

Groff: Yes, I think there is, in the abstract, a need for
constant review of that. It almost comes about because
of the frequent swings in the state of the economy,
the pulse of the economy. You almost always have either
too much or too little revenue., Seldom do you have just
enough., If you have too much revenue, then there is a
demand on the part of taxpaying groups and organizations
generally representative of taxpaying groups, to reduce
State taxes, and that brings about a certain amount of
review of your tax structure. The questions then
become how much reduction, in which taxes: will there
be a general reduction in all State taxes, or which
taxes will get the benefit. 8o, the interplay of those
forces seems to bring about a certain amount of
continual review of the State tax structure -- not
every year to be sure, but every two or three years an
examination of the situation seems to be required.

Morris: Next time we meet, I'd llke to ask you in some detail
about Mr. Warren's role in state finances.,
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VI EARL WARREN AND FISCAL POLICY
(Date of Interview: March 23, 1972)

Issues with Governor 0Olson

Morris: Warren was Attorney General in that four year period
that Olson was Governor. Would he as Attorney General
have had any comments on budget matters, or any opportunity
to develop his ideas in State finance?

Groff: Not to my recollection, other than in regard to budgeting
for his own office. I don't recall any comments or any
influence that he had on the overall State budget
picture prior to his entering the gubernatorial campaign.

Morris: In his budget message in 1943, he commented on several
reorganization studies that were already underway.
They were civlil defense, the Department of Public Health,
the State Guard, which was being studied by the Adjutant
General, and the Division of Forestry.

I wonder if you recall what the problems in
Porestry and the State Guard were that indicated the
need for a review of costs? These sounded like things
that were already underway before Warren took over.

Groff: I qon't recall specifically, but I do recall that there
were differences of opinion between 0Olson and Warren as
- to the operation of the State Guard.

You see, Governor Warren got into the defense
plcture early, as Attorney General. And I gather, from
skimming through Robert Burke's book on Olson's adminis-
tration, that one of the earliest differences between
Governor Olson and Earl Warren arose over the matters
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Groff: of defense.* The split got pretty wide towards the end
of the Olson administration and it became a campaign
issue, yes.

Morris: Well, part of that was the cost factor, too, wasn't it?
The amount of money for salaries?

Groff: Yes, but I can't remember the details of that situation..

Morris: Mr. Killion was the Finance Director in those years and
was from Oskland.

Groff: Yes, about the last two years of the Olson administration,
after Johmn R. Richards resigned. Olson's first Director
of Finance was Phil Gibson, and he served oh, less than
a year until the Fall of '39, when Olson appointed him
to the State Supreme Court. The directorship then
was fllled by John R. Richards.

Morris: Had Warren and Killlion known each other in office? 1In
other words, when they were working together on that
*43 budget, were they already familiar with each other?

Groff: Yes. I don't know what thelr personal or previous
contacts were of course, but they had grown to know
each other to some extent, when Warren was Attorney
General, over budget matters and that sort of thing.

And even earlier, Killion had occasion to contact the
Attorney General's office from time to time. So,
that there was that relationship with Warren as Attorney

General.

Morris: What would the Department of Finance go to the Attorney
General's office on ~-- what kinds of business?

Groff: Oh, legal matters involving State finances. There were
frequent matters arising of a legal nature, involving
interpretation of tax laws, appropriation acts and other
aspects of State fiscal affairs.

Morris: Like on the order of -- 'Is this a bill that we can pay?'

¥0lson's New Deal for California, Robert E. Burke,
University of California Press, 1953.
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Well, not as much that as, for example, °'Would this
method of handling registered warrants be legal?' or
matters of authority over expenditures -- such as,
'Would it be legal for the Department of Finance to
tell Department X that they can't spend the money that
the Legislature appropriated to them for this, that or
the other function?'

And what kind of answers would Warren have?

Well, he or his office would just analyze the question
and give a legal ruling. Sometimes it would be a
written request for opinion and other times it would be
a matter of oral consultation with the Attorney General's
Office. Usually, not with the Attorney General, himself,
but with one of hlis deputies. The other point of contact
was, of course, the analyses, hearings and recommenda-
tions to the Governor on the Attorney General's own
office budget.

Mr. Warren was a vigorous administrator and was
pPressing for ways and means for doing his job better
and for new things. Of course, that required expanding
the budget for his office and that would involve hearings
and conferences with the Department of Finance and the
Governor.,

They would turn down some of his budget items?

Yes, I think the Governor held down his requests,
somewhat. Not very vigorously, because Governor Olson
seemed to feel that the Attorney General and the other
elective officers were entitled to a little more indepen-
dence in the formulation of their own budget requests
than the state departments directly under the control of
the Governor.

Naturally, in a period where the Governor was
trying to effect economies in the budget, the elective
officers couldn't be permitted to be overly generous in
their departmental expenditure demands.

Out of proportion to the other --

out of proportion, that's right. They couldn't get out
of phase with the general tone of the governor's fiscal

policies.

Well, the attorney general's office and budget had taken
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quite a sharp jump, hadn't it? There had been a
constitutional amendment to expand the AG's office in

Y34

Yes, I think that's due to formally designating the
attorney general as the chlef law enforcement officer
of the State, and giving him general supervisory powers
over local law enforcement officers.

Warren had worked for that through the various law
enforcement associations.

Yes, that's right. He had been district attorney in
Alameda County and was active in the organizations for
district attorneys and the administration of justice.

So Mr. Warren as Attorney General pressed for implemen-
tation of that constitutlional amendment through additional
budgetary provisions.

You say that you often dealt with a deputy on routine
matters when you wanted a legal opinion on something for
the Department of Finance., Was there an attorney general's

office in Sacramento?

Yes. There were several assistants and deputies head-
quartered in Sacramento,

How did it happen that the Attorney General was based
in San Francisco?

It's quite historical, as I understand the matter,
and part of the same reasoning that led the supreme
court to establish its offices and seat of action in

San Francisco.

The Attorney General, as far as I know, had always
been headquartered in San Franclisco. I think there was
recognition of the fact that San Francisco had been
the principal place where the legal business in the State
was transacted, at least in the early days before the
growth and development of Los Angeles. Since the
supreme court was headquartered there, the Attorney
General's office wanted to be headquartered there, too.

Of course, it was a better situation, also, because
more important business and more banking and financial
headquarters were there. This resulted in a higher
caliber of legal work being carried on there than in
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Groff: Sacramento, the State Capitol.

Morris: Did it cost noticeably more to have the supreme
court and Attorney General in San Francisco, rather
than near the Governor's office in Sacramento?

Groff: Well, that was a matter of debate and controversy that
arose from time to time when proposals were made to
bring the headquarters of all the departments and
agencies to Sacramento. It probably was, on balance,
somewhat more expensive, but not significantly. There
Wwere other considerations that could very well outweigh
the rather small amount of additional costs involved.

Morris: What other departments had thelr primary headquarters
away from Sacramento?

Groff: The Department of Public Health in the early days was
headquartered in San Francisco, but about 1940, at the
outbreak of the war, they moved to Berkeley. The
Department of Industrial Relations, the State Banking
Department, Building and Loans, Insurance were the
principal departments, as I recall., The State Compen-
sation Insurance Fund, also.

Morris: Was there ever a temptation for the Department of Flnance
to move to San Francisco where all the other -- %

Groff: No, that would have been probably the last state department
to relocate out of Sacramento, as long as the Governor's
office and the Leglslature were in the state capitol of
Sacramento. They all had a close relationship with the

Governor.

Morris: 1It's probably less of a concern now that transportation
is so0 much speedier, but it must have slowed down the
processes of government --

Governor Warren's First Budget

Morris: Back to the budget processes ~- When Warren was elected
as Governor, George Killion from Oakland was Director of
Finance.

Groff: Olson's Director of Finance,
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Yes. And Warren brought in with him, Jack Hassler, also
from Ozkland,

Jack Hassler had been city manager of Oakland.
Yes. And I wondered what sort of --

There was some overlap there. One of the first things
Governor Warren had to do immediately upon his election
was to start formulating his own budget, and he had to
have it ready for the Leglislature by January. To do
that, he had to make an early appointment of his Director
of Finance designate. I don't remember just when Mr.
Hassler reported --

It was December of '42, We've got some clippings on it.

Yes, December, that's it. In the meantime, the Department
of Finance and the outgoing Director of Finance,

Mr. Killion, went ahead with getting the budget requests
in from the departments and giving them a preliminary

review.

Many of the actions needed were relatively routine
and non-policy. The facts could be established
and the analysis made, and matters prepared for decision
on the part of the new Governor and hls deslignated
Director of Finance. That would be under Mr. Killion,
of course.

When Mr. Hassler was appointed, and even before
that time, I recall that there were numerous conferences
between George Killion and Governor Warren to provide a
preliminary review of the situation.

We talked a bit about Mr. Killion's background and how
he ended up in Finance., I wondered if Mr., Hassler had
a particular reputation amongst city managers and
official civil servants as a financial expert.

Yes, he was considered a very able city manager in

city managers' circles., I don't think that he had had any
particular contact or experience in the wider affalirs

of state government, however. Hls area of operation and
competence lay almost entirely in the field of city and
local government.

Would he have been a recommendation of the League of
California Cities?
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I don't know, he could have been. I would imagine that
it grew more out of the fact that Mr. Hassler was the
city manager of Oskland, where Mr. Warren was a resldent.

I don't know whether he knew Hassler personally or
not, but he certainly knew him by reputation.

Had he been city manager for some time?

Yes, for some time. T can't recall how long.

That was the time of the great expansion of the city
manager form of government, wasn't it?

It was active at that time, yes. The city managership
was growing in importance and in professionalism and the
city managers were considered to be for the most part
an able group of men doing a good job in running theilr
cities. 8o, the city managers had a fine reputation for
competence at that time.

And there was an assumption that the city manager
of a clty the size of Oakland would have some competence
and some experience that would qualify him --

Professional methods of governmental work.

Yes. Furthermore, Governor Merriam's Director of Finance,
Arlin Stockburger, had been a city manager. So yes,
there was some precedent in that respect for selecting

a city manager as Director of Flnance.

I'm looking for a line on what kind of a person he
was and how comfortable he felt in state government.

He was sort of an abrupt person. Not many words,

and a man wWwith rather fixed opinions. I think Mr,
Hassler's handicap was that he found it difficult to
translate his local experience into the wider sphere of
State government activity. Also, he wasn't as flexible
in meeting the new situations as he might have been.

The new situations belng the change in the revenue
Picture and the demands on the State government?

The whole picture -- the greater involvement of social
matters and the wider impact of policy in the State
government was something he wasn't able, quite, to
contend with as he might have. Inflexibility made it
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difficult for him to make that adjustment. At that time
cities were not involved with social matters of wider

import as much as they have since become.

Well, one of the issues that goes back and forth is the
city interests versus the rural interests. We've talked
about that a 1little bit and I wondered if a city manager,
given a choice, would opt for an urban solution taken for
an urban area or whether he could be statewide and

impartial.

I don't recall anything that would give a clue to the
operation of that factor.

He again, was director of finance for about a year?
Yes. Quite a short time.
Did he leave by mutual consent, do you recall?

I just can't remember all the circumstances now. He
seemed quite unhappy in the Jjob, but I don't know what
finally determined the decision.

There wasn't really any record of him; all of a sudden
there's Mr. Dean in his place.

Yes. Mr. Dean had been Deputy Director under Hassler.
Mr. Dean was another city manager and was personally and
professionally acquainted with Mr. Hassler.

We've talked with Richard Graves, too, and he told us
quite a bit about the growth of influence of the California
League of Clities in about that same period. And of course,
the League was an advocate of city manager government.

I didn't think to ask him if the League had a role in

the selection of two of their shining lights.

I rather imagine that it was the personal influence of
Dick Graves and perhaps some of his directors and officers,
rather than the League as such. Dick Graves got to be
quite a notable person in his own right in State affairs
because of his position and because of his growing
experience and ability.

I recgall that Dick, himself, was mentioned from
time to time, as a prospect for Director of Finance.

He would have been quite a colorful Director of Finance.
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Yes, I agree.

That's an interesting speculation. He had been the
head of the civil defense for a whlile, as administrative
head.

That would have been during the latter part of Olson's
administration, before the outbreak of the war, I
guess.

He was the administrative head of Civil Defense for
Olson and then he became concerned about the adminis-
tration of the civil defense program; so he left. Then
he came back on a temporary basis for Governor Warren
and had the job of firing all of the civil defense staff
that had been declared surplus. So that he must have
been very much a presence in Sacramento.

Yes, he was.

And concerned with new ideas in government procedures.

Early Studies by UC Interns

My recollection of Dick Graves goes quite a ways

back, to when he was an intern in the Bureau of Public
Administration at U.C. and came up to Sacramento to
make studies of SRA and the social welfare agenciles.

That's right. Were these well received?

I think on the whole that depended upon the individual,
Some of the old established administrators resented
these young kids coming in with their bright ideas, but
some of we younger people in the professional side of
State government rather welcomed them -- found them kind
of 'kindred spirits,' so to speak. They were a good
influence. Dick Graves and Milt Chernin, "Hump"
Campbell, Malcolm Davisson and Frank Kidner were young
instructors, or assistant professors, I think, and they
came to Sacramento, as experts, to do various tax
surveys and administration studies.

Do you recall a little more about the tax studies?

There have been so many of them, I can't focus on which
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ones Malcolm Davisson and Frank Kidner were working on.

I think they were made for the Legislature and
my guess would be that they were for a special revenue
and tax committee chairmanned by Senator Hulse.

This was Sam May's Bureau of Public Administration. How
did he sell this idea to the Legislature?

Well, one of his early efforts was to interest the
Legislature in using the Bureau of Public Administration
to make research studies on problems of interest and
concern td the Legislature, as a means of making the
University in general, and the Bureau of Public Adminis-
tration, in particular, useful, and valuable to the State.
It was a mutually beneficlal proposition because it
provided opportunities for the bureau and graduate students
in public administration and political science to make
meaningful research studies in thelr areas of interest.
And also, it provided research findings and analysis

of use and benefit to the State.

After Dr. May had done a number of these studies for
the Legislature, his bureau became well understood in
Sacramento as a resource avallable to the Leglislature
and to other departments and offices of the State
government and also as a place where people from the
University could be secured to work on some of the
State's problems.

And would most of them just come and do a specific
study and then when they graduated go off into another
line of work, or did many of them come into the State

government?

Some of them did come. In the days of unemployment
relief, there were several people from the University
who assisted the Legislature and the State government

in researching problems in that area, which, of course,
were quite acute. There was a dearth of expertise in
these matters and the State turned to the University for

help.

And people from the University, graduate students
and others who worked on some of those problems,
afterwards came to work for the State in the State
Relief Administration and the Department of Social

Welfare.
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Morris: Would this have been the research that then came back
to the campus and involved a number of publications
on social policy? 1I'm thinking of Emily Huntington.

Groff: Yes. She was involved, too. I've concentrated on Dr.
May and the Bureau of Public Administration, maybe,
because I knew them best; but they were not the only
elements of the University involved in this research.

As a matter of fact, I recall now that Frank
Kidner and Malcolm Davisson probably were not with the
Bureau of Public Administration, but rather with what
is now the Institute of Business and Economic Research.

And Miss Huntington, the people from the law school,
and others from time to time, contributed much in the
same ways that their counterparts get involved now.

But these were some of the early beginnings.,

Morris: You might call it a 1940's effort in relevant education?
Was it planned that way?

Groff: You'd have to ask someone who was more familiar with the
University side of it; however, the initiative came from
the University, I think -~

Morris: Professor May had some very strong ideas, it seens,
that he really wanted a chance to get across in a
meaningful way to the Legislature.

Groff: That's right. In '35, or '37, around in there, there
was this development of management research in government.
It started in local government, growing out of the city
manager movement, but it was spreading to state govern-
ment circles, too. Professor May interested himself in
that movement in an early stage. As a matter of fact,
in 1937, he organized the Western Governmental Research
Associatlon and gathered together people engaged in
institutional research activity within government and
within the universities and colleges.

Morris: Were you a member of this?
Groff: Yes, I was a charter member of WGERA.
Morris: And what kinds of activities did it undertake?

Groff: It was a professional association of governmental researchers
and fostered the presentation, publication and exchange



Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

69

of research, reports and the communication of current
ideas and developments among practitioners in this
developing field.

And I think this involvement of the University in
broad problems of state government was part of that
general movement.

Do you feel that this movement, and the specific work of
the interns, did have some-positive effect on bringing
new ideas into the administration?

Oh yes, deflnitely. Because of the ability of these
knowledgeable people to spend time focusing on a
particular problem, without the interruptions of day-to-
day administrative work, enabled a more fertile
analysis of the problem and better-based solutions

to come out.

That's a good point. Do you think it hastened the
expansion of the State's role in providing additional
services?

Yes, I think in some cases that was true. Some of these
studies were made by the bureau at UC, but similar
organizations at the University of Southern California
end at UCLA were also prominent and active at the

time.

Those studies, I think, in some cases led to the
expansion and development of State government activity
in certain lines. I can't remember any of the specifics
but a run-down of the list of studies of those two
organizations would seem to indicate that the State had
subsequently moved into areas those studies recognized.

I remember the first major project that Mr. Graves
recalled from Sam May's shop was correctional reform, and

Emily Huntington's work was closely related to social
insurance.

Yes.

Further Detailk of the 1943-5 Budget

Which are maybe two areas in which there's been tremendous
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Morris: expansion in state cost and service.

Let's get back to the budget documents, and some of
the specific questions they bring up. Warren noted that
the Social Welfare budget for people needing relief
had dropped considerably, but that there was no comparable
decrease in administrative expense, so that although the
caseloads were down, the Department of Social Welfare
budget was still quite high. I was interested that a drop
in case loads should not reduce the administrative
expense, proportionately. Would that have been something
that was questioned by the Department of Finance?

Groff: I'm sure it was, although I can't remember the particular
circumstances. Very frequently what happened in that
kind of situation was that the department would use
that circumstance as an occasion for insisting that a
better degree of supervision over its operations was
necessary -~ as 1t probably had been contending
for some time. Many times the argument would run that
they hadn't been doing as good a job as they should
have been doing, and that the investment of more effort
in supervision of caseload would yield results in
terms either of better service or more economical
service. '

Morris: Did you have any kind of guidelines for how you could
judge the quality of supervision? This must have been
a kind of thing you had to ask a number of departments.

Groff: Yes, that's right. Well, it was mainly a matter of testing
the soundness of the grounds advanced by the department,
the thouroughness of the thinking that lay back of
thelr requests. However, in some areas objective
standards and comparisons had been developed by the
departments, by our own management analyses, or by other
agencles,

When a department was not impressed by our
counter proposals, often the first retort would be that
the Department of Finance was out of sympathy with the
administration's policies in that department. When
that question arose, of course, the matter became one
for the Director of Finance to resolve on the policy
level -- either directly with the director of the
department concerned or with the Governor, or both.

The staff was concerned with ralsing relevant,
frequently skeptical questions, not with making the

policy decisions.
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That's a good point. Were any departments particularly
feeling put-upon by the Department of Finance?

Oh, it varied with the times and with the individuals
concerned. There was always a bete noir or two among the
departments from the view of the Department of Finance --
those whose requests seemed to be out of line, for one

reason or another, and those who appeared to be inefficiently
run. There were the good boys and the bad boys, but

their characters would change from time to time with
individuals and with the times.,

Bond Sinking Funds

One further question, there is a note that there was
a bond sinking fund established in '43. Was this
Warren's doling? ,

That was one means of disposing of the war-swollen
surplus that was developing at that time.

There was a considerable sum of general obligation
bonds that had been outstanding for some time and it
seemed like one of the first things that should be
done with the surplus funds would be to pay off that
debt. It wasn't possible to pay off the bonds directly
since they had a statutory period to run, so the goal
was to establish a sinking fund that would provide the
money in hand to pay them off as they became due.

A bond cannot be paid off early?

Not unless, by its specific terms, it is made

callable -- with a non-call bond, you have to wait for
it to mature before you can pay it., These State bonds,
at that time at least, were non-callable,

Was this something that developed in the Department of
Pinance that Warren concurred with?

Probably. The Department of Finance, for some time,
had that in mind.

As soon as you saw that the surplus was beginning to
develop?
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Yes, that's right. A part of that debt consisted of the
0ld, so-called funded debt bonds of 1870-73, of which
there was $2,277,500.00 outstanding which the Legislature
had voted not to pay off but to keep paylng interest

at 6 percent. Most of them were being held by the
University Endowment Fund as an investment.

Does that mean that at one point the University had
loaned money to the State government?

No. Let's see., I'm going to read from the footnote

on the bond statement ~- "These bonds are held for the
School Fund and the University Fund. They matured in
1892, but the people voted not to redeem them. By Chapter
65, Statutes of 1893, interest was continued on the bond
and Chapter 533, Statutes of 1931, provided that they be
redeemed out of any money received in payment of the war
claims of the State of California against the United
States. Chapter 606, Statutes of 1943, appropriated
$2,277,500.,00 to be used upon direction of the Director
of Finance on or after July 1, 1945, for the retirement
of this funded debt, provided it is not liquidated from
other sources prior thereto.

It's a long and complicated story, those bonds, but
1t's better told elsewhere.

I found one item in the sinking fund that was several
thousands of dollars, but nobody had ever presented the
bond to be pald.

Yes, those were Indian War Bonds of 1857-1860 in the
amount of four thousand dollars that had never been
presented for payment. Although barred by the statute
of limitations, if they were presented, the Leglslature
was willing to pay them,

Then, there was an additional fourteen and a half
million dollars that was appropriated to the bond
sinking fund of 1943, by Chapter 611 of the Statutes of
1943, for the purpose of paying the prinecipal and
interest which matured in the next feour years, on the
general obligation bonds, which had not otherwlse been
provided for, including the bullding bonds of 1913 and
1915 for state and university bulldings, and the park

bonds of 1927.

And then there were two blg lssues for state relief?
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Yes. The issues of "33 and '34, of twenty million dollars
and twenty-four million dollars, respectively. The
unemployment rellef issue of 1934 was included in the
sinking fund, but not the issue of 1933, which was to

be repald by the counties.,

That four year period wouldn't have pald all of those
bonds, would it?

No.

It was just a prepayment plan.

Prepayment, yes, for four years only. That fund was
increased to cover the whole remalning indebtedness

later -- probably in 1945, or thereabouts -- as part of
the further development of the post war reserves.

Surplus Wartime Funds

There's a question that puzzles me: there's the postwar
unemployment reserves and then there's the postwar
construction reserves. The sums were almost the same.
Was the thinking that postwar construction would provide
WPA-llke employment for people who couldn't find other
jobs?

That was part of the thinking, yes. To alleviate what
was anticipated then to be a potential unemployment
relief problem after the war, by providing public works
employment. The thought was that the State's accumulated
need for capital outlay projects would provide at

least part of this publiec works employment. It was
enticipated that public works alone probably would not be
enough, but that it would be wise, also, to set aslde a
fund that might possibly be used for unemployment relief.
As a matter of fact, 1t was at first proposed as a
disaster relief reserve.

Warren had that as another separate item.

Yes, that was one of the reserves, alright. The idea on
that was that during the war it would serve as a fund
from which the cost of any war-caused disaster might

be met, but then, if not needed for that purpose, it
provided a fund that could be used after the war,
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in meeting possible needs for unemployment relief.

Is that what has come down in the textbooks as the Rainy
Day Fund?

Yes. 8till another reserve was set up to help meet the
needs of local government after the war, representing a
sort of sharing of the State's surplus with the clties
and countiles.

That was the Christmas Tree Bill,, which became sort of
a contentlious matter between Governor Warren and Mr,

Graves.
Right, it also became a grab bag.

That was a ninety million dollar item., Was the idea
to put in a safe place all revenues that were coming
in so that they wouldn't be frittered away?

Yes. That surplus funds wouldn't be frittered away.

The assumption seems to have been that thls wouldn't go
on forever and that lean times would come again, probably
sooner than later?

Yes, that's right.

The assumption on that 1943-45 budget was that the war
would continue through the biennium and then, reading
the '45-'47 narrative material on the budget, the assump-
tion was that the war would be over within that

two year period and that it would be tlme to redirect
that state's economy.

That's right.
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Table I: Growth of California State Budget and Expendituresl

Year Budget Actual Expenditures Population#*
1935-1937 $ 347,313,000 $ 425,345,000 (1930) 5,677,251
1937-1939 46 467,000 528,228,000
1939-1941 557,163,000 562,248,000 (1940) 6,907,387
1941-1943 552,570 ,000%: 510,229,000%*
1943-1945 463,947,005 443,256,000
1945-1947 683,711,000 811,855,000
1947-194 8% 641,599,026 657,726,000
1948-1949 919, 943,000 883,325,000
1949~1950 1,060,187,939 1,054,838,000 (1950)10, 586,223
1950-1951 971,615,944  1,006,339,000
1951-1952 1,016,883,002  1,068,072,000
1952-1953 1,1i85,397,270 1,176,719,000
1953~ 54 1,326,851,805  1,381,400,000

-- - - (1960)15,863,000
1960-1961 2,477,121, 574 2,525,394, 024%%%%

-- - - (1970)20,025,000
1970-1971 4,796 ,888,577  4,876,239,613

1From budget documents.

*Statistical Abstract of the U.S.

##The 1941-43 biennium included $38,706,000 budgeted for unemployment
relief and $1,897,000 actual expenditures for this purpose. State
relief ended by the conclusion of this period.

*¥#¥pirst annual budget. With the legislature's shift to a two-year
session in 1973, it will be interesting to see if the state returns
to a two-year budget period.

**x*Plus $1,543,133,949 expenditures from special funds, which are
included in earlier totals.
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VII POSTWAR ISSUES

1945-47: Postwar Reserve Plans

Groff: I think the Germans were pretty much in retreat at that
time and the Norman invasion was golng pretty well. The
thought was that the European war would be over within
a year, and the Japanese war in the following year.

Morris: Yes. I'm impressed. From hindsight, that was right
on the nose. [Laughter]| I could see that the Departmennt
of Finance could be right there with economic prediction
of expansion of physical industrial plants, or growth
of population and crop ylelds. But to be right on
target with a global military prediction, I find very
impressive.

Groff: That was done in consultation with people who had a much
better appraisal of the overall conditions than did
Department of Flnance people. Mr. Currle, Mr., Dean,
and others ln the department were in frequent touch with
people in the national government and other people in
e position to know,

Morris: Were there federal regulations on how the State monies
were spent?

Groff: No, I don't think so, except for the general price and
other economic controls which were in operatlion then.
I don't recall that they had any specific control on
state governments.

Morris: But that wouldn't affect the Department of Finance.

Groff: No, no, However, the federal government was so much
in control of affairs at that time, that you could hardly
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operate if you were a business or a large government
entity of any kind, without gearing your activities into
the war effort.

This was a new departure during the war years. There
hadn't been that much contact with Washlngton earlier on?
Well, I think it was greatly intensified. In that overall
respect, 1t was a new development.

What federal agencles were the contacts with?

I can't remember now, which ones they were. They were
made mostly by the Director of Finance, Mr. Dean. He

left shortly after Earl Warren went to the Supreme Court,
And then Governor Knight appointed John Plerce as Director
of PFinance.

1945~-47 Budget

In the *45-*47 budget, there 1s an interesting discussion
on the level of revenues under the different wartime
conditions and the relation of state revenues to spendable
income. That led me to wonder, what happens physically

to the revenue receipts as they come in? Do the businesses
pay in the sales tax monthly, quarterly?

Quarterly, as a general rule.

Quarterly. And the income tax comes in annually.

That came in annually in those days.
Then the other kinds of revenues, the motor vehicles --

Well, the gasoline tax, I think, was pald monthly, but
it may have been quarteriy. The motor vehlcle registration

fees were paid annually.
And then the business and francise taxes --

The bank and corporation francise tax, which 1s the
State's corporate income tax, was pald annually, I
think. They may have changed these times of payment
now to even up the flow ©f cash into the treasury.
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Morris: Yes, I'm aware of this concern with cash flow. In the
Forties that would have been very erractic kind of a
thing. The revenues would come in on a -~

Groff: Seasonal and rather an uneven basis,

Morris: Was this part of your responsibility, to keeﬁ track of
this money as it came in so it was where 1t needed to

be when the State needed to pay it out?

Groff: It was primarily up to the State Controller and the State
Treasurer to regulate that cash flow. To meet the
problem, the Controller and the Director of Flnance and
the State Treasurer were authorized to temporarily borrow
monies from the State's speclal funds to meet shortages
of cash in the General Fund-

Adninistratively that was handled by the State
Controller and the Treasurer, although the Director
of Finance was requlred to approve such borrowlngs and
therefore the department monitored the whole thing.

Morris: Was this mostly a bookkeeplng thing, most of the receipts
already in the Fortles came in checks of various kinds --%

Groff: It didn't affect the actual disposition of monies as
they came in the treasury, rather it required certain
trangfers between funds, bookkeepilng transfers.

Morris: Just bookkeeping, I think, would cover a very complex
accounting procedure, wouldn't it?

Groff: Well, it wasn't particularly complex. The borrowling
among funds was a matter of making a bookkeeping
entry debiting one and crediting another, It didn't
involve any transfer of cash or securities or anything

like that.

Morris: Because this would all go through the Controller and
Treasurer and then into banks.

Groff: The treasury cash was actually kept in banks or invested
in short term government bonds or treasury notes. But
the business of having money doesn't mean a large fund
of cash, but rather having what ls needed at the right
time., These cash resources were managed primarily by the
State Treasury with the Controller keeping the accounts
and doing the administrative work involved in maklng
the entries on the books.
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The Department of Finance, as I think I mentioned
before, malntained no books, or records of account,
That was all done by the State Controller. The
Department's job was one of menagement over finances.

And not even of the physical fact of disbursing.

That was all done by the Controller. The Controller
drew the checks and the Treasurer pald them,

Going back to this centinued great revenue surge in
1945-47, I was interested that the rise in revenues,
based on facts as the department saw them, could be
from four hundred and twenty to six hundred million
dollars, depending on the way events developed., And I
wondered why an lmmedliate or soener cessation of the
war would mean a more violent econemic reaction?

Concerns for the Economy

Well, the assumptlion was, of course, that there would be
an lmmediate shutdown of the defense activity; the
unknown had to do with the extent to which the accumulated
constimer needs and pentup demand for consumer products
would taeke up the slack, or what the higtus would be for
retooling and redirection and that sort of thing, the
demobllization of the armed forces and the ability

wlith which jobs could be secured for them. There was a
lot of speculation at the time as to what the effect

of all these would be.

Originally the prediction had been that as many as a
million people would have to find new jobs, different
from wartime industry or, of course, from the military.
Apparently that did not materialize in '46-'47; did it
come along a year or two later?

Well, there were some recessions from time to time after
the war, but I can't remember thelr timing. As I recall,
they didn't occur in enough depth to have an adverse
impact on State finances, at least not untlil after the
Korean war. By that time, I was out of the picture

and Ralph Currie would be a better source of information.,

Another concern was that there might be a rapid use of
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savings which would cause an immediate inflation. Was
this one of the reasons for getting slowly started on the
postwar construction? That seems to have started with
about a thirteen million dollar item for the '46~'47

year.

The postwar inflation was rather substantially under-
estimated, as I remember it, in the early forecasts.

The postwar construction reserves were inadequate
for their job because of the rapid rise in costs of
construction., At the same time, of course, the very
inflation which produced those inereased costs was
producing even greater postwar revenues than had been
anticlipated. So they were able to augment the postwar
reserves out of surplus postwar revenues.

If you got bigger revenues but had to augment your
planned costs, was there any net gain in the State
financial picture?

Well, I don't think there was, because not only did the
costs of the postwar constructlon program rise, but the
costs for the ordinary operations of the State governments,
for salaries and everything, went up tremendously with
that inflation.

There wasn't very much net gain, but I do think that
as far as the State government finances are concerned,
there tends to be a small net galin in an inflationary
situation. Prices go up and the immediate effect 1is
that State revenues go up; but State cost increases tend
to lag somewhat behind the revenues because so many of
these costs, such as school apportionments, welfare
payments, debt service, etc., are fixed, at least for the
short term.

Well, there was also a comment that the use of the
reserves might require refinancing once the reserves
were used up; that some things in the State government
would have to be refinanced. I assume the implication
was at a higher level of interest.

Aren't they referring there, perhaps, to the bullding
program?

I suspect 80, This was the blggest dollar item. This
was 1n the revenue estimate in *45-'47, It's related to

rapid use of savings.
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"Raplid and disorderly liquidation of savings would affect
these forecasts materially, principally because that
development would almost certalnly cause inflation due to
the necessary reflnancing by the government" -- the
federal government, that means.

I see.

" —- and to the competitive bildding by individuals for
a limited volume of goods and property."

But production continued high.

Yes. If savings you see, became liquidated rapidly,
then 1t would mean that people would be selling treasury
notes and government bonds and that sort of thing.

And then the government would have to sell more at current
rates.

Yes, refinance. With savings becoming scarcer, the
interest rates would rise and the government would have
to refinance at higher interest costs.

Thelr own notes for current cash flow,

The government would be in the market trying to buy a lot
of money and that would tend to drive the interest
costs up, you see.

And this would eventually have an effect on State funds.

Yes. Inflationary.

Now, in the things that Warren was concerned about, in
addition to getting the reserve funds moving out to the
postwar construction, he commented that if he were going
to undertake this blg postwar building program, the

State should set up a fire and earthquake reserve because
the State is prohibited by law from carrying insurance

on these. I wondered if you had a comment as to how this
came to be and how the State solved the problem of what -~
self-insurance? Because it's become a blg lssue again

today.

Well, the thought there was that since the State was
self-insuring for these hazards, it would be wise

and prudent to set up a specific reserve of a considerable
amount for that purpose.

Why was the State not allowed to insure?
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Groff: Well, it was felt that the State is such a large
operation it can more economically insure itself. If
it loses a hospital or building or two by fire, it
will appropriate the money to replace them,

Morris: That's a falrly contemporary lidea.

Groff: Yes. Self-insurance was to be accompanied at that time
by at least some reasonable reserve agalnst the
contingencles involved.

Morris: On an actuarial basis -- we have so many buildings through-
out the state and we're likely to have some fall down,

et cetera?

Groff: Even the replacement of large buildings wouldn't have
too great an impact on State finance in any one year.
Money could be readlly appropriated by the Legislature
for an individual bulilding or so lost by fire or
earthquake damage. Of course, if the disaster was
general or widespread, it would present a problem; but
then it would be difficult to insure against that anyway.

Morris: Is this related to a planned replacement of all of the
physical plant for the State?

Groff: No, this was entirely a contingency reserve,

Morrlis: In the Department of Finance you had begun to have a
feeling that the State was not maintaining an adequate
reserve to provide for this kind of hazard?

Groff: The proposition was discussed from time to time judged
to be a prudent use of surplus funds. Usually, in
ordinary times, it's difficult to get the money to set
up a reserve in the first place. It's the kind of thing
you'd like to do, but it has too low a priority
actually to be funded. But when you're in a surplus
situation, it seemed a very good means of sterilizing
part of that surplus and preventing it's being frittered
away on other purposes.

The existence of a surplus sitw tion is somewhat
singular in State finances. The usual background 1is
one of scarcity of funds. But to have an actual surplus,
an abundance of funds, puts a whole new light on the
concepts and the thinking about State finances.,
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I should think it would stimulate‘ideas.

It tends in that direction and it's for that reason that
taxpaying groups and other conservatively-minded
individuals and organizations are very loathe to see,

or allow, a surplus situation to develop in government.
It's much healthier and more realistic,from their
standpoint, for the State to be in a condition of fund

scarcity.

As a chronic condition, it must also have it's effect
on thinking and planning?

Yes, it does.

[Date of Interview: April 6, 1972]

1948: Annual Budgets Introduced

Two weeks ago, when we finlished up, we were talking about
the *45-'47 budget which covered the end of the war
preriod, the wartime economy.

I'd like to go on through the final two or three
budgets that you worked on under Governor Warren. Then

I've got a couple of general questions on some ideas
that run across individual budgets.

The first annual budget was for 1947-48,
Right.
Now, how did thlis come to be?

It was a constitutional amendment proposed by the
legislature, I think, and adopted by the/people.

This is something that the Department of Finance had been
leaning towards?

Yes, they had been advocatling that change. I think
Mr, Links probably covered that pretty well in his interview.

Only that it was a sound finance measure. I wondered if
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the legislative process of getting it on the ballot
and the electlon campalgn, 1f that produced any contro-
versy or discussion?

My recollection was that there wasn't much controversy

or extended discussion of what had been pretty well
accepted by the Leglslature. It was endorsed by the
Leglislative Auditor at that time, with the backing and
advocacy of the Governor and the Director of Finance;

it was well accepted in the Legislature and to my knowledge,
it recelved rather overwhelming voter approval.

So, that would have been approved in what, 1946°%

Yes, it was. It would have been in the November, '46
election, I would think,

How did this affect the preparation of the budget?

I think we had prepared a two year budget, but then 1t
had to be converted to a one year budget. Of course,
practically all of the budget requests were regularly
pPrepared on a slngle year basls, with a total of the two
yearly perlods constituting the blennial budget. So,

it wasn't too much of a job to recast the budget into a
single fiscal year baslis.

I'd like to check your figures against the figures
that I got from the Governor's budget message on the
switch from the two year budget to the one year budget.

The figure I got for '45-'45 was that Warren's
budget request . was $684 million dollars plus or
minus --

That's right, yes.

Then for 1947-48, the first one-year budget, the figure
I've got is $641 million dollars?

That's right.

That I find really startling. I wonder if you could tell
me how this came to be, because that *47-*48 figure for
a one~year budget 1is within ten per cent of the previous
two-year budget. That seems an incredible jump in
spending in one year. In other words, the economy-
minded Leglislature pushed for that slize budget for two
years.
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A part of the increase had occurred in the "45-'47
reriod so that when the expenditures were finally
reported for the two fiscal years of ‘'45-'47, they totaled
$811 million, 800 thousand, as compared to the original
budget recommendations of $684 million, you see.

In other words, expenditures ran over in that ‘45-'47
first budget.

Yes.
And what did the actual expenditures run for *47-'48°7

The actual expenditures in '47-'48 ran $657 million,
700 thousand, which is only $16 million more than the
Governor's budget. That was pretty close.

It still represented about a two hundred million
dollar increase over the actual expenditures of the
preceding fiscal year, '46-'47,

Yes, about a one-third increase.
Yes, from $470 million to $658 millioen.,
Was this inflation in the costs or was this -- ?

It was partly the usual growth in State population and
numbers to be served and partly inflation, but there must
have been some rather large new areas of State expen=-
diture that counted for the bulk of the lncrease.

The governor's budget 1tself, as proposed (the
$641 million dollar budget), represented a $154 million
dollar increase over the expenditures for the preceeding
year as then estimated.

And some of it was not new money, it was some of the
post-war reserves belng activated.

Yes. The Governor pointed out three areas of principal
increase accounting for the $154 million dollar increase
that he had projected.

First, an $85 million dollar increase in payments
to local government. This included a $53 million
increase for public schools resulting from the initiative
measures adopted by the voters in November of ‘46, which
made a rather substantial increase in the statutory



Groff:
Morris:

Groff:

florris:

Groff:

Morris:

Groff:

Morris:

85

amounts of State school support.,
For operating expenses, or for capital?

This was for the regular State apportionment on per
pupll basis. I don't remember the exact figures now,
but it was a very substantial increase, resulting from
an initliative measure sponsored by the California
Teachers® Association.

The second major area of increase that the Governor
mentioned was a thirty-nine and a-half millien dellar
increase in capital outlay expenditures, representing
the appropriation of the first of the post-war
construction reserve funds. And, third, he mentions
$27 million, 800 thousand in operating expenses for
higher costs and resumption of normal peacetime
activitles and expanded services necessltated by an
increased population and necessary replacement of worn
out equipment that was heretofore unobtainable.

Salary Increases

And were there salary increases at that point?

Yes, there were significant salary increases involved
in that postwar perlod.

Were there any breakdowns in those years of what
percentage of the budget was golng for salaries?

In the paragraph in regard to cost factors he points
out that there had been several recent lncreases in
salarlies of State employees to keep the State pay
scales on a par with those prevalling in private
industries, which had been rising rather rapidly during
and after the war.

And he pointed out that of the $122 million dollars

budgeted for salaries and wages durilng the ensuing
fiscal year, $28 and a half million could be traced to

the salary increases granted since the beginning of the
war period.

When was the decision made to make government salariles
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competitive wlth private industry?

This has always been the guiding principle in State
salary-setting. In the Governor's '49-*50 budget
message, he refers to House Resolution #80 of the 1948
Legislature; he apparently requested the Personnel

Board to make a detalled comparison of State salaries
with those pald by private industry and other governmental
agencies,

I think that there was a subsequent statutory
enactment requiring the Personnel Board to report
annually to the Legislature as to the amount required
to make the State salaries competitive with those being
paid by private industry and other governmental agencies,
but that came along later.

Would this mark the beginning of a noticeable increase
in the budget for salaries?

Well, I think it took place all during the war and the
immediate postwar period. It wasn't parallel, lagged
about a year behind private lndustrlies because

first, the Personnel Board had to survey the outside
salaries and once the comparable State salary levels
were ascertained then the Personnel Board had to seek
money from the Legislature to make the necessary salary
increases. So the State salaries always were a bit
behind those of industry and other governmental agencies.
Nevertheless, the same basic rise took place in State
salaries and represented a very material increase in
the cost of conducting State government.

Would increases in State salaries then tend to push up
comparable salaries in industries?

Actually, State salaries followed those of private
industry and other governmental agencies., I think,
perhaps, i1ts most noticeable effect was on agencies of
local government, the small ones. They may have walted
for the State to raise its pay.

In other words, you'd be competing with county and municipal
government agencies?

Actunally, the big counties and clties -- Los Angeles City,
Los Angeles County, San Francisco City and County,
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San Dliego -- were among the entlties that were used for
comparative purposes in setting State salaries.

Was this to please the California State Employees
Association -~ to establish the fact that you were annually
reviewing salaries?

Yes. This pleased them although it didn't satisfy them,
They would advocate the State making an estimate of what
the course of private salaries would be in the next
fiscal period and appropriating the money accordingly,
so that the money would be there to keep State salaries
actually current with those of private industries.

The Personnel Board could then act on the basis of the
actual developments of the salary picture and increase
State salaries rather immediately.

The employees assoclatlion was growing in importance
as a bargaining agency in those years,

Yes.

Fiscal Controls

The main thing that I noticed about the budget of

*48-'49 is that inflation is the thing that begins

to be commented about. This is from the budget document.
That year the budget estimate was up again, to %920_m11110n
dollars in the Governor's message. And what was the
actual expenditure?

The actual expenditures turned out to be $883 million
dollars. About $36 million dollars less. Probably due
to not having expended all that was budgeted for con-
struction.

Do you recall a particular effort from the Department of
Finance to hold down expenditures? Because that year
and the year before, you had less actual expenditure
than budgeted.

There was a constant effort on the part of the Department
of Finance in exercising 1t's current budget control over
State agenclies to eliminate any litems of unnecessary
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Groff: expenditure and hold the level down to minimum
proportions, even though appropriations of larger
amounts had been made. Because, very frequently,
especiaglly in the case of newly expanded services,
the programs can't be gotten underway immediately and
the effort of the Department of Finance i1s to see that
the expenditures are not pyramided -- that is, that the
savings accruing from the lag are not plowed into
an lncreased level of expenditures that require further
addition to appropriations in subsequent years.

Morris: Do you have any kind of working estimates of what the
percentages are going to be of jobs actually filled
from new authorizations?

Groff: They've run studies of that and accumulated experience
as to what kind of savings are made in provisions for
salaries through not filling jobs.

There are two factors operating here. First
there's this matter of lag that I speak of, where new
positions needed for new services, or just for growth,
are provided in the budget for the full year but are
not filled until later, thus producing savings.

Second, additional savings result from normal turnover
in positions =-- resignations, retirements and things
like that. The people coming in are at lower levels --
and there's frequently a time lapse between the vacancy
of a position and its refilling. All those factors
tend to produce a savings within budgeted funds for
salaries.

All these factors are anticlpated to some extent
in the budget through provision for what they call
salary savings, which is a negative amount, a lump sum
deduction so to speak, introduced into the budget as
an offset against the aggregate of the detailed
provisions for full salaries, which otherwise would be

excesslive,

Morris: I was aware of that in recent budgets. When was the
concept introduced and =~ ?

Groff: I just can't remember.

Morrils: Was it your innovation?

Groff: Well, I was part of it., I wasn't primarily responsible,

but this kind of evolved through actual experlence and
was put in gradually, I think, and refined and elaborated

upon in kber years.
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The purpose was merely to remove from the budget
the inherent excess provision for salaries because of the
factors I mentioned. These excess funds are always a
temptation to an agency to use for unplanned purposes,
or pet projects, so to spesak.

I have heard that thls salary savings procedure produced

a response in the departments in that they would

allow for your salary savings factor but overstate

theilr requests in order to provide a cushion for just

what you're talking about -- the emergency needs of the
agency or to provide a cushion for an experimental program.

That endeavor is constantly being made by operating
agencies. It is countered by the Department of Finance
by means of examining which jobs are filled during the
year and 1f the jobs were vacant for an extended period
of time, the budget mekers might propose that the
positions be eliminated from the list of authorized

positions.

It was intended that the authorized positions, the
table of organization, wounld reflect only positions that
would actually be used to conduct the budgeted level of

operations of the agency.

Would these factors of turnover and personnel increments
vary from department to department?

Oh, yes. They would also vary from period to period,
depending upon whether the agency was an expanding one,
a stable one or experiencing a contraction.

Were there agencles that were contracting?

Not very many -~ very few 1ln such a period of overall
growth., There were parts of agencles and a few agencles
themselves where workload was contracting. But, as

you indicate, it was very, very unusual.

That's interesting. Which kind of departments do you
recall as having been pretty stable in your experience?

Oh, maybe certain special fund agencies like Banking,
Insurance and Bullding and Loan tended to grow rather
gradually over the years. Some of the other regulatory
agencies didn't experience the same kind of rapid growth
as the other agencies. There were variations in the

pattern, however.
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I'm thinking of Highway and Mental Hyglene and Public
Health and the Youth Authority as being ones, in terms
of service, that were really expanding postwar.

Yes. They constantly expanded postwar. The Division of
Highways was an entity unto itself as far as the budget
was concerned., They were controlled only in gross
totals as far as thelr as thelr budget was concerned.
They were governed primarily by the volume of highway
user revenues that caeme in,

But they had control over thelr own spending?

That's right. They were controlled internally, primarily.

That seems unusual, given the volume of money that
went through the highway budget.

Still, it was basically money that was collected from
the users of the services and savings there didn't
revert to the benefit of the State's General Fund where
the State's overall financial problem lay. Furthermore,
they had constitutlional and statutory control over theilr
own expenditures.

This wasn't gquestioned by Department of Finance people?

Oh yes. We had perlodic spirited discussions [laughter]
with the Highway people over that.

Who were thelr finance people?
Well, Roy Higgins, a former Department of Finance

auditor, was thelr controller during the years. And
a successlion of directors of public works and State

highway englilneers.

It was Charles Purcell, wasn't it, during Warren's years?

Yes, Charles Purcell, a former State Highway Engineer,
was the director.

What was the nature of your spirited discussions?
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Highways and Other Construction

Well, it amounted to a general debate over the extent
to which the hlghway expenditures should be subjected to
current budgetary control by the Department of Finance,

They took the posltion that thelr mission was to
building highways and to maintain them, that the funds
for that purpose were levied against the highway users,
and that the monlies collected were intended to be spent;
thus, there was no point in holding back on highway
expenditures.

If we have the money, we should spend it -- %2
It wasn't quite as crass as that.
Sorry.

They were always able to point to studies, which were
continually being made, as to the highway's needs and
those studies always came out with a rather substantial
deficiency of resources in relation to the established
need. They malntained that this large excess of need

in relation to finances meant that everything that could
be saved through more efficient operation, construction
and maintenance of our highways was needed to meet
thelr deficiency. There was a built-~in and inherent
incentive for highway people to conduct their
operations efficlently, they agreed. And their other
main point was that those operations were of a very
specialized character and required the expertise of the
highway engineers and economists -- to put it in the
popular phrase, to evaluate -~ and that the Department of
Finance couldn't possibly understand or deal with

the problems inherent to their operations.

Was the question of the overall burden on the taxpayers
ever raised?

Yes, that was ralsed. Bﬁt agaln, 1t was answered in the
minds of highway people by these studles of the needs,

Who did the studies of the highway needs?

Well, there was usually an interim committee of the
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Groff: Legislature. But the Highway Commission itself,
staffed from the Division of Highways, made in-house
studies, too. The overall evaluations were usually
made by interim committees of the Leglslature.

Morris: Members of the Transportation Committee?

Groff: Usually, yes. But, sometimes by citizen's committees,
selected by the Legilislature.

Morris: You never offered to do any of these studies, yourself?

Groff: No. From the standpoint of the overall concerns of the

Department of Finance, it was a rather peripheral issue,
actually. But we did battle from time to time to try to
get a more specific and detalled picture of the highway
expendliture program embodled in the budget document.
That was our more immediate concern.

We felt that i1t was sort of a useless battle to
carry on, to argue the inherent matter of control of
expenditures. We concentrated more on trying to get
Highways to give a more speclfic and more enlightening
pricture of what thelr program was for inclusion in the
budget.

That was a hard enough task because, there again,
they sald their plans weren't developed to any great
degree of speciflicity at the time we had to prepare the
Governor's budget. They pointed out that their plans,
after all, weren't reviewed by the Legislature, they
were reviewed and decided upon by the Highway Commission,
under the law.

Morris: It's very curious. Did you have the same kind of reaction
from the Department of Public Works? Wouldn't that
department have been under the Department of Finance
control?

Groff: Theoretlically, yes. But the Department of Public Works
was overwhelmingly the Division of Highways and tended
to be overborne by the highway considerations, even during
the acecelerated postwar construction of state institutions

and such,

Morris: The dollar amount was actually more in highways?

GrOff= Oh, yes.
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And all the commissions and review boards had sort of
an overlapping personnel, didn't they?

Within Highways?

Highways and the Publlic Works and some of the allocatilon
boards. Mr. Purcell's name turns up on many of them.

Yes., It was overlapping as far as the top management
of the Department of Public Works was concerned, but not
below that level,

The Divislion of Highway personnel seldom was called
upon to participate in the decision-making on the State
public works program, The Director of Public Works,
because he was the Governor's appolntee in the whole
areas of public works, architecture and water resources,
as well as highways -- he, and perhaps his ilmmediate
deputles and asslistant directors were the only ones that
particlpated in the policy-meking on State public works.

I read the other day that because the level of our

postwar construction in California was so great, a number
of out-of-state contractors came in, looking for some of
the business., Was Californias ready to go sooner than other
states on the postwar catching up, do you recall?

I would expect that they were because of our intensive
postwar planning effort., I don't recall any definite
figures in that regard, although the general proposition
of setting up postwar construction reserves, I think, was
rather widely discussed among state government circles in
those days., And California wasn't entlirely elite at

that time; other states did the same thing. How extensive
it was, I don't recall.

Were you travelling around, going to interstate meetings
on that?

To some extent, yes. I attended some of the meetings that

were held in association with other state budget officers --
the National Assocliation of State Budget Officers.

The top men!

Yes. We met annually and there was discussion in that
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Groff: group on the general widsom of sterilizing some of the
wartime surpluses for postwar construction purpeses.

Inflation

Morris: Getting back to the '48-*49 budget, by that time we
were already getting indications that costs were going
up. The thing that interested me most is that, I
guess 1t was Mr. Currie, doing the revenue estimate,
raised the question as to whether these price levels
were golng to be a permanent factor, resulting from new
scales of values., And I thought that was a very perceptive
remark to come at that stage when revenues were so
high and I wondered if this caused some consternation
in the Department of Flnance? What was meant by the
new scales of value and what was the thinking as to
what you could do about it?

Groff: Well, the question annually recurred as to what levels
to anticipate in the way of prices for the next fiscal
period. We relied on Mr. Currie to advise us in that
respect, plus input from the Division of Purchasing, as
to what the probable course of prices might be.

Morris: They would be buylng things on a long-term future
delivery basis?

Groff: Not very much., It was a matter of getting their Judgment
and other judgments that Mr, Currie assembled and evaluated =--
and from the literature from businessmen and from reviews
by other economists with whom he was in contact -- as
to what the course of prices might be,

We usually tried not to venture too far in these
assumptions. We tried to mske them quite conservative
and, especially in the detailed budgets of the agencies
themselves, we usually budgeted on the basis of current
conditions and then set up a lump sum provision in the
budget for probable price increases if the outlook
was for increased prices. You'll notice in several of
the Governor's budgets items, from g million to two or
three million dollars, for price increases.

You might notice, also, that in several years the
amounts provided for price lncreases were not sufficient.
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They were wiped out.

They were wiped out and had to augment later by deflciency
appropriations from the legislature. It was very
difficult to estimate the course of prices, at that time.

Right at the end of the war, we didn't know what
course prices would take, although everybody recognized
that during the war there'd been a certain amount of
temporary inflation, but held in check by governmental
price controls.

Which kept the prices down.

That's right. That was operating; yet, in spite of
those controls, there was a terrific pressure upon
prices during the war and immediately after. And there
was a demand for relaxation of those controls, of
course, at the end of the war,

So, there was a good deal of difference of opinion
as to what the course of economic activity would be -~
whether there would be a severe and prolonged contraction
or whether the pent-up demand to fill in the wartime
gap rather rapldly would result in the driving of
prices up rather sharply.

That whole matter of timing was very difficult
to foresee. BSo, there was a good deal of uncertalnty.

I can see uncertainty in *46 and '47, but now we're
talking about '48 and '49 and prices continued high.
What do you think were the reasons that we ended at a
permanently higher level of prices, and one which has
continued to inecrease over the years?

Well, that really requires a much greater depth of
economlc perception than I have, but my own feeling

has been that 1t 1s primarily because the political and
governmental machinery has not been willing to take the
hard decisions necessary to actually control inflation.

Such decisions have just been potentially too
ruinous, from the political standpoint, to make it
feasible to exercise effective governmental controls.
On one hand government has not been able to refrain
from participating in the economic decislions, therefore
the governmental influences were quite important and
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Groff: quite significant. Yet in making the judgments that
they did make in the economic sphere, the political
considerations have forced some decisions that were
not sound, economically, at least from a long range
rolnt of view,.

Morris: Would this be a case of not listening to all the advice?
Persistently, in California, there‘s been a very hard-
headed bunch of legislators, who did not wish to increase
taxes and increase State spending and reach into new
areas of service.

Groff: Well, I was really referring to the national scene, because
state decisions have a very small influence 1n shaping
the course of basic economle conditions, in my opinion.

Morris: You're thinking of the national scene in terms of
things like interest rates and -- ?

Groff: Interest rates, yes. Even wage rates, the banking
and currency sltuation, the level of governmental spending,
and all those national determinants of the economic
state of affairs.

Morris: These have to do with the money supply, avallablility
and cost of money. I was thinking of something that
Warren referred to over and over agaln in hls adminis-
tration: the pressure from "the people" for expanded
services as an inflationary factor and, in his case, a
wish to use the resources of the State for what he saw
as human needs.

Groff: What was your question?

Morris: Would this be why the costs contlnue to rise, that the
rolitlical declsions were in favor of expanded services.
If you only have X amount of money coming in, and you're
going to spend more than that, like Mr. Micawber,
you're going to get into financial trouble.

Groff: Yes. The constantly expanding demands on the part of
"the people" for governmental services 1s a long term
factor that operates, of course, to increase governmental
spending and, to that extent, may influence inflation.

Morris: We both use "the people” in quotes. Does that indicate
that there 1s some thinking that some public services
are not needed or expand too rapidly both in relationshilp
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to need and the relationship of the ability to pay
for them?

Well, I agree that it's the 0ld question of just who are
"the people?” In the long run, the aggregation of
indlviduals in their homes and businesses are effective,
I believe, in determining the level of public services;
but the rate at which they become effective 1s influenced
very greatly by organized groups. YThe people's"
effectiveness is stimulated or inhibited by efforts of

. organized special interest groups, so that not always,

over a short perliod of time, is 1t the deslires of the
individual citizens (or their agonies) which are in
the direction of these expanded services, but rather
the efforts that are made by the organized groups.
Such groups are very freaquently in the minority, but
are very effective in selling given programs and
expansions of programs to the Legislature and to the

people.

These organized small groups were operative in the
postwar years?

Well, they were always operative. This is a continuing
situation.

Welfare Costs

I was thinking about Proposition 4, on the 1948 ballot,
which produced a big change in State social welfare
organization ~-- and Myrtle Williams came in as the
director in 1949.

Yes. That's right. Her proposition transferred welfare
costs and welfare administration from the counties to the
State and at the same time increased the level of those
payments rather substantially.

This was primarily to elderly people?
Yes, aged and blind, and dependent children, too, I
think. So, that whole expenditure was transferred to

State responsibility. There was quite a large
expenditure difference in the '49+*50 budget.

Yes, the '49~'50 budget was a jump. You mentioned that
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the federal soclal security payments were also increasing
in those days, weren't they, in categorical ald?

Yes. They exercised an upward influence in expenditures
in that area, too. But Proposition 4 proved to be just
a temporary aberration in the course of welfare; it

was reversed in the next election.

Why was 1t an aberration? The principle of providing
public funds for the blind, the aged and the needy
children had been established, and has continued to
be the law of the land.

That's right. The aberration was in the direction and
the nature and the history of welfare, which had been
continuglly increasing in scope and amount and scale of
systems, accompanied by a greater and greater financial
participation on the part of the State, and the federal
government and a smaller and smaller financial partici-
pation, at least proportionately, on the part of the
counties. -

But that more gradual trend was significantly
interrupted by Proposition 4, which took all of the
remainder of local costs and administrative
responsibility and transferred them immediately to
the State, at the same time substantially increasing the
individual payments,

When the correction was made in the next general
election, the administration and division of financial
responsibility returned to about where they were.
However, the higher level of payments established in
Proposition 4 was retained; they didn't dare reduce
those levels to the previous point.

I find it puzzling that this was considered alarming, in
view of what happened over the years. You say the
State ilncreased their amount of money in it, but the
control and administration was shifted to the county.
Now, this is what we have come to in Mental Hyglene
community services and the Youth Authority probation
subsidy program. The early discussion of both of these
began in the Forties, to shift the control of services
back to the community to provide better services to
people, with the idea that the State would increase

its subventions in order to provide better and cheaper

service.
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Of course, most of the welfare programs started
locally, with the county governmments and were administered
and paid for locally, almost entirely.

When 0ld Age Asslstance came along there was equal
financial participation by the State and by the county.
Soon, eligibility standards were broadened and
payments increased to the point where greatly larger
numbers of people became eligible and the burden became
too large for the countlies to bear.

Then, State participation was increased and broadened
constantly. At first, local administration was retained,
but with the advent of State participation came
establishment of statewlde standards, statewlde regu-
lations, statewide policies, which had to be enforced
upon the local government; that meant State supervision
and state review of administration.

The Department of Finance would be pushing for these
things, wouldn't it? For the supervision and standards?

Well, yes, in a gross sort of a way. The specifics, of
course, were worked out by the State Department of Social

Welfare.,

So, that you feel that in the '49-'50 budget (that was
the first billion dollar budget) a good sum of the
increase was due to this additional expense from
Proposition 47

Yes, As a matter of fact, the Governor pointed out in
his message that the budget total included $153 million
dollars of increased expenditure for school and social
welfare, traceable to initiative measures approved in
the last three years. School apportionment increases
went back to the general election of '46 and welfare to
the election of '48, He pointed out that some $88 million,
seven hundred thousand additional expenditures for old
age and blind assistance were added as a result of
Proposition 4 in the 1948 election., In addition there
was about $29 million dollars required to operate the
program between January lst and June 30th of ‘49,

In other words, Proposition 4 became operative immediately?

Yes., It was voted on November of '48 and became
operative in January lst of *'49, apparently.
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That must have been a remarkable plece of inltiative
legislation; most legislation doesn't take effect
that fast.

No, not usually.

First Billion Dollar Budgets: 1949

I have $1 billion, 60 million for the Governor's request
in 1949, What was actually spent?

Well, it was very close again. $1 billion, 54 million was
actually expended in that year, with a six million

dollar difference. Which 1s practically right on the
button.

It's phenomgnal, I should think. Your accounting and
predicting machinery must have been lmproving over the
years.

That may have been more accidental than intended.

Two years in a row?

Well, it got better, yes. That period worked out very
closely.

Did this cause noticeable anguish or was it a matter of
pride to have the State budget arrive at such a sum?

Well, 1t was a matter of pride and a goal on the

part of the Department of Finance and the Governor, of
course. The alm was always to make the budget as
inclusive as possible and to plan in an orderly and
balanced way the dlrection of the State expenditure
program. The alm was to have a workable and

viable budget plan.

The thrust l1n the Department of Finance was to hold
to the Governor's budget plan. The plan was, in thelr
opinion, well thought out and should be adhered to -~=~
recognizing at the same time that there were contingencles
that couldn't be foreseen which had to be met.

Then there was always the unprovided-~for area of
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Groff: legislative special appropriations, Or new programs hot
foreseen in the budget. Those circumstances were also
recognized and accepted as a part of fiscal reality.

Morris: This budget notes that the days of surplus are ending.
Did this mean that revenues were beginning to drop off?

Groff: Well, they weren't increasing so dramatically as they
were lmmediately after the war. The accumulated needs
were beginning to be met and the enhanced growth factors
weren't as significant in the overall picture.

The surpluses, over and beyond those which were
set aside in various postwar reserves, were beginning
to be used up. And expendlitures were catching up with
revenue.

Morris: In those first postwar budgets, there was both a post-
war construction reserve and a postwar employment reserve.
I find no record of a postwar unemployment program; was
the employment reserve used up in the rising costs for

construction?

Groff: Well, there were three principal postwar reserves:
the postwar employment reserve, the so<called Christmas
Tree Bill, and the so-called Rainy-Day Fund reserve.
The postwar employment reserve was the one recommended
by the Governor and established by the Legislature to
take care of the postwar construction program, and to
alleviate anticipated unemployment.

Morris: With a dval purpose to provide bulldings the State needed
and also jobs for unemployed veterans,

Groff: Yes. Here [refers to papers]|, the Postwar Unemployment
and Construction Fund of $90 million was one that was
established by the Leglslature ~- the so~called Christmas
Tree Bill -- primarily for countles and the citles.

That was Dick Graves' great adventure.

Morris: Then there was also $75 million dollars ~-

Groff: That was the catastrophe, or Rainy Day, reserve recommended
by the Governor in his *47-'48 budget message, as a
revenue deficlency reserve in case of a decline of
business activity. In the Governor's words:

"Ten years of deficit finance of state government
which preceded the war provide a costly illustration
for thinking in terms of financial preparedness.
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Groff: I consider 1t to be only a matter of elementary
prudence to create a reserve for the rainy day
which will come if history repeats»itself."

Morris: Warren was ridiculed for this, apparently. I think
it's a charming, sensible, thrifty, American expression.

Groff: That's right. It was opposed -- as I indicated in one
of our earlier interviews -- by those taxpayer groups
and others of that turn of mind, who felt that any
kind of surplus in the hands of State government was
a dangerous thing and would be likely to lead to
extravagances, and lll-considered projects, you see.
So, from that point of view, this was not a wlse
recommendation. They would have far preferred to see
that money retained in the pockets of the taxpayers
by reducing taxes, rather than belng sterillized in
a reserve.

Changlng Tax Rates

Morris: This was what Warren had attempted, had he not, in
tax reduction in the earlier years?

Groff: Yes. Well, the Governor recommended and pushed a
program of tax reduction at that time.

Morrls: And still got this kind of reaction.

Groff: That's right. The taxpayer turn of mind would
have advocated still deeper tax cuts to eliminate all

these reserves.

Morrls: Well, that would presuppose a magical amount of
predictive abillty as to what the lncome levels were
going to be for various revenues. But by 49 the surplus
had ceased to accumulate.

Groff: Yes.

Morris: And in fact, that was the first Warren year that there were
requests for additional taxes.

Groff: Yes. Primarily the reclssion of the tax reductions and
return to the prewar rates of taxation.
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In that budget message, again, the revenue section says
"To meet that billlon dollar budget, present revenues
would be $85 million dollars short."

Yes, but some $64 million of that shortage, he proposed

to be made up by returning to prewar tax rates,

terminating the temporary reductions in the sales,
corporation, and personal income tax rates. Now, that
closed most of the gap, but not all of it, and to raise

the rest of the revenue he proposed rather minor increases
in the distilled spirits excise tax and the parimutuel horse
racing tax, together with a new tax on cigarettes.

Who referred to them as "sin taxes?" Was this the press
or was this the Legislature?

‘Chuckes|] Sounds like an appellation devised by the press
ut I can't remember where it came from. As the Governor
characterized the three sources, " « . « all of these
taxes rest upon luxury items which enjoy a comparative

advantage under California tax law.”

The crime commissions were active in those years and

I wondered if it was possibly a crime commission
recommendation to get at some of the 1llegal activities
by increasing taxation on them and tightening up the
taxation regulations?

I don't think that this was a very significant aspect of
these recommendations.

This would be the last budget that you worked on,
wouldn't it?

Yes. I left the department in June of 1949,
Had the budget been approved by then, or -- ?
Yes, I think so.
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VIII INFLUENCE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

Technical Developments

Morris: Was your Jjob with the State primarily with disbursements
and keeplng the accounts accurate and making sure that
people didn't overspend?

Groff: Well, all except the matter of keeping the accounts
accurate; I had nothing to do with keeping the accounts.
That was done by the State Controller as far as
central accounts were concerned, and by the varlious State
agencles, according to the accounting system prescribed
by the Department of Finance, as regards the day-to-
day operating accounts.

Morris: Did this mean that you worked closely with the counties?

Groff: No, not really. I did have a brief experience back in
about '38-'40, when I was assigned to help a man in the
Department of Finance who worked with the county auditors
in revising the system of county budget-making.

An early provision of law designated the State
Board of Control and later the Department of Finance
as the agency to prescribe the forms on which the
counties would prepare thelr annual budgets, as a means
of establishing a certain amount of uniformity and
comparablility among the countles in that respect.
The Department of Finance did the staff work on those
forms. And I asslisted in that work for a year or so, but
it was a temporary thing.

Morris: I'm interested in the countles' interactlon with State
government. You sald that in setting up salary projections
and possible increases, some influence csme from some of
the larger counties.
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From the larger counties, only because they were among
the larger employers whose salary rates were surveyed

by the State Personnel Board as the basis for determining
what the 8tate salaries ought to be.

But, again, as the larger recipients of the funds that

the State was elther disbursing or passing along from
Washington, I wondered if procedures in some of the larger
countlies were used to establish guldelines or did they
develop procedures that influenced the Department of
Finance in developing its |/ techniques? Or if it went

the other way?

In two general areas, there was interaction. First,

in the specific areas in which State asslistance to
counties and other agencles of local government took
place, there was a necessity for establishing reporting
and auditing procedures that would both serve as a
basis of information on which the State could act, and
insure the integrity of the State funds which were
belng expended by the citles and countiles.

The primary responsibllity for such supervision
of local fiscal procedures was exerclsed by the agencies
which were administering these forms of State asslstance,
like the State Department of Soclal Welfare, for example,
the State Department of Education in the area of school
finance, and the State Division of Highways in the area
of local expenditures for streets and highways.
The Department of Finance didn't have much direct
participation in that kind of supervision: we were
concerned at budget hearings, to see that adequate
provision was made for such supervision and the setting
of standards, but we didn't get into the supervisory
process ltself,

Then, second, the citles and counties, especially
the larger ones, as rather significant units of govern-
ment themselves, were constantly innovating and making
improvements in methods and procedures. We, in the
Department of Finance, because of our general interest
in the improvement of State fiscal procedures, were
interested in what clties and large counties were
doing. 1In our professional association, we were made
aware of what other governmental entitles were dolng
and tried to profit from thelr innovations, and so forth.

What were the outstanding developments in the art of
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public finance, would you say, in the postwar years?

I think a significant development was in the direction

of utilizing larger functions for comparison and larger
units for budget decision~mgking rather than such detailed
and finely divided units. The tendency was to deal with
larger and larger units of organization and larger and
larger functional comparisons depending more on the
operating departments for the finer detail of
decision-making.

On how they actually used funds --

Yes. In other words, a certain amount of decentralization
was taking place in those years and has continued
since.

It was a constant process of Improving the caliber
and methodology of the department managements. And an
accompanying greater reliance on the departments for
control of their own affairs, rather than finely detailed
decision-making on the part of the Department of
Finance.

Did many of your people go out to other operating
agencies and become thelr finance officers?

Yes, that was a continuing process. Professional and
technical staff people from the Department of Finance
were recrulted by operating departments to fill fiscal
and budget administrative positions and, to a lesser
extent, we recruited personnel from their staffs,
especially for our middle level staff,

So that you can have people within the Department of
Finance who have had experience in Public Health or
Agriculture or -- ?

That's right. And if they had people who had experience
in the Department of Finance, it furthered on thelr
part a larger outlook on State government.,

In other words, do I hear that some of the operating
departments did not have budget departments in earlier

years?

That's right. The budget-making was done as part of the

operating function of their accounting offjice Gga%gglly,
as the badget requirements grew more lmportant an e
size and complexity of the agencies themselves grew and
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Groff: developed, budget-making came to be a speclalty. At
first, a sub-specialty in the larger accounting departments
and then, in some cases, 1t was taken out of the accounting
departments entirely and placed in the director's
office or as part of the management and control unit
for the department.

Morris: Did this come about through the introduction of computers?

Groff: No, this actually preceded the introduction of computers,
but was enhanced by the avallability of the kind of
information that computers could develop in the field
of budget-making.

Morris: When did computers first become avallable for governmental
use?
Groff: About '55 or '60, as I recall., Of course, the punch

card and tabulating kind of machines came in much earlier
than that. They came into rather wide use right after

the war.,.

Morris: Did they make any considerable contribution?

Groff: They provided a quantum jump, you might say, in the
technical resources for fiscal operation and budget-

making and budget control.

Morris: For accuracy and --

Groff: And comprehension. The main thing that they contributed
was the ability to handle, economically, large volumes of
data, so that you could get the budget picture --
its aggregations and its analyses -- in more meaningful
form.

Executive Departments®! Spending

Morris: I've got a couple of global things you might want to
comment on. Onhe of them has to do with the position of
Finance in relation to other departments. A number of
people that we have interviewed in this project have
commented that elected officials and legislators come
and go fairly rapidly, while the career staff stays on,

and therefore, through day-to-dag operations, the
Finance staff could, and they felt did, control agency



Morris:

Groff:

108

!

spending that the Finance Department staff felt was
unwise. ‘

Is that a falr judgment? Do you recall occaslons
back in the Forties when the Department of Finance felt
that maybe the Legislature had moved too generously
in expanding an agency program?

Well, the first part of your question as to the extended
control exercised by the Department of Finance ~- that
was a matter of interaction between Department of
Finance administration and operating personnel on one
hand and the operating personnel of the agencies and
the administrative hlerarchy of the agencles on the
other hand. :

Now, those interactions were both intradepartmental,
within the department, the management on the one hand
and the operating agencles on the other, and a bridge
between the Department of Flnance and the operating
agencles. The Department of Finance operating staff
did make recommendations in areas of relatively minor

importance. :

I think there was some influence and declision-making
on the part of the staff, but more importantly and more
typlcallysthere were recommendations for decislons
generated by the staff, but conveyed to the adminis-
trative level of the Department of Finance -- first ,
to the Director of the Division of Finance himself and
through him, of course, to the Governor's level, if
need be.

The Department of Flnance had a lot of influence
along that administrative and hierarchal line, but there
weren't very many decisions of real significance that
were made by the Department of Finance staff itself,
at the staff level. It was mostly recommendatlions to
these higher divisions who then took the decision on
their own responsibility or went up to a higher level,
clear to the top, to the Governor, if necessary.
Frequently, because the operating personnel of the
agencles affected by these declisions knew the origin
of the recommendations, the decislons were ascribed to
the Department of Finance staff, when actually the
decision was made by the hlgher and more responsible
echelons of State government. But it was very convenient,
always, for an agency head who was aggrleved By these

decisions to ascribe them to those pencll pushers in
the Finance staff. We were the scapegoats, very often.
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Morris: Were there occasions when Governor Warren would overrule
or decline to accept the recommendations?

Groff: Oh, certainly. We were constantly batting up to the
Director of Finance and to the Governor recommendations
and ldeas that were shot down, and properly so, because
they weren't feasible, politically or philosophically or
operationally. Lord knows, the Department of Finance
certainly wasn't the repository of all wisdom,., And we
didn't consider ourselves so, although being in the
position that we were, as sort of a managing and controlling
agency, probably we were more opilnlonated than the usual

operating agencles.

Morris: Do you recall any particular instances where Warren
either violently disagreed or heartily responded to a
position the department took?

Groff: I can't recall any particular instances, no. I found
Governor Warren, always, very considerate of the
Department of Finance staff and I thought he gave greater
weight than most governors to our recommendations.
However, in the larger context that he had to keep
in mind, his philosophical orientation was often in a
direction away from that which may have motivated the
Department of Finance and hls greater concern for
humanitarian issues frequently led him counter to the

Department's recommendations.

Morris: As a family or an individual preparing a budget, you
make choices, and the filrst law of economics .is that
there 1s never enough of whatever it 1s to go around,
so you make choices. But what seems to have been

operating in California State government in those
years was more construction of buildings and also more

in the way of services for people: education, welfare
and health. And even from Warren, I don't see thls making
of choices; it seemed to be more a matter of trying to
provide both, to keep moving on all fronts at the same
time. Do these basic economic considerations like

supply and demand -- we have to do something this

year so we'll postpone something else until next year --
do those apply in public finance?

Groff: Oh yes. Definitely. And choices were made. Of course,
the choices weren't quite as agonizing as they have
been subsequently, and had been previously during

periods when revenues were relatively smaller and less
adequate. Because Warren had the great good fortune to be
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Groff: Governor when, for the most part, the State finances
were in very good shape. The State economy was in high
gear, and therefore was producing a rather large anmount
of revenue, so that he was able to make these choices in
the direction of both goods and services -~ facilities
and functions.,

That isn't to say that many difficult choices were
not involved in that process because it's also a law of
economics that there's hardly any limit to the wants
of the individual., That is true of the society,
corporately, also. So, cholces were made and reason
and restraint were applied to the decision-meking in
most cases.

It was a pleasant surprise to the Department of
Finance people to see the balanced viewpoint which
Governor Warren brought to bear upon these humanitarian
measures and activities that we knew he had a very great
personal and philosophical interest in. On many occasions,
he exercised very admirable restraint in implementing
these desires and causes that we knew he was personally
sympathetic with.

Morris: Was the Department of Finance located in the capitol
building when you were there?

Groff: Yes, continually.

Morris: Which means that, physically, Mr. Dean would have been
able to have dally informal contacts with the Governor
if need be? Was this the atmosphere in the capitol in
those years? The Governor would drop in occasionally,
if he had a question, or call?

Groff: Occasionally, but usually it was the other way. He
would ask the Director of Flnance and finance people to

come down.

Morris: How much of State government was housed in the capitol
in the Forties?

Groff: Well, it was a constantly declining percentage.
[Laughter] They were continually moving offices out
of the State capitol building into other office
space, The construction we mentioned -- a lot of 1t was
office buildings -- a tremendous expansion of space.

When I first came to work for the State, a very
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Groff: substantial portion of State offices were housed in the
State capitol itself, and that was the original capitol
building, you know, before the addition of the huge
annex, constructed, as I recall, during Governor Warren's
administration.

Morris: I think so, because Pop Small talks of walking around
the construction and getting dust on his feet. 8o that,
when you were in State government, the Department of
Finance was always housed there in that building?

Groff: Right. I think we were in the same location on the third
floor at the southwest corner virtually the whole time
of my service. We expanded to cover almost the whole
third floor. For many years our offices were right
outside the Senate gallery.

Morris: This is where Alan Post's offlice is now?¥
Groff: Yes, that's right.

Morrls: Would you say that the Department of Finance has become
stronger in 1ts influence on State policy and its supervision

of other agenclies over the years?

Legislative Commlttees

Groff: I don't know. Relative to the total slze and complexity
of the State government, I think its position from
Governor Young's time forward has been relatively
constant.

As a magtter of fact, taking into account the legis-
lative aspect of State government in regard to the budget,
I think perhaps 1t's relative influence has probably
declined somewhat since the advent of the Leglslative

Anglyst.

Morris: That's interesting, that you feel the Legislature has
moved in to exert greater influence,

Groff: Yes, definitely. The advent and the very exlstence of
the Legislative Analyst's office, the Joint Legislative
Budget Committee, with their facllitles and the staff --
they have moved into the executive area of State government,

#In 1973 many state offices moved out of the old capital
due to earthquake hazard.
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operations, to a much greater extent than the Legisla-
ture ever did in earlier days, prior to the Legislative

Analyst's creation.

At first, there was very little encroachment upon
the executive function of the government. But as the
office became established and lts influence grew, there
was more and more exerclse of direction and control
and more influencling of executive decisions.,

Within various agencies?

Yes, but encroachment, also, upon control functlions and
management decision-making theretofore exercised
by the Department of Finance and the Governor.

Is this through the recommendations and conclusions

of the Legislative Analyst's studles, or is this through
the Leglislature actually making more specific and
detailed legislation?

Both. But also through a more subtle involvement of
the Leglislative Analyst and his staff directly with the
operating agencies and the Department of Finance. They
are in frequent contact and exert a current influence
on day-to-day operations of the agencles which is

a subtle, but very powerful, force.

They're actually present ln various agencies?

They're looking over the operating agencies® shoulders,
so to speak, while operating decislions are being made
and there 1s a certailn amount of intimidation involved,
since you know they're going to carry back to the
Legislature everything and anything they can find out,

In a way that the Department of Finance management
studies don't do?

Well, the methodology is somewhat the same, but the
force behind the conclusions resulting from that
methodology is much greater when practiced by the
Legislature than when the Department of Finance engages

in 1i¢t.
Because it sides with the legislature?

Becauge of the legislative function., After all, when the
chips are down, final control over expenditures rests
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. with the Legislature,

Thé result has been, over the years, more detalled
restriction on the expenditure of funds and more burdensome
control over decislon-making embodied in fiscal leglislation.

That's interesting in view of what you sald a little
while ago, that the Department of Finance had developed
techniques whereby declisions could be made on the larger
units of function and expense.

Well, this growth of the influence of the Legislature
in general, and the Leglslative Analyst in particular,
on decision-making has taken place alongside of this
other development and trend towards decentralization
and toward the conduct of operations in larger units.

Did the Legislature do this intentionally or was it
something that Just evolved?

It has evolved, although the legislatures generally have
had a bullt-in tendency to encroach on the executive
branch to the extent that they can,

They have been hindered in the past, partly by the
lack of supporting staffing units of various kinds,
fisecal and otherwise. Prior to their advent, legislatures
were inhibited to a considerable degree by a lack of
detailed knowledge, they just couldn't be effective
except in isolated instances.

But now, they're providing themselves with these
staff agencies who furnish them with detaliled and current
information and act as an on-site arm of the Legislature
which meanders out into the operating agencles --

That's interesting because the idea of providing staff
to the Legislature originated as a way for legislators

to do their Jjob better and --

That's right, a sound development from that standpoint.
But like other sound developments, it can be perverted.

Thoughts on Reorganigzation

Dick Graves sald that at one point -- I don't know whether
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it was he personally or one of the League of Californiag
Citles studies ~- he recommended the whole machinery of
the State government be reorganized to put the Department
of Flnance on an organizational level gbove the operating
agenclies with the intent that the Department of Finance
could then speak with greater authority as the voice of
the Governor on fiscal matters. I wondered if this ides
had been discussed at all in State government and within
the department and what happened to 1it?

Yes. Well, that represents the "state manager" concept
of the role of the Department of Finance -~ being kind
of a superagency. There®’s a good deal of soundness in
the concept, in my opinion. The Department of Finance
in its present and historic function has been more

than the ordinary department because 1t's been in the
position of exerclising a certain amount of control and
management supervision over the other departments;

and yet structurally, it has been on the same level as
those departments, so that it represented a matter of
one department telling another co-equal department what
to do, in respect to its financlal and business affairs.,

The concept has been that the Department of Finance,
insofar as it 1s telling other departments how to operate,
is actually acting for and in the name of the Governor.,

And it's been the support and the power of the
Governor that has made those supervisory activities or
the Department of Finance viable and practical. But
there i1s this structural handicap, you might say, upon
the Department of Flnance through belng just one among
the State agencies.,

Did the League of California Cities ever make this as
a public suggestion?

I think that it has, although probably the suggestlon was
made by that organization as part of a larger study in
which the League of Cities had been one of a number of
organizations called upon to render advice and consul-
tation, along with the County Supervisors Association,
the State Chamber of Commerce and similar groups.

Yes, they do work rather closely together.

There have been frequent examinations of State government
in which such organizations have been called upon
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Groff: to glve recommendations.,
Morris: Who are they called by?

Groff: Sometimes the Governor, but more usually either a
committee of the Legislature or a commission appointed
either by the Governor or jointly by the Governor and
the Legislature. A number of these State government
reorganization efforts have been made from time to time,
over the years.

Morris: We 4id come to superagencies, but I don't recall ever
hearing, in recent years, this idea of the Department
of Flnance as an umbrellas kind of agency. Was there
ever any movement to bring this into being?

Groff: There've been a number of these recommendations in which
the Department of Finance has been variously reconsti-
tuted. In some cases it's been a matter of meking the
Governor more the political, ceremonigl and titular head
of the government and delegating the management aspect
of the executive function to a state manager who
would take over the control functions of the Department
of Finance, The Department of Finance would then become
staff agency to that State manager. That would
fundamentally change the character of the office of
Governor. It would take the day-to-day administrative
functions away and he could be more concerned with the
policy making and "head of state" concerns. It amounts
to application of the "city manager" concept to State

government.

Morris: There would probably be political objects to that.

Groff: Yes, that'’s right., The other main line of reorganization
proposed has been to transfer the budget and management
anglysis functions of the Department of Finance to the
Governor, to be exerclised as g direct arm of the Governor's
office., This would be something like the relationshlip that
exists in the federal government, where the Bureau of
the Budget, now called the Office of Management and
Budget, is part and parcel of the President's office.

Of course, most of the operating functions of the
Department of Finance now have been transferred away
from it. The control over purchasing, printing and offlce
space and all those other housekeeping activities and
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functions, formerly part of the Department of Finance,
have been reassigned to the Department of General
Services. The Department of Finance is left in the
position of being concerned with the functions of budget-
making, management studles and management audit. The
post-audit function was also taken away from the Depart-
ment of Finance some years ago and recaptured by the
Leglslature, where it 1s exercised by the Legislative

Auditor.

The Department of Flnance was thus left with only the
internal audit function, usually considered to be a
proper responsibility of the executive branch. That
function has since been transferred to the Department
of General Services.

When was the Department of General Services established
as a separate entlty?

Oh, during Governor Brown's administration,

So, it sounds as if there héd been various attempts to
keep the Department of Flnance from becoming too efficient.

Well, from becoming all-powerful and all-pervasive.

It wags felt that it was difficult for the director of
finance to be at once the operator of extenslve house-
keeplng services and at the same time be responsible for
planning and managing the financial and business concerns
of State government.

It emerges as kind of live organism growing and
contracting in responsibllities. How did you happen to
leave the Department of Finance and come to the University?

Had you a life master plan?#¥

Not really. It seemed to be an interesting and challenging
opportunity at the time. I'd been responsible, when I

was on the budget staff, for the education budget, including
University and state colleges.,

S0, you were already familliar with academic finance?

Yes. I always have had a substantial interest in that

gside of governmental affailrs. The opportunity of working
for President Sproul snd wlth Jim Corley appealed to me.

The other, more personal conslderation was that the constant
pressure of the State budget was getting rather over-
whelming and it was what I thought to be an opportunity

¥Mr., Groff Joined the University of California staff
in 1949,
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to get into a more cloistered sphere of activity
"laughter]. University life rather appealed to me from
hat standpoint. It proved to be quite a delusion on
ny part, as events turned out.

On the State budget pressure, this gives me an image that
you no sooner get one budget passed by the Legislature,
than you have to start the preliminary work for the
next, and that each year got more complicated.

Yes. And actually it got to be almost an overlap,

working on a coupde of budgets-at the same time --

the period of preparation got to be so long and the period
of legislative consideration so extended --

That hasn't changed!

It*'s gotten worse, actually. ELaughter] In the case of
this last budget, by the time they'd prepared the budget,
and had to go to press, they didn*t have all the final
legislative declsions,  Couldn't even give a complete
record of what the Leglislature had appropriated.

They*ve had to put through supplements to the Governor's
budget to take into account those final decisions,

That's interesting. You wonder if it's possible to, at
some point, begin a reverse swing of the pendulum,

when things become s0 involved that you can't complete
one task before the next one is upon you. Which in a way
is the Legislature's problem.

Yes. It has been a prime offender in recent years in

that area. They've gotten farther and farther behind

and seem to require a more and more extended period of time
before they arrive at a budget decision

Is it poséible, do you suppose, to bring about any
major turnaround in a public agency or in public
operations?

Theoretically, yes. But practically, perhaps, very
difficult. It should be possible, goodness knows, for
the Legislature to make a decision on the budget long
before the end of the current fiscal year. But they don‘t
seem to be able to do that; the more they have become
fulltime, the more staff and facllities are provided

to them, the more difficult it becomes, seemingly, for
them to arrive at decislons.
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Morrils: I hope we'll be able to talk about your work at the
University at a later date. It would be something of
value to our University history archives. Your title
here was contracts officer?

Groff: Yes. I was Aséistant to the Director of Contracts and
Grants when I retired.,

Morris: So, this would tie you again into what was happening
at the federal level in terms of higher education.

Groff: Yes, although my service in that area has been too
recent to furnish any hlstorlcal perceptions.

[End of Interview]

Transcribers: Gloria Dolan
Marilyn White

. Final Typist: Gloria Dolan
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

George Killion was interviewed in order to document the transition
from Culbert Olson's administration to Earl Warren®s leadership
for the Reglonal Oral History Office's study of Californis state
government in the 1940s and 1950s.

Conduct of

the Interview: A single interview was held on March 1, 1973,

in Mr. Killion's airy contemporary office high

in the Bgnk of America building with a sweeping
view of San Francisco Bay and the city's financial
district.

As Democrat Olson's director of finance, Killion
supervised the preparation of the blennial state
budget presented by Republican Warren only days
after beilng sworn in as governor of California in
1943, This dualistic position is characteristic
of Killion's long business and public career and
enables him to take a pragmatic view of shifts in
economic and political conditions.

Looking back from this vantage point, he recalls
effective cooperation with District Attomey
Warren on a county bond issue as a young publicist
in Oakland. While representing Oskland-based
Safeway Stores, he became acquainted with then-
senator Olson during a controversy over milk
pricing policy between cooperative and corporate
marketers, later working on Olson's gubernatorial
campaign and then becoming the governor's press
secretary.

Killion became Olson's third director of finance
in 1940, after a series of well-reported, abrasive
incidents involving the governor, the legislature,
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and the State Relief Administration., Attractive,
agreeable and diligent, Killion seems to have been

a welcome buffer between some of Olson's more
outspoken assoclates and the established legislative
leadership. Not only did he win the approval of
such Republlcan powers as Senate Flnance Con-

mittee chalrman Edward Tickle, but also the
heartfelt thanks of Warren staff persons for
involving them in the budget process to an

extent they refer to as beyond the call of duty.

He is one of the few individuals interviewed in
this serlies to speak directly of power as a factor
in public life. Asked about the impact of his
tenure as dlrector of flnance, he replied:

For the flrst time, I was able to see the
public with different eyes because I had
the power to do something about it. In
life, if you're going to accomplish
anything which you hope 1s for the good,
you must have the power to do it. Either
the power of public office or the power of
money . :

Although the Olson administration was the center
of much dissension in California, lts national
credentlals were such that Killion served as
asslstant treasurer and treasurer of the
Democratic National Committee in 1944-1947, The
interesting development of government-~sponsored
corporations during World War II led to his
appointment as president of American President
Lines, a post he filled wlth vigor and satisfaction
until 1966, contributing a significant chapter,
as yet incompletely documented, to the history
of the Bay Area shipping industry.

In 1954 and 1958, when California Democrats were
recouping from long years of Republican victoriles,
there was considerable interest in Killion running
for governor. A selection of materials on his
candidacy appears in the appendix. Returning

to national affairs, he assisted President Kennedy
in the early 1960s. His listing in Who's Who
contains considerable other corporate and public
service activity, much of 1t related to communi-
cation, which he underlines as vital to the
successful outcome of human affairs. He has
continued to be at ease in bipartisan situations,
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serving as chairman of Democrats for Nixon in
1972,

Mr. Killion reviewed the edited transcript,

meking various revisions that show the hand of

a tralned reporter conscious of digression or
possible mlsinterpretation, At a further

meeting on September 29, 1973, he went through
his desk file to select photographs of signhificant
events in his and the nation's life for use as
illustrations. Chattling about events of the day,
he decided to add a brief statement, which
appears at the end of the present manuscript,
summarizing his concern for the need for reformm
in the Judicial system and political fund-ralsing,
and for greater responsibility of the news media.

Gabrielle Morris
Interviewer-Editor

29 November 1973

Reglonal Oral History Office

487 The Bancroft Library

University of California at Berkeley
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I PERSONAL BACKGROUND
[Date of Interview: March 1, 1973.]

Colorado Boyhood

Let's start with your childhood years, your move to
California and how you began your lnterest in the
varied political and business achlevements which have
marked your career., Who's Who says you were born in
Colorado.

I was borm in Steamboat Springs, Colorado, which 1s
roughly elghty miles northwest of Denver. My father

~had the pioneering spirit as a young man. He crossed

the plains from Springfield, Illinois, decided to stay
in Steamboat Springs, and began his Western career

as a cowboy. Later he bought a ranch outside of
Steamboat Springs, and at the same time opened a
drugstore in town. His parther ln the store was Dr.
Ben jamin Jefferson.

Dr. Jefferson was the physiclan who brought me
into this world. He was a cousin of President Woodrow
Wlilson. When he was nominated to be minister to
Nlcaragua, he and my father, of course, dissolved the
partnership in the store. ‘

As a youngster, I spent most of my time on the
ranch. I fished and rode and punched cattle.

What a wonderful life for a young man!

It was, and often over the years I have wondered 1f T
used good Judgment in leaving the ranch. But, as you
know, events and thelr influence on us really shape

our ultimate destiny, and there isn't much you can or
perhaps should do about it. That's what 1life is really
all about.



Killion:

Morris:

Killion:

Killion:

Morris:

Killion:

Spending my youth on a ranch certainly has given
me physical endurance and a mental serenity which have
helped me in difficult times, and glven me a joy in
living 1ife to the full no matter whether the going
becomes difficult or easy.

You know, we had a trout stream on the ranch,
and there were grouse and sage hen -- all kinds of game.
I had a good life as a boy, and I've had a good life
ever since, certainly a life which has been and contilnues
to be filled with challenges, and that I like.

How did you happen to leave Colorado?

My mother's health was not good, and my father decided
she would be helped by a more equitable climate. He
chose San Diego, and there we went.

I had my primary schooling in Colorado, and when we
came to San Diego I wasn't sure whether I wanted to go
to work or college.

I attended the Unliversity of California in
Berkeley for a time and then the University of Southem
California in Los Angeles. I met a friend who was city
editor of The San Diego Sun. He asked me, "Why don't
you go to work on a newspaper?” I saw this as an
opportunity to continue my education, to learn about
people, to learn how they succeed and why they fail,
and how they adjust to elther victory or defeat. So
I went to work for The San Diego Sun, and for the next
ten or twelve years I was a newspaper reporter.

Reporting Lindbergh's Paris Flight

As I look back on that period in my 1life, the highlight
was covering the take-off of Charles Lindbergh for his
historic flight to Paris.

How exciting! I had forgotten he began the flight in
San Diego.

Yes, he did. Newspaper salaries in those days were not
as hligh as they are now; I was given permlission by the
paper to augment my salary by taking public relations jobs.
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One of these Jobs involved the Ryan-Mahoney Aircraft
Corporation. One day T. Claude Ryan, head of the firm,
recelved a telegram from Captain Charles A. Lindbergh
asking him if the company was capable of constructing
a plane with a gasoline capacity sufficient for a non-
stop flight from New York to Paris ~- specifically from
Roosevelt Field, Long Island, to the French capltal.

Mr. Ryan replied in the affirmative, and Lindberg

came to San Diego to supervise construction of the ship,
"The Spirit of St. Louils," which now hangs from the roof
in the Smithsonian Institution in Washington.

He must have been a remarkable man.

He was, and he still i1s. Although I have not seen him
in many years, the whole world has followed his career
as the innovator of transoceanic flyling, and as a
sclentlist in other flelds.

Did he actually design "The Spirit of St. Louls?"

He was at the plant every hour of every day while the
plane was being built. The frame of the fuselage
rested on two wooden horses. Lindbergh, or "Siim,"

as everyone called him, would walk around the skeleton
of the ship, inspect it in detall, make suggestions, and
confer with the engineers. He did considerable flying
in other planes at San Diego while he was walting for
his own to be completed. We became close friends, and

I often flew with him.

He was a dare-devil pilot but an unusually capable
one. There 1ls an old sayling that pilots of Lindbergh's
abllity flew by the seat of thelr pants, meaning they
knew preclsely the capabllities of thelr alrcraft,
the stress it could take and never pushed 1t beyond
that point.

I remember one time he borrowed a small Hamilton
watch which I had bought for $60 on a $25-a~-week
salary. Just before he flew out of San Diego, I sald
to him, "Slim, I have complete failth in your ability
to cross the Atlantic, but could I have my watch back?"
[Laughter| He handed me the watch and shortly thereafter
began the first leg of the ailr Journey which was to
bring him non-stop across the Atlantic, I have the
watch at home, Now I wish I had walted until his
triumphant return to this country before asking for
its return.
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It would have been quite a souvenlir -- the first watch
to have been carried by ailr, non-stop from New York to

Paris.

True == but I have many splendid memories of ny
relationship with Lindbergh at that critlical period
in his career.

Various Forms of Publlc Relatlons

What brought you to the Bay Area?

While I was 1n San Diego, I became assoclated with a
public relations firm which handled the Community
Chest. My Jjob consisted of working wlth a team to

pPlan and execute the fund-raising program for the Chest.
I enjoyed raising money for the Chest, and still enjoy
ralsing money for charitable causes or persons seeking
public office whose programs are in line with my
beliefs.

The public relations firm in San Diego expanded
its Community Chest activities to Long Beach and
Ogkland. I was offered the job of head of the Oakland
office, and I accepted. I left Ogkland to become city
editor of The Sacramento Union. I might point out
that nothing in the newspaper business is quite so
challenging, quite so valuable an experience as
working in the capital city of any state, with the
legislature and the governor and the whole machinery
of government to be observed, appralsed and written
about. Subsequently I decided to return to Oakland
where I opened my own public relations office, operated
it successfully for several years, and then accepted a
Job offer from the J. Walter Thompson advertising

agency.

If T had to plck one major turming point in my
life, it would be my assoclation with this agency, for it
was during that period of employment that I met the
president of Safeway Stores.

Who was the company president at that time?
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Mr. L. A. Warren. He still lives at his home in
Hillsborough., Mr. Warren and I met fregquently in the
course of business. He asked me to joln the Safeway
organization, and I was glad to accept a position as one
of his assistants. Among other duties, I was assigned

to handle the company's legislative affalrs in Sacramento.

The first plece of leglislation with which I was
concermed lnvolved the price consumers had to pay for
milk., Safeway felt that persons who went to a
grocery store, pald cash and carried thelr milk home,
should be the beneficlaries of the saving to the seller
of delivery and credit costs. As I recall, we estimated
the differential at between five and ten cents a quart.
That would be a slizeable saving to the consumer even
in these days.

I would remind you that milk prices in California
are fixed by a state board. Hence a real legislative
battle ensued. In the course of the controversy, I
became acquainted with Governor Olson, then a state
senator.

Olson agreed with the chain store reasoning in
favor of the consumer and became a strong advocate of
the legislation., I admired his stand, wholly apart
from my own position as a pald advocate, and we became
close friends. Incidentally, I still feel the housewife
who pays cash and is her own grocery boy deserves a
price break.

Well, one day Olson told me he would be the next
Democratlic candidate for governor. I assured him he
could count on my support, and that I would be able to
work in his campaign with Safeway's approval. I had
had the experience of raising money for the Community
Chest, and I went out and raised a considerasble amount
of money to help defray the cost of Olson's campaign.

You know, there 1s only one way to raise money for
a cause or a candidate, and that 1s to ask for it.

And people will give it to you?

They certainly did in the Olson campalgn. The voters glve
money in a campalgn for a variety of reasons. They
sincerely bellieve thelr candidate is the best man for

the job, and for the state or nation, as the case may
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be; they act from a deep conviction and not in the hope
of receilving favors. Then there are those who give
because they want those favors. And there are others
who contribute as a sort of status symbol. They like

to tell their friends they were instrumental in electing
a person to high office.

Then your campaign fund-ralsing for Olson wWas a success?

It was. A major factor which helped was that I think
the people were ready for a change at Sacramento, and
they were in the mood to bring that change about by
contributing to the campaign.

Olson had established a record as a state senator
of fighting effectively for what the people wanted.
He was a forceful speaker, and a handsome man with a
shock of gray hair. Here l1ls his picture in this book.*

With your candidate elected governor, dld you continue
to be active politically?

The governor-elect asked me to come to Sacramento to
have lunch with him. In the course of our dlscussioen
that day, Olson asked me if I would prepare a draft of
an inaugural address for him. I told him I would be
glad to.

I secured copies of all of the lnaugural speeches
I could find ~- those of Hiram Johnson, Frank Merriam,
C. C. Young, and PFriend W. Richardson. I read them all
and took off for Pebble Beach where I would not be
interrupted. Keeping in mind his philosophy of what
state government should be, I wrote and rewrote, and
finally turned out an address which I felt reflected
the man and his ldeas.

As I listened to the new governor mgke his
inaugural speech, I was gratified to find that although
he had made many changes in the draft I had prepared,
he left untouched most of my phraseology and the policy

*Who's Who In The National Democratic Party. Complled |
by V. E. Thurman, Published by the National Democratic
Historical Society. 1940,
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thrust of my manuscript. My work must have pleased
the governor, for he asked me to be his secretary. I
thought over the offer for a time, and accepted. I
declided being the governor's secretary would be more
stimulating than remaining in the chain store business.

Before I gave Governor Olson my answer, I talked
it over with Presldent Warren of Safeway. I told him
what I wanted to do, and he saild to me, "Well, George,
if you want a leave of absence to be the governor's
secretary, you have my blessing." That was in 1939
and, as a matter of fact, I'm still on leave.

You never formally severed your relationship with
Safeway?

No [laughter]. I mentioned the fact one time to
Quentin Reynolds, who was then president and board
chalirman of Safeway, and he sald, "Why don't you drop
by the office and see 1f we owe you any money?"



IT EARL WARREN AS DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Morris: Going back to your early days in Oskland, did you have
any contact with Earl Warren, then Alameda County
District Attorney?

Killion: Yes, considerable contact. For example, there was
agltation among Warren, the judges, and the buslness
community for a new courthouse. The o0ld one in which
they worked -- it was located on lower Broadway -- had
been bullt twelve or fifteen years after the Civil
War. It was a completely outmoded structure. A
proposal to build a new one was voted down principally
because 1t was one of many expenditure proposals placed
before the people and, as you probably know, when the
voters have too long a ballot, many a worthy cause is
lost simply because of the length of the ballot.

Well, Warren and a man by the name of Sherwood
Swan, who still has a department store in Oakland
called Swan's, asked me if I would conduct a campaign
for a speclal election with Just the new courthouse
proposal on the ballot.

I told them, "Right -- I'1ll do it." I prepared the
language for a petition and hired a number of solicitors
to collect the required number of signatures for such
an election. I've forgotten the exact number needed,
but say the figure was a hundred and fifty thousand.
When we had obtalned all the signatures we needed to
give the board of supervisors authority to call a
speclal election, Mr. Swan and I bundled up the
petitions, went to Warren's office, and placed them on
his desk, Mr. Swan, a remarkable man in many ways and
a person of unquestioned integrity, sald to Warren, "Here
are the required 150,000 signatures. And more,
too., If you want to, you may count them, but we swear
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there are a minimum of 150,000."

Warren looked at the bundle, smiled, and said,
"I*11l take your word for it."

I assume the newspapermen were present.

They were. As a matter of fact, the newspapers supported
the proposal for a new court house to be financed by a
bond issue. The Oakland Tribune, the Berkeley Gazette,
the Alameda Times~Star -~ all the papers were with us,

an essential asset in any campaign. Warren, Mr,

Swan, and I made speeches all over the county, and so
did many others whose opinions were highly influential

in the community. And we won the bond lssue proposal
going away, as they say in horse races.

I have seen the courthouse many times. It is a handsome
structure in the classical manner. I am glad to know the
story of its origin. Did the merchants contribute to
the cost of the campalilgn?

With the methods we employed, there was little
difficulty in obtaining money to take care of the
campaign costs.

Was Mr. Swan a contributor?
The merchants were among the large contributors. As

I recall, BEarl Warren was a contributor, and so was the
late Joseph Knowland, publisher of The Oakland Tribune,
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IITI WOBKING WITH CULBERT OLSON

New Deal Concepts

Going on with your work with Governor Olson -~ before
I turned on the tape recorder, you were telling me your
observations of the differences between our two major

parties.

During the Olson period, it was clear that the Democra-
tic party was more oriented than the Republican party
to the social needs of the country. The Republican
party was regarded as the party of big business.

It was Governor Olson, for example, who brought the
New Deal to California., He was an intimate of President
Franklin D. Roosevelt, and during his administration
he made numerous trips to Washington to confer with the
President. Llke Roosevelt, Olson espoused the cause
of what we are accustomed to call the little man, the
man who has no one to speak for him. But with the
pPassing of time, both major parties are in tune with
the social and economic needs of the people, and both
parties seek to improve these conditions.

Were Roosevelt and Olson acquaintances in political
campaigns?

Definitely. Olson backed the programs of Roosevelt
when he, Olson, was a state senator. I bellieve it was
when Roosevelt was nominated for a third term that
considerable support developed for Olson as his running
mate.

I was a delegate to that 1940 Democratic National
Convention in Chicago. I remember going back on the
train, there were a number of congressmen on board --
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Helen Gahagan Douglas and her husband Melvyn Douglas -~
and they were all for getting Governor Olson on the
ticket. But when we got to Chicago, the Eastern

wing of the party applied overwhelming pressure, and
they succeeded in nominating Henry Wallace for Vice-
President.

Was this because they did not think a candidate from the
Far West would help the ticket?

That was part of it. Governor Olson was a relative
newcomer in a title role on the political stage in
Californla, and thus in the nation.

As I read about the Olson administration in California,

one phase I find historically interesting 1s the rise

and fgll of his program of cooperatives. Would you explain
that to me?

Certainly. California was and 1s the largest state in
the production of agricultural goods -- all the way from
raw products such as lettuce and grapes to processed
food, which appears in our larders in canned and packaged
forms.

You will recall, I told you Governor Olson brought
the New Deal of President Roosevelt to California. The
one thing he wanted to avoid was the dole -- a huge,

. self-defeating bureaucratic welfare program. So the

governor went ahead with the agricultural co-ops --

a sound and very much needed program at the time of its
inception. The problem came when the co-ops grew

like Topsy and began competing with private business.
This was economically unsound then just as i1t would be
now and always will be. The private industry sector

of our economy invariably does a better job than the
government. Someone once said the business of the
government is business, meaning that private industry --
risk capital, private ingenulty -- provides jobs.

Jobs provide purchasing power, and thus we have a healthy
econony.

To take one phase of these co-ops, they grew to
a point where they were competing with Foremost and
Borden for the consumer dollar which was spent for
milk. For another example, they began selling hogs
and beef on the open market to the chain stores.
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Morrils: What assistance 4id the state glve these co-ops?

Killion: Well, suppose you were going into the dairy business.
The state would give you a few cows and a bull. Soon
you had more cows and a steer, and before long, you
were beyond the self-help status and competing with
private enterprise and its ability to provide much-
needed jobs.

When I became state director of finance in the
Olson administration I ordered an all-out investigation
of these co-ops, and came up with evidence that they were
no longer co-ops but big business. So it became my
onerous job to shut down these co-ops. Then came the
question of what to do with the surplus. By "surplus"
I mean (sticking to the cow and beef example) the large
herds of cows and steers which exlisted long after the
co-ops had been given a start with the taxpayers®
money, and progressed to the point where they were
prosperous ranchers. I contended the people of
Califormia were entitled to this surplus. There was a
long and bitter fight in the legislature, and we won.,

Morris: Do you recall the names of some of those who led the
co-0p groups?

Killion: State Senator Ralph Swing was one. He led the co-op
movement in Southern California. The individual
participants I do not recall. There were several
thousand persons involved.

Morris: Did Governor Olson have other depression help programs,
such as public works construction programs?

Killion: Yes, he did. They served their purpose but when times
improved, the Republican-controlled state senate
regarded them as a pure dole. They had their inception,
and very properly so, in order to get persons off the
dole, and this they did. Simply put, a man had a job
and his self respect, and not a handout.

Governor Olson was a man who maintained his inborn
concern for the unfortunate and yet never ignored the
practicalities of sound government. I admired him,
and I revere his memory. Among his many fine qualities
was hls concern for the health of the people. He was
the one who was responsible for the famous Langley
Porter Clinic here in San Franc¢isco,
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The Governor's Staff

Those must have been exciting days in state government
with so many interesting men hoping to try out new
ideas. Did you have much contact with Earl Warren
When you were on Olson's staff?

Yes, it was. Earl Warren was attorney general.
Stanley Mosk, now an assoclate justlce of the state
supreme court, occupied a desk alongside mine. He,
too, was one of Governor Olson's secretaries. Phil
Gibson, who became chief justice of the state supreme
court, was state director of finance.

Gibson asked me one day if I would like to move up
to the third floor of the capitol and be his chief
deputy. MNMoney and its proper management has always
intrigued me, so I accepted. While I was Glbson's
chief deputy, a vacancy occurred on the state
supreme court bench. Gibson asked me if I would back
him if he sought appointment by the governor. I said
I certainly would, he was eminently qualified.

In addition to being Gibson's chief deputy, I
continued to take numerous trips around California with
Governor Olson. We were in San Franclsco on one of these
trips, staying at the Park Lane Apartments on Nob
Hill.

We had breakfast together in our suite. When it
came time for us to go down the hill to the state office
building, I helped Olson on with his coat. And I said
to him, "Governor, you're under a lot of pressure on
that supreme court nomination. The longer you delay,
the more enemies you will make, and in the end you'll
only make one friend."

The man who got the appointment?

Exactly. I went on talking to the Governor and said, "I
have the necessary appointment papers here for your
signature, and I would suggest if you like Phil Gibson --
he's loyal to you, he's an able man, he's a good

lawyer -- that you name him to the bench."

Olson replied, "Let me have the papers," and he
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signed them standing there in his coat in the foyer
of the suite. Phil Gibson was in the c¢ity that day in
his office on the top floor of the state bullding.

I telephoned him and said, "You have just been
named to the supreme court.”

Phil came down to the Governor's office to thank
him. He walked in, and there were tears in his eyes,
and he couldn't speak. I excused myself and left him
alone with the Governor.,

It meant that much to him?

It did, and he became an excellent assoclate Justice
and later an equally fine chief justice. He worked
hard. He never lost his temper no matter how aggressive
the attorneys before the bench might be. And his
opinions were written with sound legal judgment, with
a unique grasp of the problem and in line with his
philosophy, which was similar to that of President
Roosevelt and Governor Olson. Despite the heavy
responsibilities of being chief Justice, Phll Gibson
had a quiet, pleasant way about him which made him
thousands of friends. He was the kind of chief Justice
no one could hate whether they won or lost a case.

John R. Richards, a Los Angeles investment banker,
was named to succeed Gibson as flnance director, and I
remained on as chief deputy.

Bichards was rather a contrast to Gibson, wasn't he?
Wasn't Gibson considered quite a radical in financial
matters?

All New Dealers were considered radicals in the 1930s.

I seemed to escape that brand because I was a conservative
at heart. To continue, Richards got in a row with
Governor Olson and quit after a few weeks.

The Governor asked me to take the top job. I
felt honored and accepted at once. I remember the day
of my appointment very well., It was a dramatic one in
World War II.

The marauding and effective German battleship,
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Bismarck, was located on its evasive escape course off
the coast of Ireland. It had Just sunk the British alir-
craft carrier, Hood, the pride of the fleet. Churchlll
had sent word to the fleet to track down the. Bismarck
and send her to the bottom at all costs.

I was following this exciting and pivotal chase
on the radio. I was at the State Falr with Paul Peek,
then secretary of state, with one ear glued to the
radio when word came that the Blsmarck had been sunk.
I returned to the capitol and Tormally took office as
state director of finance. It was a blg day for me -~
two wins in a matter of hours.

Which event overwhelmed you the most?

As Director of Finance

That's a difficult question. I wanted them to sink the
‘Bismarck, but I suppose gself-interest prevalls with most

persons and I guess it did that day.

In those early days of World War II we followed
the events of the conflict with a sense of remoteness.
Of course, we were pulling for the courageous British
against the fanatlc Hitler. Incidentally, the war could
have been prevented if the Allles had stood up to
Hitler at the Rhineland,

No person or country can compromise with a
ruthless, power-mad rabble rouser. Hitler never should
have been treated as a human being. He was inhuman --
from house painter to dictator to his inevitable
sulcide in the underground bunker, now a mini-park
in Fast Germany with a grill through which you can look
into his sub-surface living quarters.

That was a fasclnating digression from the story of
your appointment as director of finance.

That night I was sworn in as director of finance and
proceeded to work on the 1941-1943 budget. It was
Governor Olson's second budget.

I can well remember going before the senate for
a hearing. The state senate recessed and then reconvened
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as a committee of the whole. The senate follows this
procedure when it wants to take up a particular matter
not related to legislation. They wanted to question me
on my qualifications. You will remember I had been
chief deputy in the office of the director of finance
but when the senate sent for me, I had only been
director three days.

I decided to be completely frank with the members
of the upper house. I determined to answer questions
when I knew the answers, and when I didn't know, say
so., I walked down the center aisle of the chamber and
up the steps to the podium where the lieutenant
governor normglly presides. I told the senators,
among other things, I would do the best job for the
people of California I could. I said I would
cooperate with the lawmakers to the full extent. I
told them all budget hearings would be open to press and
public.

When the session was over} I received a standing
ovation. It was one of the most moving experiences of
ny life,

It must have been. Did this honeymoon last?

Believe it or not, it did. State Senator Edward
Tickle of Carmel, a staunch Republican and the chairman
of the Senate Banking Committee, became one of my
strongest supporters when budgetary matters were before
the legislature. The same was true of Senator Bill
Rich of Marysville. As I recall, he was chairman of
the Finance Committee. Senator Rich had a helpful
habit of passing me little notes when I was being
questioned about budget items by the members of the
legislature.

Those were certalnly interesting days for me. I
remember at the end of the 1941-1943 two-year fiscal
period we wound up with a surplus in the state treasury
of aroumd $40 million -- the first such surplus in '
nearly forty years.

How did you manage to do that? That 1s quite an
accomplishment.

As you undoubtedly know, approximately 70% of the state
budget is in fixed expenditures. These are funds the
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state is mandated to pay either by the legislature or
by referendums which the voters have passed. The
remaining 30% is the only place where economies can be

effected.

My first move as state director of finance was to
pick a number of governmental functions in this 30%
category which had outlived thelr usefulness to the
people, or were of such small value to the taxpayers
that they should have been stricken from the budget.
In striking out these items, I had the full support of
the governor and the legislature. They bellieved my
selection of bureaus and other subdivisions of the state
government which I proposed be eliminated was wholly
warranted.

Then the war industries were moving along on the
West Coast at a rapid pace. Employment was soaring,
and the state's share of that industrial growth was
appreciable., These two factors -- the economies and
the industrial growth -- brought in the $40 million
surplus.

This net surplus exceeded even your hoped-for projections,
did it not?

That's right.

State Relief Administration

Was the budget deficit with which Governor Olson had to
cope with in his first two years in office primarily
due to relief expenditures?

Well, I would say the relief expenditures were a major
factor in the deficit.

How did you, as state director of finance, regard the
State Relief Administration?

The relief program was a very muddled affair, Mrs.
Morris. When I first examined the operation, and the
system for dispensing funds, I was amazed. A man by

the name of Walter Chambers was the relief administrator,
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Wasn't there quite a turnover in relief administrators?
I remember Dewey Anderson was one.,

Yes, turnovers in relief administrators added to the
problem. Sam Yorty, then in the legislature, recently
defeated as mayor of Los Angeles, headed a committee to
investigate relief procedures.

Yorty was sincere in wanting to end the chaos or,
failing in that, bring an end to the State Relief
Administration. Incidentally, you recall Sam Yorty's
political career. He served several terms in the
Congress prior to becoming mayor of Los Angeles. He
made several campalgns to become governor, and even
ran for the presidency of the United States. [Laughter]

I've been told he Jjust plain loves politics.

That i1s true. He has a very winning personality even
though he sometimes sets his political goals too high.

Wasn't he involved in investigating communists in
California?

Yes, he was a little Senator McCarthy. He saw a
communlist under every bed.,

Was the charge made that there were communists in the
State Relief Administration?

Yes. Yorty thought there were communists in the SRA.
The difficulty is you can never be absolutely sure about
charges of this kind. Perhaps there were a few
communists involved in the program. I know there were
Democrats and Republicans and people without party
affiliations, Jjust people of good will, who were
involved in the relief administraton.

Among the beneficiaries of the program were people
who were fighting Jjust to exist, and then there were
those who didn't want to work and wanted the state to
support them. Naturally, there were all types of
persons in the act. You know I've been around quite
a bit in my lifetime, and I am satisfied that the great
majority of the people in this state and nation are
basically good. '

The attitude and comments of the returning POWS,
and the very moving effect it has had on the American
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people 1s a case in point.*

I shall never forget the remarks of the first
POW to arrive at Travis Alr Force Base. I was deeply
impressed when he said, "We are thankful to the American
people and our Commander-in-Chief for this day." And
then, you will recall, he continued, "It was a privilege
to have been of service to this country under difficult
circumstances. God bless Americal"

If the remarks of that first returning POW do
not reflect the basic principles of Americanism, I don't
know what does or could. I was glad President Nixon took
a tough stand on the POW issue, and that it pald off.

Civil Defense

When you were with the Olson Administration, you had
the beginnings of hostilities for the U.S. in the
Second World War to cope with. It is difficult, I
think for persons living in this decade to imaglne the
sense of urgency there was in California in 1941 -- the
fear that there would be attacks on our coastline.

Tell me about Governor Olson and civil defense.

The Governor was deeply concerned about the possibility
of war, and organized a state militia.

Was 1t the Governor's opinion and yours that we would
be engaged iIn hostilities within a falrly short time?

Yes. It seemed to us inevitable. Just as in the case
of World War I, we were told we would not become
involved, but our involvement was lnevitable just as
it was in World War II. And the reason for this

#This interview was recorded at the time of the
return of the first U.S. prisoners of war from Vietnam,
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ingbility to stay neutral was that foreign powers were
threatening Western freedom and democracy. Governor
Olson was concerned about the worsening situation. He
was in almost constant telephonic touch with President
Roosevelt., And I had the opportunity to audit these
conversations in conference calls between Sacramento
and Washington., As I recall the organization of the
state militia, the armmy loaned the governor the services
of Brigadier General Ray Hays.

I had numerous conferences with General Hays
about organizing the state militia and in making it
not a paper organization but a viable organization
for the protection of people, state buildings and
installations in this rapidly ending interim period.
And as state director of finance, I handled the finances
of the militia, seeing there was no waste, and that
each dollar of the taxpayer's money gave him a
dollar's worth of protection.

After the Pearl Harbor catastrophe and our
entering the war, I had an interesting and, to a young
man, a dramatic evening. The Assembly Ways and Means
Committee had asked me to appear before them at a
night meeting. They had a number of questions
they wanted to ask me on a variety of subjects. I went
home for dinner and on the way back to the capitol, I
heard a news report that a Japanese submarine was at
that moment shelling an 0il refinery at Goleta,
which is near Santa Barbara. Thls was pretty
serious business. When I went before the Ways and
Means Committee, they began to quiz me about the
money being expended for the state militia.

They had apparently not heard the broadcast, so
I said to them, "Gentlemen, the Japanese are shelling us
at this moment at a refinery on the coast south of
San Francisco., I think we are quibbling over insig-
nificant matters.” I went on to say, "It is evident
we need a strong state militlia." There was a hush
and no more rambling questions about money for the
militia., Governor Olson had heard the broadcast and
had prepared a strong statement which I read to the
committee. The day was won.

The Govérnor was aiways in tune wlith what was
going on., For example, to keep physically fit, he and
I played golf usually two or three times a week. If
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something of importance occured at his office in the
capitol, a messenger would ride out to the course,
locate us and hand the Governor a note. He would read
it, write what he wanted done about the subject matter,
send the messenger back to the capltol and continue
with the game.

Before I became state director of finance, and
when I was still secretary to Governor Olson, one of my
dutlies was to take formal messages from the governor to
the state senate. The procedure was,. and still is,
that I would go to the senate chamber, stand at the
rear of the center alsle, walt to be recognized by
the presiding officer, and declare, "I have the honor
to present a message from the governor." Then I would
wallk to the rostrum and hand the message to the clerk
of the senate, who would pass it up to the presiding
officer. '

You might be interested to know that when I was
in the governor's office, one of the secretaries was a
woman by the name of Ann Rasich. She returned to San
Francisco when Earl Warren became governor, and is now
secretary to Mayor Alioto.

Warren Becomes Governor

When Warren became governor, who succeeded you as state
director of finance?

Jack Hassler, who at the time of his appointment was
the city manager of Oakland. As a matter of fact, he
was a very good friend of mine. We were both members
of the Athens Athletic Club across the Bay.

Was there any thought of your contlnuing as state
finance director under Warren?

The filling of that office is the top appointive
position at a governor's disposal. A new governor
invariably picks his own man to be finance director,
Of course, there must be a carry-over by the incumbent
director in order to make the operation of the state
government fiscally sound. For example, I prepared
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for Governor Warren his '43-'45 biennial budget.¥

I conducted the usual departmental and public hearings,
and prepared the document which became the new governor's
first budget.

I remember he came into my office one day and said
"I'd like to keep you on as state director of finance.,
You have been extremely co-operative with me, but I
hayve decided to name Jack Hassler to succeed you."
Of course, I knew that as soon as I got the budget
prepared, in the normal course of events Warren would
name another director. So I told the govermor-elect
his decision to name Hassler was fine, and on January
3, I was on my way.

Were you active in the 1942 campaign when Olson ran for
re-election against Warren?

I certainly was. I made platform speeches and radio
addresses, and worked at various other activities in

an effort to re-elect the governor. You notice I said
radio addresses., We didn't have television in those
days. No other factor in this century, has changed
campaligning and the outcome of elections as has TV.

It's strange to recall that in 1896, William McKinley
conducted his successful campalign for the presidency from
the front porch of his house.

Why didn't Governor Olson cross-file so he would be on
both the Republican and Democratic tickets when
Warren did this?

I'm glad you asked me that question. The declision not
to cross~flile was lindicatlive of Governor Olson's high
ideals and strong principles. He believed that cross-
filing was a deception. He was a Democrat, not a
Republican.,

I and others around Olson pleaded with him to file
on both tickets because we knew that a large number
of Republicans would vote for him. But his answer

*3ee Appendix A, guidelines for preparation of 1943-45
budget, dated September 28, 1942, while Governor
Olson was still in office.
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was always the same -~ "No, to cross-file would be
deceptive, and I won't do it."

What effect do you believe Olson's fallure to cross-file
when Warren did, have on the outcome of the electlion?

It had a very substantial effect. There 1s no question
about that. To put the campaign and Warren's candidacy
in proper perspective, let me glve you a bit of history.
Then-Attorney General Warren asked Governor Olson for

a very large increase in the attorney general's staff,
The Governor and I discussed the request for what we
regarded as too large an increase in deputies for
Warren, and the Governor told me to take the request
out of the budget, which I did.,

Olson sald to me, "I don't think this increase
in personnel for the attorney general is necessary.
The legislature has accused me of spending too much
money, and I intend to economize wherever I can without
impairing the proper functlioning of state government."

I telephoned Warren at his maln office 1n San
Francisco and said, "I'm deleting from the budget the line
items for the number of new deputies you have requested.

I am doing this at the direction of the Governor."
Warren came to Sacramento and pleaded with the Governor
for the restoration of his staff increases to the budget.

The Governor flatly told him, "I don't think your
desired staff increases are necessary. I am attempting
to economize and the increases will not go back into
the budget.," And that was that,

Years later, Earl Warren told me that turndown
by Olson for economy reasons convinced him he should
run for governor. He sald, "When the Govemmar would not

give me a staff increase and would not accede to my

personal request in our confrontation, I decided to be

" a candidate against him."”

They also disagreed on the slze and purpose of the state
militia, didn't they?

Yes, they did. They had two completely opposite
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Killion: conceptions of what a state militlia should be., Olson
felt very strongly that the militia should be of
sufficient size to defend only those installations which
the state -~ any state -~ normally protects -~ bridges,
dams, electric power plantsy and so forth.

The big job of defending the coast line agalinst
an enenmy lies with the Army and Navy and, in those days,
their alir components. Warren thought the state militia
should be of sufficient size to do the whole job.
His reasoning on this matter escaped me and always has.
Olson was on sound ground in the stand he took.

Morris: Richard Graves name comes to mind in connection with
the defense of the state from invasion. He was head of
civil defense for Olson, and later for Warren. He
must have been in a difficult spot with the two men
holding opposing positions.

Killion: I would think so.

Morris: So you knew and worked with Dick Graves.
Killion: Yes, I did.

Morris: Did you have any contacts with him when he later became
executive director of the League of California Cities?

Killion: Yes, I did but only to the extent that Mr. Graves was
interested in state budgetary matters.
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IV FINANCIAL THINKING

State Budget Declislions

You know the State Department of Finance, through its
director and his staff, 1s the most powerful office

in the state, second only to the governor. I'm speaking
now of those departments which come under the governor.
The finance department is responsible for the amount

of money paid state employees, for the monetary
promotions or demotions of these employees, for the budget.
of the University of California and the state univer-
sities and for all fiscal matters -~ the manner in
which the taxpayer's dollar is spent. I remember, for
example, that at the beginning of the war, I

cut the budget of the University of California, a
budget which was supposed to be sacrosanct, by a
million dollars.

Why did you do that?

First, I studled the enrollment figures of the
university after the United States entered World War
I. It was clear to me that with World War II, because
of the draft, thousands of young men would be called
into the armed services, and there would be a drastic
reduction in college enrollments.

A, P. Giannini, then president of the Bank of
America, was a member of the board of regents of UC.
He came to Sacramento and asked me to restore the
million dollar cut to the budget, I re-studied the
figures I had drawn up, and replied, "Mr.

Giannini, I would like to grant your request but the
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Killion: figures do not Jjustify it. My Jjob 1s to reduce the
budget consistent with the actual needs of the state.,
If it later develops the University needs more money,
the funds can be obtalned from the governor's
contingency fund."

We had quite an argument but my answer remained,
"No.," ILater, believe it or not, A. P. Glannini
offered me a position as vice~president of the bank.

Morris: Because of your ability to say no and stick with it?

Killion: Could be. At any rate, I accepted the bank job only
to turn it down before I got on the payroll, It was
another turning point in my life. The reason I
reversed myself was that President Roosevelt and Ed
Pauley of Los Angeles, asked me to assist in Roosevelt's
election to a fourth term with then Senator Harry
Truman as Vice President. I became the flnance
dlrector of the national campalgh, and after the
re-election of Roosevelt and Truman, treasurer of the
Democratic National Committee.

It was a very rewarding job. Of course, I had
known the President from the Olson days, and I had
known Harry Truman back when he was a U.S. Senator from
Missouri and chalrman of the Senate committee which
investigated war expenditures. %You recall that the
excellent job Truman did as chalrman of that important
committee had a great deal to do with Roosevelt selecting
him as his running mate.

The President made an excellent cholce in Truman.
As history has proven, Truman was an intelligent,
gutsy person and when President Roosevelt died and
Truman had the full burden of the presidency thrust
upon him, he showed his inner strength and his
lifetime knowledge of people and how they were thinking.
So you see, in the thick of life, paths suddenly open
up to greater things. My conviction is that when
these paths appear, a person should strike out and
follow them and not look back. I suppose the old saying,
“He who hesitates is lost," simplistic though it may
seem, says it all.

Morris: You have been a fund. raiser and dealt with money
most of your life., I'm interested in your views on
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Morris: fiscal matters versus political necessities. Let's
go back to your incumbency as State director of finance
during the Olson Administration. Did you think of the
job in terms of career skills or were you primarily
conscious of belng a political appointee of the
governor?

Killion: I never thought of the job of finance director in
terms of politics. To have approached the job from that
point of view would have been fatal not only to the
economy of the state but to me and certalnly to the
Governor. I had a tremendous responsibility, and I
made every effort to do the best job I could. I had
a very fine career staff of clvil service employees,
and I geared in with them and kept politics in the
background., Thls was the best service I could give the
people of California and the Governor.

If the Governor asked me to make a speech on some
program of his, I would if it was a program I felt was
‘sound, otherwise I would not have made the speech and
probably would have left the administration.

In any public office, a person must ask himself
what is politics and what 1s government. Webster
defines politics as the sclence of government.
Therefore, a true politician is a person who is
skilled in the art and science of government. I think
too often the term, "politician" is misunderstood. Don't
you?

World War II Priorities

Morris: The word can have many meanings, but I agree with
you, Let me go back a bit to a subject which has
always interested me. One of the decisions which has
plagued Earl Warren over the years has been the
internment of Japanese-Americans in California in 1941,
What was Olson's position on that issue?

Killion: Well, as you know, the Attorney General of the United
States is the person who ordered the construction of
the detention camps. His feeling was that since
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Killion: we were at war with Japan, the Japanese in this coastal
state presented a real and present danger. Certainly
there were thousands of loyal American-born Japanese
who should never have been put in these camps. My
wife and I have a little Japanese maid who has been
with us eighteen years. She was Jjust as loyal to this
country as you or I, but she and her husband were put
in a camp. Her husband died there of tuberculosis.

I think you have to be extremely careful
in determining a person is disloyal to the United
States and a menace-at-large. This is a picture you
cannot paint with a broad brush. Senator McCarthy
tried that, and we all know the results. These
declisions become ineradicable errors in the history
books.

Morris: Did you discuss with Governor Olson how you felt about
the federal government building these detention camps?

Killion: My recollection on that point is not too clear. I
know the Governor created the state militia to protect
the state's resources -- highways, bridges and electrical
plants. But we both felt it was the responsibility of
the federal government to protect the state and the
people,

A sidelight comes to mind. I was designated by
the Army to issue travel priorities. One guaranteed
you a plane seat. The second gave you a seat if space
was available. And the third let you aboard if you
did not replace military personnel. I didn't want the
job but since it was assigned to me, I went through
with 1t. The day-to-day routine, of course, was handled
by a2 member of my staff.

I was invited by President Roosevelt to be a
member of one of the small groups he llked to have in
the oval office when he was making one of his famous
fireside chats. I got a plane out of Sacramento but I
got bumped at Albuquerque, New Mexico. I whipped out
one of the top priority forms, filled it in and gave it
to the boarding agent. He called it g fraud, and
there was much running around and general confusion.

I said, "All you have to do 1s call the San
Francisco Presidio and verify my credentials.” They
did and I wasn't bumped. But I was embarrased at the
time, and I still am. [Laughter]
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Relations with the Federal Government

While we have been talking, I have been glancing over
the Olson budget you prepared as state director of
finance. I see the economlc plcture was based in

part on ten percent of federal defense contracts

being in or coming to Califormia. Was this due to the
aggresiveness of California's congressional delegation?

I'd say it was the combined efforts of Governor Olson
and the delegation.

Which members of Congress would you say were closest to
the Governor?

One was Representative Jerry Voorhis. You remember he
was defeated by Richard Nixon in the President's first
political campaign. Another was Representative Harry
Shepherd. Actually, the Governor was close to all the
members of the delegation and, as I have said, to

the President.

After Governor Olson left office, did he ever comment
on some of the programs Governor Warren introduced,
programs which were simllar to those Governor Olson
had attempted to get approved by the legislature?

I think there was a feeling on the part of Governor
Olson that Governor Warren was imitating him to a great
extent. I maintained a close relationship with Olson
for many years, and he spoke of this fact many times,
Warren did become a liberal governor much to the surprise
of many people. Then he became a liberal as Chief
Justice of the United States.

I know this was a surprise to many Republicans. Was
it also a surprise to Democrats?

I remember Governor Olson speaking at a luncheon in
Los Angeles during Warren's second term. Olson spoke
about Warren not following his earlier principles of
conservatism,

What do you feel was the impact of your work with state
government?
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Of course, we're all a product of our environment. It
depends on your capacity to understand the impacts of

environment.

My position in the state government did have a
great impact on my life. For the first time I was
able to see the public with different eyes because
I had the power to do something about it.

In life, if you're going to accomplish anything
which you hope 1is for the good, you must have the power
to do it. Either the power of public office or the
power of money. That position did have an impact, and
I enjoyed it.
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V LATER VENTURES

American President Lines

How did you become presldent of the American President
Lines?

I was talking with President Truman in Washington one
day when I was treasurer of the Democratic National
Committee, and in the course of the conversation, I
said, "Mr. President, if I had my choice, I would like
to get back into private business." He had offered me
the job of Secretary of the Navy, and this was by way

of reply.

The President continued, "I've been talking with
the Attorney General about that, and there is a position
open as president of the General Aniline and Film
Corporation, If you want the job, you may have it."
General Aniline was a German firm which had been seized
by the Alien Property Custodian. I felt the fim
would either be returned to post-war Germany or become
an American institution. So I said to the President,

*I would like to make a suggestion for your consideration.
You have just appointed Dr. Henry F. Grady, the president
of American President Lines, your ambassador to

India" -- he'd also been with the University of
California at one time -~ "I would prefer to succeed

Dr. Grady as head of the steamship company,"#*

¥Dr. Grady was a lecturer at UC from 1921 to 1928;
professor of International trade and dean of the College
of Commerce, 1928 to 1937.
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Without a moment's heslitation, the President
replied, "You have the job." And that is how I became
president of APL, and managed to run it successfully
for twenty years.

How did APL happen to be the property of the government?

The company was created as the result of the inability
of R. Stanley Dollar to pay his debts to the federal
government. Prior to the war, Mr. Dollar built
several ships at a cost of about $7.5 million. At
that time, the government largely financed American
merchant ships which travelled so-called defense
routes, These were ships which would become vital to
American protection in time of war.

The company had to repay a portion of these
subsidies, and Mr, Dollar could not pay the government.
So the government stepped 1ln, took over the corporate
structure of the Dollar Line, and changed the name to
American President Lines.

The late Joseph Kennedy, father of President
Kennedy, was then chairman of the National Maritime
Commission., William Gibbs McAdoo was an early
president of APL. He was followed by Dr. Grady.

That's very interesting. McAdoo, Dr. Grady, and you
are all men who understood finance and business and
who have been very much involved in the political
life of our country.

I had a deep personal affection and regard for Dr.
Grady, and his extraordinarily capable and charming
wife, Lucretia del Valle Grady. Sometime after I
became president of APL, Dr. Grady's health began to
fail. I met him at a party, and he told me he was not
feeling up to par. So I said to him, "Henry, why don't
you take a trip and rest? I'll let you and your wife
have the largest suite on either the President Cleveland
or the President Wilson" =- the two flagships of the
line I built. They sailled on the President Wilson and
ny wife and I went down to the pler to see them off.
During the voyage, Dr. Grady dled at sea. We brought
him home for burial here.
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Legal Issues

Morris: When you showed me the scrapbook on American President
Lines, I noticed that there was considerable litigation
with Mr. Dollar; he attempted to regain control of APL
in 19517

Killion: Let me summarize the case for you.

The government had taken over the line shortly
before I became its president. By 1947, we operated
APL in such a manner that i1t showed a considerable
profit. And Mr. Dollar's debts to the government
were pald. At that time, he said, "My debts are pald
and I want my steamship line back."

Morris: I suppose he would make that point{

Killion: But the debts were not paid by Mr. Dollar. They were
paid by the steamship line operated under government
control. And I was the government-appointed preslident.
So Mr. Dollar took the issue to court. Thne federal
district court in Washington, D.C., found against
Dollar. He appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals, and
that tribunal reversed the lower court and ordered me
to turn over the company stock to Stanley Dollar.

I sald, "I will not until this case is appealed
to the U.S. Supreme Court. The Supreme Court refused
to grant the writ we sought, and I, the U.S. Attorney
General and the Secretary of Commerce were all held
in contempt of court,

Finally, at the suggestion of L. M. Giannini, who
succeeded hls father as president of the Bank of America,
we entered into a compromise. Under the terms of the
compromise, the company was so0ld under sealed bid in
Washington for $18,360,000. Half of the money went to
Dollar and half to the government. And I became a
member of the syndicate which bought the line from the
government .

Morris: A transaction such as you have just summarized is so

complex to the average person, it is easy for him to
think some kind of political maneuvering went on.

Killion: You are touching on something which at that time caused
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me considerable concern. I spent many a sleepless

- night trying to figure out a way to bid on the line

myself, a way that would be ethical. I had enough

money and free funds of the company to use, and dividends
to pay back the free funds. But I always came back to
the same conviction that if I, as president of American
President Lines, headed a group which bought the line
from the government, I could be accused of having inside
information., So I jolned the syndicate headed by

Ralph Davies and Sam Moser of Signal 0il and several
other men. And instead of winding up with 51 percent

of the company, I came out with a minority interest,

I built the line from a handful of ships to one of the
greatest fleets in the world. I am still a member of the
board of APL.

Communications Satellite Corporation

Tell me about the Communicatlons Satellite Corporation
and your part in it.

I think we are all agreed that rapid and accurate
worldwlide communication is essential as a means of
preventing war, as an instrument by which people of
one land can come to know the people of another, and
for enhancing our ability to keep up with events

in this fast-paced world in which we live. President
Kennedy, of course, was a space ploneer, He asked me
to help put together Comsat, which operates the global
communications satellites.

Those are the satellites that send messages around the
world?

Yes. If you watch TV any night, you'll see below the
picture the words "via satellite."” That's Comsat, of
which I was one of the incorporators. On August 27,
1962, Congress completed passage of the Communications
Satellite Act, which set forth a national policy for the
establishment of a satellite system in cooperation with
other nations. The Satellite Act authorized a new,
private company to be formed to represent the United
States in the satellite system. That company is Comsat.

The Satellite Act became law on August 31, 1962,
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when the bill was signed by President Kennedy at a
White House ceremony. The President and the executive
department of the government were glven special respon-
sibllities for overseelng the implementation of the
national policy set forth in the act. Congress
provided that the President report to the membershlip
annually on the actlivities and accomplishments of the
new law. The President gave recess appointments to the
incorporators, invested them with the responsibility
for directing the initial activities of Comsat. I
think it would be of interest to you to know who these
original directors were. I was one, and the others
were --

Beardsley Graham, president, Spindletom Research, Inc.

Philip L. Graham, president, The Washington Post

Johm T. Connor, president, Merck & Co.

George T. Feldman, vice president & counsel,
Mastan Co.

Sam Harris, attorney, New York

Edgar F. Kalser, president, Kalser Industries
Corporation

David M. Kennedy, chairman, Continental Illinoils
National Bank & Trust Company of Chicago

Byme Litschgi, attorney, Tampa

Leonard H. Marks, attorney, Washington, D.C.

Bruce G, Sundlun, attorney, Providence, R.I.

& Washington, D.C.
Sidney J. Welnberg, partner, Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Leonard Woodcock, vice president, UAW-CIO

The incorporators set up the necessary techniecal and
office staffs to bring the communications satellite

into being, and proceeded to put together a $200 million
stock issue. The initial stock lssue was over-
subscribed the first day.

On April 16, 1964, Comsat awarded its first hard-
ware contract to Hughes Alrcraft Company for an
experimental, operational satellite, to test the
feasibility of synchronous orbits for commercial
communications satellites. The first satellite was named
*Harly Bird" and later designated "Intelsat I." So,
you see, Comsat 1s a private corporation 1like P G & E
or the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, or
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Killion: any other corporation. Like other electronic media,
it is subject to government regulation. In addition,
the President appoints three of the directors.,

The stockholders appoint the rest, and I am one
of those. This communication satellite is of extreme
importance. Most wars are unnecessary and could have
been prevented had there been better communications
between natlons. The Guns of August -- I'm sure you
have read it -- points out there was great difficulty
in communicating with Kalser Wilhelm after the
assassingtion of Archduke Ferdinand in Sarajevo. And
there was difficulty in communicating with Prime Minister
David Lloyd George. It took hours to code a cablegram
at one end of the line, and hours to decode it on the
other. 8o we had a war. Prior to World War II, there
was delay and compromise as well. Hltler should have
been stopped when he began reoccupying the Rhineland.

Then Chamberlain went to Munich with his furled
umbrella and returned to England to utter a tragic and
totally incorrect prophecy with a phrase pilfered
from the Anglican Book of Common Prayer --"peace in our
tinme" -- and we had another war. The series of summit
conferences with other countries, I am satisfied, is
paving the way for a peaceful world. The fact that
there is a hot-line telephone to Moscow on the Presldent's
desk is a most valuable means of keepling the peace.

United Nations

Morris: You were close, were you not, to President Johnson?

Killion: Yes, we were very good friends, and in 1966 he appointed
me a delegate to the Twenty-First General Assembly
of the United Nations., He subsequently honored me with
the rank of ambassador. As you can well imagine,
this was an extremely fascinating job because the people
with whom I was associated were from countries all '
over the world -- countries with a variety of problems,
interests, and loyalties.

The United Nations ls an organization which glves
the people of the Unlited States a unique insight into the
political, economic, and soclal attitudes around the
world,
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Killion: While I was serving as a member of the delegation
to the United Nations, I was a member of the finance
committee and the economic committee. I was particularly
interested in the finance committee. Ag you know,
there has always been a strong feeling among the people
of the United States that the other nations of the world
should pay thelr failr share of the cost of maintaining
the United Nations and its peace-keeping facilities,
instead of the American taxpayer bearing an inordinate
share of that bill. I fought strenuously for this
position because I saw no reason why we should pay so
much of the bill. As you know, the UN came into being
here in San Franclsco when President Truman and
representatives of the other nations signed the original
charter at a colorful ceremony in our Opera House,
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VI BIPARTISAN FRIENDSHIPS

Hoover, Truman, and Others

-You have worked with some of our country's most

distinguished men.

Life has brought me many fine friendships, and it 1is an
ongoing experience., One name that occurs to me at the
moment is Adlal Stevenson. He would have made a great
President. He had a most distinguished career as the
United States Ambassador to the United Nations, for
example. Another man I admired greatly and whose
friendship I enjoyed was Herbert Hoover. When I was
president of APL, I bought for the company a Panhamanian
ship called the S8.S. Panama., We remodelled it, and

I changed the vessel's name to the President Hoover.

I read that Mr. Hoover was about to come to California
to attend the annual summer encampment of the Bohemian
Club on the Russian River.

The S. S. President Hoover was in port at Mission
Rock so I called Mr. Hoover at the Waldorf-Astoria
in New York, and said I would like to give a luncheon
party for him and his longtime friend, Joe Knowland,
aboard the ship. Mr. Hoover replied, "I'd love it." I
invited the former President to make up the guest list
and he included in it a number of his former associates
at Stanford University. It was a grand affair.
Goodwin Knight, George Christophey and a host of other
prominent persons were there,

I remember an earlier party I gave for Mr. Hoover.
During the luncheon I took out of my pocket a book he
had written wheh he was Secretary of Commerce., It is
called American Individualism. I showed it to him and
tears came to hlis eyes. He said, "George, you are the
only person I've met in recent years who has a copy of
this book."”
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Killion: Later I was asked to record my relationship with
the former President for the Hoover Library at West
Branch, Iowa, where Mr. Hoover was born in the summer of
1874, I was delighted to do so.*

Morris: While I have been llstenlng to you, Mr. Killion, I
happened to notice a carving on your desk. What is a long-
time Democrat doing with an elephant on hls desk?

Killion: When I was president of APL, I thought it would be
nice to give each round~the-world passenger a momento
‘of his or her trip. We selected these carved
elephants, and on the side we had a plate with their
name inscribed on 1it, and above the name the eagle,
which is the insignia of American Preslident Lines., I
can assure you the elephant has nothing to do with
politics.

Morris: I was interested in your supporting the re-election of
President Nixon in 1972 and the active role you played
nationally and in California as a prominent Democrat
for Nixon.

Killion: I just didn't think McGovern had the capability to run
our government. I made my decision to speak out in
favor of President Nixon right here in thils office.
And I wrote a statement saying I was remaining a
Democrat but that I would vote for and work for the
re~election of Richard Nixon. I said, in the course
of that statement, that the re-~election of the
President was in the best interest of the national
welfare. I sent word to the President that I was
releasing this statement to the media, and he called
me several days later in Palm Springs to thank me for
my support.

Morris: I notice you have a billfold in your hand.

Killion: Let me read you the inscription on it, "To George
from his friend, Harry Truman,"

Morris: I would say that is a very special billfold, one you
wouldn't want to carry around with you for fear the

*¥A copy of Mr. Killion's reminiscences of Mr. Hoover
is in the Bancroft Library.
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inscription might become blurred. One of my favorite
stories is the one about Truman saying that Earl Warren
is a Democrat, but he doesn't know_it.

That 1s interesting that you remember that. We used
to have a birthday party for the former President
annually in Kansas City after his retirement, When the
President died, we formed a committee to memorialize
Mr. Truman on the date of his birth, and to name an
outstanding citizen to be the recipient of the Harry
Truman Award. The first recliplent was Earl Warren.

Support for Killion for Governor

With all your experience in politics and your incumbency
in state office, did you ever consider running for
office yourself?

Yes, I did. In 1953, I thought very seriously about
running for the Democratic nomination for governor

in 1954 .,% What made me think about it was that a group
of state senators and congressmen wanted me to make

the run. They appointed the late Senator George Miller
as their spokesman. We had lunch at the Stock Exchange
Club and Senator Miller, who never beat around the bush
sald, "We want you to be the Democratic candlidate for
governor next year," and he listed practically the
entire Democratic bloc in the upper house.

Richard Graves was the nominee in 1954, wasn't he?

That's is right.

Having decided not to run, how did you feel about Mr.
Graves' candidacy?

Dick Graves was then a young and very capable individual
but what he lacked was the proper foundation for his
candidacy. I remember the late Lou Lurie and

former Mayor George Christopher said they would
organize Republicans for Killion if I would run. George

*See Appendix for contemporary press clippings.
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Christopher frequently shakes his head when he sees me

" even at this late date, meaning, "You should have run."

I thought about running for governor again in 1958,
and probably would have been the nominee if Pat Brown
hadn't jumped the gun on me.

When Dick Graves became the Democratic nominee for
governor in 1954 did you regret your decision not to
run?

I will always have mingled emotions about that decision,
I would have had to take a leave of absence as president
of APL but that could have been arranged. I think to
have been elected governor of California at that time in
history would not only have been a challenge,but who
can say what might have later developed. But, like

all decisions we make, you have to learn to live with
it, not dwell on the past but go on to something else
which 1s stimulating and productive.

Frequently that is something which is easier saild than
done, but you certainly didn't let it keep you from
going on to many other accomplishments.

Let me wind up this very pleasant interview with an
anecdote which I think may be of interest to your
Warren researchers.

We had brought Crown Prince Akihito of Japan,
across the Pacific on the President Wilson. He was
en route to the coronation of Queen Elizabeth. On
his way home, he stopped off in San Franclsco before
he sailled for Japan. I was then the president of the
Japan Society. I reserved the Venetlan Room at the
Falrmont and gave him a huge party. I remember the
room was decorated with live trees and chrysanthemums.

Governor Warren was supposed to be present but
the day before President Eisenhower had named Warren
Chief Justice of the United States. Goodwin Knight,
the lieutenant governor, automatically became
governor so he was there in Warren's place. Also at
the luncheon was Mrs. Ambrose Diehl, the widow of a
steel executive and the officlial State Department
hostess for dignitaries passing through San Francisco.
She had the same position now held by Mrs. Bernice
Behrens, the wife of Egrl Behrens, political editor of
The Chronicle. Well, after the luncheon, Governor
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Knight and Mrs. Diehl and I were standing together,
and Mrs. Diehl saild to me, "George, 1f you run for
governor, I'll support you."

Did the Democrats feel Knight was not a strong enough
men to be governor?

Yes, that was the feeling among leading Democrats.,
When you think of the training that resulted from
Richard Nixon's many campaigns and his service in the
House, the Senate, and the Vice~Presidency, you know
he has to be strong, experienced and knowledgeable
about government.

I see you have a picture there of you and Preslident
Nlixon when he was a much younger man.

Yes, the ship in the background i1s the S.S. Hope.
I put it in service for APL. As Vice~President, he
came to San Francisco to dedlicate with me that ship of

mercy.

rWhen Mr. Killion returned hls revised transcript to

the interviewer, September 29, 1973, he mentioned

that there were several things about political life
that he would like to add by way of summary. |

Three areas face our nation for reform, issues that

are pressing for solution by the American people. Not
necessarily in order of priority, they are: reform

of our nation's judicial system, and reform of political
fund~raising operations of all parties and at all
levels ~-- national, state, clty and municipality. We
must also find some solution toward ensuring the
responsibility of the news medlia without resorting to
censorship. I believe in freedom of the press, but
there must be some answer to this complex problem.

As a former newsman yourself, do you have any suggestions
regarding the media question?

I've thought about that a long, long time. I have
concluded that the concept of a free press does not
mean the freedom to suppress or distort a story as an
individual editor or reporter sees fit. The media has
a definite responsibility, to the public for
accuracy, responsibility and accountability.
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Killion: As 1t is now, they can come out with any wild story
about an individual, and he has no recourse except a
libel suit.

Morris: That relates to access to the medla, doesn't it?

Killion: To a certain extent. I've noticed that recently some
TV statlons are giving a little bit of time to private
cltizens or groups who want to express themselves on
some topic.

But that kind of free speech thing 1s not the
answer to people wilth the audience and ratings of
Cronkite, Howard K. Smith, or Buckley. They can say
what they wish -~ and what chance does a private citizen
or public official have to answer or correct them?

In regard to our Judicial system, we must have
reform of the courts so that people accused of a crime
will be brought to trial within a specified time --
procedural reforms. I was playling golf in Washington a
while back, at the Comsat Tournament (I was playing
with H. A. Johnson and Dean Burch) and I said to
Secretary Johnson, "What do you think is the greatest
problem facing our country?”

Without hesitatlion he said, "Reform of the judicial
system."” Why, I've read in the papers about people
who have been in jall as long as eight years and still
haven't come to trial.

Morris: And fund-raising for political campaigns -~ what changes
do you think might be for the better?

Killion: Well, again, there are so many ideas around: I don't
know that we have the answer yet. Perhaps to do away
with all private contributions and have those who wish
to contribute designate a certain amount on their tax
return. Another way might be to set up a fund from
public money, based on so much for each person who
voted in the last election and then divide that among
the candidates.

Morris: You*ve zeroed in on issues that have become especially
significant in regard to the present crises in Washington.
What kind of changes do you think will result from the

hearings and court actions now going on?

Killion: Doubtless reform of political financing will emerge
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yly

from the present Washington investigations. But any
improvements of our judiclal system wlll undoubtedly
awalt further study and action by proper government
agencies. The "freedom of the press" lssue will slowly
unfold as articulate groups, lncluding the news media
itself, come to realize more and more that responsiblity,
adcuracy and accountability are essential 1f the ldeals
and objectives of our foundlng fathers are to be safe-
guarded in the interest of all the people., It 1s the
touchstone of all freedom.,

END OF INTERVIEW

Transcriber: Marlilyn Fernandez
Final Typist: Gloria Dolan
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' ; ! gﬁ_r fo permit reduc-
i tion ‘of 1 fity tax rates was

fadvocated by Attorney Gen-
'etal Earl W:m‘en as a part of his
'tax reductiort’progtam in his cam-
{paign for governor.

Warren announced that if elected
‘he. will seek immediate action by
the Legislature to have, the State
take over the counties’ share of
,'old age ‘pension costs, thereby en-
+abling. the ¢ounties to reduce prop-
+ erty tax rates gh average of 24-cents
tper $100 of mssessed valuation,
t  State -finarcing - of the old .age
‘pensmns would make possible 4 tax

‘saving of more than $17,000,000 &l
j Year -for Califorma home ‘owners, i

mqwm@;a

Ffarmers and’ other t
axpayers, Wa‘:;en .82
| EEPEAL INCOMK ¥
) Inhisﬂﬂ?tag:
‘ment sfveral -day
¢ General: Warren- anngupce

< favered :ﬂe%&ltrgf Ahe ;Sntgfe
mcome (3 ,sav 0. 218
! taxpayets—roughly
. year—-coupled \mth the 3
#ohady i rty -ia

hu state;g%%i‘

rmedmtely and have the Stafe take

Jves #p: day nh' shate o{ ald age

detenmned » :
awmnENMSTATEMENT
. Waifen's statement’ fo]lows

"“Due to business .and industrial

‘expansion restlting from the. war,
;State tax revenues exceeded State
-expenditures during the fiseal year

‘just ended by nearly $70,000,000, ac-‘

‘cording to the State Conttollets TE-
-port. During the current fiscal 3 year,
it is probable that the excess of in-
come oyer ‘dutgo W‘ be as great
as $100,000,000. .

“This condltlon mmakes ‘it both
feasible ‘and desirable ‘that some
measure of. relief be accorded our
taxpayers by reductions in State
and local taxes which: will serve as
a partial offset to the drastic in-
creases in Federal taxés which have
been occasioned by the war.

“I have previously stated that I
tavor repeal of the State. personal
income tax, ‘which will reduce the
State tax load more than $20,(00,000
a year. As a recond step in this
program of tax reduetion, I shall
recommend to the Legislature next,
January, if I am elected governor,.
that the State take over the coun-

'pensxons

ﬁ%&

ties’ share of the cost of old ag}
This would aceompligh’
a saving of more thdn $17,000,000. a

year in local taxes and would: make

it possible for the counties-to reduce

property tax rates an average. of

24 cents per $100 of assessed valua. oy

tion.
RELIRF. 'VETOED'

“The Legislature recognized - the §

need for some such relief to local
taxpayers as early as. the 1939 ses-
sion;. when it passed ‘Assembly Bl

2870, which proposéd to appropriate |

$6,700,000 to relieve:the counties of
approximately ' half’ of . their share
of the cpst of old age’ pengions dur-
that fiscal year. - Governor O
owever,  whosé. craed se
-‘Never give the idxpayer ‘a

ket-vetoed the bill, - -

(lie? to the countiesr

'Governor Jis “sincere .in’ that. stand,

ng g
ous State imanclal 'ﬂid “Thisg bxll

stE, b t
share of old age’ pent co U
his,.acts: belie his' w% I the

1 the. Mgiahture info

‘Oakland Tribune, August 7, 1942
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Gotrermor of Cultfocntn
. FRED W. LINKsS
CHIEF OF DIVISION

GEORGE L. KILLION
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

C. E. COCPER
DEPUTY CHIEF

APPENDIX B .

STATE OF CALIFORN!A

Bepartment of Finance

DIVISION OF BUDGETS AND ACCOUNTS
SACRAMENTO '

September 28, 1942

TO: ALL STATE DEP.RTLENTS, LOARDS, CORMISSICNS INSTITUTIONS,
COLLEGES, #ND SPECIAL SCHOOLS

SUBJECT: BBUDGET REQUESTS FOR 1943-1945 BIENNIUM
(95th & 96th FISCAL YEARS)

The Governor has requested the Department of Finance to prepare the
executive bud et for the 1943-1945 biennium. ® Since the Constitution requires that
the budget be presented to the Legislature within the first thirty da;s of the
regular session and prior to its recess, esach State agency should prepare its
budret requests and estimates immediately and forward them to the Department of
Finance not later than Cctober 25, 1942. 1In the preparation of your request,
consideration should be given to the policies, procedures, and statements set

forth herein,

POLICY

vur nation's all-out war effort demands that every resource and every
energy be dedicated to the high purpose of victory at the earliest ;ossible moment.
To achieve that goal further drastic changes in the normal operations of government,
as well as in the private lives of its citizens, are recuired. Covernmental
luxuries must go! This is a war not only of qrmles and havies, tut of peoples
and all of their governmental political subdivisions. In order to _ear the budget
prosram of the State of California to the stern realities and necessities of war,
each agency will be guided by the following policies in compiling its regquests for

1943~1945: '

(1) itequests should be based upon the assumption that the war will continue
through out the next biennium,

(2) Activities which are made necessary by the war effort or which contribute
directly to the prosecution of the war should be provided for to the
full extent reguired for their efrectiveness.

Circular Letter o, 213
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(3) All other activities and functions, however, must be examined critically.
as to their necessity under war time conditions and every expenditure
~ which does not distinctly serve an essential need in war time must be
eliminated,

(4) Arbitrary reduction in the quality or quantity of services rendered is
necessary. .The public will accept war-time standards of services
and expects the State of balllornla to adjust its activities to
changing conditions.

(5) Those agencies which have assumed additional responsibilities as a
result of the war should continue to make every ‘effort to finance the
new expenditures within the agency by curtailment or ellmlnatlon of
the functlons not essential to the viur projran.

(6) Special items connected with the war effort should be clearly indicated
in the request, - if distinguishable from regular activities. Such
items should be provided for on an emergency basis only and are not

_ to be treated as a permanent act1v1t" of the agency,

- (7) o construction or improvement items should be requested, except those
' which are so essential that they cannot be delayed and which can
clearly qualify for priorities under government restrictions, A 10-
ezr building program has already beén submitted by the State agencies
and is now bein_ formuluted into a post-war construction projram,
therefore, there is nc nced to make further roguccts at this time,
Equipment items should likewise be limited to those obtainable under
present regulations, Budget allowances %111 be limited to such items.

(8) Your budget should be comvlled on the basis of preuently ex1st1ng
prices, with no allowance for further iucreases. .It is assumed that
the Federal government will exercise a control of both wages and prices
to an extent sufficient to precluae insurmountable increases in the
general level of vrices,

(9) To offset the fact that normal replacenﬁnt of GState-owned equipment will
not be possible, every maintenance process should be fully provided
for and utilized so as to extend the useful life of existing facilities.

(10) Every effort should be made to effect operating economies. This depart-
ment offers its cooperation in an advisory capacity to all agencies on
administrative chang:es that may be made, Illustrative of steps which
may be taken to curtaill exnenses are:

(a) .wery position which is now vacant or will become
vacant should be evaluated in light of changing
conditions before any attempt is made to refill,

(b) hecessary replacement of employees now leaving the
service to ;o to the armed forces or into private
employment should be made, wherever possible, -by
transfer from one administrative unit to another,

Circular letter wo, 213
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(¢) kon-essential nublications and documents must be
discontinued to save paper and printing costss

(d) The amount of travel must be curtailed and the use
’ of automobiles must be reduced to a minimum,

(e) Use of long distance telephone, telegraph, or teletype
must be reduced,

(f) Equivment such as desks, chalrs tubles, typewriters,
adding machines, etc., uhould be reflnlshcd and
rebuilt in lieu of replacenent,

(11) - Budget requests should not anticipate the adjustments which will be
necessary upon the cessation of hostilities, such as return of '
employees from military leave, the termination of war emergency
activities and the resumption of normal functions which may have
been suspended for the duration of the war, These adjustments are
so extensive and unpredictable as to render impractical any advance
preparation therefore in the budset, and will inevitably require
administrative and legislative action based upon the conditions
then existing. :

BUDGET PROCEDURAS

Reveral majinr changes have been made in the composition of the 1943~1945
budget schedules in order to simplify the work of preparation, These include the
consolidation of service, expense, materials and supplies into one category of
operating expenses; also the elimination of the itemizatiocn of prior year
expenditures under the category "Salaries & Wages" and the substitution therefore
of the ranges of pay. A full explanation of these changes will be forwarded to

Jour accounting officer with the instructions.

rrovision for salaries and wages should include the recent .15 emergency
salary adjustument extended through the next biennium, since appropriations will
be requested of the Legislature to finance the increases from February 1, 1943,
thenceforward.

Institutions, schools and other agencies whosa bud.ets are bassd upon
population, enrollment or similar measurable units of work load should confer with
this departnent as to their estimate of such work load before finally completing
and submitting their budgets, -

STATELNT OF JUSTIFICATION

A statement of justification in triplicate, and on letter size paper,
is to be submitted to the Director of finance, together with the budget requests,
This statement should contain a general summary of the work program of the agency
as reflected by the budgiet request: what has been included; what changes from

the last biennial budg et in terms of prosram; and the reasons for those chariges.

rlease state .the reasons for your requests. A mere description of
bud;et items and the amount of money involved is not sufficient.

Circular wietter lLo. 213
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Your statement should incliude work load data, comparative personnel
information, and like material which illustrates the character of your budzet.
In addition, there should be set forth a description of the economies effected
during the current biennium and the further economies »roposed in the bud et
requests, This material will be extremely valuable in the analysis and the
presentation of your budget to the Governor.

An opportunity w:ill be given every State agency to discuss. thoroughly
with the Director of rinunce or his representative the bud,.et requests for the
next biennium, should the agency desire such a hearing. ..s the time avaiizble for
“completing the mechanical preparation of the budget to place it in final ferm for
the printer is exceedingl; short, each a_ency is asked to make ever, effort to
subnit its budzet requests as ezrl, as possible before Uctober 25.

Iours very truly,
&1

-« '

7 N 3 .' ’ |
\d/&/ﬂl/‘—.‘%“z_ %a64*" (e e
v/

Georze L, hillion
Director of Finance

Circular ietter jo. 213
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\waited as Mis-

toda.y delved into: assorted charges-

of- m!smanugement polities and

unnecemry ‘gxpengitures, _iudicat

ing ‘sorgé hot sessions. when' the,

legis!ature te;:onvenes next month.
ti

heatings’ condticted by ‘Finance Di-’
rédtor George. Killion,: met again
Ay .to. st the_sta.rtling accu-,.

er" were: some week-end hxgh,

18
Leg’ts‘lative Audxtor Rommd
‘Vandegrxift told the joint legisla-
tivérroup that the .State Guards’:
; twere. ‘hopelessly confuaed”
gh inefficiency, . politics and
mifmanagement. The proposedi
1933-45 hudget item by the State
‘Gusird for $37,994.008, was an in-
crease of $26783834 over the cur-
len*; biennjum. -
-2 Vandegrift aecnsed

Hotel in San  Francisco with
operatlng & politicians’ paradise,
"with free penthouse and -room
- ascammodations and. bar privi-
Jliges’ for - t&vored persons. The

Bessions of Legls-
‘ _l!lf ment Clm'ges Seen:
SACRAMENTO, Dec. 5. (UP—

‘Governor-Elect Earl Warren and;
two inquxsxtive state budget g'roups.

w’xth resultant economics and m'm-.

atate
officials in charge of the Clift :

hotel 18 lncluded in Pacific Sav- |
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Oak|and C|+y
Manager New
Fmance Chlef

SACBAMENTO, Dec. 5 UR —
_Govemor-Elect ‘Earl Warren today
{appointed John ¥, -Hassler, city
mansger. of Oakland, to the key
position of director of finance for
the new administration beginning
next month. T

Hassler wxll‘.'reeeive $10,000 per
year. It was Warren's first choice
in his cabinet. -

‘Warren and Hassler have been

life-long friends. The new director
is 51, was bom in Oakland, and
was a long-time cashier of the!
Central National Bank of Oakland
before becoming city manager in'
1933, & position he has held since
ithat time,-
i - Haassler is a Republican and once |
iserved on the State Athletic Com-|
mission during the Rolph admin-
;istration,

Warren said the new director
f,_would come to Sacramento next
week to participate in the budget
hearings now under way. He will
be in-charge of ‘the half-billion dol-
lar bequest which goes to the leg-
islature in January.

. Warren praised George . Kllllon
findihce director for retiring Gov-.
-ernor Culbert L."Olson, for carry-
.ing on the budget hearings until
he could choose from a large field
for the important post,

Hassler and Killion will cooper-

ate in preparation of the budget
Warren said

i
1
]
{
[
|
l
t

ialvie. 'l'he’ 'Sta‘.te Depsl'tment of
| Public. Health requested 2 budget |
-"incfease of $775,000, chiefly for
establlshment of a southern
. Cualifornia branch of its labora-

tories, .

5. Vanaexrirt criticized too many
high salariés in the State Council
of ‘Defense setup.

‘8. Warren and the hgslators re-;
| vealed a close harmony on compar-
iLing “budget notes before tlie final'
document ‘goes to the legislature,!

imum of public bickering. All of-.
ficials hammered unceasingly in
hearings for strict curtailment of
state acthtles to all but wartime:

. mmmnmdiate

. ings and Loan Assoclation prop-

8. “Vandegrift revealed plans of.
the adjutant general's office for'
& proposegt reorganized State!
Guard setup .of 10,000 instead of,
‘the present 7000, calling for en-:
‘rolling of ‘youth& between - 16 and
18, Abgndonment of the State
‘Militia ‘was foreseen,- since there,
&was no appropriation asked for:
ithe mnext biennium. - :

ertles which are under .operation :
by the state huﬂdlng and- "loan :

Oskland Tribune, December 5, 1942
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Oakland Tribune, December 6, 1942

now non‘fmed.

“ ume by the Army aixthonties.'Many depart
' ments are azskmg for the matxmn@mra jOb'S

1ew . i “cause empl;ﬁyees are: leamng ‘the Staﬁe semce;
t to. Join. the ,ﬁmigd fonces.. Tt-geems - that buteau»

i to carry»on;' '_ usual 'nae et resuit of such an,
nttlt;ude ig little: Bonfidence will be. placed in de~3
hag © - partmental requests, and more attention wi '

- § paid to the budget committee set up by- the
. sembly-and the. Senate This commxttee, hea

" by, Senator William P. Rich of Marybvﬂle,
,5 “submit -recommendations -independent of" the
' 'ﬁﬁance directar, ‘and it ‘seems likely ‘that’ War-
ren will lean:more heavily uper fthis commit-
u' tee’s ‘work’ than upon  the .usual- departméntal'
1g Tequests. It-will be welcome news for taxpayers-
 t0 learn -that the days. of padded expense pro-.
grams have ended. ... E .

i' 23
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CuLBeRT L.OLsoN  H2

GOVERNOR

GEORGE KILLION
DIRECTOR OFf FINANCE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
Deparbhnent of FFnance

SACRAMENTO

December 21, 1942

Mr. Aubrey Drury, Administrative Secretary
Save the Redwoods League

114 Sansome Street

San Francisco, California

Dexr Mr, Drury:

) Governor-elect Earl Warran has indicated
his approval of an item of $1C2,222 to be included
ia the next biennial budget for the continuation
of the sacquisitiorn of additional lapd in the Avenue
of the Giants, Humboldt County, and the purchase of
additional land in the Mill Creek Redwoods Forest,
Del Norte County.

This is the reply to ycur letter of
December 2, 1942,

Yours very truly

George Killion
Director of Finance
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WEIGHS RACE |
0%

FOR GOVER:

Democratic Leader
'Studies Situation’;
Decision Pending

By C. LYN FOX
Call-Bulletin Palitical Edilor

George Killion, president off-

the American President Lines
‘and for years a Democratic
party leader in California, is
approaching a decision on

next year.
weighing the advaniages and

gubernatorial
disclosed exclusively
Call-Bulletin,

In a formal statement today
he said he will further study
the situation upon his return
from vacation next week and
“may have” something more to
say on the subject.

OFFERS OF SUPLORT

The nationally known Demo-
cratic leader said he had been
requested repeatedly to clarify
his position by influential lead-
ers in both the Democratic and
Republican parties, He has
had offers of strong support
from these leaders, he added,
and continued:

“As one who has already
served the people of Califor-
" nia as siate director of iis

‘nance and in other official |

capacities, such as chairman
of ithe board of contirel, mem-
ber of ibe California Toll
Bridge Authority and the
Siate Water Authority, I am
apprecialive of and impressed
. by the pipartisan tenders of
help which have come from
sinczre interest in surprising
- yolume,

“in thie most 1'\p1d1v Erow-
ing staie of the union, con-
fronled by grave tax, school,
health and {ranspertation
problems, leadership mnst be
yprovided that is experienced
in governmential, financial
and business affairs, apd at

progressive in all matters af-

whether to run for governor
That Xillion was seriously|
disadvantages of entering the|.

race was first|-
in Thel

tite same iime is alert and-|

AGREES WITH WARREN

Killion emphasized “this
|leadelshlp must be provided
‘irrespective of what party or
what man is involved.”

He said he agrees with Gov-
ernor Warren that periodic
changes in administration are
essential to the heaith of rep-
resentative government.

“gut I also feel,” he added,
“that the voters of Califor-
nia should have an oppor-
tonity o vote for a complete
change in Sacramento, now
that Governor Warren will
not seek re-election. I feel
that the voters will be ready
for such a change in 1954.
Killion paid tribute to the
service rendered by Governor
Warren.

KNIGHT SEES
TWO-PARTY
NOMINATION

1L.0OS ANGELES, Sept. 12
(INS).—California’s Lieu-
tenant Governor Goodwin
J. Knight, fermally an-
nouncing his candidacy
for the governorship today,
said he would seke both
the Republican and Demo-.
cratic nominations.

The Republican said that
almost half “of tens of
thousands of pledge cards”
lie has received have come
from Democrats.

Knight also had a word
on state governmental ex-
penses. He said:

“My -yeais of experience
in  Sacramento eonvinces
me that the cost of gov-
ernment can bhe cut with-
oul jeopardizing secrvices
essential to the people.”

ML et Vs
Bifers of Saazg@ﬁ

Thinks Demiocrats
Should Take Over

George Killion, president of
American President Lines and
active in the Democratic Party,
said today he hasn’t made up
his mind on running for gover-
nor of California.

His name has been mentioned
many times, with increasing em-
phasis since Governor Warren

announced he would not seek re-.

election.

Killion, former state director
of flnance, noted his own p051-
tion in these words:

“Repeated requests have been
made by leaders of the Demo-
cratic Party in California, and
by many persons of influence in
the Republican Party also, that
1 clarify publicly my posmon
xesardmg the possibility of be-
coming a candidate for gov-
groor.”’

Support Offered

He said he’s received “offers of
definite and strong support”
from both parties,
that in California “leadership
must be provided that is experi-
enced in governmental and busi-
pess affairs, and at the same
time is alert' and progressive in
a1l matters affecting the public
interest — 1rrespcctive of what
party or what man is involved.”

He made it clear he feels a‘

Democratic administration is
needed, pointing out that he
agrees with Governor Warren
that periodic changes in ad-

- ministration are essential, and

adding that ‘“voters should have
an opportumty to vote for a com-
plete change in Sacramento.”
Likes Present Job
Killion said he would be “ex-
tremely reluctant” to quit his
job as head of the steamship

line “unless there was sufficient |

reason to believe there were far
wider - opportunities for public
service — opportunities which
would make it possible for me to
work constructively for the fur-
ther development of our state
and the welfare of its people.
“J know something of the chal-
lenge demanded by public serv-
ice,” ‘Killion continued, ‘“but no
orie can remain indifferent to an

honest' opportunity to serve his |’

country or his stafe.”

Killion said he would make ug |.

his mind after talking over the
situation with “friends and as-
sociates” on returning from his

and noted |
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Promises Defmlte Stand On
Governorship Soon

George L. Killion, president of |

"the American President Lines

and a power for many years in|:

Democratic politics, almost
tossed his hat in the ring as a
candidate for Governor of Cali-
fornia yesterday.

In a formal statement issued

by a public relations firm which|;

he has retained. Killion stopped
just short of making an an-
nouncement of candidacy.

U "IED TO RUN.

He said that leaders in the|.

Democratic Party, as well as in.

fluential Republicans, have been|.

urging him to run for Governor.

Killion thanked them for their|i

good will, and promised:

“Upon my return from a
brief vaeaticn, I shall discuss
the situation in detail with
friends and associates, and
later may have a further and
more definite statement to
make.”

Killion has been vacationing
and sounding out political sen-
timent in southern California
for a week, angd is expected to
return to San Francisco in a
few days,

KNIGHT CPPONENT.

If he decides te run, the hig
fight in 1954 will be between
Lieutenant Governor Goodwin
Knight, who long since an-
nounced he would secek the Re-
rublican nomination, and Kil-
lion, a Democrat.

In his statement of yesterday,! .

Killion said he has received re-

peated requests by leaders of|

the ‘Democratic Party in Cali-
fornia, and by many persons of
influence in the Republican
Party also, “for clarificaiion of
my position regarding the possi-
hility .of becoming a candidate
for Governor.”

.

o o

“ant treasurer and treasurer of

T'RESSURE GROWS.
Killion declared that the pres-

sure on him to malke the race|
Las increased heavily since Gov-| #
ernor Ear] Warren announced|:
he will not seek re-election. New/| !
offers of “definite and strong:
support have been received, and| :

from both political parties.”

Killion pointed out that he has| ;

had considerable experience in
rublic affairs. He served former
Governor Olson as State Direc-
tor of Finance dnd in other
posts, and has been both assist-

the Democrat National Commit-
tee., - *
ON LEADERSHIP,
“Leadership must be pro-
vided that is experienced in
governtental, financing and
business affairs, and at the
same time is alert and pro-
gressive in all matters affect-
ing the public interest,” Kil-
lion’s statement said. “It must

- be provided — irrespective of 3

what a pariy or what man
is involved.

“I agree with Governor Wanr-
ren that periodic changes in
adminisiration are essential
to the health of rcpresenta-
tive governnent.

“Sut I also feel thai the
voters of California should
have an opportunity to vote
for a complete change in Sac-
ramento, now that Governor
Yarren will not seck re-elec-
tion. I feel that the veters will
be ready for a change in 1954.”

Killion said he would be re-|.

Juctant to leave the “challenging

and absorbing pesition as presi-|.
dent of a steamship line,” unless

there was sufficient reason to
believe there were far wider op-
portunities for public service—
“gpportunities which would

malke it possible for me to work|:

construetively for the further
development of our State and
the welfare of ifs people

= = 2 v~
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S.F. Chronicle
September 13, 19%45

South Boosts
Killion for

By EARL C. BEHRENS
Political Editor, The Chronicle

Southern California  Demo-
cratic bigwigs are beginning to
boost George L. Killion of San
Francisco, president of Ameri-
can President Lines, as the best
bet of their party for Governor
next year. .

The newest development, ac-

from Los Angeles, is that the
Democrats are becoming cog-

ant Governor Goodwin J,
Knight is beginning to concen-
trate on the Demaocratic vote for
Governor at the June, 1954, pri-
maries. The Democrats want to
get a candidate in the field soon
to block Knight at their pri-
mary.

Southern California Demo-
cratic leaders believe Attorney
General Edmund G. Brown will
seek re-election to his present
post when the chips are down,
rather than run for Governor.

So they are beginning to talk
up a-Killion candidacy.

LEAVE OY ABSENCE
Killion, a former treasurer of

mittee, is understood to be in a
position to secure a leave of ab-
sence from his present job as
head of ‘APL, to run for Gov-
ernor.

The job of the Democrats
would be to get his name known
to the members of their party
before next June 3.

The Democrats also are talk-
ing of either Dan Kimball, for-
mer Navy Seccretary, or possibly
Rex Nicholson of Berkeley, as

Senator Thomas H. Kuchel.
Kuchel may face the opposi-
tion of Superior Judge Fred F.
Houser of Los Angeles county.
Houser, a former Lieutenant
Governor, ran for Senator once
before.

SPEAKING TOUR

Kuchel is making a swing
about the State in the mterest

next year He will speak in Ma-

Clara meeting in Palo Alto and
on Tuesday he will make a non-

cisco Rotary Club.

of hlS ‘eandidacy for ele(‘tion‘

dera ;Saturddy and in Santa Cruz !
Sunday On Monday the Senator|;
will address a county-wide Santa|,

political talk:to the San Fran-

Lieutenant Govemor Knight{
will be back’ 'in:Northern Cah .
fornia next week ‘also. He will|,

cording to an informed source|

nizant of the "act that Lieuten:|

the Democratic National Com-|

possible candidates against U. S.|:

-~ ak inRichmond at a luncheon
‘day.
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"'APL President Says
- “It Is Possible”

(EXCLUSIVE)

. EORGE KILLION, president
. of American President Lines.
still has his hat in the ring—condi-
“tionally—as Democratic candidate for
Governor of California next fall.

Asked by an ARGONAUT reparter
to clarify his statement early this
-week that he “will nat now seck the
nomination,” Mr. Killion admicted
that circumstances might cause him
to change his mind.

“] don't think of anyvthing plausible or
practical that will make me change my
mind,” he said, adding “I have no inten-
tion of being a candidate, but it is pos-
sible”

Mr. Killion, up to the time of his an-
nouncement this tveek, tvas generally felt
to be the strongest candidate for the
Demrcratic romination,

Acording to  political observers, his
statement that he would not now seek the
nomination was a body blow to Demoeratie
hopes, particularly since he is known to
have a strong appeal to the mure liheral
Repuhlicans and thus, as candidare, would
have much the same effect cn the Republi-
cans that Warren had on the Democrats.

In view of the Demacratic victaries
across the country in this week's elections,
observers feel that Mr. Killion is the
Iogical man tw he drafted as Democratic
standard hearer for this pivoral seate in the
crucial electinn of nexr fall,

*, Thaugh Paul R. Leake, newspaper pub- |

Tisher and member of the State Board «of
Equalization, is likewixe a strong candi-
date, Killion’s background is held th be
hetter, newspaper publishers being singu-
larlv unsuecessful in sveking elective nibec.

Attorney General Brown is the strongest
of the nther Democratic candidate materi
But though he is the official head of the
party in the state, it appears unlikely that
he il make a strong bid for nomination.

’ f v’

British, German Autos
Lowest Priced in S. F.

British automchiles, with West German

as a close second, will apparently continte

- to underprice Amerijcan cars in the San
Francisco market despite any price reduc-
tions in 195% models,

A lecal car market check this week re-
vealed the following as the lowest price
new cars in San Francisco today (figures
do nor include tax, license, radio, heater,
unless otherwise specified) :

Morris Minor (Br!

Volkswagen (Germe

Henry J (Kaiser coupe)

Austin {Brtiish sedan).

Chevrolet (business coupe)

Ford (business coupe).—.

MG (British roadster).

Plymauth (husiness ccupe) om.. 2,000

Wo xubstantial price reductions were ex-
pected -for the *5% madels with the excep-
tion of Nash, which ix said to he coming
out with a car at around $1,800.

Recent reductions in British car prices
are in line with a statement made here
this week by Austen Atbu, British MP and
business expere, who said British policy
will continue to he one of selling goods
cn the American market on a quantity
basis in dirret’ price competition.
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ATLLURE of Propositions A and

B at the polls this weck increases
the possibility of a new fare increase
for  the Municipal Railway when
preparation of the annual budget is
undertaken by the Board of Super-
visars,

The fare increase will be considered
because of higher maintenance costs
of old equipment. a downward trend
in passenger revenue, and the near
certainty that employes will get a
wage increase when adjustment-of-
wage time comes July 1. .

Alw, the Publie Utilities Commission
estimates, the hudiet for the coming fiscal
tvear will be upped 10 per cent to meet
the situation,

James H. Turner, manager of utilities,
1told Tire ArcoxacT thae he i now under-

| taking preparation of a madificd Propesi-
ition A and B hallot measure which may

Failure of Railway Bond lIssues
May Cause Muny Fare Hike

be submitted to electors in the June pri-
maries. It might henefically affect the situ-
ation if passed. It would avoid those
items which caused the AFL Carmen's
Union to appose Propasition A and the
CIO 1o rppose beth A and B,

Meanwhile it wax learned that the PUC
estimates the hudizet for the fiscal year will
be increased a substantial percentage to

S.F.’s“B Girl Mess” -

“All Cleaned Up”
—ButIs [t? .

IT 1S a long time between B girl”
accusations  agaiast local tavern
owners and determination of guilt and
possible revocation of license.

The case of Cliffurd Crouch, oper-
ator of an establishment at 590 Pacific
Avenue, is one in point. An accusa-
tion fled against him iate last spring
was first heard on June (8. It was
then continued to June 24 and con-
tinued again to November 19,

Less extranrdinary—possibly hecause it
ix 50 much vounger—is thar of Gordon
Baney, operatar of a place at 80 Turk
Street. A "B girl” accusation was filed
against him on Octcber 14 and is to come
up tor hearing on November 20. It is the
only. one filed in San Francisco since
August,

In view of the tremendous hullabaloo
about the *B girl” situation, and consider-

meet increase:) operation and
costs, The toral Municipal Railway budet
for the current fiscal year is $22.000,000,

The general problem facing street car
operations in the United Statex is one of
steadily declining revenue volume since
1947. In line with that decline San Fran-
cisco had 18.750,000 revenue passengers in
1947 and by July 1953 this had dropped w
13,500,000 revenue passenslers.

A total of 26,000,000 miley were oper-
ated in 1947, and this dropped ouly o
25,500,000 miles for the vear ending in
1953,

\Wages here in 1947 were $1.2% an hour,
They now are $1.894 an hour.

- Gov. Knight Has Opportunity To

Cripple State’s Dope Traffic

i NE of the most important fronts
on which Governor Goadwin
Knight, or any other man in the gub-
ernatorial office, can wark for the
benefit of all California is that of
combatting the dope trafhic.

For years, in thiy swiftly growing state,
newspapers have carried reports on the
steadily mounting toll which dope racke-
teers have been exacting from the penple.
Thev have talked about it constantly, but
nothing constructive has been done,

The amoung of effort that has heen ex-
erted hy cfficial California in cambatting
the tide of hideous crime and corruption
that comes frum the dope traffic has heen
neggligible, as effective as a popgun would
he against a murderer,

Whatever Governor does succeed in
putting an end to the dope rackets is vir-
tnally assurred of any office he wants at
the handys of a grateful people.

To see what Governcr Knight can do,
if he wants to, turn to page 3 and read
“What Will Knight Do Abaut che Dope

| Traffie”

A wm-af-war has developed between
the Mayors office and the Civil Service
Coinmission over the urgent request for
approval of an additional forty-five tratfic ‘
ofticers made by the San Franciseo Police
Caomnission,

Thix wax precipitated by a recent Civil |
Service report indicating approval of only
thirty-five new traffic policemen. It con-
fends oo many palicemen are assigned to
¢lerival jobs, finger-printing and the like
which should be held by civilian eme |
ploves—awith the result thar these men;
could be transferred to trathic. i

Maver Rohinson is standing pat for che |
45, holding that this ix an emergency |

CHIEF GAYFEY, CIVIL SERVICE IN ROW

meastire of uttnost impertance for afleviae-
ing the increasing congestion in the down-
town area,

When asked his reaction to the Civil
Service reporr, Chief  Caffey said it
showed a Tack of understanding of police
waork generally as well as of certain spe-
cific operational security needs. For in-
nce, the majority nf prliccren holding
johy are dis caxes, having heen
injured in line of duty,

Ax vet, the report has nat heen received
by the Board of Supervisors. After i
reaches them ie will have a preliminary
reading and then he referred to the proper
comnittee for sty and an open hearing.

img the pond S of the Board of
Equalization set-up, it weuld seem strange
if the “B girl" s were really safely
passed—despite a hoard official having told
Tue ArcoNACT this week thae B girls”
are no longer a problem,

Earlier this week it was revealed chat
District Attorney Lynch has made a writ-
ten request for revocation of a tenderloin
liquor license, descrihing the place as
“nothing mere than a hangout for pro-
curers and prostitutes.”

On October 3, as reported in the Exam-
intr, Board Member Paul R Leake ac-
cused the San Francisco Palice Depart-
mene of laxity in enforci
laws.
aad cry ahout ™ s since thae date,
and so one may safely assume that police
activity en that sccre has heen at its usual
minimum.

If so, that means that “greedy bhac own-
ers” have as their chicf fear only the
Hoard of Equalization agents—not much
of a hazard in view of the cumbersome
manner in which the board moves.

Its cumbersomeness, furthermore, is not
limited to the gap between accusatinn and
hearing. The hearing officer’s findings are
not final, they are cnly a recommendation
on which the State Board may act when
and as it sees fit,

v

Why the Slowness On
“B Girl” Hearings?

Why is the State Board of Equalization
s painfully slow an hearings concerning
“B girls” and other accusations against
tavern owners? )

The question is interesting, especially in

a

view of a Call-Bulletin editorial for Oc-,

tober 1 which quoted the Atte ey General
as saying there ix “plenty of law? at hand
if the Board only wants to use :

0 aftorney
ating Jocally,

Ivores Daing, San Fran
who hears most easex arigi
ix hearing atheer for an aren extending
from Crescent City to San Luis Obispo.,

Dains, scheduled to hear the cases of
Baney anc Crouch, told au ARGONAUT re-
porter that press of business and the di
tances he needed to cover prevenr closiv

the ap between accusations and hearings.
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

Alan Post was interviewed by the Earl Warren Project of
the Reglional Oral History Office in order to preserve his
observatlons on developments in state finance during the
years, beginning in 1946, that he served as technical staff
to the Joint Legislative Budget Committee.

Conduct Interviews were held on June 11, September 14

of the and December 6, 1971, in Mr. Post's handsome

Interview: high-ceillinged office in the 0ld state capitol
building. Tall windows, walls of celadon green
and Post's own soft-wash watercolor landscapes
were a qulet background for the sometimes
turbulent state budget process which required the
legislative analyst's advice and counsel at
several points during these interviews.

A serene, scholarly man, slender and self-assured,
Post talked easily and thoughtfully, commenting
that he enjoyed thinkling back over the past.
Although he insisted on his own political naivete,
one Jjudges that hls strategic sklill 1s excellent.
Mary Ellen Leary, adviser to the Warren Project
and longtime Sacramento reporter for the San
Francisco News, has spoken of him as "the one man
with continuity from that time to thlis, with the
greatest insight and the most objectlive viewpolint
and the greatest reputation for candor ... hired
by the leglislature to dissect and improve on the
governor's budget ... an interviewee par excellence."”

In discussing his youth, he offered a glimpse of
the great land development projects which swept
California in the 1920s, and the discovery of his
own intellectual and creative gifts while he was
working and studying in Southern Californla and
at Princeton University.

Post Joined the Office of the Leglslative Analyst
in its infancy [1946], a time of new ideas and
strong men in government, and describes how 1its



ii

methods and functions have grown over the years.
In 1973, his office not only kept a steady
evaluative pressure on the present budget, but
also was preparing analytical material on issues
that his judgement indicated were developing. As
Post serves the legislature, so the Department of
Finance serves the governor in supervising the
expenditure of public revenues, the taxes people
pay for services rendered by the state. In

this interview and Ellis Groff's memolr about

hils years in the Department of Filnance, one gets
a good sense of the dynamics of interaction
between the two branches of government.

Post was one of the few public servants interviewed
in this project who was willing to discuss possible
shortcomings of the Warren administration. His
interview provides some new lnsights into
irregularities in lobbylng and liquor administra-
tion, and ralses a question on banking of state
funds that seems to have been largely overlooked
by students of the period.

He reviewed the rough-edited transcript of these
interviews, deleting short portions he found
repetitive or irrelevant and clarifying certain
points. He also was generous in providing written
answers to questlions on the transcript, including
a lengthy summary statement at the conclusion of
the manuscript. As an example of his thinking on
more recent concerns in public finance, an address
he gave in 1971 is included as an appendizx.

One hopes that, when he retires to Spaln to paint,
he will find a vantage point from which to do a
full and thoughtful account of the course of
state government in mid-century, using Californla
as rich illustrative material.

Gabrielle Morris
Interviewer-Editor
Regional Oral History Offilce

16 Januvary 1973
486 The Bancroft Library
University of Californlia at Berkeley
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Morris:

Post:

Morris:

Post:

I FAMILY AND CHILDHOOD

Why don't we go back to the beginning, and start
out with where you were born, and what your family
was like, what you were like as a youngster.

All right. Well, I was born in Alhambra, Californila
in 1914. My father was a land developer, farm land.
He ceame from a family from Iowa, of some distinction.
His father had been offered the positlion of secretary
of agriculture in a Republican administration way
back when. A very brilliant man, who was apparently
an extraordinary farmer. He had one of the largest,
1f not the largest, binder twline businesses in the
country. He was a person who took great interest in
farming, and apparently dominated the Iowa state failr
at a time when Iowa was the great farm center of
America. President of the local bank. A man of

- great integrity, who was killed in an automobile

accident at the age of 65. Interestingly enough, my
father was also kllled in an automobile accldent at
the age of 65.

That was my grandfather. His name was August
Post, and so that's where I got my first name of
August Alan Post.

That's what the first "A" stands for.

That's right. It's not for "Anonymous," it's for
August. [laughter] My mother came from an English
family, the Stickneys. My parents were both born
in the same 1little Iowa town of Moulton. My father
went to the University of Chicago and to Stanford
University. He was always a very enterprising sort
of person, a tremendous salesman. He went into the
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Post:

Morris:

Post:

land development and selling business. He came out
west and went to Stanford, and wanted to make his
career out here. He borrowed some money from his
father and bought some land, and was very successful
as a young man. He developed large agricultural
tracts. He was always in agricultural land develop-
ment.

Western Land Development

' We moved all over the state, Orland, Marysville. We

lived in Berkeley, all over the southern part of the
states in Washington and Arizona. He started the
Cortero project in Tucson with some 30,000 acres of
desert land south of Tueson, which was put into
agriculture and became one of the major agricultural
developments of the west, but lost that 1n the land
crash of about 1920.

So, it was a perlod of ups and downs, with great
successes and fallures and then starting over again.

Would this be bringing in water to -~

This would be putting water on virgin land, and then
selling it. He used to bring people in by carloads
from Idaho and that sort of thing. He built camps
and large houses in Arizona, for example, where they
brought prospective buyers in and sold thousands of
acres of agricultural land. It was bare land, and
my father invested, in Arizona, between a milllon and
two milllion dollars in water development, so it was
put under irrigation. Then he sold this to farmers.

S0 this was hils life, moving around, developing
the tracts of agricultural land. He developed land
finally in Palmdale and Lancaster. This is where he
actually ended his 1life in 1949, when he was killed.
The family still are in Lancaster. We still own
land, which is now within the city. It's been
developed into urban development. I have a relatlvely
small interest in 1t, but with my mother's death a
couple of years ago, I inherited some portion of that.
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I left. My brother stayed with 1it, and my
sister continued to live in Lancaster, but I'm the
one who left home. I wanted to go on to graduate
school and be an economist. I didn't want to be
related to the agricultural industry.

So we, as I say, lived all over the state of
California, in innumerable cities. We always rented.
We spent most of our lives in the South Pasadena
area. 1 went to grammar school and hligh school in
South Pasadena. I went to college at Occldental, as
did my two brothers and my sister.

Are you the eldest?

I'm the second. The others are presently living in
Southern California. My interests were primarily
artistic~-as my family's were. I came from a musical
and artistlic family. My mother was a musiclan. My
brother 1s an artist, although he retired from the
farm business, but he's also a painter. He has
retired in Santa Barbara, where he paints full time.
My sister was a musician, and her children are
musiclans. In fact, music runs very deeply in the
family. Two of us are palnters, as heavy second
Interests, very heavy.

I went to Choulnard Institute of Art part time,
while I was going to Occldental College. I was an
art minor. I also went to all kinds of art schools
at night when I was working in Southern California
while I was going to school.

We had a hard time in the depression. My father
lost everything he had in about 1930-31, and lived
essentlally off his very substantial insurance
equities, because the real estate business was just
dead for a number of years there. He went out and
tried to create business, but it wasn't very
successful. So I dropped out of school and went to
work after my sophomore year in college, which was
in 1933. I worked between 1933 and 1936 in the
Security First National Bank. All of us, the children,
were out working at some point in that time.

Would that be down in Santa Barbara?



Post: That was 1n Los Angeles. I was 1n the head offlce
of the Security First Natlonal Bank. I started as
a runner, and then a téller, at $65 a month. Worked
up to $85 a month in three years.

Morris: Por those days that was qulte a respectable salary.

Post: Well, it was not too respectable. It was better
than i1t would have been except for NRA. They were
required to hire one person when the country went
to the forty or forty-five hour week, and I got
that job. It was the base, bottom salary, I think,
you could be paild. But in those days, any Job was
a good Jjob.

So I worked there during that perliod, and read
incessantly. I went to night school a good deal.
I first started painting very seriously by golng to
all the night art schools, and also takling a lot of
other courses, at the banking schools, and some
University of Californla extenslon courses, and that
sort of thing, for those three years. It was a very
productive three years for me, perhaps as productilve
as any three years I've ever had.

Morris: That's a remarkably full schedule. Was this the
origin of your interest in economlcs?

Pamily Cultural Interests

Post: No, I wanted to be a doctor at that time, and I read
very extenslvely in medicine. I had no interest in
economics at that time at all. My maln interest in
those days was to become educated. I came from a
famlly that was extremely interested in cultural
matters. Up to this time however I had not been very
interested in reading, frankly. On the other hand
my slister and brother were elther valedictorian or
salutatorian of their classes. My slster and Glenn
Dumke chased each other, one, two, all the way through
college.

Morris: This 1s Glenn Dumke of the state college system?
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That's right. He was generally number one, and she
was number two. She worked her way through college
while she was doing that, and 1s an extraordinary
women, |Who 1s not only trained as a musiclan but
was, in fact, a geology major. She was a reader in
economlics on the basis of taking one course of
economlcs for a later presldent of the college,
Arthur Coons, who inslisted that she be his reader in
advanced economlics, which was a kind of an linsult

to me, I always thought! I don't know if she knew
anything about economics, but he thought she was a
whiz on the basis of a course she took with him.
She's a very practical, intelligent gal. She took
enough economics that she has taught economics in a
Junlor college since. She also taught drama although
she primarily taught music. She also helped the dean
of the college wrlte a history of the college, while
she was going through.

That was the historian who was the dean of the
faculty--Robert Glass Cleland, a Callifornla hlstorlan.
She assisted him to write a history of the college.

So she had her hand in all kinds of things.

What was her name?

Priscilla Parker. Her husband was assistant superin-
tendent of schools in the Lancaster district. He's
been professor at the Jjunlor college there, chalrman
of the academic senate. They've lived there since.

My other brother, Rudd, which was my father's
mother's family name, was also a very excellent
student in high school. He dropped out of college
at the end of the sophomore year because of the
depression, went back one year at UCLA and never
finished. But he's the brain in the family really,
and is pretty good at everythling. An inventor and
a good nusician, and a good painter. A very
intelligent man. He's retired, llves in Santa
Barbara with his wife, who was also an Occldental
girl, Phi Beta Kappa, musiclan. They have three
small girls.

My other brother is Stuart, who lives 1n
Lancaster, and has been involved in some of the
activities up there. He's not married.



Morris: It must have been quite a bunch to grow up with.

Post: It was an interesting life. We had a family quartet.
We traveled a great deal. They would take us out of
school to travel at the drop of a hat, because my
mother, who was a school teacher, felt that she could
teach us and it would be good experience. My father
was always travellng in this big old Cadillac of
ours. We would get in the car, and we would have
family skull sessions all the way up and down the
state. There was so much intellectual interest on
the part of my older brother and slister, particularly,
that 1t was a constant struggle for me. Because I
really wasn't that interested in it. I was the poor
student of the famlly.

My interests were primarlily in athletics in
high school although I was still small and no star.
I was four feet elght, when I graduated from high
school, and grew about ten inches my first year in
college. I was a four year track man, in Class C,
1f you know what that "C" was. That was the little
boys. ©So I was always a peanut, but terribly
interested in sports.

I studlied and made real progress as a violinist.
Was always Interested in art. But I was almost a non-
reader. It was only when I went to work in the bank
that I became an absolutely avid reader. Primarily
out of ambition to ma2ke up for lost ground, because I
at that point became very ambitious, for some reason,
for the first time in my life. I was golng to do
somethling with myself.

Banking, College and Palnting

Morris: Were you living by yourself?

Post: No, I was living with my family. We lived in Eagle
Rock, and then in Arcadia. During that period of
time, I listened to a great deal of music. I worked
at night in the bank downtown a good part of the
time, and that made it possible for me to llsten to
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these marvelous music programs all morning, with

the guldes that the gas company gives you. You

know, over the radio. I would follow those programs
with books to get to know all about music. In
addition I had a very careful program of reading

that would cover the waterfront, on literature and
medicine, and things of that kind to repair my
deficiencies. I really learned an extraordinary
amount 1in those three years, by Just workling day and
night, and enjoying it thoroughly, for the first time
in my life.

Did you meke up your own readling guldes?

Yes. Interestingly enough, I used some guldes, but
I became Interested in Spengler's, Decline of the
West, which 1s so full of so many references that
out of that, by spending about a year or a year and
a half goling methodically through that book, and
trying to ldentify every one of the references that
he used in 1t to the Faustian and other cultures, you
know. He would talk about Pythagoras and so on, soO
I would get books and keep looking up all of these
references till I could understand what he was
talkling about. It was an awfully backward way of
doing it, but it was one that sustalned my interest.
So when I finished Spengler's Decline of the West,

I had covered a lot of territory.

We had a county llbrary nearby in Arcadlia, and
I would walk over there with my dog in the morning
and take back an armful of books. I went on the Blg
Red streetcar line to work every day, which was good
for reading. In the summers we'd go to Long Beach
because we were renting and free to move and I would
ride those red cars to Los Angeles to work. This
gave me a chance to swim, which I became very much
Interested 1n, and later was on the swimming team
at Occidental. And then I would also read the
forty~-five minutes to an hour at lunchj I always read.
I jJust did an enormous amount of reading, and had a
real ball out of it.

Then I also went to some night schools in art
during that period of time.

Where were these offered? Was this part of the
college?
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The first one I ever took was a little class that
was run by the former art editor of the Los Angeles
Times, who lived in Sierra Madre, and who had a
class up there. It must have been some adult
education class, because I didn't have to pay any-
thing particularly. He was a man who put us to
drawing in charcoal all kinds of common objects. I
remember especially drawing a cello. The old
disciplined type of training. It was fascinating.
He was a man who represented the old school, beard
and all, you know. Marvelous o0ld gentleman.

[laughing] New school.

That's right. But he was the o0ld world artist. From
there I went to all kinds of schools when I returned
to college. By that time, I was so smitten with art
that I took 1t as a minor.

Oh, I also went to Los Angeles Junlor College
for about one year while I was working in the bank.
That was excellent. The teachers were lousy. No,
one of them was lousy, and one of them was excellent.
But it was a good class, the first time I ever had
a nude model, so that this was an excellent life
class. One of my associates--I never knew who he
was at the time--turned out to be Jack Burroughs,
who was the son of Edgar Bice Burroughs. He later
became a professional painter. He was a charming
person, and he never told me who his father was. I
learned it only several years later. That's one
thing I remember well about that class.

So then after 1936, things improved enough that
I was able to go back to Occidental. I'd already
spent two years there as a freshman and a sophomore.
My father had negotliated with his usual capable
salesmanship half scholarships for me and my brother.
I rode in on my brother's academlic reputation.

Two college educatlions for the price of one?

For the price of one. They were very generous. They
even loaned us the other half, as it turned out, so
we got by by the skin of our teeth. We had dropped
out and I worked the three years in the bank. My
brother went back to Chlicago and tried to sell real



Post: estate with my father to get a development golng
back there. Then I went back to school in 1936,
after three years in the bank, --

Morris: Did they let you pick up as a Junlor?

Post: Yes. I had finished two years. I started as a
Junior then, and with my background 1t was very
easy for me. From that point on I had practically
straight A's and was able to turn what was a
mediocre academic record into Phl Beta Kappa.

Morris: In two years.

Post: In two years. I was a good student when I went back.
I also worked during that time. I had almost all
the good Jobs that were around. I was the audlitor
for the student unlon, and was a checker at the
restaurant. I was the reader for the chalrman of
the economlcs department. I sold Saturday Evening
Posts. I was the treasurer for my fraternity, for
which I got my board and room.

Morris: That was a very good Jjob.

Post: Yes, it was. I was a gardener for the school, and I
was a Janltor and swept the chapel and other bulldings
after work. I was--oh, let's see. All kinds of
things like that. Oh, I was the assistant to the
graduate manager, handled all the tickets and that
sort of thing for all the football games.

Morris: How did you find time to go to classes?

Post: Well, as I say, I was pretty well prepared by that
time with this reading I had done. I was talked out
of going into medical shool, which is what I had
gone back to school thinking I wanted to do, because
I was told that I really couldn't afford it, to
carry that kind of load and still make up all the
defliciencles that I had in chemlstry and physics
and so on, because I had no science background at
all.

Since my father was a businessman, and I had
worked In the bank and had found the financial world
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to be gquite interesting, I went into economics. I
was a major in economlcs --

Who talked you out of going into medical school?

Dr. Selle, who was the chairman of the physics
department, I guess i1t was. He was the advisor on
pre-medical education. He seemed to think that it

was too much of a burden for me to undertake. It
might well have been. As it turned out I was grateful
that I did what I did. But I was very much interested
in art, and I took a lot of that too.

Who do you remember from the art department?

Well, there was Kurt Baer Von Weisslingen who was a
German, who later went to UC Santa Barbara. He was
a very lnteresting man who was personally acquainted
with Neutra and the German school. He was very good
in music as well as design. To me, this was
absolutely fascinating, because he developed the
cultural relationships between the German expres-
sionlists and modern muslc and painting, and did 1t
in a way that excited my imagination. I found him
very interesting.

On the palinting slide, we had extraordinarily
capable people. We had a water-colorist who was
one of the finest in Californla, named Tom Cralg.
He was of the Millard Sheets, Milford Zorne group,
and was about twenty-eight years old at the time,
dynamic, vigorous. I worked wlth him a good deal
thereafter. We'd go to night classes after school
wherever we could get a nude model, to paint from
the figure. We couldn't do that at Occidental. We
had 1life drawing, but it wasn't nude. Thls was more
difficult, you know. A clothed model 1is not nearly
so good to work from as a nude model. We'd go up
to Glendale, or Mulr Tech, or anyplace we could find
2 model--mainly up to Glendale. I guess it was
generally at the community college level where you
could get these. Craig thought I was talented, and
gave me the only A++ I ever got in any subject, in
painting.

Oh, that's marvelous.
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He was a tremendously excitling and interesting man.
He died just about a year ago. He had showed
regularly. He had works in the Metropolltan Museum,
and at that time was one of the very bright young
painters in California.

The other painter who was very influential was
the life class man, Onestes Uzzell, who had studied
at the Art Students League in New York. He was a
student of Robert Henri, and had an extraordinarily
well-disciplined approach to painting, and it was
from him that I derived, I think, the best instruction
I ever got from anybody. The Henrl approach through
the Art Students League 1s 1n my view an extra-
ordinarily good method.
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ITI NEW WORLDS TO CONQUER

So, Occidental offered, for a small school, what in
my opinion was an unusual program in music and art.
When I went back to Princeton as a graduate  student
at the end of my Occldental career--I graduated in
1938--I found none of that same kind of dynamic,
actlive art role being played by Princeton. Princeton
was primarily orliented toward art history. It had
a flne museum on campus--and they were close to
New York, so that I was able by bumming rides with
the faculty to get in and out of New York a great
deal. This was a tremendous experlience to me in
the two years that I spent at Princeton in the
graduate school of economics.

I painted then outside of class, to the extent
that one or two of my professors were somewhat
critical of the fact that I wasn't studying all the
time 1in economics. I simply could not have survived
if I hadn't done that. I used to go into New York,
where I would go to the little gallery that showed
John Marin, and Georgia O'Keefe, and Dove, and which
was run by the great photographer Alfred Steiglitz.
Steiglitz, as you know, was the husband of Georgla
O'Keefe.

And he was running an art gallery?

He had the art gallery originally called an American
Place, but which when I was there had moved over to
Madlison Avenue. It was a very delightful gallery.

It had 1ts own group, which is a very famous group,
Arthur Dove, John Marin, Georgla O'Keefe,--oh,
Marsden Hartley. That was about it. And of course
they all became greats in American art. I used to go
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In there as a graduate student, and a very nilce

young man would let me pore over all of the un-matted
watercolors of John Marin which they had in stacks.
And of course, here I was, a watercolorist who had
studied from Tom Craig, and addicted to watercolor.

I was able to literally Jjust run through the works

of the master there, who was the great master, of
course, of our time, in watercolor.

I was constantly dickering with the gallery
to buy a Marin cheap. But in fact I had absolutely
no money when I was in Princeton. I went there
without a cent to my name, really. I had sold real
estate that first summer in San Bernardino, going
around house to house trying to sell beach lots in
that hellish climate of San Bernardino. That's where
I really learned to have doors slammed in your face,
and how to be artful about a lot of things that I've
since regretted that I have become acquainted with--
such as, when you come to a door and a black person
came to the door, you always asked where you could
find something rather than tell them you were selling
real estate, because you couldn't sell to a black
person. Because these were beach lots in Balboa, you
see. It always galled me, and made me come to
appreciate in a way that I never had before, the
other side of life in America.

In the school that I had gone to, in South
Pasadena, there was no such thing as a black person.
I had never had any real contact with a black person,
except in Arizona where we had a Negro cook, who had
a little child who ran around with my sister all the
time, when they were very small children. She was
the pickaninny, and that was all you knew about the
blacks. But this selling experience opened my eyes
to some of those things, and I think really colored
my attitude in a very significant way.

[Question added to rough transcript sent to Post
for review.] How did this selling experlience affect
your attlitude toward blacks?

[Written reply.]
l. It made me realize how totally unfair
and bullt-in our discrimlnation 1ls.



Post:

Post:

Morris:

14

2. It made me understand how difficult it
would be to eradicate it.

3. I began also to realize how white persons
accept the discrimination and that moral
Judgements are not made. White people
are not consclilously evlil in accepting
discrimination. They must be made to see
the evilness of 1it.

4. I have tried in every instance when this
issue was apparent to assist in promoting
factors which would establish equality of
opportunity. This has been partlicularly
true in recent years when the lssue became
clearer, 1n the education field and in
soclial welfare and Medi-Cal. These 1issues
are involved in many pleces of legislation
and. I merely tried to glve appropriate
credit to the mlnority need and claim for
equal treatment.

Graduate Studies at Princeton

So I went back to Princeton with one land sale under
my belt that was supposed to produce $750 in
commission. We were selling lots at that time in
San Bernardino because at thls point we had moved
there. My father was selling land which had been
foreclosed under a bond 1ssue, and so as we lived
there, selling those lots that were outside of San
Bernardino in the Cajon Pass, we bullt our own home,
largely out of trading commissions on land sales for
materlals for our house, and for labor. So we bullt
ourselves a very nlce, large adobe house on top of

a2 hill outside of town, which my brother designed and
constructed, actually.

In the meantlime he-~~I mentioned that he was
inventive--had started bullding tilt-up concrete
builldings by a method which he had worked out himself.

This would be in the thirties?



Post:

Morris:

Post:

15

This was in 1934, '35, and '36. He went down to

the rallroad yards and got miscellaneous gears and
developed cranes so he could 1ift up the concrete
walls, that were lald on the ground with reinforcing--
crank them up in place. He sold the houses for $750,
to start with. We did nothling but lose money, because
they were too cheap. He gradually got the price up

to several thousand, I think, for the larger houses,
but it never was a very good economic venture. It

was successful from a technical standpolnt, but he
really dildn't know enough about costs, I guess, to
come out very well on it. But 1n that way we survived
during those years.

I, in the meantime, was golng to Princeton. I
would come home durlng the summer, and help work with
hin, digging septlc tanks, and holdling strings, doing
all that sort of stuff. I had absolutely no 1lnterest
whatsoever 1n it, 1t was just a kind of a chore.

Where had your brother gotten thls 1dea for tilt-up
constructlion? Was anybody else yet trylng 1t -- ?

He always was inventlng things. He 1lnvented a new
baler--we had pick-up balers in Lancaster, and he
developed a torque kind of device that milled the
hay at the same time 1t plicked 1t up, and blew 1t
into traillers that came along. I was told that
International Harvester came along and picked 1t up,
and patented 1t and developed 1t. He was always
workling at things, ever since he was a small child,
inventing things. If he ever came up having to do
anythlng, he always redeslgned the wheel himself,
you know.

No, I think he just thought 1t would be a good
idea. I never knew of anybody else who did it before
that. During the early war years, when agricultural
prices started jumplng, we decided we could do better
to farm the land that my father was trylng to sell
at Lancaster than to go on trylng to sell it--they
moved up there. That was in 1941, I think, '40 or
'41., He had his own machine shop then and he was
constantly inventling everything that went on the
farm, to keep that alfalfa going day and night.
Because that's what ran alfalfa, the mechanical slde
side of 1t, you know.
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Because the crops grow so fast.

You run the water day and night. The pumps went
constantly. He'd get up every two hours all night
long to change the water. When a ditch went out,
you'd get up and fight it, because at times 1t would
break through those sand banks, and you'd have to

go out and repair the break. You kept golng from
one line to another.

You run in the water by gravity down these
large channels. You have little rises of earth
between the grain rows that channel it. Checks,
they call 1t. The water came from a ditch that ran
at the highest point along the top, and then you'd
flood one, and then you would put a half circle
metal dammling device down and cut off the water and
go on to the next one. And of course when the sand
bank went out, why, then you'd stand there and slug
yourself sick trylng--by throwlng earth in, so you
didn't have to shut down the pumps--to f1ll the break.
And thils ultimately gave him a heart conditlion that
caused him to have to retire.

For example, he invented a machine that used
two water barrels, that automatically, as you went
along, leveled the land. In other words, the water
leveled so that the blade would conform to any tilt
of the water as the land would tilt. The water would
always keep the blade level, geared to the water.

To plow land?

No, thls was for levelllng the land when you develop
i1t, new. When you put it in alfalfa you had to have
it very level, so the water would run in a very level
manner down the check. The first job 1n alfalfa land
development was to level the land. Well, rather than
golng out and having people put all of these little
stakes in, he decided that he could bulld a large
blade, and using the princlple that water would always
seek 1ts own level, he devised some basls where the
blade would adjust to the level of water, so that he
could take this thing and just run it along, and it
would always maintaln a level without using instru-
mentation of any kind.
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Did it work?

It worked very well. I never forgot that, so when

I built my swimming pool here in Sacramento and
being no kind of a construction man myself--(I did
some digging, partly for exercise, using a Paddock
plan some twenty years ago)--when I came to level

it up, I used the rainwater that had fllled up the
bottom and measured up an equal distance from the
water that had in the meantime filled 1t, remembering
his experience. I used water was a level. That

way I didn't have to go out and get the instruments
they usually use. It worked beautifully. So I never
forgot that.

Anyway, I went back to Princeton. I was there
two years. I was 1n a class of about five people.
It was a marvelous experlence. The Bast was a
tremendously exciting place to me. Princeton was
beautiful, absolutely marvelous. We were a select
group. I was the only one who came directly from
college. All the others had had at least one year
of graduate work, so 1t was hard for me to keep up.
But I took my doctoral exams, the general exams, at
the end of the second year, and passed them. At
that time I was a Junior fellow, which made life
easler than the first year, when I almost starved to
death. I literally ate one organized meal a day,
which was my breakfast and which came with the roomn.
I think I paid $5 a week, and for that I got breakfast
with the family, who were very kind to me. For lunch
I had an 1lce cream cone, and for dinner I had, for
I think seven or eight months, [laughing] the same
supper, which was a banana and two slices of bread
with a plece of cheese in between. And a glass of
water. That went on for about six or seven months
until I began to get kind of 111, and then began to
get some other food.

I mentioned that I made $750 as a starting point,
to start school, but unfortunately that deal fell
through after I got back to Princeton, so I really
then was living off the charity of my family who
would send me whatever money they could manage to
scrape together from time to time on land sales. And
I borrowed. I borrowed from the school, and I also
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Post: borrowed from my mother's cousins who I found living
back there. They were wonderful Quaker people, and
to my great interest I found that I was remotely
related to the Cadwalladers of Philadelphia and
Yardley, which is, you know, a very prominent family
like the Cabots and the lLodges in New England. The
Cadwalladers seem to occupy that same role in
Philadelphia. I first found that out when I went
to the Princeton theater, McCarter Theater, and we saw
the Philadelphia Story. One of the characters in it
was a Cadwallader, and I turned to the man next to
me, who was one of my five classmates in graduate
school, and said, "Hey, I'm related to that family."
He turned to me and said, "Is that right? Well,

I'm impressed!" Incidentally, that person is now
the treaurer of the Ford Motorcar Company.

Morris: He was a classmate in the Princeton graduate school?
Post: Yes.

Morris: What were the particular economic theories you were
studying?

Post: Well, I was always a little more conservative than
most of the others, because I came from a very
conservative, Republican family, who always schooled
you on conservative economics. And I had, you know,
worked up through the bank, and had that kind of
conservative background. I always found that I was
somewhat more conservative in economics than most
of my assoclates.

I was primarily interested in banking and inter-
national economics. I wanted to go back and he
president of Security Flrst National, or chairman
of the PFederal Reserve Board, or something like that.
Nothing small.

Morris: Was Princeton particularly noted for banking?

Post: No. It was good, but this is the kind of thing that
happens to you in a school like Occidental. My
mentor there was the chairman of the department,
who was John Parke Young. He was a distinguished
economist. He and Arthur Coons differed over where
I should go after I graduated. Coons wanted me to
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go to Harvard, and Young wanted me to go to Princeton,
where he had come from.

Well, I was very close to John Young. He was
chairman of the department, and I was hls reader.
So I decided to go to Princeton. He told me it
would be a small, very dlstingulshed institution and
department, and I belleved him. That's the way it
turned out. So with his good 2id I was able to get
in. And that's why I went there, frankly. Also,
Princeton was a school that was good for fellowshlps.
If you could get in, everything was endowed. The
milk on the table was endowed. Everything was
endowed.

The fellowship dild provide you with some -- ?

The second year. The first year I went back there--
as I say, I had come directly from college, and the
rest had been at least one year in Harvard or some
other fine school. Some of them had been out two
years. So they were able to get fellowshlps. Even
though I had good recommendations and good grades,
they also had them. They were able to get fellow-
ships, and I was not. So the first year, as I say,
I literally got along with nothing.

Bananas and 1ice cream.

That's right! I borrowed what money I had to to
pay my tultlion. In those days tultion to graduate
school was $200 a year or a semester. It was very
small, because that was the kind of endowment
situation you had with that very small graduate
school. After all, there were only flve of us
admitted that year 1in my class.

To the whole graduate school, or to the graduate
program in economics?

To the economlcs program. There were two hundred
and fifty 1n the graduate school. The second year,

I was on a fellowship and I lived in the grad school,
and. I wore a gown, and I lived the 1life of Rlley.

I ate well, and I en)oyed life much more.
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Princeton has a very fline academic tradition. Do
they treat thelr scholars well?

It's a wonderful school. The classes were small.
The largest class I had had seven in it. In the
smallest, there were three. There were very close
interpersonal relatlionships between the faculty
members and the students. I still retained my love
of athletics, and used to play football every day
with the faculty and graduate students. We had
interesting people there. Ken Galbrailth was there
at the time, people of that callibre.

Where was Galbraith in his career at that point?

He was an assistant professor, I bellieve, at
Princeton, then. He spent a great deal of his time
going to Washington. I never had a c¢lass from him.

I just ate at the same dinner table from time to

time at the graduate school, and got to know him
slightly there. He was disgusted with me for wanting
to go back to California. Interestingly enough, he
got his degree, Ph.D., from the University of
California at Berkeley. And yet when I sald I was
golng back to California, he looked kind of disgusted,
and he said, "For the climate?" Because he really

is an Eastern Seaboard man in every sense of the word.

My understanding 1is that he was one of Henry
Wallace's bright young men when Wallace was
secretary of agriculture and vice-president under
Roosevelt. After the war started, Galbrailth became
one of the deputy price administrators under Leon
Henderson. My sister-in-law's husband, John Hamm,
was chlef deputy, so I got to know Ken Galbralth
better in Washington, D.C., when we stayed briefly
with the Hamms before I went into the Navy in
February, 1943.

Am I telling you what you want in relation to
the legislative analyst's office?

Very much. Your youth in California when much of
the land was being opened up for development 1ls very
much a part of how you got to be this kind of man,
and how the land has been developed has determined
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Morris: to a great extent what happens wlth the government
of this state.

Post: Actually, you know, in this business, one of the
first things that Mr. Vandegrift talked to me about
was the fact that he liked people who had a
disciplined training, so that they could deal broadly
with any subject, but who also had many contact
points with the problems and interests of soclety.
In thls sense I had a great many experiences. The
kinds of work, what I did as a young man, my father
bouncing all around California--touched almost every
area of California. We traveled extraordinarily.

Morris: How far north did you get iIn thls process?

Post: Oh, my father even investigated land up at Grass
Valley. I remember back in the old days where we
used to travel back through the mountalins, it was
2ll one lane. You had to back uphill, 1t seemed 1like
miles, whenever you met a car. We went into the most
remote kind of country. We lived briefly in Marysville
in the late 1920's. We lived in Orland. My father
was involved in projects all over the state of
California. My brother was born in Spokane. We
lived for a while also in Seattle, and then again in
Arizona. We were living and traveling all up and
down the coast. My father was president of a
corporation that handled land development, and as I
say, was really very successful when times were good,
and then because he was kind of a plunger, would lose
everything when things went bad.

At one time we lived in a beautiful old estate
up in Red Bluff, where I recall we had a dancing
pavilion under the black oak trees. We swam in
the stream, we fished. We'd go up the Yuba River
and swim 1n that beautliful clear water with the
marvelous huge rocks and deep chasm; it was Jjust so
transparent and beautiful. We were constantly golng
out into the country, into the mountalns, into the
orchards. Thls really became a great part of what
brought me back to California, the desire to touch
base with the natural beauty of California.

When we lived in Southern California we spent
much of our time swimmlng at Balboa and Laguna Beach.
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Post: We were never fishermen or hunters or anything of
that kind, but we were always outdoors. My father
was always traveling or sellling outdoors, and we
had to walt on him a great deal of the time while
he would go in and try to corral a prospect. So
we would wander around the orchards, and you'd get
the feel of agrliculture in your velins that way.

Later when the depression arrived I had the
set of experlences that came with having to work
for a living, something I had never experienced at
all up to that time--going out and fighting for all
the odd Jjobs, which, as I say, were so numerous and
diverse, at the same time that we were pursuing
these cultural interests. My folks insisted on
studyling with good people. We studled with the
Zoellner Quartet, which was one of the famous fine
quartets in Los Angeles.

I was very much interested in dramatics in
high school, and was in plays in Pasadena Community
Playhouse. I had a hard decision as to whether 1
would pursue drama or go into art when I went to work
at the bank and had time on my hands, and decided I
could move out into night school. I went down to LA
JC and I had to make a decision whether to join up
in drema or join up in art. I decided I would rather
g0 into art, so I went that direction. But all those
things sort of opened up contact points in Southern
California.

When we lived in the San Bernardino area, as I
say, I went out to Riverside, went out to Colton,
painted out in the country, all around there. We
used to take painting trips. My brother and I used
to go all up Highway 1 to Point Arena and through
that country, palnting day and night, living on the
beach. We had wonderful experiences driving an old
Ford car. No money, but actually using every
resource we had. I remember coming back the last
time--I had wanted all my life to have a leather
Jacket, and I could never afford it. Finally the
Broadway Department Store had a sale on them, and we
went down and bought one. That was a dream come
truet
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I wore it for a number of years, and when we
got up to Point Arena. on one of our painting trips
and started on back, down through Elk--we were going
to drop over the mountalns to come inland to come
home--we had a flat tire on this 0ld car. And I
used up that leather Jacket making boots to get that
car home. Plece by plece by plece, we wore out
that 0ld leather jacket, putting it in the hole until
we got back to San Bernardino without two cents in
our pockets. Marvelous trip. Coming down out of
the mountalns we coasted wherever we could coast,
really. We had one breakdown-~-we spent one night
in Santa Rosa under a bridge fixing the car. Just
a2 marvelous experience.

We came back with Just a whole battery of water-
colors, some of which occaslonally I still see,
because people in Sacramento have bought them. I
still have some of them at home.

Cross-Country Experiences

And then when I went East 1t was a whole new
experlence. The Princeton experience in the East
was so different from California. I rode the bus
five days and flve nights to get back there. The
flrst clgaret I ever smoked, the flrst prostitute I
ever saw, were durlng that trip. The first art
gallery that had anything like Cezanne or Matisse--
because the 1llttle gallery in Denver where I got off
for a few hours had a marvelous collection of con-
temporary painting. That's where I really got my
first taste of the school of Paris. Took a shower
there, I remember at the YMCA. Saw the gallery and
got back on the bus again. There was a two or
three-hour layover. Kept on golng.

We arrived in the Bast in the hurricane of
1938.

I was in Connecticut at that timej; that hurricane
was a major event of my youth.

That's right. This was the hurricane of 1938, and
I said, "Lord, I heard that the weather was terrible
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in the East, but I had no idea it was going to be
like thist"

That was an exceptionally bad year!

Oh, it turned out to be that way. And the bus
driver was late. He would only stop to let us go

to the bathroom. We had nothing to eat, as I recall,
that whole last day. We went on and on and on, Just
driving through this horrible storm. We got to
Princeton about two or three o'clock in the morning.
I went and found that 1little hotel on Nassau Street,
Frenchy somebody's. Went upstairs and went to bed.
Got up the next morning and went down and asked for
breakfast. She sald, "My dear, it's four o'clock

in the afternoont!" I had really conked out. As you
know, on a bus like that, after a while, you Just
sleep off and on and off and on, but you really are
pretty well worn out.

So I went out, and oh, it was marvelous. There
were the corn flelds, and there were the crows.
There was a lovely old Quaker church. I painted
furiously until school started. And then the snow
came, the first time I'd ever seen snow. Princeton
in the snow 1s Just absolutely delicious. I remember
running along the street and thinking, "Isn't this
great to run in!" I came to a place where somebody
had swept off thelr driveway, and I leaped across 1t,
1it on the other side, and went sliding on my tail
about thirty feet down the street, embarrassed to
tears. That was my first experience in how not to
behave in snow. But 1t was really a marvelous
experience.

Then here were all those exciting Easterners.
To begin with, however, nobody would talk to you.
Here I had gone to a small Western school where I had
been the checker, as I say, at the cafeteria. I knew
everybody who came through, because I told them what
they owed. I had been deeply involved in all kinds
of things. But at Princeton, nobody talked to you.
The Easterners were very arch. This was a great
blow to me. The only person who really showed any
personal interest in me, in Princeton as such, other
than the five students or so that were with my class
in the graduate school, was a Jewlish boy, George
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Shaskan, whose father owned a seat in the stock
exchange, and who was a very brilllant young man.

He was an undergraduate who was permitted to take
graduate courses and read ln the graduate offlce

that they had down in the basement of the library.

So I used to go down there and read a lot, and that's
where I got acquainted with him. He was very
hospitable.

He also belonged to one of the eating clubs.
I discovered later that it was the Jewlsh eatlng
club. There weren't too many Jews permitted in
Princeton, and all of the members of his club were
Jewlsh, I belleve. It was my first introduction
also into the Jewlish world, because although I had
gone to school wlth a Jewlsh boy, I never knew he
was a Jew. Jews, as such, Just didn't exist in our
life~--we had no bias in our background as to Catholics

or Jews.

No contacts?

Well, we had some contact, but we never thought of
1t that way. My folks never talked about Jews as
such. I never knew there was such a thing as a Jew,
really, until I suddenly was immersed 1ln a real
Jewlsh family. George insisted that I go to Long
Island with him. This was a great baronlal mansion
owned by his family on the beach at Long Island.

His mother was one of these wonderful Jewlsh mothers
that my son talks about with such relish, because
all his roommates 1in college seem to be Jews, and
he loves them.

She mothered me and the father wanted me to
come into the firm. It was just a wonderful,
delightful, but different experience for me. All
these things have some real impact on you as you
think back on 1it.

But then there were, as I say, these excltlng
contacts with Washington, exclting contacts with
New York. The foreigners who came to Princeton, like
Oskar Morgenstern, who had just come from Austria
where he wrote one of the world's definitive
mathematlical economics books with John Maynard

Keynes.
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Contemporary Economic Theorles

Wasn't this about the time that Keynes theories
were coming --

That's right. Keynes was blg. Actually, before
that, we studied Keynes at Occldental. Keynes at
that point Just had become part of the literature.

I remember I had an awful time with Keynes because

I had no real mathematical background. It was
terribly frustrating to me to have to work my way
through equations to understand economic matters
that I could understand very clearly if you used the
English language. But when you moved over into
equations, that was baffling to me.

I remember standing down in that library reading
room and for personal satisfaction taking the General
Theory of Keynes, and throwlng it the full length
of that room Jjust to get it out of my system and tell
him what I thought of him for doing that to people
like nme.

Yes. That was a time when he was really very,
very important. As he still 1s, of course.

But part of Princeton's advantages were that
they brought in famous people. We met brilliant
economlists from all over the world. We met them in
small circles and had a chance to really talk to
them. It was the kind of experience that you could
only, I suppose, duplicate in those days at Berkeley.

In the west.

In the west. That was commonplace to those assoclates
of mine in the east who had done undergraduate work

at Harvard, where they knew Schumpeter, and Haberler
and other very distingulshed economlists. In fact,

one of the flve members of my class had spent one

year on a fellowship in which he traveled all around
Europe, meeting Keynes and economlists of the Cambridge
school. He came back as the most "savvy" member in
the class, because he had had graduate work and had
gone to Harvard and had this exposure. He knew
everybody. I was just flabbergasted, because I knew
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none of these names. 1 remember one of the professors
one time asking me about so-and-so. I explained what
he had said. Well, he said, "Now, who wrote that?"

I said, "I don't know." :

He said, "I guess that isn't important to you,
1s 1t?" You know, very sarcastically. And I realized
that you had to not only master the logic of economics,
but you had to know who sald it. It was Pigou. I
had never been through this kind of tralning like
they had, in terms of ldentifying people with lideas.
Somewhere along the line, I had simply gone through
the ideas, and could work my way through them. In
fact, I was pretty good at that. I could sometimes
get answers to problems that others in the class
couldn't. And yet I couldn't explaln it. The
professor would say, "Well, you've got the right
answer. How did you come to it." I would say, "I
don't know. If you think about this thing, the thing
sort of opens up and it's perfectly clear how you
add these things together, and thls 1s the way it is."
He said, "That's absolutely right. But you don't know
how you logically come to that." I would say, "No,
I don't. It's Just a kind of--it's Just as though
your mind opens up, and there it is, clear as a bell.
And I can't explain it." This happened time and time
again. I couldn't trace back who saild it. In some
cases it was because I didn't have the mathematics.
I couldn't explaln the mathematical progression to
come to that answer. It was always klnd of baffling
to me to work through that.

Marrlage and Career Exploration

Then--I met my wlfe-to-be at Princeton. She was there
visiting her sister. Her sister had married a very
bright young Princeton man who was working in New
York with the Russell Sage Foundation, named John
Hamm. He later became the chief deputy in the Office
of Price Administration during the war. He was Ken
Galbraith's boss and the number two man in OPA. They
lived in a l1ittle farm in Princeton, and that's where
I met my wife-to-be, Helen, who was called "La Belle
Wills"--her name was Helen Wills, like the tennis
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player, who was a remote relative. The graduate
students called her "La Belle Wills" because she was
a beautiful girl. She worked in the bursar's office,
and everybody used to admlire her carrlage as she
strode to work in the morning.

I met her through one of my assoclates in the
graduate school when we went to visit the Hamms one
night. We got married after I came back to work in
Southern Californie and earned enough money to send
for her.

That's a nice Victorian tradition! It really is.

Yes. We became acquainted, and then I didn't see her
for several months. I had very little money, even
though I was then a fellow. Outslde spending money
was small so I didn't do any dating. However, she -
had an operation for appendicitis, and I heard about
it, so I went to visit her at the hospltal and
brought her a book that I had bought on art, at a
book sale in the Princeton book store. It was so
heavy she sald that every time she picked it up 1t
hurt her. So this was the way we began our romance
[laughing] on a painful notet But we then became
better acqualnted.

I came back west in 1940, after I finished my
generals. I decided not to take another fellowship
and do the dissertation, partly because I was sick
and tlred of school. It had been a long haul for
me, seven years undergraduate and through graduate
school. I didn't want to teach, and so I thought I
might as well get on back to the world of merchants.

I came back and applied to work for the Security
First National Bank, who took one look at me and

sald, "We could never keep you in a million years,"
which I thought was a dismal appraisal of banking.
They sent me down to Schwabacher and Company, which
was an investment house, which I found incredibly

dull and stupid and 1llogical. People reacted on

the basis of what they felt, or what they thought

was the state of the war, or anything other than a
logical economic appraisal of the clircumstances. So
i1t seemed to me. Money ran scared every time somebody
sald something. After about, oh, I don't know, seven
or eilght months in that, John Parke Young came forward
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Post: and asked me if I wanted to teach a class at
Occidental College.

In the meantlime I had gotten married, and we
lived in a little place up on the hill overlooking
Silver Leake in Los Angeles. I went to work at
Occidental on a half-time basls, and worked with
another brokerage house in downtown Los Angeles.
Which I still found very dull. But since the war
was breaking out at that time--thls was 1940, '41--
John Young was called to Washington to go 1n the
state department and I took over hls classes full
time at Occidental. From that time on, then, I was
out of the banking business, and was 1in the academic
world.

Morris: That's interesting, because you had decided you
didn't want to teach when you were leaving Princeton.
How did you like it when you --

Post: I loved 1it. I loved teachlng. As you can see, I like
to talk. When I went to teaching at Occidental, I
found it fascinating. I enjoyed it immensely, and
probably would have continued, at least for some time,
had the war not intervened. As I sald, I resigned
and went to Sacramento in 1941. I found myself liking
what I found here in Sacramento. I liked the leglslature.
I 1iked the debate before committees. I disagreed
violently with Rolland Vandegrift on the first issue
that I had to handle. Thils 1s what happens to people.

Filrst Assignment for Callifornia's Legislative Analyst

Post: He assigned me the job of researching extramural care
in the mental hospitals, which was then a new thing.
I went over to the predecessor of the Department of
Mental Hyglene, which was then under Dr. Bosanoff,
who was the first real fresh air I think in that agency.¥

*#The deslgnation Department of Mental Hyglene was first
used in September, 1945, following a major reorganiza-
tion of staff, program and responsibilities of the
former Department of Institutilons.
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(It was a relatively new approach to mental hygiene
as a matter of fact.) I should say probably it

was the first fresh alr in the mental hospltals as
such. The first constructlive thinking which was
later to be assocliated with the major reforms in the
Warren administration.

I went over there and became s0ld on the concept
of extramural care. I came back over here to the
capltal. We prepared for some meetings with our
committee, and I was glven the opportunity to present
this subject. There was a series of papers on
different subjects. Mine was on extramural care.
After I started I could see that Mr. Vandegrift was
upset with what I was saying, because 1t was obvlious
that he, belng very economy-minded, had decided that
extramural care was not a good ildea. He took the ball
away from me, and started to talk 1n qulte an opposite
manner from which I had concluded, and what we had
agreed on, and what I had written ln the paper, which
was that thls, in 1ts European applicatlon, was a very
effective transition between institutlions and accomoda-
tion in the community.

I remember very distinctly slitting there and
devising ways in which I could get the ball away from
him again, which I dld by answering a couple of
questlions from a member and then swinging right back
into my o0ld theme, and never letting him get in agaln.
Vandegrift was a good guy. He saw what I was about,
and although he obviously dldn't want them to think
that he was golng to lncrease the budget of the state
of Californlia, he let me go on through. I had one
member of the committee who was also sold on the 1ldea.
It was Senator Tickle who helped me get back on the
track. Between the two of us, we kept that thing
going until I finished it. I thought afterwards, "He's
going to fire me, and that's the last experience I'll
have in the state of California."

But Rolland Vandegrift wasn't that way. He
admired, apparently, my determination to say my
piece, and we became extremely good friends. When
I left, shortly thereafter, he said, "If you ever
want a Job, come back." In fact, he used to write
me letters asking my opinion on things when I was in
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the service and in the state department. Then he
called me up one day in 1945, when I was still in

the state department in Washington and talked me into
coming back out West to be the first research director
for the new Utah Foundation, in Salt Lake. He had
been called over there as a consultant to set up

this taxpayers' assoclation. BRolland Vandegrift had
had taxpayer assoclation background.

He was head of that before he was state --

Utah Taxpayers' Problems

Director of finance. He was the first secretary of
the California Taxpayers' Association. He was a
brilliant and able man, articulate, dynamic,
imaginative, ingenious, tough. BReally a first-rate,
tough guy, when it came to facts and figures. He was
also a wonderful man to work with. A lot of courage,
a lot of enthusiasm. And controversial.

So he was involved in the Utah Foundation and he
got me in it. I went there dlirectly from Washington.
I knew nothing about what I was to do. Gosh, it was
a bum deal for them. I really, as they say, invented
the wheel on that job. Because I had never had any
contact with state government, how 1t was organized,
taxpayers' problems, highway funds. All of these
things were kind of iIn a2 mess, apparently, they
thought. They thought they were getting somebody who
was goling to start taking the place of the old tax-
payers' assoclatlon, which had been dlscredited.

Utah had a great number of very wealthy industrial
firms, in Salt Lake, many of which were from outside
the state, mining, and smelting, for example. They
wanted to keep taxes low in Utah. The taxpayers'
assoclation had been run by a cantankerous o0ld guy
who was discredited because he just said "no" to
everything. They wanted to give the organization a
new look. So they set up a new taxpayers' assoclatlion,
and called it the Utah Foundation, and kept the old
taxpayers' association in the background.
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I had thought this was to be a research outfit,
because this is what Vandegrift had told me. We
were goling to make a tax survey and so on in Utah.
Then when I got through I would come over to
California. But when I got there I found that it
was really Just another taxpayers' assoclation, in
a different gulse. I Just wasn't equipped to do
that sort of thing.

We started out to do certain projects, and
wrote some reports. I had associated with me a man
who was the general dlrector. He was the old
manufacturers' assoclation representative. Hls ldea
was to get ilmpact. I was the research director and
my idea of 1t was to be sclentiflcally accurate, you
know, as an economist. We had real rows.

That's quite a contradiction in point of view!

Well -- . I liked him. He was a nice o0ld gentleman,
but I simply would not glve my approval to the reports
as he had changed them, because I sald that what he
had done was simply not factual. He had made some
substantive changes in them. So we were locked up

in complete disagreement. So they fired me. They
came in and said, "You know, this won't do. You're
the one that will have to go." I said, "That's filne,"
and. so I came over here and Jolned Vandegrift.
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IIT OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ANALYST

Early Days Under Rolland Vandegrift

That was in March or April of 1946. That's really
when I started on this Job. I was his number two man.
We had a2 relatively small staff. He bullt it up quite
rapildly in the three years that he lived and there
were fifteen people 1n the office when I succeeded
him on his death. Most of the patterns of how we

were to operate had by that time been set, such as

the design of the "Budget Analysis" and much of the
way 1in which you go about things.

This was by you and Vandegrift in those three years?

With others, yes. DBut he was the one who really set
the pattern. He had great confidence and faith in

me. He also would get pretty excited sometimes at
hearings, and call for me to come in and cool people
down. Because he was so dynamic he really got carried
away on occasion. I remember he would call and have
his secretary bring a message in and pretend it was a
phone call, and get up and charge out to take the
phone call, and say "I'll let Mr. Post carry on while
I'm gone." It was simply that he felt things were
getting out of hand, because he'd been going at people
in such vigorous fashion that some of the members of
the committee were a little bit upset--they didn't
like to see people get taken on, or perhaps because

he might be blasting vested interests; in his vigor

to get done what he thought was right, he was stepplng
on people's toes. He was marvelous that way. But

he also would get to the point where the situation

was almost out of hand.



Post:

Morris:

Post:

Morris:

Post:

Morris:

Post:

34

| I was much more bland about things --

It sounds like he didn't wish to embarrass the
committee members.

Well, that's true. It was a delicate balance of
pushing hard on issues, and yet not making them too
antagonistic. This is part of the work. You push
your points. You have to play it 1like an orchestra,
and xnow when you're getting too far in, and reaction
1s setting in. Then you go back and try to smooth
things out and then push ahead again. It's the sort
of thing that one who's good at this dialog learns
very early. It's a fatal flaw to get somebody so mad
that he's on your back too hard. At the same time,
you have to pursue your point with undiminished vigor
and purpose.

Did Mr. Vandegrift ever talk with you about how the
offlice came to be in the first place?

Yes. The office grew out of an internal fight between
the Economy Bloc and Governor Olson. Actually, a
number of members of the legislature had been thinking
about an office of thils kind for some time. There
were some resolutions which had been introduced in

the past to set up an independent audilt group.

You see, iIn those days the audlt was under the

'Department of Pinance, and 1t was not an independent

audit. You had a situation where members of the
legislature felt that they were completely dependent
on the administration. You had a good solid economy
bloc in the legislature, which was not happy under--
certalnly under Governor Olson, who had the first
Democratic administration in California--in this
century, I guess.

What really precipitated the offlce was that
when Olson came in he soon became a very unpopular
governor in many ways.

With the legislature?
With the leglslature, even though he had been a

member of the leglislature. He got himself into all
kinds of hot water. He was not, in the opinion of
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people with whom I've dlscussed the subjlect, a good
judgement was not good on matters. Some of them “,__%9
say he was a good legislator, but a poor governor. |
He was in constant hot water.

So this Economy Bloc was really militant. They
were going to cut the budget and do a lot of things.
Vandegrift had been the dlrector of finance under
Governor Rolph. He selected Rolland Vandegrift as his
director of finance. People say that Rolland Vandegrift
really ran the state, and Rolph was not a strong governor.
Vandegrift was a strong man.

Rolph died in office. ©Soon after, his lieutenant
governor, Frank Merriam, became governor and, Vandegrift
went out of state service, and went into other activities.
He went into the newspaper business and didn't do very:
well. I don't know what happened, but it wasn't too
profitable for him.

He was down in Oakland.

Later he was in O2kland. He and his wife were interested
in antiques, Californiana, because he was an historian,

a California history professor at USC previous to
becoming the first taxpayers' associatlion executive
secretary. He was interested 1in Spanish Californila
history, really a very knowledgeable, really dynamic
historian. He had done research work ln Valencla on

the Spanish --

Origins of the Spanlish famllies in California?

I don't know. All I know 1ls that 1t was 1n the
archives 1n Valencia. I have become Interested in
that, because we now own a house close to Valencia,
where I spend a good part of my vacations and where
I hope to spend more time in the future.

You're talking ebout Valencia, Spain?

I'm talking about Valencla, Spain.

Oh my, the world is really --
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Small, these days.

But that's where he had done hls research into
the archives.

So then when this group declded that they were
going to set up an office of thils kind, they put a
bill in, and Governor Olson, on the advice of the
Department of Finance, vetoed it, saying that thils
was usurping the authority of the administration.

The Bloc decided, well, if they couldn't do it
that way, they'd do it by concurrent resolution. So
they took thelr own funds, and established a committee
by a concurrent resolution. They then re-established
1t every other year by resolution and with legislative
funds. They appointed Vandegrift as the first
legislatlve auditor, as 1t was then called because 1t
had an audit functlon for the legislature.

The war was Just starting, and thls led to many
of the things that the office became deeply involved
in. Iilke a cut-back in state spending, because of
the war, and investigations into some of the
activities that were related to the military situation
like the State Guard--in unemployment programs that
were instituted during the Olson administration.
Commodity and food distribution activities. Things
were pretty sloppy, and they were Just the kind of
thing that Vandegrift could tear apart. There was a
scandal in the state printing plant where the state
printer was buying paper and apparently selling it
outside and pocketing the money, or something like
that. He was investlgated and elther went to the
penitentliary or resigned. I think he went to prison.
I don't recall.

But anyway, that was the sort of thing that
Vandegrift was extremely good at, along with his
skill in the budget, having been director of filnance.

So he knew the other side of the coin, in other words.
Yes and he knew lnvestigation. He had the kind of

mind that was good for investigation, and he hired
good investigators. We had retired investigators
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Post: from the postal department on a part-time baslis who
would come in. He had lots of part-time employees
in those days, because 1t was hard to get profes-
sional employees. The war was on. Thils office was
a new kind of thing. $So you kind of plcked up
people who would come 1n and then float out. That
was true of all the leglslative business in those
days. There were few professlional positions.

Vandegrift and the office of legliglative
counsel, a blll-drafting agency, were the only real
professional jobs around. There were as many
committees as there were members of the leglslature
and they had 1little pockets of money they could spend
one way or another. They hired employees who were
flotsam and jetsam and generally not professionsally
gqualified. It was a very poor excuse for a legls-
lative process.

So thls office had to bring in part-time people
for a number of years. I was one of the first full-
time professionals. Vandegrift wanted to get me,
because I dld represent that point of departure,
someone who was interested and who also had profes-
sional qualifications, and whom he liked and trusted.
After I came in, he hired a number of others of the
same kind, some of whom are still with us. My chief
deputy, Gllbert Lentz, a former college professor and
director of Hawali's Legislative Reference Bureau,
i1s one. One retired this year, Wallace Kelso, who
came in from War Assets, when it was dissolved after
the war. Vandegrift hired a number of those who had
been suddenly dislocated from War Assets, men who
had good professional qualifications. They formed
the nucleus of the office under Vandegrift.

Investigative Studies

Morris: When you say that there were people around who were
good investigators,--I have a plcture of someone whose
role 1s going around and talking to people, questioning
them, "Where were you on the night that disappeared?"
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That's exactly right. That's right. One of the first
he hired was a man who had been an investigator for
General Motors Acceptance Corporation, credit and

that sort of thing. Another was an investigator for
the U.S. Postal Service which carries on investigatlons
regularly. So Vandegrift was constantly probing into
all kinds of business. We had a whole serles of
investigations, as I say, in the printing plant, the
disposal of commoditlies, the travel of the Board of
Equalization, and some other shady situations.

Later on, when I took over, we suddenly became
involved in the Samish activities, and then we really
used these 1lnvestigators. Although it was something
In which I had no qualifications at all, I was
suddenly involved in an investigatlion of the state
treaurer, because we had been critical of hls invest-
ment of funds and one thing led to another including
the fact that he and the governor got in a blg flap.
That was 1n the Knight administration. We used
investigators 1in that.

During the Warren administration, there was the
Samish investigation, in which we had no part.
FPollowing that, the liquor administration, in which
we were very deeply involved. We did the research,
working for Caspar Weinberger, who was chalrman of a
subcommittee of Government Organization that made a
study of the State Board of Equallization and reorganized
that. Took ligquor administration out of 1it, and put
1t in the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control.
That was really the major step in the dissolution of
the Samish empire within the state, which involved
members of the leglslature, members of the administra-
tion, and many lobbylsts. It was a very complex and
major enterprise. There we used investligators with
very telling effect, in getting data on 1lllegal
transfers of liquor licenses. You see, we had to
develop a scandal basis for shaking this thing loose.
There's only one way you can reorganize things sometimes,
and that's to really demonstrate that you have a
scandalous affair.

Governor Warren and other politiclans lived with
this situation. It was only when Caspar Weinberger
I think almost stumbled on it, the same way that I know
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Post: I stumbled on it--quite inadvertently, because I
was so nalilve--that the leglislature moved and really
did the Job of breaking up thils unholy situation in
California. Thils was an accomplishment of Caspar
Weinberger and a few members of the legislature,
one member of the Board of Equalization, Paul Leake,
with help from Professor Dean McHenry and nobody
else.

Morris: Was this the time that one of the members of the
Board of Equalization finally left the country?

Post: That was Bill Bonelll. He was the chalrman of the
Board of Equslization, and he was the worst of the
lot. He was the real bad man. The others tolerated
him, but he was the one who was the mainspring in 1t.
His district in Southern California was where the
expansion in licenses took place. You see, the
problem arose largely from the fact that there is a
limitation in the number of licenses that you can
have--1 think there was one per fifteen hundred
population. The number of liquor licenses, therefore,
was limlted, and ownership of one permlitted you to tap
an area in a very lucrative way. These licenses
were very valuable, particularly in the Los Angeles
area. That was where the great expansion 1n population
was taking place, so thls was where you had most of
the new licenses. 8o Bonelll was able to permit the
sale of these licenses, which were worth as much as
silxty some thousand dollars aplece, in the market,
even though there was a relatively small amount to
the state. That was where he could demand a cut and
skim off some of the money that changed hands.

In other words, supposing I paid $50,000 for my
license in the open market. When I sold that right
to do business, I get $50,000 or something like that
from somebody else who wants to own that right. But
I also would pay under the table, presumably, an
amount of money to get that. The same applied when
a new license became avallable through population
growth. That's where the corruption took place.

What you had to prove was that there were
transfers which were 1llegal, whlich were done in
various illegal ways, and make enough of a scandal
out of 1t that you got people to act.
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Anyway, that's how we used our investigators.
We tracked these license seekers and owners. We
used all the standard investigative techniques. We
really had good staff in the offlice. I have very
little to do with that part of 1t, because I don't
know those techniques. But I was workilng 1in other
areas of 1it. We dld the staff work for Mr. Weinberger
in that enterprise, all the way through. We wrote
his reports 1in collaboration with him, since he was
really active. We appeared as witnesses. We got
some help from Paul Leake, as 2 member of the Board
of Equalization, who I understand was appointed with
the admonition from Governor Warren that he should
do something about this under-the-counter business
in liquor licenses.

I inadvertently stumbled on all this in a budget
study. There were some flgures on workload that
didn't make sense and I sald to a committee that
something didn't meet the eye. The newspapermen
picked this up and went right over to Warren -- "Hey,
Post says there's something going on in the Board of
Equalization. What about that?"

I didn't realize thils was anything that the
governor was trylng to do something about. I didn't
even know who Samlsh was at that point, but I did
before 1t was all over. Interesting thing, my
brother-in-law, John Hamm, after he was in OPA, was
with the Biow Company, an advertising firm which
handled the Schenley account. That was the one that
finally got Samish into trouble. Just the other
night, John Hamm and I talked about the whole thing--
he told me all about it, and the Schenley slde was
entirely different from the way good o0ld honest Artie
tells 1t in that new book of his.¥ The way it worked
was that they'd send checks to Artie's secretary and
relations and frliends in payment for services to
Artie, and Artie would cash them and pocket the
money. Blow sald he asked for it to be handled that
way as a convenlence to those people; he saild in his

*¥The Secret Boss of California, by Arthur H. Samish
and Bob Thomas, Crown Publishing, New York, 1971.
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book he never could understand why the checks came
that way, but that Blow wanted to do it that way.
And 1t was those checks that IBS finally got him on.

One time we had a Samish man in the office;
that was really a surprise to me when I found out.
He was also the speaker's brother and I didn't know
how I was going to handle it.

This was when Sam Collins was speaker of the
asgssembly?

Yes, and thlis was hls brother John--he told me he
had been hired by Vandegrift to keep an eye on the
assembly and I told him that wasn't the way we did
things any more. I didn't know what to do with him--
a senator member of my committee sald John was the
speaker's brother, and we should take care of him.

So I sent him out to inspect the purchasing
requests in the budgets for institutions. He was
fine on that, could tell you whether things were
worth the money, take a look at them and tell you
whether they'd do what they were supposed to. But I
didn't really have enough of thils kind of work to
keep him busy full time--and he kept wanting to go
over to the assembly floor and make sure the assembly-
men were staying in line. Then I was asked to administer
the registration of lobbylsts when that bill passed,
and I declded this was a good spot, minlsterial in
nature, to put him in. They'd Jjust come in and fill
out the forms and nobody could object to him there.

Well, Jack Tenney got up on the floor of the
senate and made a blg speech about putting this man
in this job was 1like putting a fox in charge of the
hen house. The meaning was clear--John Collins was a
Samish man, and of course, so was his brother.

What was considered to be the connectlion between Sam
Collins and Samlsh--and how did you finally separate
John from your office?

Some time later it came to my attention that he had
bought and sold liquor licenses. I had asked him, at
the time of our liquor investigation, due to Sam
Collins' alleged involvement 1n that, whether he had
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at any time had anything to do with liquor licenses.
He said he had not. So when the transfer documents
were later brought to me by my own investigators 1
confronted him with it and he admlitted he had bheen
involved. I severed his employment at that point.
It caused me some serious problems because Sam
Collins still had influence and was at that time a
lobbylist for one of the major oll companies. Some
of the latter were trylng to get greater influence
in my office and I was not in very good graces with
them since I was resisting these attempts. It was
reported to me that they had said I would "have to
go." It was about this time that the Democrats
(with Governor Brown) came into control of the
legislature and the newspapers carried storles that
I was on my way out.

Joint Budget Committee

I thought today we might start with your relation-
ship with the legislature and with Governor Warren,
and the other pleces of the executlve structure the
offlce of leglislature analyst relates to.

All right.
Who 1is your boss?

(Points to photographs on wall.) That's Senator
Teale, the man on the end. George Miller before
that, Arthur Breed before that, then Ben Hulse and
Bill Rich.

That takes it right down to --

To the beginning. Those are the flve chairmen of
thz joint budget committee since its inception in
1941.

Bill Rich was chalrman of the Senate Filnance
Committee. Ben Hulse was also chalrman of the
Senate Finance Committee. Arthur Breed was not
chairman of the Senate Flnance Committee; Miller was
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chairman of the finance committee, and Teale 1is
vice chairman.

So that's usually a senator.

It has always been a senator. There has been some
feeling that there should be an assemblyman. Jess
Unruh pushed pretty hard on that, but the chairman
of the joint audit committee has always been an
assemblyman. Thils 1s the deal they made. They were
really unwilling to glive up this plum --

The assembly?

The senate. So they traded another position, the
chalrman of the jolint audlt committee, whilich was
established in 1955. That was to be an assemblyman.
And the vice chalrman of my committee 1s an assembly-
man.

Now, 1s this by agreement with the leglislature, or 1is
this part of the legislation?

The committee selects its own chalrman. It was just

a matter of agreement that was settled among them-
selves, that's all. The senate wanted the chalrmanship.
They have always considered the budget commlittee to
sort of be thelr package, ln the sense that it was
originated by the more conservatively oriented senators.
The Economy Bloc created it initially. It's always
been located physically over on thelr side of the
capltol. There's always around here a scramble for
space in the capltol, and the senate was always willing
to allocate from thelr allotted space to take care of
the budget commlittee. Then when they set up the
assenmbly hegemony over the audit commlittee, they gave
the assembly the responsibility for supplylng the space
out of the assembly allocatlion. Because they really
allocate this bullding into two geographlcal areas.

The commlttees take care of theilr own allocatlons for
staff space and for committee chalrmen and so forth.
It's split down the middle, sort of, with the assembly
creeping over a 1little bit, because they've got twlce
as many members, and they're taking more floors now

in the new bullding.
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People used to think that the budget committee
was in functlion a senate committee. But in fact it
has never been that way, since I've been here. We
do as much work for assemblymen as we do for senators.
We do a tremendous amount of work for them.

In general, do you see your role as initlating plans
and l1ssues that the committee should consider, or
do they come to you with thelr 1issues pretty well
formulated?

Well, it's both. It's a mix. Individual members
come with proposals. They come with an idea, with

a proposal falrly well Jelled, and want us to go over
it, or else develop it. The legislature by resolutlon
also asks us to make studles, so we get a full-blown
request of that kind. Our requests cover the water-
front, covering every stage of the development of a
proposal, and from every kind of source that 1is
legislative. Nothing executive, but anything that is
leglislative 1s 1llkely to come through here, elther

by resolution, or by an individual or a committee
asking that we develop it for them.

That's quite a broad spectrum.
Yes, it is a broad spectrum.

[Additional question, submitted with transcript.]
You mentioned the Joint Audit Committee which was
established in 1955. That was the same year your
title was changed from leglislative auditor to
legislative analyst. How d4id this come about?

[Written reply] We recommended, and the Senate
Committee on Government Organization recommended,
an independent auditor--independent of the
administration. This was good theory and 1is the
trend today. A bill was introduced to create the
Auditor General, under a Joint Leglslative Audit
Committee. It was opposed by some members and the
controller (unless I was willing to be both positions,
which I felt was not a good 1ldea because of the
difference iIn functions and size of the operation--
I may have been wrong in retrospect), but it was
passed and signed by the governor. Then because of
the confusion over titles, Assemblyman Tom McBride
agreed to sponsor legislation to change my title.
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Could we go back a minute and talk about Mr. Rich
and Mr. Hulse particularly, as to what their pleture
of state flnance would be, and what thelr particular
concerns were.

Senator Rich, as the first chairman, was a rural
senator, an autocratic, charming, witty, really very
delightful individual. He scared people to death
because he had a very rough exterlior. But inside

he was really a very charming and pixie kind of guy.

The picture on your wall reflects that.

Yes, 1t does. He had great wit. He was a very easy
man, ag far as I was concerned, to live with. He
left you alone. He represented a2 small district. He
came from Marysville, and he used to say, "The people
in my district send me up here, and tell me to use

my good Jjudgement and leave them alone." He can do
almost anything he wants. They don't bug him at all.
And he was that way. He was a strong chairman of a
strong finance committee. You had originally very
strong men. Men like Ralph Swing, of San Bernardino,
a real canny type, you know, men who were resourceful
and tough and knew where they were going. Theilr
interests very often were ones which were of a
personal nature, or certainly a parochial nature,
rather than broad state interests. They looked after
the interests within thelr districts to a high degree.
They constituted a tough, strong, rural and conservative
finance committee. Rlch was thelr leader, a man of
personal integrity, without any question in my mind--
of a cut, frankly, conslderably above some of the
other members of the committee, in that sense.

When you say that personal interests, or regional
ones, were --

Oh, they were looking after--Ralph Swing looked after
the Orange Show, and buslness people, and interests
in his own district. He looked after certailn
lobbylsts. He was one of those that was accused of
being closely linked with some of the more powerful
lobbylists within the state. There was more of that
in those days than there is today. There's a much
greater degree of lndependence on the part of
legislators now than there was in those early days.
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Post: The leglslator came up here for a hundred dollars
a month, and he was to a conslderable extent more
subservient to these third house lnterests than are
people who get the kind of salaries that they pay
now. There's no question in my mind about that.

Morris: You sald he was also a2 man of integrity. Didn't the
regional issues get in the way of some of the more --

Post: Bill Rich wasn't Interested much in reglonal lssues.
He wasn't a man who was fighting for things in his
district. He was a real independent character. He
got his power, in a2 sense, I think, by his free-
wheellng objectivity with respect to all kinds of
matters, including money matters. He was conservative,
and concerned with rural issues--as most everybody was
in those days. But he wasn't out fighting for his
own highway, or for hls own college, or for his own
parochial interests in the business community. He
was an lndependent soul. There wasn't any question
in my mind about that. He was a conservative, farm-
oriented leglslator. He sincerely belleved that
not-much~-government was good government, and that you
should get as much mlleage out of the dollar as you
could. He came representing a relatively small-time,
modest income, conservatlve constituency, and he
represented them cleanly and falthfully.

Morris: And did Ben Hulse carry on this kind of -- ?

Post: Yes. He was a different kind of person. Billl Rich
was a self-made lawyer, a man who studlied at home and
took the bar, and went through that route, and was a
member of 2 small law firm up ln Marysville. He
represented some of the substantlal interests 1in
that general area.

Ben Hulse, on the other hand, was a man who had
grown up as a machlnist. He bullt one of the first
Caterplillar tractors, which had thelr origin in
Stockton. He became a very wealthy man because he
moved to the Imperial Valley, where he had the
franchise for Caterplllar Tractor, which of course
became a tremendous economic enterprise in that area.
He accumulated vast holdlings of land; o1l was struck
on part of that. He was a multi-millionalre. He was
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e strong, very broad gauge man. He had his feet

in budgets and taxes, where he was an authority.

He had more grasp of the total budget than any man

in the state. He was an extraordinary student. He
would spend all week-end up here, Jjust poring over
and reading all the reports. I used to come down
here Saturday mornings almost every week-end at his
request, and we would go over all these matters that
were on the calendar. He'd want to talk about things,
and then we would go to lunch together and that would
end the Saturday morning. In that respect, he was
thorough.

830 he was a strong leader who knew a great deal
about total state interests-~desplte the fact that he
came from E1l Centro. Despite the fact that he was
farm-oriented and came from really a small population
center, he had more contacts with the major industrial
leaders of the state, because he was a wealthy oil
man, and because he was a blg businessman. He also
owned a franchise in El1 Centro for motor vehicles,
including the Jeep. So he really touched an awful
lot of bases. He was extraordinarily interested in
everything that went on, politically, in the state.
He was a man who was talked about as belng a logical
candlidate for governor. He never really had the
political base, nor the political appeal, because
of his conservative rural affiliations, to quite pull
it off. But he was a man who was voted by the
correspondents in the capital as being the most
knowledgeable senator in the senate, at a time when
the senate was a very strong senate, with people like
George Hatfleld and that ilk, who were very strong.

So that he was a somewhat different breed than
Senator Rich, although he a2lso was rural.

It sounds like he would be an early example of one
of the leaders in agriculture as a big business.

That's right. He was agribusiness all the way.
That's true.

And this would be as early as 1940, or earlier than
that?
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He came up in the forties I guess. I can't be sure.¥
He was here when I came here in 1946, but he hadn't
been here very long, as I recall. He became chalrman
of the committee about 1952. At that point, he had
made his niche. He was the recognlized authority on
taxation and on budgets. He later became chairman

of the rules committee, as President| Pro Tem and was
chalrman of the Joint tax committee.

He was the real power 1in the senate after George
Hatfleld dled.¥%# George Hatfleld and he were very
close. Senator Hatfleld was the acknowledged brains
of the senate. He was one of the smartest men that's
ever been in the legislature. Astute, canny, far-
sighted, a brilliant lawyer, a man with a tremendous
grasp of politics. Thils small group of individuals
really ran the senate.

It was only when the old guard was displaced,
largely by the growth of the cltles and the move to
partisan pollitics, and the development of pressures
for reapportionment, that they were kind of swept out.

Bven then, there was a new kind of old guard.
The new guard, the George Miller type, who were
liberals, Democrats, took over and became in time the
0ld guard. The people that I've been talking about
were the o0ld guard Republicans, you see. But once
you establlish yourself as the power in the leglslature,
then gradually you become a guard, because there will
be a relatively small number of you, who really run
things, and you become entrenched in that power
position, and you don't give it up easily. So in
that sense, you are old guard.

Now, these gentlemen, Rich and Hulse, were the
first two chairmen of the budget committee. Senator
Breed who was the third chairman never was really quite

#Ben Hulse first served in the state senate in 1933-36.
He returned to the senate in 1945 and served through

1956.
¥#%¥Died in offlce November 15, 1953.
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a part of that group, because he had a kind of an
independent posture. He wasn't the clannish sort of
person that they were--not a part of the club that
the leadership of the senate seems to bs. A
wonderful fine man--still is.

Is Arthur Breed still around?

He lives in Ozkland, in the real estate business.
His father had been president pro tempore of the
senate for many, many years. The latter was a very
astute and successful politician. Arthur Breed,
Junior, didn't have that same political touch. He
was a man who just didn't quite fit the senate club
easily.

That's interesting. Was it father or son, who was
involved 1in an early study of highway needs in
California?

That would have been the father. The Breed formula,
you're speaking of. That was the older --

This would be in the twenties, because it was referred
to when the Collier highway bill was belng discussed.

That's right. That would have been hls father. That
was the formula that exlisted before the Collier-Burns
act. The "Breed formula."

You mentlioned that Ben Hulse was talked about for
governor at one point. Would this have been about
the time that Warren himself was a candidate for
governor?

No, really, it was more in relation to Knight, who
followed Warren. He was buillding up a following.
Some people would have liked to have Hulse as the
conservative candidate against Governor Warren. 3But
this never jelled, because he was a good team man,
and he never pushed that at all. It was later on,
when things got a 1llttle shaky around here among the
Republicans that there were papers that kept sort of
boosting him for governor --

Newspapers?
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Post: Newspapers like the Sacramento Union and small rural
papers. And Ben Hulse, I thlnk, had a 1ittle touch
of the fever, but he never pushed it at all.
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IV INTERACTION WITH EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENTS OF
STATE GOVERNMENT

In general, how did Senators Rich and Hulse feel
about Warren?

They regarded him as belng somewhat liberal, a
practical politician. Senator Rich's attlitude was,
"You know a guy has to be a practical politician or

he doesn't get to the point where he can get things
done," and so he guessed that was okay. But it galled
him a good bit to have Governor Warren as liberal as
he was on money matters and on social welfare
particularly, yet they went along with most of the
things, it seemed to me, that Governor Warren was
pushing at. They were perfectly agreeable to
rebullding the state's mental hosplitals, although they
found 1t a 1little difficult to understand some of

the therapeutlc approaches that were belng taken.

That came only slowly, because there was always a
great deal of mystery about mental hygiene, whilch

was a very bilg 1ssue at the time.

Prison Reforms

They were perfectly agreeable to upgrading and
reorganizing and strengthening the penal structure
under new management, with Rlchard MecGee, so long

as he didn't spend too much money and go too fast in
setting -- You see, what McGee did when he came 1n,
was to clean up a falrly unholy situation in which
each of the prisons was run as a provinclal empire
by individual administrators, some of them in almost



Post:

Morris:

Post:

Morris:

52

a scandalous way. And under a board that was
relatively ineffective.

So Warren reconstructed the system under the
act in 1943 and '44 as I recall, of his administra-
tion--completely redid the prison structure. Richard
McGee came in as a real professional administrator
who ran the whole show and dominated the individual
wardens. He set up 2 central structure that governed,
and moved in on certain principles that had not been
applied before--primarily the employing of so-called
"free men"--men who were not felons--to do the work
that had been previously done by felons.

Kifchen work and --

All kinds of things. Handling the records -- The

sort of thing that McGee contended would permit one
felon to own another felon. It's very difficult for
felons to not come under the domination of other

felons in a penitentiary. There are sexual and all
kinds of dominating-personality kinds of problems of
personal intercourse of that kind in a penal institution.
It's a very difficult thing at best.

What he inherited was what he labeled a sort of
"kangaroo court" sort of system, in which the most
sensitive records of a man's history were within the
Jurlisdiction of other prisoners, and they could find
out all about you, and they could bring pressure to
bear on family and assoclates to get things done in
thelr own behalf, using you as a tool, that should
never have happened. So one of the real lssues we
had during those days, was the gradual increased costs
of prisons, as a result of McGee's determination to
create through staffing by free men of these sensitlve
functlions within the penal system, to make it truly
controlled by the establishment and not controlled
by the felons.

He also wanted to restructure the prisons in
order to eliminate the double-celling as one of the
things that create the personal frictions, the sexual
frictions, that are such tremendous basic problems
in any prison.

I don't understand the term "double-celling"?
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Post: Double-celling means that you put two felons in the
same cell and this of course leads to all kinds of
problems. We still have a lot of that. We're still
debating that 1ssue, interestingly enough. My
office has been on record within the last couple
of years as saying to thls administration "You really
ought to get rid of all thls double-celling, because
1t's nothing but trouble," and yet 1f you don't
expand facilities enough, why you're just forced back
into it agalin. Like double sesslions in elementary
school. Thls 1s the worst of all possible situatlons,
really.

Morris: It's interesting that you comment about Correctlons
bringling in a professional adminlstrator, and working
on cost abuses of one kind and another. These were
also part of the problem In state hospitals, wasn't
1t?

Mental Hospltal Budget Standards

Post: State hospitals followed a somewhat similar pattern.
When I flirst came here, they had a very strong man
as head of the mental hospitals. This was in 1941,
before Earl Warren. They had Dr. Rosanoff, who was a
private practitlioner, who ran a private hospltal,
and who was really a very fine man. But the system
was not up to date. What Warren set about doing with
the money that came in because- of the war--he really
had at hls disposition the tremendous advantage of
having money accrulng in excess of any established
requirements, so that he was able to provide tax
relief and at the same time have huge surpluses, and
initiate an extraordinary expansion in the state budget.

Now, he set about rebullding physlcally the state
institutlons, including not only the prisons, but the
mental hospltals. The director was a woman, Dora
Shaw Heffner, who was not a psychlatrist but an
attorney, who was the wife of one of his--as I under-
stand it--political benefactors, but who was an
intelligent and sensltive, progressive woman. She
was the director of the hospltals when I came back
after the war. She was attacked rather vigorously by
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my predecessor in this position to the polnt that
the governor on one occasion chided Mr. Vandegrift
by saying that he thought it was somewhat ungallant
for him to be taking on a woman, especlally when
she was ill.

Well, the truth of the matter was that she was
not a sufficlently strong individual to run that
system right. She was sympathetic, very sympathetic,
but she didn't meet the test of the tough breed of
legislator who felt that there should be stronger
control. Following that, we had a series of qualified
psychlatrists running the system. Through that period
of time they completely revamped the physical
facllities; they very substantially upgraded the
therapeutic standards in the mental hosplitals. They
segregated the wards into acute and chronic. They
set up pilot projects to see what you could do with
the deteriorated patients. They adopted as budget
standards the Amerlcan Psychlatric Association's
standards.

What we did from the standpoint of budgeting was
to move by percentage increments up to a hundred
percent of the APA standards. Now these standards,
in the meantime, were also not static. They were also
moving up, because we were at a time in which there
was a revolution in mental hygliene from the "snakepilt,
so-called, era, to a therapeutlic type of approach
using many therapists, using group therapy in many
ways. Finally having the introduction of drugs. But
even preceding these so-called "maglc" drugs which
are still largely relled on as a means of getting
better control, getting the patient more amenable to
psychotherapy, we had the introductlion in those times
of the other kind of therapy.

We had shock therapy with both insulin and
electric shock. The facilities to do that. We had
the hot baths and the other sedative type of things
to get these wild, extreme procedures out of the way.
Then we had the continuing problem of trying to
finance, from a very narrow, limited field, enough
professional people to actually put in there. From
the old "attendants" as they were called, they
reclassifled these positlons and called them psychiatric
technicians, and professionalized them, upgraded them,
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Post: Increased thelr pay. The turnover was very great
previously, because you Just pulled people in and
they rolled right out again. Now you developed a
cadre of professional people who would stay there.
We had a contlnuing battle to get psychiatrists
and various types of para-professional personnel 1in
there. Music theraplsts, you know, all kinds of
therapists.

Morris: Occupational therapists.

Post: Occupational theraplists, and so on. All of this was
a little difficult for the legislature to understand.
They couldn't quite see why you had to have all of
these fancy things. At the same time, you had an
upgrading of the physical status of the patients, as
for example, during the term of Dr. Lawrence Kolb
as director. He was a psychliatrist who told me he
was not primarily a Freudlan psychotherapist, but was
one who felt (on the basis of his experience with the
Veterans' Administration previously) that you could
do a great deal by simply lmproving the physical
being, correcting physical allments, and a reasonable
program of psychotherapy and related therapies.

So you had lncreasing numbers of people to look
after the physical well-being of these people. People
who would look after your feet, because there were
many old, senlle patients. By the way, one of the
real problems we had was that about twenty percent of
your total hospltal population was purely a senile
group. They were not capable of benefiting by this
new change in therapeutic approaches. They simply
overburdened the institutlion with housekeeplng problems.
So one of the missions of the Warren administration
was to set up ways in which these people could elther
be moved out, or not put into the institution to
burden its primary mission.

So all of these things were golng on. We were
putting in places to make people look more beautiful--
beauticlan shops and so on. The upgrading of the
morale. The chiropodists, the physlcal therapists,
the things to make them comfortable and give thenm
the decent, comfortable life that a person has to
have from a physical standpoint, 1f you're going to
do anything for him mentally. And in any case, you
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ought to, they sald, take care of his physical comfort.
If you're going to take him out of socliety, and in
effect incarcerate him, you've got to glve him a

decent environment in which to live. So there was

the physical upgrading of the institution; the upgrading
of the personnel to take care of thelr physical needs,
recreational and other faclilities to make 1ife more
pleasant; and then setting up a classification basis
for those patients who would be receiving acute treat-
ment and those who would be recelving chronic care.

We had goals of glving everyone good inlitial
physical examinations when they came in, so you'd
have good dlagnostic bases from which to work. There
was a constant battle to get the professlonal people
to f111 these jobs. A constant battle to see that
the bulk of the employees, who were the attendants, or
the psychiatric technlclans, wouldn't Jjust be turning
over and learning the Job on the patlents all the
time. All these things were golng on at one time.

The costs were mounting. There was a certain
restlessness on the part of the legislature. We were
critical of some of it--oh, I think rather short-
sighted from that standpoint, again, suffering the
same kind of thing that I think most laymen suffer
from--not really understanding the importance of
moving as fast as we dld move in the direction of
upgrading all of these facllities. By and large we
would go along, sometimes with the whole program.

But we were "nitsing and liceing® I guess you might

call 1t, at 1little things 211 the time. Chipping

here and chipping there. Sometimes we were certainly
right, I think. In thelr desire to get ahead, they
sometimes dld things that they couldn't fully justify,
and you kind of nibbled at it. But they were relatively
small nibblings and not always right.

Portia Bell Hume recalls working with you on the
preparation of budgets. How does this work?

Well, Portia had responsibillty for the extra-mural
care program, the c¢linical program. She was located,
of course, in Berkeley, and she was the deputy
director in charge of those facllitles which were
outslide the institutlon. Now one of the things that
I hadn't mentloned was thls growlng capaclity outslde
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the institutions to take care of patients as they
left the hospltals, or to keep them from coming in
at all by simply having the capaclty to take acute
cases in the clinic outslde the lnstitutlion and
hopefully divert them from institutionalization,
which was generally considered (and I think quite
rightfully so) to be a kind of catastrophe. The
l1dea was to keep him in the environment from which
he came 1f you possibly could.

Federal Funds

And so the clinics were started by a federal grant.
They started in Berkeley, and then we had flve more.
Then we used them as the models from which we set up
what ultimately became a far-reachlng system of
communlity facilities. We reached that by a number of
roads, but this was the first one.

Portia was in charge of that. We used to work
with her to some extent in several areas. She was
an lmportant figure in relation to the growlng source
of federal funds from the National Mental Health Act.
These were used for experimental approaches which
really were very good, for developing the state of
the art within the institutional setting. She had a
lot to do wlith setting up projects for evaluation of
alternatlive approaches to handling mental dilsease.
These approaches not only lncluded the institutional
type of thlng, but they were also separate studles of
individuals, from which they could learn about how
to treat psychiatric 1lllnesses 1n hosplital settings.
Because, as Dr. Kolb used to say, we're still in the
Middle Ages in some respects. We work emplrically.
We know certain things have certailn results, but we
really don't know why. We don't know whether it's
chemical, whether 1t's psychotherapeutlc. We Jjust
don't know these things with certainty.

They were playling with all kinds of approaches,
and the federal funds were important in permitting
Langley Porter Clinic, as the original source of our
research within the system, to carry on about as
much work as they could handle. It was a leglislatlve
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attitude, supported by us, that anything that
Langley Porter Clinic wanted, the Langley Porter
Clinic got.

Was there state money golng into Langley Porter too?

Oh, yes. It was a state institution. It was a
Joint enterprise between the university and the
mental hospital system. The unlversity used it as
its tralning center. The mental hospital system
used 1t as a retralning system. Both benefitted by
the research that was done, in kind of a joint
venture. The actual director was--for many years--
Karl Bowman, followed by Alexander Simon. He wore
two hats, really. He had a salary from the university
and he had a salary from the state mental hospital
system, you see.

So that was our source of research until later
they began to put in a relatively small, but growing,
source of funding for research within the institutlons,
so that 1t would upgrade the attitudes and the
capacities of the professional people within these
institutlions. The feeling being that otherwlse they
simply became involved in what was unfortunately to
a very great extent the physlcal features of the
system.

You had people brought in there with all kinds
of problems. Physical--that they had inherited through
a life of neglect, and so on, that came with mental
disease. And so most of the people were really
looking after bodles. The people you put in there
were to a consliderable extent doctors who didn't make
it in psychiatry, and many of them didn't have
psychlatric degrees. They were simply physiclans
looking after the physical well-~being of large numbers
of people who were in bad shape. And so a great deal
of the energy of these institutions was Just keeping
body and soul alive for a great number of unfortunates
who were 1ill-equipped to look after themselves, and
who sat on the wards and did nothing, and deterlorated.
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Farm System

Post: So we ran hospitals in the traditional sense, for a
stablle population. Then we ran a mental institution,
on the margins, almost, with those patients that they
felt they could reach. You had institutlions like
Stockton that had a farm where many patients simply
sat and did almost nothing. Many, of course, worked
in farm operations. We had a farm system at this
tilme in most of the hospltals, that was abandoned
later on in the middle fifties. Early and middle
fifties. We began to shear off the instltutional,
supportive activitlies. This was a debatable issue
with the leglislature. One of the thlngs that the
public used to take great pleasure in kind of poking
fun at, was the fact that the legislators on the joint
agriculture and livestock problems commlittee would go
out and approve the expenditures for capital outlay
on all the institutlons and never venture near the
wards, they would say. You'd go out there because a
resolution authored by Senator Hatfield, and religiously
passed every other year, required that the committee
approve the appropriations for agricultural facilities
In these institutions before they could spend the
money.

So I used to go out with them. This is how I
really learned about the institutions. We dild go
quickly through the institutions it is true. But
the main thrust of the visit was to go with a bunch
of agriculturalists and look at the dairy barn and
look at the hog farm and other agricultural operatloms.
They would approve expendlitures for the development of
the dalry and other supporting actlvitles.

Well, this is perfectly legitimate, because
these hospltals were total clities. They were cltles
that were supported in part by funds to buy medical
services, but they were also made more economical in
operation by having good producing dairies and other
agricultural support activities. And they used many
of these deterlorated patlients as milkers and farmers
in the flield and the supporting activities. Canneriles,
et cetera. So like our system of prison industries,
there were hospital industries, and they were supportive.
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Postt They provided what was generally 1n those days
regarded as a bona fide therapeutic activity. The
argument was that a busy body meant a busy mind, and
that was a good thing. Rather than having these
people sltting around deterlorating, it was thought
far better that they get hustled out in the morning
into the fresh ailr and plck vegetables, and do farm
work, and go back. In fact, many of them had so
deteriorated that it really probably wasn't all that
bad. It sounds awfully short sighted, and I'm sure
there were better ways.

But the state of the art in those days was such
that they really didn't know much about what to do
untll the Kansas experiments, the Mennlngers, people
like that, began to revolutionlze mental care and
demonstrate the effectliveness of mental therapy in an
institutional setting as against simply running
farms.

Morris: I wonder if also, being an agricultural state, many
of the patients would have come from farms.

Post: Yes, they did. There was no question about it. Many
of them were not bright, we'll say. They weren't all
casualtles of stress and strain. Many of them were
kind of not-bright persons. Quite a number of them
had environmental occupations, or had occupations
that fitted that kind of environment. So, as a
milker--this was what they'd done before they canme,
they were perfectly content to milk or work in the
fields.

You know, California was so beautiful, that it
was a pleasant thing, frankly, to be able to go out
and go through the beautiful farms. These members
of the leglislature were proud of the farms. The
patients cultivated them. They made them beautiful and
pleasant places, because this was thelr life. And
really, under the circumstances of thelr malady, if
a person didn't have any hope of doing anything else--
many of these people would go out in the field and
maybe that was the best part of the day. When they
went back into the institutions with the mass feeding
and the stress and straln of the wards and all that,
it was a terribly miserable thing.
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But you could get a falirly decent picture of
life if you'd see them out there puttering around
in the open fields under the beautiful skies at the
lovely sites that we had for institutions. And so
I think the members of the legislature, and I, got
a pretty--perhaps distorted view, of the pleasant
kind of situatlion that you were creating for mental
patients, on the grounds of the lnstitution.

When you went in the institutions, you really
saw what a different kind of l1life it was. Governor
Warren certainly has to have a lot of credit for
having persistently upgraded the institutions with,
certainly, good support from the legislature, but
also with a lot of pressure to not go so fast, and
spend so much money, and with us harping all the time
that you couldn't demonstrate that you were proving
anything.

What convinced the leglislators to continue to approve
increased budgets? Was the federal funding --

No, I Jjust think it was the decency of legislators

as human beings, that this ought to be upgraded. The
fact that these were unfortunates who ought to have
thelr lot improved. There were also some strong
administrators who could make a good case, with the
leadership of the Warren administration, that you
should follow the professlonally established
psychiatric standards. A general acceptance on our
part too, that this was the current state of the art,
and that it was appropriate that the state should at
least try to buy the highest state of the art that we
knew of, and to push for more approaches to effective
therapies versus what was professionally regarded as
less effective.

There were a lot of things that were done that
were bad, and I think some of us did some good 1in
pointing out that there were areas of hospital
administration where improvements could be made.
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The Governor's Office Under Earl Warren

Morris: You feel adminlistration was the area in which Warren
made his greatest contributions?

Post: Yes, I think that Governor Warren's dedication to
upgrading the quality of state government, 1its
administration, its facilities, 1ts programs, was
probably the most lmportant contributlion that he made.
He was an astute politician and he always was aware of
the areas that would keep him politically secure.

But looking at it from where I sat, workling for
a budget committee, and working within the budget
process--writing reports that were an appralsal of
administration, 1t was my feeling that hls blggest
contributlon was his recognition of the need to upgrade
the basic programs within the state. That means
education, 1t means mental hospltals, penal institutions,
the court system, the whole level of quality of the
programs of the state--along with an ethlical considera-
tion that dominated hls thinkilng, concerning regulatory
and other issues. When the chips were down, you could
really count on the governor knowlng what was right
and what was wrong.

He played politics, and made decisions of that
kind, but he did it within the context of integrity.
This 1s something that really made him a leader, in
every sense of the word.

But the budgetary issues of the legislature were
very largely determined by the fact that we had great
financlal resources that really flowed out of the
war, the fact that we had all thls growth 1In the state,
growth 1in the economy, along with a limltation on
spending because of the war, which left us with large
reserves. Warren was able to use these reserves to
get a good running start on all the programs that he
thought were important: upgrading the university,
pushing ahead in the state college system, expanding
the communlity colleges, and to some extent lincreasing
the state support for them, although they were still
largely locally financed. Upgrading completely the
penal and mental hospltal systems, strengthening the
courts by careful and good appointments to the bench,
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Post: at every level. Generally creating a tone of govern-
ment that was almost unique in state government in
America.

Postwar Reserves

Morris: This is a point that I think we've had confirmed by
everybody, his concern with administration, and his
appointments. You mentioned the great resources
coming in from the war. In reading the budget
documents put out by the Department of Finance, I
get a sense that in those early years, '42, '43, '44,
there was a feeling that these funds were not going
to continue, that nobody ever expected to have this
kind of state revenues.

Post: Yes, that's true. We set up these reconstruction
funds--everybody thought when the war came to an
end, there would be tremendous problems of unemploy-
ment, and so you should have these reserves set up
for construction and reemployment. Two things
conspired against that. Number one, you can't keep
a reserve around too long, because people want to get
ahold of it and spend it for one reason or another.
So they used them. Number two, you really didn't
have the kind of a situation develop which required
unemployment spending. Californlia became a dynamic
state. The population flowed in, with, as we all know,
the greatest land migration, I guess, in the history
of mankind. The economy went from a rural,
agricultural economy to a growing industrial,
metropolitan area economy. Even agriculture became
agribusiness. The country prospered generally, and
California prospered extraordinarily, so that by
virtue of all of these growth factors, we found that
money continued to flow in, in unanticipated amounts.
The governor had to realign his position from time
to time. He had first had tax rellef: we had lowered
the sales tax, and we had lowered the income tax. We
had made that temporary, so they went back to the old
levels. And then gradually he had to come in and ask
for some "sin taxes." He wanted to raise the taxes
on tobacco, and on horse racing, and on liquor in 1953,
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as I recall, in order to maintain the expenditures
that had been bullt up on the basis of these surpluses.

It was at this point that the pressures began
to mount a little bit. Some of the members felt that
the governor was being a little wild, that social
welfare costs were growing too much, and state
government costs were growlng too much.* This is
where we suddenly found ourselves in the business of
recommending what in those days were thought to be
jJust fantastic budget cuts, like forty million dollars,
you know, in a budget. This was chipping away at all
kinds of things. And the legislature paid attention
to us. They did cut the budget.

Most of it was in delayed capital outlay, which
is not really cutting government costs, it's simply
deferring expansion of facilities. Some of that
wasn't all bad either, because although it was deferred,
at the same time I think it sharpened up some of our
evaluative processes over what was necessary and
important.

We really began to get into trouble at the end
of the Warren period and in the Knight administration.

But the governor did come in for some tax
increases, and the leglslature was beginning to chip
away at--

By '49 and '50, the state was up to the first billion
dollar budget.

I remember--the 1950 newspapers show that the governor
sent a proposed '50-'51 state spending program of a
billion dollars. $970,000,000 was the budget. So
we're at a billion dollars. And then it went up
steadily from there on, and Governor Knight inherited

*Senator Ben Hulse proclaimed, "The economic tide of
the last ten years has gone out and we have the sands
of the beaches to scratch for any more money. We also
have to conslder that fellow, the little taxpayer, who
has been crying in the wilderness." San PFrancisco
Examiner, September 17, 1953.
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the problem of trying to juggle the tax system and

speed up revenue recelpts and do everything he could
to avoid a tax increase. And then, really, Governor
Brown got the problem of the first blg tax increase.

And the first real deficit.
In 1959, I guess it was.

In those years when you were recommending delayed
capital outlay, there was kind of a continual dialog
between you and James Dean, wasn't there? Dean argued
that construction would cost more the longer it was
delayed.*

Yes. We were very close to James Dean. We were

very friendly. I've never been as close to another
director of finance, in a way. Now, Dean was an
architect and he was lnterested particularly in the
reconstruction of the physical facllitles, institutions,
of the state. At the same time, he was a man who kept
a good eye on the total plcture. But his real forte
was 1n this reconstruction --

That's a connection I hadn't made before. Of course.

And he was deeply involved in building budgets, and
in following up on how they carrled through with this
rebullding of the prisons and the mental hospltals
and parks, and so on. We had very close- working
relationships with him, and met with him frequently
to work out details of how to proceed on these
projects. He was chairman of the Public Works Board,
and he was a very strong chalrman. But we still were
looking for places to balance the budget, and cutting
buildings was easler than reducing personnel. So we
bumped head-on.

*#By 1950, Post was reporting that the 1946 postwar
construction program had grown from $154 million to
$418 million, plus additional building requests.
(S.F. Examiner, July 15, 1950) Debates with Finance
Director Dean are reported in the Examiner for
February 23, 1950, February 13, 1952, and January 23,

1953.
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School Funding

At the same time, Governor Warren had introduced the
concept that the state should be responsible for the
funding of school construction at the local level.
This was a new program. The State Allocations Board
was set up to allocate these bond funds, and some
other funds that were out of the General Fund, for
meeting the local school needs. Here we had this
great population increase. The local school districts
were 1ll-equipped to bulld the schools to keep pace.
So the state got in the business of establishing a
program basically concelved around the ldea that the
local district would first "impoverish itself” by
exhausting 1ts resources up to within five percent

of 1ts total bonding capacity. At that point, it
would be eliglible to recelve state funds. It had to
dedicate a certaln tax rate--I remember originally it
was a thirty cent tax rate, and give the proceeds of
that rate to the state. Beyond that, the state would
pay the debt service.

This then became the standard system of the state.
We had many debates about what was the proper unit
appropriation amount, what was the right size of the
classroom, for example the thousand square foot
standard for the classroom, what facilities should
be given along with that: multi-purpose rooms, for
other activities -- Because we found ourselves in
the business of actually building whole schools, as
a result of the fact that a district would have come
into the program only after exhausting itself, and
then all the new schools really in facet came right
within the jurisdiction of the State Allocations
Board, and we were building the whole school. So we
had to decide what was the proper package. How many
classrooms, what size of c¢lassrooms, what supporting
facllities, how much credit did you glve for lnherliting
a system that was oversized for our standards.
Supposing you had over-~built classrooms previously.
Did you have to walt until you had washed out the
over-bullding before you got new ones, or could you
write off some portion of that. All these kinds of
problems came lnto focus because 1t was a new funda-
mental role for the state.
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Morris: So that you and the Department of Finance would
discuss these detalls?

Post: Oh, yes. We worked on the legislation continuously.
It was constantly being brought in. We prepared any
nunber of reports. My staff met regularly with the
Allocations Board. It had really a great deal to do
with revising many of the criteria that they used
for the design of the program. The staff of the
Allocations Board knew what was right, but they often
didn't have the guts to say so, in terms of the
conservative approach. The school people had never
had it so good. It was kind of free money as far as
they were concerned. They would push for everything,
so the state was constantly fighting to keep the reins
tight, and the Allocations Board had both administrators
and leglislators on it. So the allocatlons staff people
would keep throwing us ldeas about how to do it, and
we had the nerve to go in and fight to keep expendlitures
down.¥*

Morris: To the legislature?

Post: To the Allocations Board. And also to writing letters,
reports to the legislative members, which in fact
became the letter to the whole board. We still do
that, on the Public Works Board and the Allocations
Board. We have legislative members. We write an
evaluative report on the Public Works Board, and send
it to the legislative members, but in fact, it goes
to every member of the board, and they use it as an
independent critique of whether or not the project
should be approved or trimmed.

#At one point, Post reported to the State Allocations
Board that fourteen of thirty-four school districts
seeking state construction ald had enrollment declines
since applying. The board instructed Post and Dr.
Charles W. Bursch, chief of school planning for the
Department of Education, to seek a more realistic
formula for qualifying for funds. A legislator
comnented that school people seemed to be worklng to
get as much money as possible. (S.F. Examiner,
December 21, 1950)
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Construction Program Legislation

Morris: You also indicated that sometimes the results of
your studles end up as part of legislation.

Post: In legislatlion, because the program standards were
defined in legislation. The guldelines for the
Allocations Board as to what they could allocate
for projects, how you actually dealt with the
consideration of exlisting facillitles, unlt amounts--
all of that 1s the law. Then implemented by the
determinatlions made by the Allocations Board. So
that we would get 1lnvolved in recommending to the i
legislature that you set certaln statutory constraints,
that you change certain procedures, and so forth.

We've always been involved in a dual role, of
working within the area of leglslation governing
administration, at the same time that we write a
critique of administration. As a result of writing
that critique, we generally end up making quite a
number of recommendations for changes in the laws,
where it's appropriate. The governor might come in
with some basic program of new legislation, but not
be concerned as much as we were with, perhaps,
changes in pleces of leglislation. Governor Warren
did not seem to use his personal position of governor
to intervene, except as to vetoes. He worked in
another way, in that respect. He would have hils
legislative lieutenants bring in bills, or the
departments would submit bills. They would be
changing the laws all the time. It was only under
Governor Brown that you had a strong central control
over legislation, from departments, where it had to
go through the governor's offlice and be approved.
Prior to that, departments would bring in their own
legislation.

But the force of the governor's office through
his veto power, through the fact that he had a strong
staff, was great. DBeach Vasey, now a Jjudge, was a
very strong legislative secretary under Governor
Warren. He did a fine job of advising the governor
on legislation, so that since the governor had the
last whack at it, he had a sort of control that went
full circle. Even though he didn't have approval
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over legislation to be introduced formally coming
through the offlice, he had such a strong control
over review of leglislation that 1t sort of worked
that way.

A number of people have commented on his use of the
governor's council, in that the executive branch
was strong enough that he could meet monthly with
all executive department heads, and then get from
them informally what legislation they had in mind.

I'm sure it worked that way. Of course I wasn't
familiar with it, in any direct sense. I never was
in the governor's office the whole time that Governor
Warren was 1in offlice --

That's interesting.

I never was 1n the governor's office until Governor
Knight. And then only because I once commented to

Governor Knight, who was really a very good friend,
that I had never been in the governor's office, and
he couldn't walt to see that I saw what 1t was like.

But there was a very impersonal relationship
between the governor's office, Governor Warren, and
my office.

Did hils office object to the function of the
legislative --

No, he supported it, in principle, very strongly. He
often spoke warmly about the asslstance 1t gave to
him in evaluating bills. We used to write letters
to the governor, even after bllls were passed,
recommending whether he should sign them or not. I
finally declided that that was usurping the preroga-
tive of the legislature, that if I had anything to
say about a bill, I should say 1t before a committee
and not tell the governor to thwart the efforts of
the leglslature. I really felt that this was out

of my scope, and we abandoned that. We went on then
to strengthen our role before the committee.

That's why I still appear before Ways and
Means and Senate Flnance committees, and our reports
are sent to the policy committees to let them have
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our recommendations there, when they make the
decision, rather than walting, and then going 1in
to the governor, and saying, "This is a bad bill."

When do you date that change in policy in your
office?

I think it took place probably during the Knight
administration. I inherited it. My predecessor
had wriltten very strong letters, and I carried on
much of what he dld without any slgnificant change
until finally I concluded that it was a bum idea.
But I didn't do it until, as I recall, the end of
the Warren administration.

In part, 1t may have been because the administra-
tion changed somewhat, too. With Governor Warren,
you were dealing with a very tight ship, and he did
such a good Job on that. I think I felt a little bit
differently about some of the changes in offlce
personnel and so on, with the new governor. As I
remember, my real concerns were later on.

In principle, I began increasingly to think that it

was a poor way to do things, but I never really had much
of a concern, as I recall, until a later administration.

Could we go back a minute to the education scene?
You were involved in the state money for school
construction. Wasn't there also in the late forties,
new legislation on support of the schools, for the
instructional programs?

Oh yes. We had increasing amounts for local school
support continuously. When I first came in, there
was much more of an emphasis on unit amounts for
schools wlithout consideration of the sophisticated
equalization program that equated out the differences
in assessed valuation among districts. And without
as much concern for individual programs, such as the
transportation requirement of crippled children,
including bullding classrooms for them. They Jjust
fell out of the system, until Senator McBride came
along and really plumped hard for including in the
bonds and in schoolroom construction something for
the child who was really not fully educable. One
who either went to an institution or if he wasn't so
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Post: defectlve as to go into an institution simply remained
in the house as a fall-out from the system.

Morris: This would be the origin of the program for mentally
retarded?

Post: Yes. When we had the school bond program, Senator
MeBride finally got them to dedicate funds (not to
exceed three percent of the school bond funds) for
construction of the faclilities for chlildren who were
not normal. It required initially a higher pay-back
rate. At first state funds were matched on a fifty-
fifty basis, and then that led to introduction of a
sharing device incorporated into the school formula.
Only thls year, on our recommendation, has the
legislature finally moved to take that three percent
limitation off. A Dblll 1s golng through that says
let the Allocations Board determine what the needs
really are. But that's been a long road, going to
equal status for that type of facllity versus the
facllity dedlicated solely to fully normal educable
chlldren.

Morris: There's also been the running debate on how much the
state should pay towards the cost of operating the
schools.

Post: That's right. We had many lssues of that kind. The
Strayer Report (Professor George Strayer of Columbia
University) established a basls for equalization ald
that really revolutionlized school finance. For many
years, we had efforts made by the school districts
to get more money. Annual debates over how the funds
should be allocated, and the total amounts required.
The dlstricts were under continulng pressure, because
of the growth of the school populatlon. We had about
a seven percent annual increase in school population,
starting in the fiftles. This was very difficult to
keep up with, because 1t was compounded by the need
to devote a great deal of money to school facilitiles
as well as to keep up wlth the problem of growing
class sizes.

We had the problem of double sessions wlth us
for all those years. We had a growing concern, late
in the fifties, wlth the growling class sizes. The
adoption of a standard of somewhere in the neighborhood
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Post: of thirty-five or less. That was between thirty
and thirty-five per classroom. And trylng to reach
those goals.

\ But there were always major issues of getting
enough money for the schools, and always the school
bill was one of the final issues of the session.

It always came late. It came after you settled the
rest of the budget. Then the school blll would move,
and we'd have an issue of big money with trade-offs
as to how to fund these growlng school budgets.

Morris: When you say "trade-off" --

Post: Oh, I mean how you could work it out with all the
other needs of the state. Tax lncreases versus
expenditures. School expenditures, budget expendi-
tures, construction needs. Just the whole problem
of how you could fit in a blg school program. The
school people were very big. They were strong.
There was a good deal of talk in those days about
the school lobby. You had the CTA which was very
powerful. They were always a factor to be reckoned
with.

School Lobby

Morris: Where did the state Department of Educatlion fit in?

Post: The state Department of Educatlion was rather a
neutral force. The superintendent of public
instruction dominated the school board. He was a
good professional administrator. Roy Simpson had
come up through the South Pasadena school system,
and was a good educator, a fine, decent school man.
Not a strong and dynamic individual, but a good,
stable sort of person. He told, with hls professionals,
the state board what things ought to be. They pretty
much endorsed everything he sald. He was a factor in
the development of school legislation, but he really
wasn't in my opinion a very strong factor. He never
really did deal as vigorously as he might have with
the problem of equalization, but he always gave his
blessing to it. He was always on the right side, but
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the school people in hils department were primarily

an aggregation of consultants who went around to

the school districts and helped advise in many

ways, including institutes and conferences. 1In

this way they touched a lot of bases, but the real
powers within the state were the large school
district superintendents, lLos Angeles, the San
Francisco schools, San Diego--and you know, the
growing metropolitan areas. It seemed to me that
this is where the power really lay. These districts
were aggressive. The basic aid (wealthy) districts,
like San Francisco and originally Los Angeles, held
up any real progress on equalization until Los Angeles
got 1its nose under the tent for equalization aid.
Prior to that, since it was a relatively wealthy
district, it got basic aid only. It didn't get any
equalization ald. So it would have no part of
equalization until it came within the formula. Then
Los Angeles got on board, and has been a force moving
in the direction of improving and adding to equaliza-
tion funds since. San Francisco never has, and they
still fight any equallization aid. San Diego was a
relatively wealthy district, too, as I recall. So
that some of your big, most rapldly growlng distriects,
were relatively wealthy because of thelr growth in
industrial base, and so they held back the equaliza-
tion aid.

Moreover, it seems to me that some of the
districts that might have benefitted most were kind
of "cow county" and didn't have the sophistication
to press thelr cases in the same effective way as
those big hot-shot superintendents from the big
centers. Because they were really sophisticated
indlividuals, with thelr battery of supporting forces.
Thls may not be entirely true. It's kind of a theory,
I guess, that I'm developing.

You're suggesting a kind of a working relationship
between the big cities' superintendents of schools
and the California Teachers' Association?

Yes.

That's interesting.

I think so.
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Growth of Urban Problems

Were there any citizens groups?

Well, you see, the cltizens were taking thelr cues
from thelr superintendents, and the superintendents
came from baslic aild, wealthy districts, and they
weren't about to share the wealth. This is what's
held a lot of it back. You don't permit things to
happen until it does you some good.

That's a logical point of view for any given
localitye.

This 1s why you had rapld expansion perhaps of the
Youth Authority program and the rapld expansion of
the mental hyglene clinics, because the metropolitan
areas stood to gain by it. They were pushing the
rural areas out of shape in those cases. The mental
hygiene problem was to a very conslderable extent an
urban problem, we were told, the pressures of city
life, in part, but also, and perhaps to a greater
extent, the economic dependency that 1is a product of
an urban society. A person falls out for mental
reasons from the mainstream, and he's caught, in an
urban environment, in a position where he has to go
into an institution. Out on the farm, if a person
becomes insane or is mentally slow, they often just
kept them there in the farm enivronment, and they
were tolerated. They lived a reasonably comfortable
life. But the economic structure of urban soclety
meant that--as in the case of welfare today--when the
person falls off, he falls hard, and there's no place
to go. And so the institutions of the state have to
pick up the burden.

So that the cities were welcoming the development
of urban facilities, of mental hygliene c¢linics, of
acute facllities with also facllities for overnight
domiciliary, short-term domiciliary care. They were
also willing to have a rapld expansion of the state
public health budget, and they were eager to see the
development of the state supported Youth Authority
facilitles, which agailn were an innovation of the
Warren administration, separating youthful offenders
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from the adult offenders. The state by law took

up the burden of accepting admissions only to the
extent of the capacity, the physical capacity to do
s0, within the Youth Authority facilitles. It was
2 limited responsibility. By law, we didn't have
to taeke any more people than we could, than we were
willing to accept, because this was an innovative
approach. Heretofore, you'd had primarily only
local youth facllities, the Juvenlile halls, and the
local jalls that took care of these youthful
offenders. So when the state got into the business
of establishing these Youth Authority facilities

it was logical that they should accept only to the
1limit of thelr capaclty to do so.

This would be based on the actual spaces--beds, and
so on?

Right. And as fast as we could bulld facilities, we
would accept cases from local communities. The
metropolitan areas of course, were willing to support
programs at the state level that would permit them to
be relieved of the local responsibility of taking
care of these youthful offenders. So, here's a
program that was supported on a broad base. I'm
simply contrasting thls with the unwillingness, 1n
many ways, of the local communities in metropolitan
areas, to support equalizatlon of educatlonal
apportionments. But when it came to equalizing the
burden with the state accepting people in mental
hygiene clinics, and accepting people in youth
authority facilities, 1t seems to me, that the
metropolltan areas lent thelr support, and their
legislators supported legislation and appropriations
for expanding those kinds of facllitlies.

Senators and Reapportionment

Interestingly enough, rural legislators (primarily
maybe because of philosophlcal, or ldealogical
reasons) were leaders in establishing those programs.
This became an interesting facet of our review of the
issue of reapportionment. Members of the senate had
asked us to look at the record, the track record of
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the senate versus the assembly, in respect to
legislation that affected urban areas. Because
the rural senate (which of course it was, a rural
senate) was resisting reapportionment, to protect
thelr own position, they wanted to know how good a
Job they could say they had done in supporting
urban area problems. J

And interestingly enough, when we looked at
the record, we found that it was very good with
respect to the senate. In fact, it was better than
the record of the assembly, which was the house where
you would have expected urban problems to have been
dealt with during that period. The truth of the
matter--well, we approached it this way--

We went to UCLA where they had an urban affairs
orientation in their institute of government down
there. Berkeley, under Sam May and his successors,
was primarily concerned with problems other than local
government problems.* But at UCLA they had been
oriented toward municipal, local government, research
and problems. So we went to them and sald, "Will you
identify for us the issues that you regard as being
the most signifilicant local issues over a period of
recent years, and then we will look at the bills that
have been introduced on those subjects, see who the
authors were, see what happened to them. We want to
determine the track record in the assembly and the
senate with respect to bills which attempted to deal
with problems that you conslder especially urban
problemns." So we did that.

Then we took another approach. I thought it
would be deslirable if we simply took the bills which
were introduced by urban leglslators and see what
kind of bills they were, and what happened to themn.

¥To the question on the transcript as to what were
the significant contributions of UC/Berkeley to the
legislature, Post replied: regular reports on state
issues, fine library at Berkeley, but overall not
enough output--largely because the leglslature didn't
ask for more help. UC not geared to the legislatlve
time frame and need for spot help.
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Post: Did the senate glve serlous and favorable consldera-
tion to those lssues whlich the urban legislators
felt were lmportant, as well as dealing with the
issues which an outside authority (UCLA) thought
were lmportant to the urban community.

And on both grounds, we found that the senate
had an excellent record. I think thls was because,
to get back to my earlier point, some of the members
of the senate, because of thelr having come up through
the assembly and golng to the upper house, were
sophlisticated, and had a very broad vliew of many of
the problems of the state. They were also consclous
of the need to do something to maintain thelr
political strength, and consequently had been quite
falr in dealing with these kinds of problems.

Anyway. I just throw that in, because 1t was a
kind of interesting experliment in the role of the
two houses in relatlion to the emerging responsibilities
and problems of the state of Callifornla, and the fact
that the senate was a reasonably sophlsticated, and
far-sighted group of indlviduals, in many areas.
People 1like George Hatfleld and Ben Hulse who came to
have reasonably progressive ldeas about welfare, and
the Short-Doyle program. Senator Short was particularly
concerned with mental hyglene.

Morris: Is Assemblyman Doyle still in the leglslature?

Post: No. There were two Doyles. There was old Tom Doyle,*
and then there was Don DoyleX*¥ Don Doyle 1s now a
vice president of one of the large insurance companies
in the Bay Area, in San Francisco, as I recall, and
Oakland. He was a pretty progressive Republican.

Yes, 1t was the Assemblyman Don Doyle who carried the
communlity mental health leglslation.

But Senator Short was really the one who pushed
it most, in my view. I remember he took me down to
lunch on a couple of occasions, and battered at me

*Thomas J. Doyle (D), Los Angeles, 1939-57.
*%#Donald D. Doyle (R), Contra Costa, 1953-58.
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with experts to point out the real problem. It was
very 1lluminating and very effective. He was a
fellow that went out of his way to see that you
learned something about programs in which he had
an interest. We went to Stockton with him to look
at the programs at the community level for the
children who are--what we used to c¢all, I guess,
Point Two. They're tralnable retarded. That's
where they started the program, in Stockton. He's
been very much instrumental in establishing increased
numbers of those programs and strengthening them.
They've grown. He asked me to go down there with
him, and we spent all one day observing that.

You're telling me that the legislators lobby youl

Some of them. There aren't many, but he's one of
them that always did, when he felt that there was an
important program. He tried to get everybody to see
it better. There weren't very many that did that,
interestingly enough. He's one of the few who did.
I've had some of them lobby me a 1little on other
matters.

As a matter of fact, they really have left us
pretty much alone. This was an educatlion process.
My chalirman, Senator Hulse, used to be awfully
interested in getting a state college in E1 Centro,
and we never would concede that there was any case
for that. He was awfully decent about it. He would
Just ask that we keep looking at it. We'd keep
looking at it, and come back with, "It Jjust doesn't
belong there. We need a good Jjunlor college down
there."

League of California Clities

On the business of the senate, and its role, a couple
of people have suggested that the League of California
Cities, when Dick Graves was director, really did an
educational job on the senate --

Of course they did.
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And interested them, or got them turned in the
direction, of city and county problems.

Yes. I think Dick Graves was a very important
influence in California. He was a protege of Earl
Warren, and a first-rate, strong individual. As

a matter of fact, in my opinion, the League of
California Cities has been outstanding in its state
representation. I would put Bud Carpenter in that
same league. One of the truly outstanding people,
educated and thoughtful. Representing, in the
finest sense, the interests of the communities.
They've had a program of upgrading city government
in California which has been exemplary throughout
the country, I think, based substantially on Dick
Graves' early leadership, followed by Bud Carpenter.

And you feel that they've contributed to the improve-
ment of city government?

City government and the relatlonships between state
and city government. Oh, yes. It's been an 1n-house
upgrading, and thelr representation up here has
always been thoughtful and appropriate, educational,
and very beneficlal 1n that sense. Graves was an
arch, intellectual, articulate, sort of guy, who
could tell you the way 1t ought to be. But he did it
right! He told you the way it really ought to be.

He used to antagonize some of the people, because
he dld have kind of an arch way about him, but he knew
what he was talking about. He was forceful. He was
a real leader. He would have been a good governor,
no questlon about 1it.

It's interesting that Graves himself flnally took
a shot at the governorship.

Yes, he ran under very difficult circumstances. And
he really didn't have the warmth, the political
moxie, to quite cut it. He had an intellectual
approach to the governorship at a time when other
forces were stronger.

You saild he could tell you the way it ought to be.
How did he feel state government, for instance, should
be?
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Well, I think really I was thinking about describing
the problems of cltles 1In terms of the fiscal
relationshlips between state and local government.
The kinds of formulas that would be productive of
good equalized efforts, baslic concepts of what kinds
of functions, and kinds of programs, and kinds of
people, should be involved. He was a pro, and when
he got up to speak on a blll, he spoke, as I say,

in kind of an arch way, laying it down with accuracy
and forcefulness, that thls was the way 1t ought to
be, and thils is the way 1t was. And he was accurate
about it. That's all I mean. I don't have any
particular examples. I just remember seeing him get
before a committee, makling a very accurate and
informed, and enlightened presentation of the
interests of clties, with his eye on the ball and
what kind of clty government we ought t6 have in
Californla. If there were subventlions to local
government, there were good ways of doing 1t, and
bad ways of doing 1t. He was, in my view, on the
side of the right way to do it.

In other words, hls thinkling about fiscal relation-
ships and adminlistration would conform to your ideas?

Yes, it would. He wasn't so much concerned with
school legislation, it didn't seem to me, because
they had Bob McKay and others who spoke for the CTA
who were more influentlal. It was primarily in other
municipal functions that, 1t seems to me, I used to
hear him more often.

The Christmas Tree blll was the famous one, on what
to do with the governor's Ralny Day Fund. That was
sewers largely, wasn't 1t?

Well, it was all kinds of facilities. There were
sewers, and there were other facllitles. I came in,
really, Just after that lssue was resolved. Senator
Hatfield and other senators held up the whole
procedure and bargalned wlth the governor because
they felt that he had structured the program to
reflect the view that the needs would be found to
exlst in the growlng urban areas. They, on the
other hand, wanted some of thls surplus money to go
out to the small communltles they represented.
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Because the governor also had a functional state
construction program that would go to the upgrading
of state facilities, they assumed that thls meant
the state facilitlies would be in urban areas where
the people were, and they wanted some facilitles in
other areas of the state. They made the case that
he needed to have a broader grant of funds that
would upgrade these local community facilities.
They got the so-called Christmas Tree Bill, by
Ssimply holding up hls total program, so he gave 1in
on the local portion.

Water Planning Issues

What was the influence of federal funding on state
government during Warren's administration? Highways
and water have been mentlioned as the big dollar
amounts.

Federal funding didn't have too much influence then.
Highways were big in the Warren administration. Water
became a big issue in the Knight administration. Then
Brown came ln, and really--coming down into the
legislative halls and getting some real experts to
work on lt--resolved that issue by might and main,

for which I glve Governor Brown a lot of credit.
Whether you agree or disagree with the water plan,

it simply wouldn't have happened if Governor Brown
hadn't felt that he had to get this thing off dead
center.

In the Knight admlnistration, we Jjust wound up
with North-South fights, over and over and over again.
During the Warren administration, there was a planning
effort, the development of the state water plan. Now,
this was something that had to be done, and it was
done by the then Division of Water Resources. But it
was a planning and design organization. We never
dealt, in the Warren administration, with the issue
of where were we to put our money, or what kinds of
things were necessary in order to get in the business
of really merchandising water.
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Post: Now, the flrst real 1lssue that I was ever
engaged in, iIn the fleld of water, was when I came
to the concluslon that the state was mls-spending
its resources by trying to buy out the Central
Valley Project. The blg farm interests in California
wanted to buy out the federal interest, wlith the
use of state funds, so that we wouldn't be plagued
with the acreage limitation of federal legislation.
There was federal money in the project, and so we
were governed by reclamation law. This was counter
to the agribusiness interests. Their proposed \
solution was to simply buy out CVP, imake it a state
project, then we could run 1t as we darned pleased.
I opposed that. I remember people said at the time
that George Hatfleld would be twirling in hils grave
if he'd known that I was recommending agalinst it.

Interestingly enough, many people sald that
after I sald that they knew the proposal to buy was
dead. It was the first time in my own experience
that I ever felt, and I didn't reallze 1t at the
time, that something I had saild had that kind of
impact. The fact that the leglislative analyst would
come out and objectively say this was a bum deal for
the state, apparently, according to many of the
experts 1n the Bureau of Reclamation and elsewhere,
sealed the 1ldea's doom.

Defining Economlic Factors

Post: From that point on, we were concerned with the problem
of where to go next in investing our money in developing
and implementing the state water plan--in exporting
water from the North to the South. We were concerned
with how to set up economlic conditions for priclng the
water, determining what the cost-benefit ratio should
be, and who should pay for it, and what project
beneflts are, using the pattern of federal legislation,
or conforming it more to some of our own experience,
and perhaps improving on it. It was at that point
that we hired ourselves a very bright young man from
Washington, an economist who had had some experience
with Bonneville. He came south and had, I think, a
tremendous influence in the state of California (that
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was Don Benedict), in shaping a whole new approach
to determining the economic interests, as opposed
to the engineering and planning features, of water
in California.

He worked closely as an advisor to the senate
and assembly committees, with Carley Porter,¥* and
members in the senate. With his baslc background
I think he helped instruct them in the general area
of how to approach these problems in a way that was
entirely different from what we had experienced in
the past.

You're speaking now of the activities of the Water
Resources Board established in November, 1945. We're
very interested in this perliod before water resources
became a separate agency in 1956.

I remember distinctly during those years the work
that was done by Charlie Weber of Stockton,*¥* who
had hired with his own personal resources a set of
experts who dealt with the whole problem of a water
plan for Californlia. You had the experimentation
and the discusslions with the Reber plan, how to
handle the Bay Area, how much water had to be released,
studies of ways in which to guarantee that there
would be no saline intrusion in that area, of the
development of a policy of sharing costs with local
governments in developing aquifers and protecting
them, and of stopping saline intrusion in many areas.
We saw the development of programs to encourage the
use of atomic energy for purification of water.

There were arguments and debates as to sources of
power for the state water project.

*D, Los Angeles, 1950-1972, Assembly Water Committee
(ch), Agriculture, Ways & Means.

*#Ind, R, D, San Joaquin, 1935-1950, chairman,
Assembly Conservation, Planning and Public Works
Committees; Ways and Means Comm.; civil engineer:
Don Pedro Dam, Carquinez Bridge.
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I remember golng, at the request of Assemblyman
Beaver, to meet with the president of the university,
Bob Sproul, and talk about getting thelr experts to
help us develop a new approach to saline water con-
version. We wrote reports for a subcommittee that
Jack Beaver chaired in that area, sent our people
back to Washington with him, and did a lot of work
in that area.

I'm overlooking the fact that there was a great
deal of debate assoclated with the planning that
went on. When they finally got to the point of
declding how they were going to handle the state
water plan, we were involved in that. For example,
I was asked to set up the basis for having a Joint
committee review of the Feather River Project.
Knowing nothing about it, I went to the Bureau of
Reclamation and others, and got my guldelines as to
the kinds of things that you had to have in such a
review, such as the best high dam man in the country,
a Jack Savage, or somebody of that calibre. You had
to have the best geologlists in the world, because
we had the most difficult geologlcal problems related
to our canals. You had the power plant problem of
golng over the Tehachapis, which in that area
represented the most difflcult engineering problem
of its kind the world had ever tackled. Everything
was in ultimetes. By that I mean it was the most
difficult project in every feature. They helped
identify these particular issues for me.

I was supposed to lay out a program to get bids
from all these englineering flrms, bring it before
the committee, and have them make an intelligent
decision in selecting the firm to evaluate the work
that had been done by our own state division people.
Their feeling was, "Before we can launch ourselves
in this twelve billion, or whatever it may be, dollar
project, we've got to have some outside evaluation
by qualified people who say, 'This is sound. It'll
work.! And then we'll commit ourselves to it."

So, I interviewed people llke Harza and
Bechtel, and Porter, and the whole bunch of the
engineering fraternity. And on the basis of the
assistance that I got from the Division of Water
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Resources, and the Bureau of Reclamation, and others,
we set up a2 kind of master plan, a group of specifica-
tions, and sent them out to all these experts. They
were to come in wlth thelr proposals. It was to
include identificatlion of the individuals who would
be assigned specifically to every one of these
project review elements. They would tell me, "You've
got to know you're golng to get a specific person

who has qualifications. You want to know who."

So we had a very fascilnating hearing on this.
Interestingly enough, what they did is what you
might have (what I might have) expected beforehand,
but was too unsophlsticated to realize--they picked
Kaiser, because it was a local flrm. As a matter of
fact, they had a pretty good bid, and they had
competent people, and I have no reason to feel that
they dldn't do a good job.

But you had entirely different approaches belng
thrown out. Harza, for example, wanted to forget
about the large dams here in the North, and have a
kind of water exchange program, in which you would
take the water we already had in the high Sierras
and which we were sending down into the lower San
Joaquin Valley and send it down into Southern
Californlia, and then we would keep the North's water
in the northern part of the state--that 1s to say
north of the Tehachapies. There were real issues
about the quallty of water that would be involved in
an exchange of that sort. These kinds of lssues
were ones that were debated all through that period.

As I say, Charlie Weber kept banging away at
his proposals to avoid a large Oroville Dam. We had
studies financed to determine the best way of handling
the quality of water in the Delta. Alternate sources
of water to go into the state system. BRelationshlps
with the federal government in their dam-bullding
projects. Because they were blg with the Bureau of
Reclamation all through this period. How did we
relate to them? What should we bulld, and what
should we leave to them? What were the differences
in timing that would be involved? The trading that
went on between the interests of the North and
getting water to develop versus exporting water to
the South so they could maintain their rapld development.
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The difference in economic interests between
the sportsmen and agriculture in the North versus
the value of the water to manufacturing and popula-
tion consumption requirements of the South.

The recreation issue is a falrly recent one, isn't
it?

No, they had studles of that quite a way back,
because northern people were concerned about gilving
up their water, and knew that there were more
possibilities, it seemed to me, for development of
recreation in many of those areas, than anything else.
More money to develop those rights than any other
thing that was foreseeable, blg business, and orderly
development of that kind. So you had Assemblywoman
Pauline Davis of Portola fighting for retaining small
dams up there that were primarily recreaticnal.

Again, they used all these new, sophisticated
devices of bullding in benefit factors that would
make the project economically feasible. The State
Department of Water Resources funded speclal studies
for allocating benefits for recreation and putting
it iIn the formula in a way that would make these
small dams, like Davis Dam, Antelope Dam, feasible.
They also fought for a broad, multi-purpose system
that would incorporate development of these small
projects--along with the development of the major
water export functions. These things were part of
the total battle.

There were battles over how to fund it, the use
of state resources from different sources versus
bond financing. The use of the reserves. Their
dedication to a special water fund. The use of some
federal funds, and general fund monies. All of
these were issues that were goling on at this time.
No questlion about it.

Who were the strong men in the legislature on these
continual discussions on water?

Well, the people like Hatfield were strong. Let's
see. Cobey. James Cobey, of Merced, later on. This
wasn't in the Warren administration, really. This
was later on. In the early years--I can't tell you
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Post: who they were, but they would be the Valley senators.
I really wasn't too much involved in it until later

on.

These issues really didn't emerge in those years.
We simply had regular financing of a state water plan.
This was the work of the Division of Water Resources,
under Edmonston, and his predecessor, Hyatt, Edward
Hyatt, who did the planning for it. You didn't get
these lssues articulated untll you reached the point
of "Now, really, what are we going to do about all
this? Are we really going to use this plan? Are we
really goling to take the water from the north and
ship it south?"

Because one of the things that they incorporated
in their early planning, as I understand it, and
recall 1t, was that you were golng to husband these
water resources in the north and have a lot of dams
retalning water for local purposes. Thls would be
very beneficial to the north.

From Porterville, Howard Williams was very
important in this, because he was chalrman of the
Joint water committee. He obviously represented
major customers for water, because he came from
Porterville, in the Valley, where there were agri-
cultural interests. This is what they would be
needing, so he was a key figure. He came up through
kind of the old school of Valley interests. It was
really only, I guess, late in his career, that he
became involved in some of these other more sophisticated
issues.

Morris: The early issue on the Central Valley Project seems
to have been whether it was going to happen at all.
The state couldn't fund it, and then they appealed
to Washington.

Post: That's right. You see, because originally they wanted
to use what money they had on hand to buy themselves
out of the acreage limitation. That didn't leave any
money for development of the state water plan.



Morris:

Post:

Morris:

Post:

88

Merchandising Water

I see. For the additional parts of 1it.

Right. And then we still hadn't dealt wlith the
economic lissues of how you get money for a2 projlect

of this magnitude. We still were thinking about

the state funding the project. I mentlioned the fact
that we hadn't really dealt with merchandising water.
By that I mean declding who pays for what and on what
basis? How do you divide it up between industrial
uses and agricultural uses? How do you calculate the
revenues that come from electric power versus
irrigation? All these things.

These were lssues that the Division of Water
Besources hadn't really tackled. They didn't have
a single economist in those days.

The idea was that merchandising the water would then
produce the money to build the system?

That's right. It meant, how do you spread this over
the years? How do you put it out on a bonding basis
to give you the capltal, and pay that off from the
revenues that are produced? How do you set the price
for water? How do you set the price for power? How
do you allocate between the two equlitably? How do
you determine which pleces of 1t are feasible in
terms of antliclipated revenues? Because you've got

to antlicipate what these will be, and you've got to
allocate i1t to a multi-purpose projJect. How much of
this will be federal money for flood control, and
fish and wildlife preservation, and how much of 1t
will be--in other words, what kind of storage do you
reserve for that, and how much will the federal
government pay for? Beyond that, what can you sell?
and to whom do you sell it? and under what kinds of
contracts? and who's responsible for the distribution
system locally, after you get the water down there?
All these sorts of things really had to be hammered
out.

There were new public policies, really, that
had never been dealt with in California, fully. We
didn't have the people to really deal with it, until
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Post: later on. This didn't happen in the Warren adminis-
tration. It happened later. But the planning work,
the engineering work, was done largely during the
Warren administration. And the first sklrmishes
over how you use your money for what public policles,
expansion versus the buyling off of the federal
government--that generated during the Warren
administration.

Morris: The 1l60-acre limitation debate is what reverberates
down the years.

Post: That's right. Thlis was the first blg issue we dealt
with. Untll we disposed of that, we weren't really
in any position to move on with the problem. So that
was the flrst thing that kind of had to fall.

Morris: [Additional question submitted with transcript.]
From your point of view, what were the merits of the
160-acre limitation? How was the lssue settled?

Post: [Written reply.] The 1l60-acre limitation was basic
federal law to not glve, at publlic expense, an
unearned increment to large landowners. While the
small farm was not an economlcal unit in Californila,
by and large, it was federal policy to encourage it,
and in any case there was no reason to not require
the large agricultural interests to pay for water
development. The 160-acre limit probably wasn't the
right solution for California, but reimbursement
contracts did seem to be justifled, after deductions
for flood control.

When the state entered the water development
plcture i1t used contracts intended to provide
adequate and equitable reimbursement, as I recall
for "surplus" water not claimed by the smaller farmers.

Morris: I should think that private business, like Pacific
Gas and Electric, and some of the big California
banks, would have been very much interested in all
this policy development.

Post: They were. I'm not sophisticated enough to know
exactly how. All I know is that there was great
concern when I did the staff work for that review
by the joint commlttee about what PG&E would be
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involved in. One of the real arguments that went
on before the committee during its hearing was that
Kalser engineers were also PG&E englneers, and they
therefore had a conflict of interest. Some of the
members of the committee felt very strongly that
you ought to get somebody who wasn't doing PG&E
work, because 1t meant that we would be dictated

to by PG&E on the policies that would be approved
for the state of California, for appralsal of the
feasibility of the project.

Others saild that that really isn't a significant
factor. They persuaded them that it wasn't, but I
do remember that PG&E was very large in those

.conslderations. But I really wasn't sophlisticated

enough to know that much about it.
When did you do this study?

I don't remember exactly. It was in the Knight
administration, as I recall, which would be some-
where around '55 and '56, maybe.

He took over in October, '53. And was re-elected in

'56.

We had those big issues on the water plan, the
North-South battle during hls administration. It
was about that time, I would say. It must have been

1955 or '56.

You wouldn't happen to have the title of it handy,
would you? Your study?

Oh. We didn't make the study. It was the Bechtel
Corporation that made the study. All I was asked

to do was to design for the Joint water problems
committee the basis for the sollcitatlion and presen-
tation of proposals for review of the Feather River
Project. This was in the Knight administration
where that issue became big. I think about 1956.
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Impact of Federal Funding

We started on water when I asked you about federal
funding. You said that in the Warren years there
wasn't all that much federal funding. Wasn't thils
the beginning of public health, mental health?

Well, yes, there were many smaller federal items.

In terms of total dollars it was relatively small,
but in terms of its influence, I think it was pretty
substantial. I mentioned the fact that the community
mental health program was pushed along rapidly by
federal financing of the local clinics, and there
was federal financing of numerous research projects,
which they would gradually drop, and expect the
state to pick up. In the field of public health,
this was also true. They would move in with funding
of epidemiology and morbidity studles, things of
that kind. They would try to upgrade the role of
state and local govenment in tackling problems that
they hadn't really tackled before. Making statewlde
studies that would reflect the incidence of some of
these problems, and setting up matching programs of
one kind or another.

So that was very influential. It was also one
of the things that meny of the members of the
legislature used to get pretty unhappy about. 1In
fact, our office reached a point where we proposed,
and they did adopt, 2 limitation on the amount of
money that could flow in, and be used, on the grounds
that 1t simply was luring us into areas where we
finally felt there were marginal returns. But this
was very much later.

So 1t was real influence money. There wasn't
any question about it. Particularly in those
areas of public health and mental hygilene. Then
there was growing federal money in public schools,
but that came pretty much later on. It came with
the acts that were to strengthen the administration
of the school system.

That's interesting. What effect did the California.
state government have, in turn, on the federal
government ?
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I don't think we had very much. They used to come
out and talk with some of our more sophisticated
people in social welfare--of course, federal funds
were also flowing in to the relief, the welfare
program, at this time. We had key people who went
back there. There was consliderable influence, 1
think in that area.

Who would those --

Well, the director--let's see. In the Warren
administration, the last man of real influence was
the attorney who went back to Brandels University
as a professor of soclal welfare. I can't think of
his name.

Charles Schottland.

Yes. He was quite influential. 1It's hard for me to
assess what the influences on the federal government
were, because 1 really don't know. It seems to me
we've always had a rather remote connectlion, or
relationship, with our leglslative group in the
Congress. There has never been a dlalog between the
California legislature and the congressional
representatives of Californlsa.

I think that in many respects, Californla under
the Warren administration became kind of a model of
how to do things. People did look to California. A
number of our people did go back there. Also the
members of the leglslature who went back there as
members of Congress exerted influence, because there
were quite a number of them.

Does your office exlst in other state governments?

Oh, yes. No state has the size or sophistication,
but most of the states now have an offlce or a man
who performs this kind of function. It's done in
many different ways. A characteristic of leglslative
organization 1s that you fit these new things into
the leglslative services that you have. There was,
in the thirties and forties, a legislatlive council
or research movement, which started in Kansas, 1n

the Midwest, and spread out. Many states set up
these general research counclils and then only very
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Post: much later had the fliscal review flitted into them.

California, on the other hand, never did
establish a legislative council, desplte the deslre
of Professor Harrls and Sam May, at UC, and others,
to go that route, but instead set up a fiscally
oriented office, which became 1n fact a legislative
reference bureau, meeting many broad assignments.
Doing the reference service for members of committees,
not only fiscal issues, but many other 1issues,
although never really belng the kind of general
legislative research council that you had in Kansas,
Oklahoma, Illinols, and other states where they went
into a2 much broader group of leglslative policy
areas.

Morris: My ear 1isn't good enough to hear whether that's
"counsel" or "council"?

Post: "c-1-1", 1In California 1t's a legal counsel, but
the council was a leglslative group, like my budget
commlttee, that appolnted the staff and in the case
of Oklahoma, it included every member of the
legislature. Less members 1ln some states where it
became a very select group. The council selected
the subject and they would research everything, from
reapportionment, resource development, et cetera.
The whole battery of things.

But we were the first in the country to have a
fiscal staff of this kind, and we are still numero
uno, by any standards, that you could find. Generally
regarded to be.

Developments in State Budget Process

Morris: We've mentioned the state of the art and its develop-
ments in a number of executive departments 1n
Warren's years. I wondered if there are any technilcal
advances, eilther in economic theory, or fiscal
management, that have affected the course of government.
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Well, I think it was Just a slow accretion of degrees
of sophlstication. You dldn't have a budget systenm,
or a PBB3,* anything of that kind. Governor Warren
came in with the constitutional authority that he had
when he left. The governor was responsible for
developing the budget, and had all the resources of
state government at hls command to implement it.

He didn't change the total structure of government
very much. In other words, you still had the
battery of constitutional officers wlth a certain
degree of independence. He did of course, internally,
strengthen many of his executive departments.

30 that he came in with a strong budget mechanism.
I think he improved that significantly by having a
strong budget director. But he inherited a good
staff, and he bullt up that budget staff, and they
did a very professional Job, and improved that job.
No question about that, during his term in office.

But there wasn't any, as I recall, any real
significant change in how you did things. My office
sat 1n on the hearings of the agencles, all through
the Warren administration. There was no change in
that procedure. They would meet in this room, and
the director of finance would sit here, and the
agency people would go down the side of the table,
and the leglslatlive analyst would sit down at the
end of the table. The staff would ask questions, and
they would submit thelr analytical data, and they
would have a discussion of the policlies that the
agencles were asking to be implemented. Then the
budget staff would take that material and make it
into a budget.

When the budget came along, then Vandegrift's
staff, or my staff, would review it. That was the
procedure throughout all of the Warren administration.

Your review was based on thils single budget that had
been prepared by the Department of Finance?:

*Program Budgeting and Bookkeeping System.
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V GROWTH OF LEGISLATIVE ANALYST FUNCTION

Program Evaluation

That's right. It was a line-item budget, with reason-
able program descriptions. One of the things that

did happen during this period--and people in the
Department of Finance have often sald this--our report,
as 1t expanded in size and depth, as the staff grew

in their sophistication, incorporated the kind of
information that had never been present 1in the
governor's budget. So that from a budget of schedules,
of people, and amounts, and items, it began to develop
descriptive material telling what the program was all
about.

Most of this was input data, not output data.
In other words they described what they were putting
into the program, and why they were putting it in.
The budget still isn't too good on saying, "Now from
this we have gotten these kinds of results," because
it's very difficult to measure results, and very often,
you don't like to talk too much, really, about 1it,
because there aren't always those results in tanglible
evidence.

The budget document did improve. It grew sub-
stantially in size, and it grew in sophlistication
and in content. I think we had a good deal to do
with that, because we were writing a textual descrip-
tion of programs. We didn't have to be concerned
with all this busliness of laylng out all the line
items that would then be administered by the agencles
in an administered budget. We could talk about the
thing, the program evaulation. And they found that
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this was deslrable to put into thelr budgets, for

one reason, because they didn't like to have us steal
all their thunder. If the members would fail to

look at the budget and instead only use our book,

i1t seemed like an idle act on thelr part to go to

all this work. Many of them were constantly
thinking how can we wrlte the budget so that it
becomes the document for legislative use, rather
than Jjust that little book produced by the legislative
analyst? We constantly were trying to make our
product better so that they would still use our

book, because if they used our book, we're more
productive. We're more persuasive if they can see
our story and not Just use their story.

We always had the power of the governor and his
political force to combat anyway. When the chips
were down, he had tremendous pressure. We have very
little pressure. So we had to write an awfully good
book in order to be persuasive.

That sounds like a healthy competlitive situation!

It was a healthy competitive situatlon, and I really
think i1t was productive of good things. Governor
Warren used to say in public addresses every once

in a while, "The state of California does a good

Job, because you've got different people looking at
things critically. When we have our legislation,

it has to be looked at by the legislative analyst,
who submits his comments on it. This means that it's
better legislation.™ .

I was always grateful, towards the end of his
terms, that he would have given that kind of
recognition to what we had been doing for a number
of years.

During the late fortles, the Department of Finance

began to do administrative reviews of departments.

Did that come about because of the kind of analyses
you had been doing --

No, I think thils was traditional for them, but I
think that we helped spur it on. There was some
issue at that time as to whether or not we were
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duplicative of efforts. We were making studies and
they were making studies. We at that time attempted
to get better communication, so we knew what they
were studying with thelr management staff, and they
knew what we were studying.

The point I would always make was that our
studies were independent of thelr studies. They
were reflecting the point of view of the departments
and the point of view of the administration. We
were reflecting an independent point of view. At
the same time, it would be foolish for us to duplicate
the factual data that we could agree on. We ought
to Jjoln our efforts so that we could extract from
the same body of information, but glve a different
interpretation and treatment in terms of optional
approaches, and supplement 1t maybe with new data.
That sort of thing.

So we worked very closely with Pierce Fazel and
his staff of people in Finance. Now he was not in
the budget stream. He was really a management
speclialist-~-they had a management analysis staff over
there under Plerce Fazel and Bob Smith. They did
independent studlies which we read and used, and they
read ours. In those days we had monthly meetings
with the budget committee, and we gave them a group
of reports almost every time they met. We would have
publlic hearings, and I would go through the reports
and explain them. They became rather important
documents in the way of management analysis.

In those days we spent so much time sitting in
on budget hearings that we didn't do as much as we
now do in writing up management reviews in the budget
analysis. When we were cut off from attendlng these
hearings, in the Brown administration, we used that
time to make an 1ndependent evaluation of the
administration, and instead of doing 1t in a serles
of reports, which we had previously made monthly to
the budget committee, we incorporated that in summary
form in a series of reports that we sent to the budget
committee and the whole legislature, or doing it
that way in part, and then summarizing it in part
and putting it 1In the analysis as an annual report
on administration and budget. In our budget review
we talk not only about what the governor is asking
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for, but also about what did they do with the money
in the current year. Where do we stand in terms of
progress on problems? Where do we stand on the
higher education master plan? Where do we stand on
the water program?

Incredible.

So that's why the book has grown to a thousand pages.
There are, for example, a couple of hundred pages

on education. Because we discuss every concelvable
issue in education. Coplies of our book go to the
university, every regent, every member of the board
of trustees of the state colleges. I understand
from my conversation with them, they find it extremely
helpful as an overview of critical issues that are
of public and legislative concern, and somewhat
different from what they might get looking at the
issues from their narrower point of view.

Staffing to Keep Ahead of the Issues

I should think so. It leads me to ask, where do you
get your staff? What kinds of background and
training?

We hire them from universities and colleges on a
non-civil service basis. On the basis of personnel
reviews. Many of them come from foundations. Some
of them come through internship programs. We have a
young man, for example, from Princeton here this
summer. We had that internshlp program last year
also. We hope once in a whlile one of these fellows
will come and work for us. We recrult through the
University of California and through Stanford. We

go down there and talk to thelr people, and they

give us the references and we interview them. Some

of them come on thelir own initiative, simply because
of interest. I took one in today, a young lady who

is magna cum laude at Smith, an absolutely sensational
young lady. She's finished her master's degree. MNost
of them have bachelor's degrees. Almost all of them
will have had at least one or two years in some kind
of a post graduate program. The one man at Princeton,
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for example, will have finished one year in the
Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International
Affalrs. He'll go back for hls second year. We

had two such men last year. We put them on a specific
assignment, and simply let them work. We get our
money's worth out of them on a pro)ect basis, and
they get a chance to see us and some of these days

we plck one of them up.

We have a man from Davis who has been working
this summer on environmental and ecologlical problems,
a man who's working on the agricultural impact--
agricultural industry, and the use of chemicals. He
happens to be speclalizing in that, so we went to
Davis, and will probably have an intern in that area.
I think he may stay with us, after he finishes. He's
very much lnterested.

You set the guldelines within which this variety
of people --

That's right. I do all the hiring and all the firing.
The committee simply says, "You can have so much
money." We ask for certaln money like everybody else,
and. they approve it. But they let me run the staff
with a completely free hand. We set up the classifica-
tions and we decide where we need to put the people

in terms of the demands on the office and the problems
as we see 1it.

That's why I went to Bonneville to get me an
economist on water, because we needed to have somebody
in the fleld of water. I discussed it with the
chalrman, and he said, "Well, water is a very dangerous
area." I saild, "I know, but it's terribly important.
My friends in the bureau simply say the state of
Californla is missing the boat." He said, "Well,
go ahead. It's a tough time, but -- " We hired
ourselves an extraordinary man and he's still with
us and doing an extraordinary Job.

We decided that we needed to do something in
transportation, because I felt that the transportation
lobby, frankly, was excluding adequate legislative
consideration of forms of transportation other than
highways, so about flve or six or seven years ago,

I asked the committee if they would permit me to
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establish a unit, even though the highway budget is
not in the budget bill. I felt there were areas
for surveillance of highway programs that would be
valuable for the legislature to consider in terms

of how much are we spending and what are we spending
it for, going in that way. I didn't really talk
about mass transit, but I sure had it in the back

of my mind. So we went out and hired ourselves,
with their approval, a young highway engineer. We
no sooner got him trained than the state of New
Jersey hired him as thelr deputy administrator for
transportation, so we went out and hired another
bright young man. BART hired him within a few years
as thelr director of planning, and he's now the
number two man in that organization from the
adninistrative standpoint, under Bill Stokes. Now
we got ourselves another man. But the point is that
we're in the transportation field, and this has been
invaluable to the members.

When we got into the BART problems and when we
got into the mass transit transportation lssues, we
had people in the office who knew what they were
talking about, and they have been used extensively
by both sides, both houses, both parties. It's been
a very gratifying development.

This attitude on the part of the committee offers
us an opportunity to loock ahead, see what we think
we really need. For example, we're concerned now
with getting people who are trained in ecological
approaches, whatever that means. We've sent people
over to Davis. I've gone over and talked to them
because they have a specialty there. They have Dr.
Kenneth Watt, and his whole battery of experts, his
whole bank of data that's supposed to be the best in
the state. We went over there and tried to set up
a basls for doing two things: One, clueing in to
some of the things that they're producing so we can
feed it through our evaluation of proposals. And
also, trylng to set up a basis for actually referring
bills to them to see whether they can respond within,
say, a week or two, and glve us some guldelines on
the kinds of things that ought to be looked at, the
factors that don't meet the naked eye of the layman.
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A blll comes along that might have tremendous
implications ecologically. The Davis people say
they have the bank of data over there that can pull
out these factors, and together maybe we can work
it out so we can put those consideratlions in the
bill analysis. This 1s a very hazardous and difficult
kind of thing, for me to put something in that will
louse up a bill, or kill it, merely because we say,
"Oh yes, this 1s all in apple-pie order, except it
1s ecologlically unsound." You can see the problems
that creates. 8So, feeling that somehow this ought
to be brought into the picture, but not really knowing
how 1t should be done, we've been seeking expert
advice from Davis.

That's one reason why we've had a couple of youngsters
come over here and be interns, hoping that maybe we can
develop better communication channels. They need to
understand how we have to deal with matters here 1in
relation to what they do there. Maybe after we run
this through one or two years, we can start getting
some people that wlll develop a procedure that 1ls viable
for us, from a staff standpoint, that's politically
viable, that we can live with. Because these are not
tangible, easlly defined issues. We can put a price
tag on a bill, because a department says 1t costs so
much to administer. We can ldentify certain management
problems or certain principles of organization that
we think should be mentioned. But it's much more
difficult for me to say that the implications
ecologically of doing it this way, versus doing it
some other way, can be described and pinpointed and
put into balance on a bill. We have no ecologilcal
committee. We have no guildelines. We have no real
standards. And yet we're told that thils 1s a matter
of 1life and death, to do thils thing right.

[Question added to transcript.] You mentioned that
the highway budget 1s not in the budget bill. How
did this come about? Are there hazards to this from
your point of view? Does the leglislature have any
powers of review?

[(Written reply.] The Collier-Burns Act of 1947 gave
the Highway Commission authority over the highway budget.
The governor must put it in the budget as presented,
and retains only certain approval power over any changes
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in 1t proposed later by the Highway Commisslion. The
legislature cannot change 1t. The funds, by state
and federal law, are also earmarked. The legislature
could change the Collier-Burns Acet, but 1t chooses
not to do so, to avold log rolling on highways.
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VI A NOTE ON BUDGET DIRECTOR FRED LINKS

When I interviewed Fred Links this morning about
the Department of Finance, he mentioned that he had
worked with you a good deal.

Well, when I came to work for the state, Fred Links
was thought of as the man who ran the state of
California. He was the civil servant who had been
here forever. He grew up through the low ranks clear
to the top civil service Job, really, in the state
Department of Finance, which ran the show. And he
knew more about how to get things done than anybody
in the business. He ran the budget process, and he
had ways of doing things for people that was
remarkable.

He had the so-called Fred Links Fund, which
bought me my desk and my chailr, when I first came in
here, and when we found out about it, we promptly
convinced the legislature to take 1t away from him,
which was an ungrateful thing to do, but the Links
Fund wasn't in our opinion the right way to handle
such business. It was a form of speclal privilege
that the Department of Finance would hand to people
for small political favors, and in my Judgement this
was Jjust wrong. It was really not the right way to
do things. If you deserved a desk, you should get
a desk, but you shouldn't have to go hat in hand to
get a robe for the chief justice. All the little
things you couldn't get 1in the budget, would be
gotten out of the so-called Fred Links Fund. And
that kind of patronage, we felt, I felt, was not
right.
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When it's the chief civil servant in the Department
of Finance, I can see where it's extra-questionable,
but don't most departments have a "slush fund® of
some kind? '

No. No.
That's the general opinion of the public.

No, they really don't. And thls was all centralilized
in the hands of one man.

But anyway, he was my neighbor and he was a
delightful man. He went before the committees on
finance, and ways and means. He was the expert on
bills. He largely handled the governor's and the
Department of Finance's position on bllls. He just
knew more about state operations than anybody.

I can remember seeing him as we both were going
home after work. He would go along in that 1little
car of his, zipping like you'd expect him to, and,
of all things, reading bllls as he drove. Every time
he'd come to an intersectlion, and I often thought in
between intersectlions, he was readling those bills.

He would look at them, see what they were, and throw
them out the window 1f he didn't want them, or 1f he
knew all he needed to know about it. We could almost
follow him home by the bills salling out the window
of the car as he read hls homework going home, at
about sixty miles an hour. A remarkable man. He
really was smart as a whip, knowledgeable, Jjust a
ball of fire. I was very fond of him. I am very
fond of him. He was the man that I always kind of
thought I would llke to be, the one who had his finger
on everything. Everybody thought of him as Mr. Know-
it-all.

That's interesting. I thought of your enjoyment of
painting this morning when he was telling me about
hls years and years of work with the Boys' Choir.
This was hls avocatlion, and the music took hils mind
off the detalls of finance.

Yes, he did. He also bullt the chandeliers for the
church, and he was a man of many talents. He was a
great home-builder and gardener. Did a lot to build
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his home himself, and everything around his home.
Very, very much oriented to do-it-yourself, you
know. He was also an institution. We have never
really had anyone in the administration who has
been able to take hils place.
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VII TROUBLE SPOTS IN STATE FISCAL CONTROLS

I was much impressed. Well, I'd like to talk a bit
more about your comment that two blg issues in
Warren's years as governor were liquor and the
state treasurer.

Well, in some respects that's a mis-statement. The
problems accumulated, certainly, durlng his adminis-
tration. They actually came out into the open later,
one of them at the very taill-end of his administration,
to be resolved under Governor Knight, and the other
with the state treasurer very early in Governor
Knight's admlinistration. The latter was finally
straightened around, but it was somethling that should
have been taken care of in Warren's administration,
but wasn't. Both of them, really, should have been
taken care of in the Warren administration, but they
were pushed off. It fell to those who came along
afterwards to do 1t. Governor Knlght was willing

to tackle it, and signed the bllls--although he really
didn't have too much to do with the liquor investiga-
tion. But he got himself involved quite innocently

in the treasurer squabble and wound up throwing that
issue, on his own initiative, to the Joint Budget
Committee, which made the investigation. It ended

up reforming the whole investment structure system

of the state, causing the state treasurer to eventually
resigne.

The liquor investigation, was really an almost
cancerous situation at the time. It persisted
throughout Governor Warren's administration. I don't
personally know what he dld to attempt to solve it.
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Liguor Llcensing

Was 1t related to Artie Samish, in a way?

It was related to Artie Samish, and Artlie Samish

in a2 sense blew the whole thing up by popping off
one day that he owned the capitol, and ran the
leglslature. The press then pushed the governor
for a response. Warren sald, "Well, it's true that
in matters that relate to hls constituency, he 1s
more powerful than the governor of California." And
that, of course, in tlime took care of Mr. Samish,
because he'd embarrassed everybody. IRS had looked
into hls affalirs.

So that he went to prison, and the legislature
enacted a lobby law, which we got involved 1n,
because my offlce was named as the repository of the
registration flling, that they established under
Assemblyman Collier's bill. Samish was the repre-
sentative of the liquor interests, and the real liquor
problem, as far as state government was concerned
was 1ln the administration of liquor licenses. That
was in the division of alcoholic beverage control, or
whatever it was then called, withlin the State Board
of Equalization. The real problem was that we had
limitations on the number of licenses that could be
issued, related to population, as a morality factor.
In other words, too many licenses contributed to
immorality. So public pollcy said, therefore you
limited the number of licenses.

This meant that they had a monopoly price
attached to them. We also had a law which didn't
re-issue the licenses each time 1t was transferred,
as though it was a new license. They became a
property value that you bought, and you could transfer
it, and receive money for it, from the person who
bought that opportunity, that franchise, to sell in
that particular area. These had prices on them that
went up to sixty, seventy, eighty thousand dollars,
per license. This meant that there was great
economlc interest 1n the transfer of those licenses.
It was here that Mr. Bonelll, as a member of the
State Board of Equalization, and those who were
assoclated with him in controlling this, ran into
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trouble. He ran into trouble because, frankly, he
was dishonest. Because the major population growth
in California was in his district, in Southern
California, new licenses were avalilable for issuance.
Therefore the opportunity developed for him to reach
out and exact a price (under the table) for the
issuance of new licenses. And also the value was
very high in the metropolitan areas for those
licenses that were already in exlistence and available
for transfer.

My involvement with thils came from the work
that we did investigating it for Mr. Weinberger, who
was chairman of a subcommlittee of the legislature
looking into government organization. It was through
this device that Bonelll and hls assoclates were
able to skim off some underground pay-offs. This is
the problem that existed.

I stumbled onto it, speaking from my old point
of view, quite innocently. We had hired ourselves
a certified public accountant who was a former
employee of the State Board of Equalization, and he
set up an elaborate and quite sophisticated system
developing workload standards for the Board of
Equalization. He did this with respect to audits,
and he did it also with respect to liquor administra-
tion. In the last years of the Warren administration,
he presented us data that showed there was no proper
balance between the numbers of people that were belng
requested and assigned, and the actual workload of
the Board of Equallization. There was very little
enforcement, for example, in Los Angeles.

So I remember going to a hearing and presenting
this data, which was in our analysls of the budget
bill, and making the comment, quite innocently, that
there was something that didn't meet the eye in the
Board of Equalization. The newspapermen, who knew
exactly what didn't meet the eye, because they were
sophisticated and knew the liquor mess that really
existed, went in, so I was told by one of them, to
talk to the governor about it, and .they asked him
if he had any comment on Alan Post's comment that
there was something in liquor administration that
didn't meet the eye. I'm told that he said he
recognized that there was something rotten over there.
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Post: But then from that point, there was a jump in
my own knowledge of the situatlion arising out of
Mr. Welnberger's appointment as chalirman of a sub-
committee of the leglislature to look into the.
organization of the State Board of Equallization.
The whole operation and its structure. We wrote a
report in January of 1953, I believe it was, on the
organization of the Board of Equalization, and were
highly critical of it.* Let me back up a moment.
When I first came up here, in about 1950, the
assembly had created a committee on organization of
state government. They asked me and my staff to
submit to fthem a 1ist of topics that should be
studied. We put at the top of the 1list the State
Board of Equalizatlion and the whole state organization
for tax administration~--because this was a can of
worms. We took our proposal to that meeting, and
they said, "No, we're not doing anything with that.

Well thls made us somewhat curlous as: to why
that should be. But it was Jjust something that
nobody touched. Then when things kind of broke a
little bit--and for reasons that I don't fully under-
stand partly alded and abetted, obviously, by the
Samish affalir, there was a joint committee on
organization set up, with a subcommittee on organiza-
tion of the Board of Equalization, and Caspar
Weilnberger, who was a young assemblyman, was put in
charge of 1t. He was a remarkable young man in the
way he took hold of that subject. At his request we
acted as staff for him. We also did considerable
investigative work on the transfer of licenses.
There was no responsibility in that agency to any
single individual, certalnly not the governor, because
you see, he didn't run the board, and yet he in a sense

*The San Francisco Examiner reported that this study
showed, among other things, that San Francisco and
San Dlego averaged less than one arrest per year per
staff investigator. In 1951, the legislative budget
committee had authorized a study of the Board of
BEqualization regarding the high percentage of time
spent on non-productive sales tax audlts; and Governor
Warren had asked for more investigators for the
Franchise Tax Board, instituted in 1950 to administer
personal income tax and bank and corporation franchise
taxes.
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Post: was responsible for the quality of administration
in all of state government.

We tried to develop a pattern of how this liquor
administration really worked. And to make a long
story short, with the genius of Caspar Weilnberger,
who 1s a brilliant person, tenaclous, and who did
his homework, and thus was able to stand up to the
senators and other assemblymen who were bent on
wrecking this investigation, we licked them, that's
all. He Just was remarkable. As a result of that,
in the Knight adminlistration, they reorganized the
State Board of Equalization, and put liquor under
separate control. It really wasn't an accomplishment
of the Warren adminlistration. 1In my view, really,
being perfectly candid about it, 1t was something
that Governor Warren should have taken care of. But
he dldn't take care of 1t, because it was Jjust too
blg a mess, perhaps 1n his opinion, to tackle.

It had many ramifications. It ran through the
legislature. There were members of the leglslature
who were involved in it. Some of them were indicted.
Some of them went to prison, at least one or two.
Some who had been members of the legislature were
involved in 1t and went to prison later. Some in
the very highest positlions, you know, like the
speaker, Sam Collins, were indicted. Charles Lyons,
who had been speaker, went to the penltentiary,
involved in matters related to it. One small time
assemblyman who was involved went to the penitentiary.
But in this system of payoffs for licenses the key
figure was Bonelli, who fled to Mexico and never came
back.

Morris: Do you think Warren realized all of these ramifications
throughout the leglislature?

Post: Yes, I do. In fact, when I first got started on this,
I had at least one call from one of the highest
positions in the state, who was very close to him,
who told me that I was getting in over my head, and
he always looked the other way, because it was
dangerous. But, you know, I was a young man. I
didn't worry about that. We had a situatlion that we
felt needed correction, and we didn't give it second
thought. We were employed by somebody who was really
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golng after 1t, and it didn't bother us a bit.

In fact, this warning that I refer to took
place before that investigation of Weinberger's
started. It actually took place when we first began
to criticize the board for the way in which they
were handling thelr affalrs. And the man was just
making a friendly warning, that, you know, this was
a can of worms. S0 Governor Warren must have known
about 1t, because he certalilnly was as knowledgeable
a man as anybody that's ever held that position.

He 1s Jjust a remarkable man and deserves great
admiration. But I really do feel that there were
two situations that exlisted in hils administration
that, for political reasons, everybody kept thelr
hands off of. This was one of them. The other was
the monkey business that the state treasurer was
involved in.

Banklng State Funds

The moment we got into that, we found that it was
guite bad, and nobody really wanted to touch that,
elther. That was cleaned up under Knight's
administration, because of prodding, frankly, that
came out of my office. We criticized the fact that
the state treaurer was puttling millions of dollars
in bank accounts, labeling them as demand accounts,
interest free. And they were ln fact time accounts,
that never moved, and he had agreements apparently
with the banks that he wouldn't touch the money. We
were talking about hundreds of milllons of dollars.

This would be those wartime reserves?

That's right. We had great reserves in those days.
And rather than getting any kind of an lnvestment .
return from them, the state treasurer was feathering
his own political nest by putting these in banks at
his choosing. Although it was supposed to be decided
on by a board, an investment board, on which the
controller and the director of flnance also were
members, they stated that they Just left it up to
the treasurer. 8So we had kind of an argument then
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with all of them. For example, Bob Kirkwood was

one of the people that I was very close to, and
tremendously fond of, and who I admired greatly.

But I got into a real battle that hurt him
politically on that issue, because it was my position
that he had a responsibility for it, since he was
required to approve these iInvestments. He said
approval was Just pro forma. My position was, 1it's
never pro forma. It's a function of approval that
means, "I approve. I agree. I oversee."

"I know what the details are."

That's right. And you can't delegate this. If
you're given an approval power, you can't logically
and legitimately glive that to somebody else and
absolve yourself of any responsibility. So, the
documentation will show that we claimed that he and
the director of finance carrlied a responsibility, and
they ought to have done somethlng about it.

That really wasn't what we were after, but you
can't get into these things without having to pin
responsibility on somebody. In faet the treasurer
used to come in here and practically cry, because he
was an 0ld man, and he was upset about it. He claimed
that we were 1ln affect accusing him of being dishonest.
I simply had to say to him that, well, the record
would stand for itself on this. I sald that he had
put millions of dollars 1In banks, and we knew that
he was not getting any interest for the state,
because they were demand accounts. But we also knew,
from the record, that they in fact were stable
accounts. So we pursued this, and we found, for
example, that although one of the banks had wrltten
off a ten thousand dollarnote that he owned, the
deposits could be the only reason. Well, memoranda
in the bank's files saild in effect, "This Mr.

Johnson has been very good to us, and we ought to
cancel this ten thousand dollar note."

It was things like thls that we were able to
dig up by sending our investigator out into the
banks and actually golng through the files.

The banks in turn could loan out those state funds.
That would be part of their reserves?
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Post: Oh yes. Of course. As a demand account, interest
free, they had this money to loan. But they also
knew that it was golng to remaln there, and not be
subject to effective demand so they were able to make
substantial earnings off of it as though it were a
time deposit--earnings that the state should be
getting. The reason that 1t got into the open,
other than our criticism 1n the analyslis, was that
the treasurer got so uptight about it that he
accused, In a moment of panic, Governor Knight of
doing this. He sald the governor was playing
favorites with bank accounts. And then Governor
Knight turned around and said, "We ought to have
an investigation to see who's been playing with
these bank accounts."

I had just come home from my vacation, and they
met me at the plane and sald, "Get down to El Centro.
Senator Hulse has agreed to take on the investigation
of the state treasurer."

Morris: You said "they" told you to get down to El Centro.
The newspapers or your staff? Or both?

Post: My staff. Before this final blowup and as a result of
our earlier investment criticisms, we also developed in
eooperation with the controller, a new pooled money investment
procedure. It was placed in a new law, which was
enacted as a Joint leglslatlive Budget Committee Dbill,
sponsored by all the members of my budget committee.
It set up the investment of state funds on a sound
basis that's been working well ever since.

Morris: Did this new bill involve the controller and the
director of finance? Actively?

Post: Yes, they're on the pooled money investment board.
So that 1t is a board activity, but it set up along
with 1t a procedure that determines exactly how much
money should be pald to the banks for the services
they render in handling our checks and deposits,
on a unit basis. I remember that very distinctly
because I had to argue that point with the economists
for some of the banks.

Fortunately I had been a bank clerk who used to
set up those charges, the other way around, to the
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Post: customers, on the baslis of so much per check and so
much per deposit. We would calculate what the return
on thelr average bank balance was, and we would
charge them what they owed us--1f they cost us more
money to handle thelr checks and their deposits than
we recelved, on the basis of an interest rate
computation that we applied to their average bank
balance. Because we knew what we earned off of that,
and we knew what 1t cost them. If 1t cost us more
than we earned, we assessed them the difference.

And I saild to the economists, "You know, I've
done that wlith banks, and you know 1lt's legitimate,
and you do it all the time. Let's turn it around.

We will pay you whatever we owe you on the basis of

an interest computation, only--we will only put enough
money 1ln the bank, sufficlent on the basis of a
guaranteed interest rate, to pay the cost that you
bill us for handling the checks and the deposlts at

a prearranged unit figure. And thils 1s the way that
the system now works. We keep a compensating balance,
it's called, suffiliclent to compensate them for these
services. The rest of the money 1ls invested under a
state policy that dictates that 1t shall be at the
highest rate that can be earned to the advantage of |
the state. T

Morris: The prevalling interest rate.

Post: That's right. So 1t goes not only into deposits,
time deposits, but 1t also is placed by the pooled
money investment fund in short-term government bonds
and other notes for an interest rate.

Morris: Does thils legislation have any formula for how the
state funds should be allocated among the banks?

Post: No. Mr. Button, who came 1n, appointed by Knight,
to follow Gus Johnson (who was the treasurer who
resigned, the party I've been talking about), set up
a systematlic basis for doing this. He was a fine
treasurer. He dedlcated himself to trylng to set up
a system that would function properly. He set up a
reasonable apportionment basis. I can't remember
exactly how it worked, but it was a reasonable basis
for doing 1t objectively and not on a political basis.
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Political Constituenciles

I would think he'd be under quite a lot of pressure
from the banks.

The treaurer is under pressure from the banks. That
is something that you have to watch a2ll the time,
practically. But Mr. Button was a well-to-do, |
independent, honorable man. He didn't give a hoot
about that sort of thing.

But it is true that the pollitical constituency,
to a considerable extent, of the state treasurer is
the banks. Just llke the inherlitance tax appralsers
were always the prime political constituency of the
controller, who appointed them. And they were
influentlal. They contributed to his campaign, and
they were polltical figures. It was always a problem
with us in dealing with the controller's function.
We opposed the appointment of the inheritance tax
appralisers. 1t has been a continulng issue with us
and only Flournoy agreed to our position. The banks
on the other hand are the problem wlith respect to
the treasurer. They're closely aligned to him, and
this was a real problem in those days. I think this
system, as lt's now set up under this model act--
this 1is really a fine act--has minimized the influence
of the banks on the treasurer. The treasurer now
tends to run politically on the basls of how well he
managed the investments, plus how well they were-
able to sell government bonds, persuade people to
buy state bonds, and so on.

To sell government, state bonds, you need the help of
the banks.

Yes, you do. That's right. And they've always said,
"You should do something for us as a favor for that."
My office (which has got involved in this on numerous
occasions and is, in faect, at the moment) has always
sald, "No, you're in the business of loaning money
deposited with you, and we're Just a plece of that
action. To the extent that we could optimize the
earnings to the state, we reduce the taxes of
individuals, corporations, banks, and everybody else.
That's the only right policy, not favoritism to any
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particular segment because they're doing us favors.
"They do us favors," we always saild, "because it's
good for them. And when the chlps are down, and

it is not in your best interest to buy our bonds,
you won't do so." And that's exactly what happened.
When the chips were down, and there was better money
to be made somewhere else, we had trouble selling
our bonds. We've been saying thls lately. We've
had to talk to the banks lately in that language.
And they have been good about 1t. But nevertheless,
we expected them to act 1n thelr best economic
interest, and we expect the state to act in its

best economic interest. And we ought to pay whatever
price 1s necessary to do legitimate business with
banks. But we ought to do it on a buslnesslike
basis.

We feel very strongly about this. I've had to,
as I say, make that 1little speech on a number of
occasions, because the banks brought in amendments
to the investment act that I've been talking about
which would have glven them a preferred position,
it would have sald explicitly that you do not
optimize the return to the state, but that under
speclal circumstances you can have preferential rates
for other factors than the lncome to the state. Now,
we sald, "What are those other factors?" "Well, the
fact that we buy your bonds, things like that."
"Well," we sald to the legislature, "don't ever give
that discretion to the treasurer, because this is
how we got in trouble before." And I went through
and explained how we had gotten 1n trouble before.

I was accused of making a cause celebre out of 1it.

But my feeling was that once you depart from that
standard, then you're into a never-never land of
putting pressure on an individual to determine what

1s the state's interest. And I sald, here we have

a sound economic basis for it that could be determined.
We ought to stay with 1t. Thls proposed amendment
happened about two years ago, and the committee killed
the bill.

Is there a banker's lobby?

Oh yes. PFor many years 1t was Edward Landels, who 1s
an attorney, a very brilliant attorney. And then
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subsequently, his firm--Landels, Ripley, Gregory and
Diamond, in San Francisco--handled it for a long
time. Then Phil Gregory lost it, and 1t's now being
handled by Ratcliff.

The bank association selected a lawyer as a lobbylst
rather than appolnting one of thelr own.

He was an attorney. Yes. He was not a banker. He
was an attorney who understood the system very well.
He was extremely effective 1n handling thelr affalrs.
As a matter of fact, they had done awfully well for
themselves for many years with Landels, but Dick
Rateliff 1s the person who handles their interests
now. The California Bankers' Associatlion. And he
was the one who brought in thls last amendment--on
the grounds that they dld favors for the state, and
we ought to do something better by them. It happened
at a time when there was a shortage of capital and
interest rates were high. And so every additlonal
dollar you could get was obviously one that they
could make a great deal off of.

As you know, the lnvestment income of banks in
the last few years has increased greatly, so they
were very eager to loosen up the state's investment
funds. I may have gone overboard in making the case
as strongly as I di1d to the legislature, using
history as a basis for my concern. But we felt very
strongly that once you left this standard in the law,
you left a sound criterion for determining what was
in the state's best interests.

Thoughts on Organized Crime

There was an issue where Warren did act to resolve
trouble in state government--the lnvestigations of
suspected criminal activities around his attorney
general, Fred Howser. Was this something that your
offlice got involved in?

No, it wasn't. As a matter of fact, this was a case
in which the governor took an end run around Howser
by establishing special crime commissions, and he used
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some very fine people to try and deal with these
1ssues. People like Warren Olney and Arthur Sherry
at the University of California. But we didn't have
anything to do with that.

I remember well going to budget hearings and
having some arguments with Howser, and being
astonished that a man who could speak so forthrightly
as he did could apparently be as dishonest as informed
people sald he was. Because to hear him talk, you
would think, "This guy 1is just absolutely solid."”

And yet people were telling me that he was corrupt.
One of my very closest friends, who was in the clgar
busliness at that time, told me at some length about
the crookedness that went on in the numbers business
by Howser and his associates. There was no question
in my friend's mind that it was Just as corrupt as 1t
could be. And the governor presumably knew about
that. But again, it's a problem of how to deal with
it. You don't attack, you know, your political
henchmen openly. You run around them as best you can.
It's the o0ld problem of not denouncing him publicly.

Is thls why there was a commission on organized
crime talking about organlized crime coming into
California? Was this to avold directly attacking
Howser?

Well, Howser was, on a small scale, engaged in
organized crime. Apparently there was a good bit of
it In ILong Beach, and the way he operated was
organized crime. There is no question, as I under-
stand 1t, and belleve it, that there 1s a great deal
of organized crime in California. I frankly couldn't
quite understand some of Governor Brown's statements
that 1t wasn't here, when from what we were able to
see 1n our liquor investigations there was the nucleus
of a certailn amount of it then, and it was growilng.
In the analysls this year, we have criticized the
Department of Justlice for using its organized crime
unit for other purposes rather than, in our opinion,
dealing forthrightly with that lssue. Because it

is a sticky and tough issue.

In my opinion, from whatever I've been able to
gather talking to people who I think are knowledge-
able, it 1s a real problem in the state of California.



Post:

Morris:

Post:

119

But I don't know how much of it existed at that time.
I certalnly didn't know much about it then. I was

a failrly nalve person, actually on many Californla
matters. I came in from an outside field. I didn't
even know who Samish was, you see. I was teased for
going into a hearing and sittling down next to his
chief lieutenant at a hearing. When I came out
everybody said, "What were you and "Porky" Jacobson
doing together?” I sald, "I don't know what you're
talking about." I actually never saw Samish. I

was busy, as a young man doing my thing here, and it
was only, as I say, qulite innocently, that we ever
developed anything on the State Board of Equalization.
And then people began to call me and ask me, "You
know what you're getting into?"

And then 1little by little, I became aware of
the ramifications of this. I even found out that I
had a Samish man on my own payroll, who had, frankly,
been involved in liquor licenses. It was only when
that was documented to me that I was able to see
what a problem it really was. I fired him, but I
risked my own appointment in doing so, because he was
so high up in the hierarchy. I did it only on the
basis of the knowledge that he had bought and sold
ligquor licenses at one time. He was the brother to
the former spezker, and was on the staff when I came
in here. I was told by my chairman to hang onto him.
But the moment I found that out, I fired him.

But, you know, this is the kind of thing that
you Just don't know about when you take on a new job.

Was Samish involved also in the sale of liquor
licenses?

He must have had somethling to do with it. It never
came out. He was only indicted because of actlvities
that related to lobbying, but he was the liguor
lobbylst. I don't know that he ever was implicated
in any direct way with the machinery--you see, that
was the state machlnery that we were talking about.
He was outside of the state government. Bonelll was
apparently the kingpin in the state machinery for
issuing licenses. That's where that kind of money
flowed.
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There was a tightly knit political fabric that
existed here.

That's the sense you get. That's why I'm asking the
specific question. I had never heard Bonelll and
Samish connected in print anywhere.

I never have seen it eilther, but I assume that

there was some connection. There was such political
power in the activities of Samish. He controlled

S0 many political lives, if you read his recent book,
which in very grandlose terms tells how he ran things.
We had the feeling that he largely controlled the
machinery over in the State Board of Equalization,

and people either were with him, or didn't do anything
about it. Kept away from it, you know. Looked the
other way, as this political figure told me.

Legislative License and Tax Audits

Was it at this time or later that you appeared in
print on sales tax audits? You were concerned about
the sales tax?

We have materials on the State Board of Equalization
in this analysis in 1954. Yes.

Was thls the same continuing investigation?

No. We hired this young man, and he started doing
the Job of evaluating the State Board of Equalization
in 1953. This analysis came out in December of 1954.
For example, in looking at the enforcement activitiles
in the State Board of Equalization, we found that
there was 1l.31 arrests per officer in Los Angeles,
for a whole year.

This is on sales tax?

No, this is on liquor. In some of the earlier analyses,
as I recall, we went into the sales tax audit on the
basis that we did later of income tax. We helped
develop a system of weighting them to reflect dollars
of audit recovery per dollar of audit cost, so the
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agency can spend 1ts time in a way that 1s most
efficient. But actually, in 1953, the Board of
Equalization budget analysis deals almost entirely
with liquor. And in that case we had gone into it
on the basls, as we say, that there ought to be a
critical examination of the function by the
legislature because we simply could not understand
how they were spending thelr time on enforcement
versus time spent on licensing functions.

In other words, there is a procedure by which someone
is checked out before he's granted a license,
regardless of how much money he paid for it? And
then there is a routine check about whether or not
he's serving liquor to minors, and that sort of thing?

That's right. That's the regular ongoing enforcement.
"BY girls and so forth. Yes. So there was this
question of how much time do they spend on enforcement
versus the licensing function. And why would they
need six more people? We just couldn't understand
this. And so we just sort of fell into the issue of
corruption in liquor license administration.
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VIII CHANGING TIMES

A New Breed in Sacramento

Morris: Could we talk a bit about Welnberger's role in this
investigation?

Post: Weinberger was able to stand up and to debate with
Bonelll and others, and make hls case. There was
a lot of work that went into that investigation.
We had to use every weapon at our disposal to show
that we were not undermining the adminlistration of
liquor by giving it to the governor. There was
great resistance to the 1ldea of glving such power to
the governor. We filnally had to go along with the
compromise of creating a Liquor Control Appeals
Board, that would let some of the final authority
over licensing go to someone other than the director
appointed by the governor.

Morris:t But didn't they glve the governor the power of
appointing the Alcohollic Beverage Control Agency
director?

Post: That's right.

Morris: Was that where it ended up? The governor now appoints
1t?

Post: That's right. The governor appolints it and runs it
just llke a department activity, but there was great
reslstance to that idea. Probably in part because
many didn't want it to get out from under the board
where 1t was, for a lot of reasons. And the other
reason for opposition was that there has always been
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BIOGRAPHY OF GEORGE R, REILLY

George R. Reilly was born in the Mission District of San Francisco, edu-~
cated in the public schools, and completed a course of studies at Sacred Heart
College. He is the father of thrée children, two married daughters, Carolyn
and Georgina, and a son, James J., a prominent attorney in San Francisco.

He was first elected to the Board of Equalization in 1938, and re -elected

i

,v;"/every four years thereafter with an outstanding popular vote. In the 1958 and

1962 elections he was returned to office without opposition and is now the Dean
of elected state officials. Upon completion of this term, he will have served
36 );ears in his present elective position.

He represents the First Equalization District, comprised of the foilowing
counties: Alpine, Amador, Calaveras, El Dorado, Inyo, Los Angeles (northern
portion), Madera, Mariposa, Merced, Mono, Monterey, Placer, San Benito,
San Francisco, San Luis Obispo, San Mateo, Santa Barbara, Santa Cruz,
Stanislaus, Tuolumne, and Ventura. He is presently Chairman of the Assess-
ment Equalization and Standards Committee of the State Board of Equalizatiox;.

Mr. Reilly is a licensed real estate broker in California, and was in the
real estate and propertyiappraiaal business for many years.

Mr. Reilly is past Vice President of the San Francisco branch of the
American Society of Appraisers; member of the Executive Committee, Western
States Association of Tax Administrators; member of the California State Associa-
tion of County Assessors; Director of the Civic League of Improvement Clubs and
Associations of San Francisco, one of California's most esteemed, civic-minded
organizations; past National President, Ancient Order of Hibernians and past

Supreme Governor of the World, Loyal Order of Moose.
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GEORGE R. REILLY

FIRST OISTRICT, SAN FRANCISCO CHAIRNMAN
JAMES H. QUINN . DIXWELL L. PIERCE:
SECOND DISTRICT, CAKLAND ERCRETARY
JERROLD L. SEAWELL
THIRD DISTRICT, ROSEVILLE
WILLIAM G. BONELLI
FOURTH DISTRICT, LOS ANGELES OFFICE OF
THOMAS H. KUCHEL, conTaoL e " . STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION
/\J STATE OF CALIFORNIA
\ 357 S5, Hill St., Los Angeles 13
December 3, 1948
%
Irs, ‘arriet Von Breton, lember
Jeriocratic State Central Committee
3504 Carnation Avenue
Los .ngeles 295, California
Dear xr3, Von Breton: , - :

T ax enclosing a copy of Resolution proposing
constitutional amendment to transfer liquor

control to a non-political bhaord, which I

hone will be iutroduced and approved for sub-

Irission to the peonle at the coming session of

tiie Legislature,

Consideration of tiiis Kesolution by the State
Joard of Equalization is set for December 16.

In view of your ac:ive public interest in social
and political problems, I would appreciate it if
wou would ive me your personal reactions to the
proposal,.

Trusting you have recovered from your reading of
the recent election results, and hoping to hear
from you in the near future, I am

Sincerely yoursy

Whe Go B
Chairm
State Boa

of Equalization 3

UGB ja
encl
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